Legal and Governance

N\iddles@cﬁjgh

moving forward

THE CHAIR AND ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL

Tuesday 2 September 2025

Dear Member

COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY 10TH SEPTEMBER, 2025
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council of the Borough of
Middlesbrough to be held on Wednesday 10th September, 2025 at 7.00 pm in the
Council Chamber to transact the following business, namely:-
1. Welcome and Fire Evacuation Procedure
In the event the fire alarm sounds attendees will be advised to
evacuate the building via the nearest fire exit and assemble at
the Bottle of Notes opposite MIMA.
2. Apologies for Absence
3. Declarations of Interest
To receive any declarations of interest.
4. Minutes - Council - 9 and 16 July 2025 3-12

5. Announcements/Communications

To receive and consider any communications from the Chair,
Mayor, Executive Members or Chief Executive (if any).

6. Questions from Members of the Public (if any).

7. Tees Valley Combined Authority (TVCA) Update

8. Mayor's Statement and Report
9. Executive Member reports 13-70
10. Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Board 71-76

11. Urgent Items

To consider and deal with any urgent business brought before
the Council by the Proper Officer (if any).

Page 1



12. Members' Question Time
13. Notice of Motions 77 - 82

14.  Notice of Urgent Motions (if any)

15. Members' Scheme of Allowances 83 -102
16. Vacancies on Committees 2025-2026 103 - 106
17. Refresh of the Constitution 107 - 562

@Y &‘3"““'\"

Charlotte Benjamin, Director of Legal and Governance Services

PLEASE NOTE THERE IS RESTRICTED
DISABLED ACCESS TO THE COUNCIL CHAMBER

Inspection of Papers — Documents referred to on this Summons may be inspected between
9.00 am and 4.00 pm Monday to Friday at the Town Hall, Middlesbrough. Copies may also
be downloaded from the Council’'s Website.

Questions/Motions — Details of questions or notices of motion received and not enclosed
with the Summons will be circulated prior to the meeting.

Should you have any queries in regard to the items on this agenda please contact Sue
Lightwing/Scott Bonner, Democratic Services on (Direct Line 01642 729712/729708 or e-
mail on: sue_lightwing@middlesbrough.gov.uk/scott_bonner@middlesbrough.gov.uk.

Address: Democratic Services, Middlesbrough Council, Town Hall, Middlesbrough TS1
9FX

Website: www.middlesbrough.gov.uk

Page 2


http://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/

Council

Agenda ltem 4
09 July 2025

COUNCIL

A meeting of the Council was held on Wednesday 9 July 2025.

PRESENT:

OFFICERS:

Councillors J Banks, (Chair), J Kabuye (Vice-Chair), | Blades, D Branson,

E Clynch, C Cooke - Elected Mayor, J Cooke, C Cooper, D Coupe, J Ewan,

T Furness, P Gavigan, TA Grainge, L Henman, S Hill, B Hubbard, L Hurst,

N Hussain, D Jackson, D Jones, T Livingstone, L Mason, D McCabe,

M McClintock, J McTigue, T Mohan, | Morrish, J Nicholson, M Nugent, J Rostron,
J Ryles, M Saunders, M Smiles, Z Uddin, N Walker, G Wilson, J Young and

L Young

S Bonner, B Carr, A. Glover, R Horniman, S Lightwing, E Scollay, K Whitmore,
R Williams and A Wilson

APOLOGIES FOR were submitted on behalf of Councillors D Davison, L Lewis, J McConnell, J Platt,

ABSENCE:

25/15

25/16

25/17

25/18

25/19

25/20

S Platt, A Romaine, P Storey, J Thompson and S Tranter
WELCOME AND FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Chair welcomed all present to the meeting and read out the Fire Evacuation
Procedure.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Name of Member Type of Interest Nature of Business
Councillor McClintock Non pecuniary Agenda Item 9 — Report of
Executive Member for
Development — Councillor is
a Governor at
Middlesbrough College

MINUTES - COUNCIL - 21 MAY 2025

The minutes of the Council meeting held on 21 May 2025 were submitted and approved as a
correct record.

ANNOUNCEMENTS/COMMUNICATIONS
There were no Announcements or Communications for this meeting.
QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC (IF ANY).

There were no valid questions submitted from members of the public, within the required
timescale for this meeting.

TEES VALLEY COMBINED AUTHORITY (TVCA) UPDATE

The Best Value Notice for the Tees Valley Combined Authority (TVCA) was in progress and
Middlesbrough Council had been thanked publicly several times for the support provided.
Work was also progressing on the Middlesbrough Development Corporation (MDC) and the
Chairpersons had recently changed. The Mayor understood that there had been a Call-in with
regard to the Chair positions.

With regard to the Gresham site, the TVCA was waiting for the optimum time to strike a
financial deal. It was anticipated that this would be in September 2025. Other projects were
continuing and it was hoped with the new Chair in place, good progress would be made.

Responding to a request for an update on the Linthorpe Road Cycle Lane, the Mayor informed
the Council that the removal of the cycle lane was a Middlesbrough Council project. A start
date for the project was expected to be confirmed shortly, for end of July/beginning of August,
subject to approval by Procurement.

Page 3



25/21

25/22

09 July 2025

MAYOR'S STATEMENT AND REPORT

The 10 by 10 scheme had been launched in 5 Middlesbrough Primary Schools with the aim of
expanding it to more. The scheme would provide children between the ages of 0 to 10, with
10 opportunities to learn about the Town and take part in activities.

The Middlesbrough Priorities Fund had recently provided funding for the Holidays Are Fun
(HAF) Programme which had provided support to families during half term and also numerous
other projects.

The Mayor’'s main concern recently had been the Fair Funding Review and the consultation
had now commenced. The Fair Funding Review as it currently stood would be a net benefit to
Middlesbrough and it was vital to ensure that there was no reduction in the level of funding
following the consultation period. The Mayor agreed to bring an update to Council once the
full data had been received so that an agreed stance, in the best interests of the Town, could
be put forward to the Consultation.

Responding to a question in relation to council tax owed on empty properties, the Mayor
explained that one of the biggest problems facing the Council was that social landlords owned
a great number of properties that were not being utilised. Approximately 80 houses were now
in Council ownership that had been refurbished and rented out. A partnership project was in
development which aimed to release more housing stock. As part of the Middlesbrough
Priorities Fund, a new post of Financial Investigator would be created, with the aim of
recouping money owed through council tax, business rates or other charges. Another issue
was Airbnb and holiday lets which were currently not included in either council tax banding or
business rates — so in effect the Council was losing out on that potential income. It was
anticipated that this issue would be addressed through new legislation.

A Councillor spoke in support of the 10 by 10 scheme and the Mayor agreed that it was
important to continue to invest in young people. The Executive had a specific remit in respect
of grants for schools. Schools in Middlesbrough often struggled with such issues as provision
of transport for students to events. The Council aimed to remove some of those barriers and
enable schools to work better with their students. The Mayor extended an invitation to all
Councillors to visit schools to see for themselves some of the positive work that was taking
place.

In relation to a pledge to increase the amount of accommodation available for single people,
the Mayor stated that the majority of the 80 properties mentioned previously were within that
category. The intention was that more properties would come into Council ownership through
the partnership project rather than go to private landlords.

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORTS
Questions in relation to the Report of the Executive Member for Children’s Services.
Councillor Saunders and Councillor Clynch on foster carers and recruitment.

The Executive Member agreed that the availability of foster care places within Middlesbrough
needed to increase and a target of 170 places had been set for this year. Reducing the
number of children and young people in care was also a key aim. Recruitment was taking
place and there had been some excellent work promoting foster caring as an extremely
valuable and rewarding opportunity. The Executive Member shared some recent successful
examples of the use of social media as recruitment tool and the support available for anyone
interested in becoming a carer.

Question in relation to the Report of the Executive Member for Development.
Councillor McClintock on the Local Plan and the Nunthorpe Grange Masterplan.
The Executive Member offered an apology that an updated Masterplan had not yet been

published. The planning application referred to by Councillor McClintock would be considered
in the usual way by the Planning and Development Committee.

Page 4



09 July 2025

The Mayor invited Councillor McClintock to meet with him, the Executive Member for
Development and the Director of Regeneration after the Council meeting for further
discussion.

Question in relation to the Report of the Executive Member for Environment and
Sustainability.

Councillor Livingstone on Flood Management.

The Executive Member confirmed that the Highways Service had undertaken a review of the
Gulley Cleansing Programme to prioritise those areas that were most affected by build-up of
vegetation and silt. Following the review a two-year cycle was in place to visit those areas at
least once a year and the states twice per year. Those areas most affected by flooding would
be visited more frequently.

Question in relation to the Report of the Executive Member for Finance.
Councillor Morrish on £2.816 million budget savings not delivered.

The Executive Member reminded Council that at the time of budget setting it was highlighted
that making savings would be very challenging and it was right to set challenging targets. The
Council had to seek exceptional financial support from the Government and £3.5 million was
included for potential undelivered savings. The savings had not been forgotten and were
expected to be achieved in the current budget as part of the Medium-Term Financial Plan
(MTFP). It was clarified that in relation to those savings that had not been delivered, it was
that they were not able to be delivered within the timescale of last year's budget, rather than
they would not be delivered at all. 78% of savings were delivered, and in some areas such as
Green Waste income they were over-delivered. The main areas where savings targets
were not delivered were Adults and Children’s Services. The Executive Member also
reminded Councillor Morrish of his offer to congratulate officers if the budget was delivered
and to buy them a drink.

Question in relation to the Report of the Executive Member for Neighbourhoods.
Councillor Morrish on plans for the south of the town.

The Executive Member confirmed that he had attended a meeting of Nunthorpe Parish
Council but unfortunately was unable to attend the last South NAP meeting due to diary clash.
The Executive Member stated that he would be pleased to attend any relevant meetings
across the town and his focus was not solely on Hemlington. The Executive Member had
been working with the Police in relation to the problem of off-road bike nuisance. The
Executive Member also confirmed that he would be working closely with the neighbourhood
teams and Councillors to resolve ward issues such as fly-tipping and illegal parking.

Question in relation to the report of the Executive Member for Development.
Councillor Saunders on empty shops and shop closures in the town centre.

The Executive Member agreed that it was a sad state of affairs that in Middlesbrough and
towns across the country more shops were closing. The current trend was towards online
shopping or shopping in cities and out of town retail parks. Whilst the retail space in
Middlesbrough had halved, office space had doubled, and the Council continue to try and
attract new investors. The Executive Member listed some of the businesses that had opened
in the Captain Cook Square since it came under Council ownership including Bazaar, Level X
and Fun Shack. Investment in the train station and the surrounding area including Stack was
also highlighted.

Question in relation to the report of the Executive Member for Environment and Sustainability.
Councillor Wilson on solar powered lighting.

The Executive Member explained that whilst consideration had been given to the potential
savings from solar power and the positive impact for the environment, other considerations

Page 5



09 July 2025

included high initial costs, risk of equipment theft due to its value, and the impact of other
environmental factors such as snow, dust and moisture, which could affect the equipment.
The Executive Member agreed that he would look into the option of a trial as suggested by
Councillor Wilson.

Question in relation to the report of the Executive Member for Finance.
Councillor Kabuye on key factors for the budget underspend in the previous financial year.

The Executive Member stated that the underspend was due to good financial planning. There
had been a rigorous monitoring process which was under-pinned by Member- led budget
clinics. The change in culture had been important to address the Best Value Notice and the
financial issues that the Council had been facing. Councillors and Officers had supported the
process, and the Executive Member thanked everyone involved. As previously highlighted,
there was still a challenge to deliver savings this year and the first quarter budget clinics were
scheduled for next week. Whilst there was still pressure in some service areas, additional
funding had been made for area care and also the Priorities Fund.

Questions for the Executive Member for Environment and Sustainability.
Councillor Hubbard and Councillor L Young on food waste collection.

The Executive Member clarified that each household would be provided with a small indoor
food collection caddy as well as a larger 23 litre caddy. The food waste would be processed
at anaerobic digestion plant where it would be converted to produce biogas which could be
used to produce electricity, heat or fuel.

The Executive Member welcomed the increase in area care operatives and pest control
provision. This was the first major investment into environmental services for over a decade.
These improvements would not have been possible without the improved government
settlement and sound financial management.

SUPPLEMENTARY QUESTIONS:
Question in relation to the Report of the Executive Member for Development.

Councillor McClintock on why the updated Nunthorpe Masterplan had not been made
available.

The Executive Member agreed to organise a meeting with the Councillor and relevant Officers
to provide an update.

Question in relation to the Report of the Executive Member for Development.
Councillor Saunders on the office space and the area around the train station.

The Executive Member for Development stated that work was ongoing to improve the area
around the train station. It was acknowledged that the public realm could be improved.
Church House was being renovated and converted into apartments. Gurney House,
Vancouver House, Dundas House and CNE were all owned by private developers and did not
meet modern standards for office accommodation in their current state. The Council
continued to try and work with private developers and the MDC to redevelop empty buildings
to bring them back into use. It was hoped that the Church House re-development could be
the catalyst for similar projects.

Question in relation to the Report of the Executive Member for Environment and Sustainability
Councillor Wilson on solar powered street lighting trials.

The Executive Member reiterated that the service area was actively looking at solar power for
street lighting.

Page 6



25/23

25/24

25/25

25/26

25/27

25/28

25/29

09 July 2025
REPORT OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD

The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board presented a report, the purpose of which was
to provide an update on the current position regarding progress made by the Overview and
Scrutiny Board and the individual Scrutiny Panels.

Members’ attention was drawn to two Final Reports that would be considered at the next
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Board as follows: Children Missing Education (People
Scrutiny Panel), and Empty Properties (Place Scrutiny Panel).

The Chair of Place Scrutiny Panel was invited to update the Council on the Crustacean

Deaths Working Group's final report following the investigation into the mass crustacean die-
off along the north-east coast, which had been recently published.

The Chair invited Members to ask questions and to note the report.

ORDERED that the report was noted.

URGENT ITEMS

There were no urgent items submitted within the specified deadlines for this meeting.
MEMBERS' QUESTION TIME

There were no Members’ Questions submitted within the specified deadlines for this meeting.
NOTICE OF MOTIONS

ORDERED that Motion Nos. 175 and 176 were DEFERRED for consideration at a future
Council meeting.

NOTICE OF URGENT MOTIONS (IF ANY)

There were no Notice of Urgent Motions submitted within the specified deadlines for this
meeting.

EXECUTIVE SCHEME OF DELEGATION

The Mayor presented a report to inform Members of changes to his Executive Scheme of
Delegation.

As required by the Constitution, details of the revised Executive Scheme of Delegation were
attached at Appendix A to the submitted report for inclusion in the Council’s Scheme of
Delegation.

ORDERED that the amendments to the Executive Scheme of Delegation were noted.

APPROVAL FOR CONSULTATION ON THE COUNCIL'S DRAFT STATEMENT OF
GAMBLING POLICY 2026-2029

A joint report of the Executive Member for Neighbourhoods and the Director of Environment
and Community Services was presented to seek Council approval for consultation to be
undertaken on the Draft Statement of Gambling Policy 2026-2029.

The Council was required to have a three-year policy statement setting out the principles that
it proposed to apply in exercising its functions under the Gambling Act 2005 (“the Act”’) (s349).
In preparing its Statement of Gambling Policy, the Council was required to consult the Police
and persons who represented the interests of those carried on gambling businesses and
those who were likely to be affected by gambling activities in its area. After the period of
consultation of 8 weeks the outcome would be reported to Council for a decision whether to
approve the final version of the Statement of Gambling Policy 2026—2029.

The Statement of Gambling Policy was required to be in place as soon as practicable to
ensure compliance and to assess applications and other processes under the Act.

Page 7



25/30

25/31

09 July 2025

The Statement of Gambling Policy also contained the policy and principles in relation to the
application process and issuing of a large casino licence. Under the Act, only 8 large casino
premises licences were permitted in England. Middlesbrough was one of the authorities
awarded the ability to issue a large casino licence by Order (The Gambling (Geographical
Distribution of Large and Small Casino Premises Licences) Order 2008).

Under the Act, the Council was able to hold a competition for a large casino premises

licence to determine which application would provide the greatest benefit to Middlesbrough.
In 2012 following a competition, a provisional statement was awarded to Gurney Casinos Ltd.
However, the proposed casino was not developed and a large casino premises licence had
not been granted.

The implications of the recommendation had been considered by the appropriate Council
Officers and were set out in the main body of the report.

ORDERED that Council approved that consultation be undertaken on the draft Statement of
Gambling Policy 2026-2029 with Cleveland Police and persons who officers considered
represented the interests of those carrying out gambling businesses and those likely to be
affected by gambling activities in the area.

UPDATE ON URGENT DECISIONS

The Director of Legal and Governance Services submitted a report which provided an
update with regard to two urgent decisions that had been taken under the urgency rules since
last reported to Council on 27 November 2024.

ORDERED that the report be noted.
REVISED POLITICAL BALANCE

A report of the Director of Legal and Governance Services (Monitoring Officer) was presented
to seek approval for the revised allocation of places on committees and sub committees for
the Municipal Year 2025-2026 in accordance with the current political balance of the Council.
Following the Annual Meeting on 21 May 2025, there had been a change in group
membership and the political balance of the Council therefore needed to be revised. The
rules, duties, and principles outlined in the report to the Annual Meeting remained applicable.

ORDERED as follows that Council approved:

1. the revised allocation of seats on Committees that are subject to the rules
relating to political balance as follows:

Labour - 69 places

Conservative - 11 places

Middlesbrough Independent Councillors Association (MICA) - 29 places
Liberal Democrat - 6 places

Marton East Independent Group (MEIG) - 6 places

Unallocated - 11 places

2. that the Monitoring Officer be authorised to fill the unallocated seats as indicated
in paragraph 4.4 of the report and make any necessary further adjustments to
remove or replace Members where directed by the relevant Group or Member.

3. that nominations for the vacant places be sought and, where necessary voted
upon.

4. that any committee established prior to the next review be appointed on the
basis of the places shown in Appendix 1, Table 3, attached to the submitted report.

5. the following appointments were approved:

Licensing Committee — Councillor J Platt

Overview and Scrutiny Board — Councillor J Platt

Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Panel — Councillor S Platt
Children’s Scrutiny Panel — Councillor S Platt

Page 8



25/32

09 July 2025
Planning and Development Committee — Councillor McClintock

VACANCIES ON COMMITTEES AND OUTSIDE BODIES 2025-2026

A report of the Director of Legal and Governance Services (Monitoring Officer) was presented
to seek Members’ approval for nominations of appointment to vacant positions on
Committees, Scrutiny Panels and Outside Bodies, due to vacancies that were not filled at the
Annual Council meeting and resignations from Committees.

The report included a list of current vacancies on various Committees and Outside Bodies and
nominations were put forward at the meeting by individual members.

ORDERED that the following appointments, allocated in accordance with the wishes of the
political groups, be approved by Council:

CHIEF OFFICER APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE
Vice Chair — Councillor Coupe appointed

CHILDREN'S SCRUTINY PANEL
Vice Chair — Councillor Jackson appointed

LICENSING COMMITTEE
1 vacancy — Councillor Grainge appointed

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD
1 vacancy — Councillor J Young appointed

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
1 vacancy — Councillor Saunders appointed

CORPORATE HEALTH AND SAFETY STEERING GROUP
4 vacancies — Councillor McCabe appointed
3 vacancies remain

WORKS COUNCIL
2 vacancies — Councillors Saunders and Wilson appointed

YOU MATTER TO US — CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD
2 vacancies — no nominations

HARTLEPOOL POWER STATION LOCAL LIAISON COMMITTEE
1 vacancy — no nominations

NORTH EAST REGIONAL JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
1 vacancy — no hominations

STAYING PUT ADVISORY COMMITTEE
1 vacancy — no hominations

TENNIS WORLD
2 vacancies — no nominations

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Council

16 July 2025

COUNCIL

A meeting of the Council was held on Wednesday 16 July 2025.

PRESENT:

OFFICERS:

Councillors J Banks, | Blades, D Branson, E Clynch, C Cooke - Elected Mayor,

J Cooke, C Cooper, D Coupe, J Ewan, P Gavigan, L Henman, S Hill, B Hubbard,
L Hurst, D Jackson, L Lewis, T Livingstone, T Mohan, | Morrish, M Nugent, J Platt,
S Platt, A Romaine, J Rostron, M Saunders, P Storey, Z Uddin, N Walker,

G Wilson and L Young

C Benjamin, S Bonner, M Brown, R Duce, G Field, T Frankland, L Grabham,
R Horniman, A Hoy, C Jones, Lightwing, C Lunn, E Scollay and A Wilson

APOLOGIES FOR were submitted on behalf of Councillors J Kabuye (Vice-Chair), D Davison,

ABSENCE:

25/34

25/35

25/36

25/37

T Furness, N Hussain, D Jones, L Mason, M McClintock, J McConnell, J McTigue,
M Smiles, J Thompson, S Tranter and J Young

WELCOME AND FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Chair welcomed all present to the Extraordinary Council meeting and read out the
Building Evacuation Procedure.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest received at this point in the meeting.
COMMUNICATIONS

There were no communications for this meeting.

RESOLUTION - FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH

It was MOVED by the Mayor and SECONDED by Councillor Clynch:

"That Mr Norman Moorsom, being a person who has rendered eminent service to the

Borough of Middlesbrough within the meaning and in pursuance of the provisions of Section
249 (5) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Democracy, Economic
Development and Construction Act 2009 be admitted as a recipient of the Honorary Freedom
of the Borough of Middlesbrough, in recognition and appreciation of that eminent service, the

detailed particulars whereof were recorded on the certificate presented to him that day.

That the certificate of Admission to the Honorary Freedom of the Borough be presented to the
said Mr Norman Moorsom"

Prior to being put to the vote the Chair provided an opportunity for the Mayor, Councillor
Clynch, other Councillors and other people present, to speak in support of the Motion.

The Motion was then put to the meeting and CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.
Mr Moorsom then took the Oath of Freeman before the Chair of Council and signed the
Freeman’s Roll of Honour, his signature being witnessed by the Chair, Chief Executive and

Director of Legal and Governance Services.

The Chair presented to Mr Moorsom a copy of the resolution of the Council and offered
congratulations to him on behalf of the Council and the people of the Borough.

The Chair spoke in support of the decision to award Mr Moorsom the Freedom of the
Borough.

Mr Moorsom thanked the Council for the honour conferred and expressed his thanks
and appreciation to family, friends and others present.

Page 11



16 July 2025

The Chair announced the conclusion of the formal proceedings and invited the newly elected
Freeman, the Mayor, Councillors and invited guests to join him for refreshments.

Page 12



Agenda Item 9

Middlesbrough

Elected Mayor and
Executive Member Reports
and additional Executive
decision information

Page 13

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES



This page is intentionally left blank



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Middlesbrough

INTRODUCTION

This document contains the Executive Member reports relevant to the Council meeting to
be held on 10 September 2025.

The booklet, in addition to containing details of Executive Member activities covering the
period following the last Council meeting (section 1), also details those Executive decisions
taken since the last booklet was published (section 2) together with those decisions planned
to be taken from dispatch of this booklet up until the date of the Council meeting (section 3)
and those decisions planned to be taken following the Council meeting (section 4).

The table at section 2 contains details of decisions taken by individual Executive Members,
the full Executive, Executive Sub-Committees and Joint Archives Committee. The public
reports that were considered are also available through the Modern Gov system.

The tables at section 3 and 4 contain details of the decisions to be taken by individual
Executive Members, the full Executive, Executive Sub-Committees and Joint Archives
Committee. Further details on key decisions that are to be taken can also be found on the
Modern Gov Forward Plan.

The Elected Mayor and Executive Member reports and the additional decision-making
information will hopefully assist Members when considering any questions they may have
for Executive Members at Council, which can be asked within accordance of the Council’s
procedure rules.

Details of those decisions to be taken, as outlined in Section 3 and 4, may sometimes be
subject to change (e.g., dates of meetings may alter). Members are therefore advised to
check with the Democratic Services should they have an interest in specific issues.

Charlotte Benjamin
Director of Legal and Governance Services
(01642) 729024

Contact details:
Sue Lightwing

Democratic Services Manager
(01642) 729712

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Middlesbrough

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORTS AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

COUNCIL MEETING: 10 SEPTEMBER 2025

CONTENTS

SECTION 1 - Executive Member Reports

e Deputy Mayor and Executive Member for Education and Culture
Councillor Philippa Storey

e Executive Member for Adult Social Care
Councillor Julia Rostron

e Executive Member for Children’s Services
Councillor Luke Henman

e Executive Member for Development
Councillor Theo Furness

e Executive Member for Environment and Sustainability
Councillor Peter Gavigan

e Executive Member for Finance
Councillor Nicky Walker

e Executive Member for Neighbourhoods
Councillor lan Blades

e Executive Member for Public Health
Councillor Jan Ryles

SECTION 2 — Table of Executive decisions taken and that have been through the Call-In
period, since the last booklet, published on 1 July 2025.

SECTION 3 — Table of Executive decisions planned to be taken from dispatch of this booklet
up until the date of the Council meeting.

SECTION 4 — Table of Executive decisions planned to be taken following the Council
meeting.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

I\/\ |d d | es b rou g h Executive Member Report to Council

moving forward

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Deputy Mayor & Executive Member for Education and
Culture

DATE OF MEETING: 10 September 2025

The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity
within my portfolio including performance against strategic priorities.

COUNCIL PLAN PRIORITIES
Successful & Ambitious Town
A Healthy Place

Update:
1. HIGHLIGHTS

Progress on Outwood Riverside

South Tees Youth Justice Inspection

New Send and Inclusion Strategy

Decline in Exclusion and Suspension Rates
Early Years with Discovery Special Academy
Grants for schools

Colourscape

Middlesbrough Museums in your Classroom
Events team recruitment

Performing Arts Grants for Schools

2. Education and Partnerships

2.1Progress on Outwood Riverside
B&K, the contractor appointed to build the new secondary school at Middlehaven has
started work on the site. Outwood Academy Riverside has been operating from temporary
accommodation for the last 5 years, but students, parents and staff are now eagerly
awaiting the opening of their brand new school, which is on track for completion in the
Spring of 2027.

The DfE and the Trust have organised an official ‘breaking ground’ ceremony to take place
at the site on 15t October.

2.2 Youth Justice

Page 19



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

On 18" June 2025, His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP) announced that they
would be conducting an ‘Inspection of Youth Justice Services’ of South Tees Youth Justice
Service during the weeks commencing 14 July 2025 and 21 July 2025.

The service was the first in the country to receive this type of inspection under the new
inspection framework launched in March 2025. The first fieldwork week focussed on
inspecting work with children and victims and included meetings with case managers and
victim workers.

The second week included a range of meetings to provide evidence in respect of leadership
and governance, staffing and services. Notification of ratings was sent on 7" August 2025
which cannot be made public until the final report is published commencing 6" October
2025.

I'd like to thank Kay Dargue, Caroline Cannon, Paul Harrison, Sarah Bartlett, Melissa
Young, Catherine Milestone , Laura Tyerman, Lisa Stirling , Sheelagh Gillespie, Susan
Matthews and the casework team for all the effort, hard work and hours that they put in to
the inspection

2.3 Inclusion, Assessment and Review ¢ SEN and Vulnerable Learners Update
2.3.1 SEND Reforms

The government have announced that information regarding the SEND Reforms will be
announced during the Autumn and | hope to cover the changes and what this will mean for
our schools, children and families in my next report.

2.3.2 SEND and Inclusion Strategy

Work is under way to develop and implement our new SEND and Inclusion Strategy. It is
incredibly important that children and families are directly involved in the shaping of this
strategy. This is currently being co-produced with children, young people, families and
stakeholders. The new strategy will be published in 2026 and will align to the new SEND
Reforms.

2.3.3 Changes to school Uniform

The cost of school uniform continues to be prohibitive for many families. Legislation is
currently with Parliament and if passed will mean only 3 items of uniform can be branded.
this will come into effect in September 2026. I'd like to thank all the schools, community
groups and facebook groups who have organised uniform swap shops and reduced cost
preloved uniform sales.

2.3.4 Exclusions and Suspensions.

Academic Year 2024-25 has seen a reduction in the number of permanent exclusions
issued by Middlesbrough Schools. This is the third consecutive year that there has been a
reduction and there is evidence of the rate plateauing and beginning to reduce.

The most frequent reason for exclusion continues to be persistent disruptive behaviour.

This is in line with previous years where this reason was the most commonly recorded and
is in line with both regional and national data.

Page 20



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Academic Year Total Number of Permanent Exclusions
2022-23 112
2023-24 111
2024-25 106

The data for suspensions is shared via school census returns and is validated and
published by the DfE on a lagged basis. Middlesbrough continues to have high levels of
suspension compared to regional and national rates. However, the growth rate for
suspensions in Middlesbrough is significantly lower than the growth rate seen in regional
and statistical neighbour local authorities. In addition, the number of days lost to
suspension in Middlesbrough has reduced, this is bucking the trend when compared to
regional and statistical neighbour local authorities who are seeing increasing rates of
suspension and increasing days lost. There are also a handful of schools in Middlesbrough
who have seen their suspension rate reduce which is a positive indicator of the work that
is taking place towards inclusion in these schools. The data for the 24-25 academic will be
available to the local authority for analysis by Jan 2026, with final validation and publication
by the DfE in June 2026. Early indications are that the trend of plateauing growth and a
reduction in days lost is continuing. This does not mean that work around this can stop — it
absolutely must continue and the rates must reduce further and continue the downward
trajectory.

2.3.5 Early Years Specialist Support and Partnership working with Discovery Special
Academy

The establishment of a new early years partnership with Discovery Special Academy will
see the Cleveland Unit Assessment nursery co-located in a brand new purpose built
nursery building at the Discovery Academy Sandy Flatts school site. This will allow the
local authority early years specialist support team to increase capacity for early years
assessments for children with SEND and further support the early years outreach offer.
This will significantly help children, families and carers. The partnership will also provide
opportunities for good practice sharing and workforce development between the two
organisations.

3.3.6 Grants for schools

Grants for schools were included in the Mayors priority funds. This will be available from
the end of September for schools to bid into for books, art equipment, PE equipment and
performing arts equipment. Details will be sent out to schools about this.

3.3.7 Achievement Update

To follow once data for results have been published.

4. Culture
4.1 The Space Digital Commission

Thanks to funding from The Space and Arts Council England NPO the new 180-degree
projection within the dome of the Nelson Gallery is due to be complete by Autumn.

Page 21



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Teesside University has been commissioned to design and develop the content for the
‘Bridging the Future’ project which will reflect and animate Dorman Museums wider gallery
spaces as visitors are transported from space to a prehistoric landscape with Dinosaurs all
the way to a future Middlesbrough which community groups have shared their hopes and
aspirations for what the town could look like.

4.2 Captain Cook Animations

Following a successful Grants for the Arts application from Arts Council England,
Middlesbrough Museums worked with a newly graduate animation company Silverling
Animation to re-interpretate the story of Captain James Cook. The Animations were
purposely designed to be short, informative and engaging to a younger audience. Working
with pupils from Breckon Hill Primary they guided the content and helped framed the
storytelling to be more appealing. Information incorporated into the storytelling included a
more reflective view of the voyages in our aim to democratise and reframe the story of
Captain Cook.

The Animations were installed into the galleries of Captain Cook Birthplace Museum for
the summer holidays where they have since received positive reviews from all visitors.
The animations will also be used as learning resource for pre visits from schools.

4.3 Time Odyssey

After a successful pilot with local primary Schools Middlesbrough Museums will be rolling
out an exciting new digital learning experience for schools. As part of a national partnership
delivered by Art Explora, Dorman Museum will be the first Museum in the Tees Valley
region to offer the Augmented Reality experience as part of a learning experience.

Through a gamification process the workshop is self-led and delivered on tablets, pupils
are set missions to explore the galleries to capture objects and information to complete
tasks throughout the day.

Schools In Middlesbrough and the wider region that have not visited Dorman Museum in
the last 12 months and have a minimum of 40% pupil premium can also apply for up to
£500 travel bursary to support transport costs to the museum making the museum more
accessible to our local schools.

4.4 Colourscape

The Colourscape experience returned to Captain Cook Birthplace Museum in August. The
inflatable experience brought together light, colour, music and dance as visitors are invited
to explore the colourful labyrinth installation. Over 700 visitors attended Colourscape. It
was a huge success with visitors demanding for it to return in 2026.

As part of the Colourscape experience the museum worked with Holmwood School to bring
a Colourscape workshop to the school. The workshops, which ran from Monday 9 to Friday
13 June, invited students to explore art and music through Colourscape’s unique sensory
space, where students could control sounds and colours through the use of infra-red and
pressure sensors.

The workshops are a unique approach to developing performance skills, where students
can work together to play as an ensemble, creating their own sounds and working towards
a finished performance. Holmwood School is the first in Middlesbrough to have received
the workshops, which Colourscape run in schools across the UK. Dennis Ley,
Headteacher at Holmwood School, said:

Page 22



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

"We were extremely fortunate to have Colourscape visit our school, providing a vibrant and
enriching experience for our students. The pupils fully engaged with both the music and art
activities, finding joy in each creative endeavour. They thoroughly enjoyed expressing their
creativity and all expressed how much they learned throughout the week. The visit left a
lasting impression on the students, enhancing their appreciation for the arts."

4.5 Middlesbrough Museums in your Classroom

The Middlesbrough Museums in Your Classroom project is a targeted outreach programme
meticulously designed to bring authentic museum collections and the specialised expertise
of museum educators directly into primary school classrooms. This initiative moves beyond
the traditional confines of singular museum visits, consciously seeking to embed rich
heritage learning within the familiar, inclusive, and supportive school environment.

Its overarching goal is multifaceted:

e To significantly enhance core literacy skills.

e To cultivate imaginative and diverse creative expression.

e To foster an enduring engagement between museums and schools that can enhance
curriculum teaching through new models.

Working with its partner School, Beechgrove, Middlesbrough Museums completed its first
year of the 3-year project. The evaluation of the first year of the project was highly
successful and exceeded expectations across its key performance indicators on its impact
which demonstrated:

Effectiveness in enhancing literacy
Impact on confidence
Engagement with heritage
Collaboration and partnership

The accumulation of the pupils work over the year was curated into their own School
exhibition where pupils shared their learning with fellow pupils, guests and the wider school
community.

I'd like to thank the Museum Service and all the teachers staff and post importantly,
students at Beechgrove School for the huge amount of work that went in to the exhibition.

4
| eroEs Crow

H';

Page 23



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

4.6 Programming

A mixed media exhibition titled ‘Our Place in the Family of Things’ created and curated by
Climate Action Middlesbrough is currently on display at Dorman Museum until early
September. The temporary exhibition is free to access and explores theme of environment
and climate change through creative media. Some of the work featured was created in
collaboration with communities of Middlesbrough.

4.7 Events Team

Two additional officers have been recruited to the events team. A creative programmer and
an apprentice role.

3. ARCHIVES

A draft version of the Tees Valley Heritage Feasibility Report proposes opportunities to
incorporate Teesside Archives into a broader visitor experience (titled “The Vessel’) which
would sit at the centre of the Tees Valley’s heritage offer and maximise the assets within
the archive collection to tell stories of our region and signpost visitors to other heritage
attractions across the area. However, no Tees Valley funding for such a project has been
proposed.

Therefore, as the lead authority we are proposing a number of interim arrangements for
the service including:

e Agreeing a new 3-5 year service level agreement for the Archives

e Extending the current collections contract with Restore to July 2028

e Agreeing annual targets for outreach programme delivery in each of the four boroughs

e Continuing the conversation with TVCA about becoming a partner in Teesside Archives
— so far none of their documentation comes to the Archives and it should as they are
part of local government structure.

e Developing the relationship with Teesside Archives and Tees Valley Museum Group
NPO

Page 24



I\/\Idd |esbrough Executive Member Report to Council

moving forward

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Executive Member Adult Social Care & Health Integration
DATE OF MEETING: 10 September 2025

The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity within
my portfolio including performance against strategic priorities.

COUNCIL PLAN PRIORITIES

Safe and Resilient Communities — Creating a safer environment where residents can
live more independent lives

1. HIGHLIGHTS
Update
1.1Care Quality Commission (CQC) Update

Following the CQC Inspection, and the resulting grading of “Requires Improvement” in

February 2025 work has been progressing with regard to the Directorate improvement

Plan. The comprehensive action plan covers not only improvements identified by CQC, but

also those identified as part of the transformation journey and business as usual changes.

Work to date has included:

e Commencement of the development of a 10 year Adult Social Care Vision & Strategy

e Completion of two innovation sites on strength based practice — which will be rolled out
to the full directorate in October 2025

e Trial of magic notes technology to both improve efficiency in the service with regard to
administrative tasks and more accurate recording for the individuals we support. Wider
roll out taking place in September 2025

e Progression of a workforce strategy

e Investment into a partnership to support co-production, to ensure the people we
support have active involvement in strategic decisions.

The action plan is governed by the directorate improvement board, with regular monitoring
undertaken by the DHSC. We recently submitted our third performance report to DHSC
with no issues identified.

2. Executive Member Site Visits
Having recently received this portfolio | have developed an annual programme of site visits
to services across Adult Social Care to speak with front line staff to both acknowledge and

appreciate the significant work being undertaken and also to identify where there are any
changes that need facilitating.

Page 25



My first visit took place on the 4" August in which | attended Cavendish House, and spoke
to many staff concerning the multitude of services being delivered from there.

Cavendish House based on Marton Road is the primary site for our prevention services
across Adult Social Care referred to as our Middlesbrough independent Living
Services, their aim is to help older, vulnerable and disabled people to Stay Safe, Stay
Warm, Stay Well and Stay Connected this includes:

2.1Staying Put Agency

The Staying Put Agency is Middlesbrough's home improvement advice and repair service.
They help older, vulnerable, and disabled people to maintain, adapt, and improve their
homes and to live more independently for longer

2.2Connect & Assistive Technology Service

Connect and Telecare provide a 24-hour monitoring and response service. They offer
support to older, disabled, and vulnerable people who live in their own homes, helping
them to keep living independently and safely. Telecare provides safety equipment which
can detect falls, inactivity, smoke, flooding, gas, or extreme temperatures, and send an
alert that you need help. Connect lets you call for help from anywhere in your home, if you
have an emergency or need support.

2.3Contact Centre

Our Contact Centre is 24 hours monitoring service for our Connect/ Assistive Technology
customers and also offers out of hours support to the residents and businesses of
Middlesbrough.

2.4 Staying Included

Staying Included is a person-centered community focused service that helps older,
disabled and vulnerable people gain more control over their lives. The service supports
people to live healthier, become more active, form new friendships and regain
independence at home and in accessing community activities.

2.5Rekindle Digital Inclusion Project

Supports older and disabled people to improve their ability to access the internet and to
give people the skills and confidence to get online and use digital technology to improve
their lives. Decreasing the likelihood of loneliness and social isolation through an
introduction to social networks and remote connections with family and friends.

2.6Independence Hub and Blue Badge

The Independence Hub is based in Middlesbrough Council’'s Cavendish House, opposite
James Cook University Hospital. With a focus on prevention, the hub offers a variety of
services aimed at supporting people to remain safe and independent within the home,
when accessing the community and when using the internet. Residents can visit the
demonstration room to see and try out various pieces of equipment which can help support
independence and safety.

Page 26



2.75ensory Loss

The Sensory Support service supports Middlesbrough residents with low vision, low
hearing, Deaf/deafness, and Deaf blindness. We can help you to live independently at
home and be an active member of your community, as well as supporting your wellbeing.

2.8Community Reablement Team

Reablement is a personalised, home-based service which helps you to live as
independently as possible. Our staff work with you to assess service user needs, and
provide therapy and short-term support to help achieve their goals. The team helps to learn,
or re-learn, daily living skills which may have been lost through a deterioration in health or
a change in circumstances. We support people being discharged from hospital and a care
home, as well as those who have become unwell or suffer from a condition which has made
it difficult to cope at home.

2.90ccupational Therapy Team

The Occupational Therapy (OT) team work with service users who are having difficulties
in their own home or in a care setting due to a disability or condition. We assess for
equipment and adaptations to meet the person’s needs and enable them to live their lives
as safely and independently as possible. This can involve minor adaptations working with
the handy person service or major adaptations working with our colleagues in the staying
put agency or with housing associations e.g. Thirteen. As part of our work with housing
associations we also complete assessments of a person’s housing needs when they are
looking to move home due to their current property not meeting their needs. We do this via
a clinic at Cavendish House or through a home visit if required for the person’s needs.

We assess and advise on moving and handling, working with care agencies and provide
moving and handling equipment often in urgent situations to prevent or support a hospital
admission /discharge.

| had the pleasure of talking with staff and seeing examples of the amazing work being
undertaken to support the residents of Middlesbrough. In the course of these discussions
we identified the need for better information and awareness raising among fellow members
and therefore we will be arranging a series of short briefings as refreshers regarding the
support available, the first of these will be on the Blue Badge process.

Finally during the course of my visit | also attended the Dementia Hub at Woodside and
spoke to the staff at the centre, and saw some of the excellent activities available including
their equipment promoting interactive engagement. | then had the pleasure of meeting the
staff based within the Older Persons Mental Health Team, whom are also based at
woodside, which enables them to see clients whilst engaging at the Hub downstairs. The
team were clearly passionate in what they do and | spoke at length regarding the demands
on their service, work life balance and the improvement plan across the Directorate.

Information on all the services above is on the Council Website, and | am happy to facilitate
refresher information sessions on any of the services should these be required.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

I\/\Idd |esbrough Executive Member Report to Council

moving forward

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Executive Member for Children's Services
DATE OF MEETING: 10 September 2025

The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity within
my portfolio including performance against strategic priorities.

COUNCIL PLAN PRIORITIES

We will show Middlesbrough’s children that they matter and work to make our town safe
and welcoming and to improve outcomes for all children and young people.

Update:

1.

Number of young people accessing early help via Middlesbrough Council: 559

Number of foster carers with Middlesbrough Council: 54 foster carers, 91 connected
carers, looking after a total of 80 children.

Number of children in our care: 490

Percentage of children in our care attending school: 84.97% of all children. (KS1 -
94.6%, KS2 - 97.3%, KS3 - 81.7%, KS4 - 69.) 67.8% of 16- to 19-year-olds in
Employment, education and training. (overall figures for the school year.)

HIGHLIGHTS

1.1 I would like to pay tribute to our outgoing Executive Director for Children’s Services, Joe

Tynan, who left Middlesbrough Council last month. Joe has been instrumental in our
improvement journey in his time in Middlesbrough. He has left the service in a far
stronger position than when he joined us - with a stabilised workforce, a supportive
culture for staff and a higher quality of practice, all of which is delivering better outcomes
for young people. I'd like to wish Joe all the best in his future endeavours and put on
record my thanks to him for the support he gave me in my role. In advance of Joe’s
successor — Annabel Bates - commencing work later in the year, we are being supported
by Pam Allen as an interim Director of Children’s Services. Pam has a wealth of
experience and is helping to ensure continuity through the transition.

1.21 have attended excellent meetings with partner organisations, including Outwood

Grange Academies Trust, SHIFT, Youth Justice, Cleveland Police and MVDA to discuss
how we can improve partnership working and deliver better outcomes for young people.

1.3 | continue to provide oversight and challenge in the regular meetings of the Children’s

2.

Improvement Board, the Children’s Services Budget session and the You Matter TO Us
Corporate Parenting Panel.

Early Help via the Stronger Families Service

Page 29



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

2.1 The Stronger Families service aims to support families early in order to stop the need
for young people being taken into care. Working with families to keep children in a safe
home is better for the young person’s wellbeing and it is more cost effective.

2.2 The workforce continues to be stable in Early Help. Workload is continuing to go down
in Early Help due to reviews of cases that have been open over nine months. In my last
report, the figure was 17.6 children per FTE, itis now at 17.2 children — this is the second
lowest average in the last 12 months. These lower caseloads for each practitioner are
reflected in the performance of the team where targets are consistently met.

2.3 Stronger Families will be delivering on the Tees Valley Youth Trailblazer Programme.
This is a programme funded by national Government to help young people aged 18 —
21 years old who are not in education, employment, or training. Tees Valley is one of
eight UK locations selected to run a trailblazer programme. Eligible young people will be
identified in Middlesbrough and supported to access work placements/work experience
that has been identified as a barrier to securing employment.

3. Multi-Agency Children’s Hub (MACH) and Assessment

3.1The MACH is our front door — the first point of contact for concerns about a young
person. The social work staff team within the MACH are permanent workers and are
very effective in the day-to-day screening and signposting to appropriate services to the
children of Middlesbrough and their families.

3.2We are working hard to implement improvements to the service which were
recommended following reviews undertaken since March 2025.This month has seen a
new leadership team in the front door and the service improvement plan is being worked
through. Work is being undertaken to strengthen partnership working and stabilise the
threshold — to make sure children and their families are receiving the right support at the
right time. A key focus of work in the MACH has been in relation to a timely response
for some of our most vulnerable children, where data is showing that this has improved
significantly since early this year.

3.3The team have focused on the quality of assessments and ensuring that all children are
seen during the course of their assessment as well as ensuring this assessment is
proportionate to the needs of the family and not process driven. This is a work in
progress, but we have seen significant improvement in this area which is positive.

3.4Moving forward, we will continue to drive these early improvements. We have a large
cohort of interim staff in the front door but the workforce is stable.

3.51 am pleased with the progress the service is making to get things right for children and
families in Middlesbrough. | have received comments from partners who gave highly
positive feedback of improvements made. | will continue to receive regular update
reports and through the Children’s Improvement Board, which meets monthly.

4. Fostering

4.1 The Fostering Service is split into three teams focussing on recruitment, support to
current approved carers and support to connected carers — carers within the young
person’s wider family or friendship circle. Foster carers provide stable and supportive
homes for young people and the work they do is more effective in terms of outcomes
and cost than residential homes

Page 30



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

4.2The updated Kinship Care Offer has been completed, and media campaigns have
started regarding Kinship Care in Middlesbrough. This includes a questionnaire to
carers, which has been a good response rate so far, along with raising awareness for
kinship carers in our area, who are not known to us.

4.3 Collaboration with Foster with Northeast (FWNE) has approval to continue until end of
March 2026. The work has continued, with consideration of fee harmonisation, which
the Fostering Network is leading on, on behalf of the DfE. An outcome to this work is
anticipated in autumn 2025. At this time, it is not possible to provide an analysis of the
potential risks to Middlesbrough, until the outcome of this work is known.

5. Cared for Children

5.1Within Middlesbrough there are currently 490 children who are cared for. Staff are
working hard to make sure children are not in care for longer than they need to be. For
too long we saw cases not reviewed frequently enough and children missing out on
being reunified with family as a result. Plans for all cared for children are reviewed at a
monthly panel. When a potential option to obtain a different Order arises, the process
commences to consider changing a child’s plan, completing relevant updated
assessments and to seek approval from senior leaders, before progressing to Court.
Reunification has continued with currently 8 children progressing to Court and a date is
awaited for the hearings, with a further 3 continuing towards a plan to either discharge
the Care Order in favour of a lesser order or returning to the care of their parents.

5.2I'm pleased to report that, from September 2025, all manager posts in this area will be
permanent staff - the Head of Service, Service Manager and 4 Team Managers. This
has been a significant change for the service, where historically, these posts were
covered by agency staff. Due to the stable leadership in the service, we have also seen
an increase in Social Workers taking up permanent posts. In April 2024 of the available
23 Social Worker posts, only 4 had permanent staff. By October 2025, there will be only
5 agency workers in the service. A combination of recruiting experienced workers
externally, as well as holding posts for newly-qualified ASYE workers, as well as agency
Social Workers converting to a permanent role has brought about these changes.
Current remaining agency workers are also looking into the option to become permanent
as well.

6. Pathways team - supporting our young people moving into adulthood

6.1 The Pathways team is a stable team and all managers will be permanent from August
2025.

6.20ur updated Care Leavers Offer had previously been agreed at DMT, but did not
progress to Corporate Parenting Board in July 2025 as planned, as this meeting was
not quorate. This update had been in relation to support to have access to Wi-Fi, keep
in touch support, increased university, and master’s level support. Training for Personal
Advisors is going ahead in September 2025 as planned.

6.3We are working on plans to deliver a Care Leavers Hub, which is a key area of work, is
progressing after issues with potential locations. It is a really important thing to deliver
before any future inspection. An interim plan is currently being costed.

6.4We are in the final stages of securing an agreement with other councils in the North East
for a reciprocal arrangement for care experienced young people living in the North East
to be exempt from Council Tax.

Page 31



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

6.5Middlesbrough has now signed up to the Care Leavers Covenant and plans will be put
in place to ensure care experienced young people will have access to opportunities and
cost reductions for a range of activities and resources. This will also give us an
opportunity, with the Care Leavers Covenant support, to work with local business to
develop apprenticeships for this specific cohort of young people.

7. Safeguarding & Care Planning, Children with Disabilities, Aspire and Pre-birth
Team

7.1The Safeguarding & Care Planning team support children on a Child in Need and Child
Protection plans, as well as children that are looked after for up to six months. Our Aspire
team sits within this team and focusses on supporting children who are vulnerable to
exploitation, trafficking or falling into criminal activity.

7.2We continue to monitor closely the number of children allocated to social workers which
has continued to rise. Our Edge of Care service was due to be operational by the
summer but due to difficulties in recruitment of social workers, in line with the national
challenge. As a result, we are considering an alternative model and approach in order
to provide and Edge of Care service that is much needed. This service will respond
across the threshold of need in crisis and in planned work and over the coming weeks
we will finalise this proposal as an alternative model that will still provide the intervention
required to prevent children coming into care when it is safe to do so.

7.3The Interim Service Manager for Harm Outside The Home is now in post and our Missing
and Risk and Resilience Team have transitioned from Education and Partnerships to
Children’s Care. The HOTH model is now being implemented, and we are working
regionally to launch the approach Tees Wide. The Service Manager has conducted a
service review and completed a vision for adolescents in Middlesbrough who are at risk
of/experiencing exploitation that works more collaboratively across the system, the
vision is to increase resources for more young people and support them out of the cycle.

8. Residential and Supported Accommodation

8.1Work is underway to stabilise our residential homes, improving quality and implementing
a new practice model. Staff have been embracing this new model and report significant
impact on the children they care for.

8.2The focus is on ensuring all our homes are graded as “good” as a minimum. At the
beginning of the year, we had three homes rated as “good” with two rated “requires
improvement” and one as “inadequate.” Last report, | highlighted how Holly Lodge had
moved from inadequate to “good”, Future for Families had moved from “requires
improvement” to “good” and Gleneagles had retained its “good” rating.

8.3I'm thrilled to report that Fir Tree has been inspected and judged to be “good.” We have
made significant strides in this area with seven out of eight homes being rated as “good.”
I'd like to thank all our staff who have worked so hard to secure these improvements for
the young people in our care.

8.4We are reviewing the purpose of two of our homes to make sure we are using them as
efficiently as possible. At present, Occupancy is 77% this is a slight drop from the
previous month of 80% and is due to the temporary closure of Holly Lodge children’s
home. This is due to the change in purpose and recruitment of staff. The plan is to
reopen the home on the 8.9.25 with one child initially.

Page 32



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

8.5The service is in the process of recruiting to vacant posts. Currently there are 20
vacancies. The service is doing this via a specialist recruitment agency to have pace
and the right candidates as previous recruitment has not enabled the right candidates
thus far.

9. Learning, Review and Development

9.1Bexley, our Sector Led Improvement Partners (SLIP), recently spent some time getting
to know our Quality Assurance team, framework, and processes. They provided some
positive feedback about the work being completed, provided some helpful suggestions
and we are very proud to say that they also took some learning away for their own
Quiality Assurance service.

9.2The Quality Assurance team continues to deliver training informed by audit findings,
alongside their audit activities and delivery of the QA Framework. They are also very
excited to be involved in the support behind the scenes for the delivery and embedding
of our new practice model, Safeguarding Together.

9.3The Social Work Academy is getting ready for the next cohort of Newly Qualified Social
Workers commencing, with a full induction timetable ready for their arrival on the 8
September. Our two Frontline units are also getting ready to welcome our next set of
unqualified students, also due to start with us on the 8 September 2025.

9.4 Our Participation team continues to work with our cared-for children and young people
to hear from them how we can better shape and improve services and in the process of
recruiting for further care ambassadors and young people volunteers. They also
continue to work within local schools, canvassing the views of Middlesbrough children
and young people.

9.5We have also now launched QR codes to invite feedback from our children, young
people, their parents, carers, and professionals at the point of involvement when
transferring from one service area to another or ceasing. This will be incorporated into
the quality assurance reporting to inform service development. Further QR codes are
being developed to create specificity for areas such as MACH, residential and
resources.

10.THE TIME AHEAD

10.11 will continue to support Children’s Services with its work to improve practice across the
service through my work at the Children’s Improvement Board and directly with service
leads.

10.21 will work with officers to get the Carer Leavers’ Hub and refreshed Care Leavers’
strategy back on track.

10.31 will be working to ensure changes of senior leadership are smooth and continue our
record of stabilising Children’s Services and creating a supportive culture amongst our
workforce. | would like to thank all our staff for their hard work in keeping young people
safe and giving them the best start in life.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



I\/\Idd |esbrough Executive Member Report to Council

moving forward

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Executive member for Development
DATE OF MEETING: 10 September 2025

The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity within
my portfolio including performance against strategic priorities.

COUNCIL PLAN PRIORITIES
Place & People

1. HIGHLIGHTS

Update

1.1 Town Centre Plan

A board of senior institutional stakeholders has been established to shape a new vision for
Middlesbrough Town Centre and its economy. Police, educational institutions, businesses,
the voluntary sector, the Mayoral Development Corporation and health providers have
agreed to work together to develop a common vision and plan which every Middlesbrough
stakeholder can get behind, and deliver.

Work is underway to assess the most critical barriers to growth and progress. From there
a strategic action plan will be codesigned and codelivered to deliver a transformational
vision for Middlesbrough in to the 2030s. This work will culminate with published plans and
strategies in 2026.

1.2 Housing Numbers

To create a range of housing options for new and existing residents of Middlesbrough,
targets for the 2025/26 financial year have been set at 450 new units. As of July 2025, 180
new units have been completed in the year and this is slightly ahead of schedule for the
year.

1.3 HMO Article 4 Direction — 6 months on

Following the decision of Executive in December 2023, the Council made a non-immediate
Article 4 Direction to remove the permitted development rights to convert houses to small
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) —i.e. those for 3-6 occupants. This now means that
all developments for HMOs in the area covered by Middlesbrough Council (the
Middlesbrough Council area except the Middlesbrough Development Corporation area)
now require a planning application for consideration by the Council. The provisions of the
Article 4 Direction came into effect on 8" February 2025.

Page 35



Immediately prior to the Article 4 coming into effect, we received 17 applications for
‘Certificates of Lawful Uses’ to provide formal confirmation that existing HMOs were
recognised and recorded as such. There have been a further 18 applications submitted
since 8" February seeking formal clarification for established HMOs via the Certificate of
Lawfulness process. To date 11 of these have been approved and 7 are pending
consideration.

A further 7 applications have been submitted for new HMOs. Of these, 3 have been
refused on concerns over the nature of provision, including lack of outdoor amenity space,
room sizes and adequate provision of rooms beyond the most basic provision. The further
4 remain pending decision. There have also been 2 appeal decisions for HMO applications,
one appeal has been dismissed and one appeal has been allowed.

The Local Planning Authority will continue to expect a good level of accommodation for
HMOs and will continue to refuse unacceptable, poor quality provision, whilst taking into
account the outcome of appeal decisions. This position will be further enhanced through
the emerging Local Plan Policy, which will provide a stronger basis upon which to base
decision making and seek higher quality provisions.

1.4 Southlands Community Facility
The Southlands development is on site and is progressing to the scheduled construction
programme. The development remains scheduled to complete in Spring 2026 and will be
operated by Middlesbrough Football Club Foundation.

1.5 Captain Cook Square

Roxy Cinema completed construction and opened for public use in July 2025.

The boutique cinema is competitively priced and offers novel services such as private
screenings, retro films, mainstream titles and gaming events.

The new facility has been well received by the public and has brought added value to the
leisure transformation at Captain Cook Square.

1.6 District Centre Improvement Grants

A grants programme will be launched in September 2025, to enhance and uplift the
shopping areas in our residential communities.

As part of the Middlesbrough Priorities Fund, traders will be able to apply for grant funding
to support facelift and improvements of the shopping districts in our local estates. Individual
applications are welcomed along with consortium bids from retailers within a common
precinct.

Demand is anticipated to be high so traders are advised to watch for updates through
Council media channels and on the Council website.

2. EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

2.1 Nunthorpe Community Centre — Next Steps (Approved 26 Jul 2025)

Page 36



On 16" July 2025, a report was approved by Executive to progress the construction of the
New Nunthorpe Community facility, along with agreement of the lease terms with preferred
operator, Nunthorpe Parish Council.

Planning permission has been secured and tenders complete. The site contractors will
commence in the coming weeks and will complete in spring 2026.

Providing a new centre has been a long-standing ambition for the Council and the
Nunthorpe community, providing a much-needed space for local people of all ages to come
together and take part in a range of educational, healthy and social activities.

The new building will include multi-purpose rooms, a kitchen, toilets, office space and
parking and could play host to adult education classes, family support sessions, youth
groups, music activities and even be available for events like children’s parties.

The centre will also work closely with the nearby medical practice and offer activities to
promote health and wellbeing, as well as nature sessions with schools in partnership with
the local Greenways project.

3. THE TIME AHEAD
Upcoming Executive Reports in the Forward Plan:
3.1 Nunthorpe Grange Design Guide Update

An updated design guide for development for the Nunthorpe Grange site was also adopted
in July 2025. This key document sets out the design standards for new housing
developments coming forward including landscaping and community amenity.

In developing the guidance document, the council has demonstrated good practices in
genuine and meaningful engagement with the local community and stakeholders. The
document will hold weight as the current planning application for housing in the area is
finally determined at a forthcoming Planning and Development Committee.

3.2 Capital Investment in Council Buildings

A report is scheduled to come to Executive to discuss the condition of the corporate estate
and operational assets. This report will highlight any major maintenance matters which are
a risk to the corporate estate and the investment priorities which the Council needs to
consider over the Medium Term Financial Plan period.

This report is a critical step in ensuring that major operational assets are appropriately
surveyed and that investment is prioritised to any interventions which are required for the
longevity of the buildings, along with the welfare and safety for the residents and staff who
occupy the buildings. This ensures that service delivery can be optimised across the estate,
with the minimal disruption to critical services and civic amenity.

Commercial Property — Irrecoverable Debt Cancelled - This was about historical debts

accumulated through Captain Cook Square, Cleveland Centre and TEESAMP. Now to be
taken off the FWP and issued as a Council-wide debt report via Director of Finance.

Page 37



3.3 Development of Middlehaven

A report is scheduled to come to Executive to discuss the condition of the corporate estate
and operational assets. This report will highlight any major maintenance matters which are
a risk to the corporate estate and the investment priorities which the Council needs to
consider over the Medium Term Financial Plan period.

This report is a critical step in ensuring that major operational assets are appropriately
surveyed and that investment is prioritised to any interventions which are required for the
longevity of the buildings, along with the welfare and safety for the residents and staff who
occupy the buildings. This ensures that service delivery can be optimised across the estate,
with the minimal disruption to critical services and civic amenity.

Commercial Property — Irrecoverable Debt Cancelled - This was about historical debts
accumulated through Captain Cook Square, Cleveland Centre and TEESAMP. Now to be
taken off the FWP and issued as a Council-wide debt report via Director of Finance.

3.4 Investment in Homelessness

The Council are working closely with a social investor on a proposal for investment in
purchasing and refurbishing empty properties. The proposal would see the social investor
co-ordinate activities with a range of housing providers to bring properties back into use
and broaden the range of the Council’'s options for temporary accommodation. As the
proposals will require significant investment (through external grant funding) significant due
diligence is currently being undertaken before it is brought forward for a formal decision.

3.5 Local Plan Examination Modifications — Delegated Authority

The Local Plan is due to be submitted to the Secretary of State in September 2025,
following which it will be subject to Independent Examination. In order to ensure the
efficient running of the Examination, and to provide the best opportunity for it to be found
sound — and therefore adopted — a report is being taken to Council to confirm that the
Planning Inspector should be asked to recommend modifications, where necessary, and
for delegated authority to be given to the Director of Regeneration to agree proposed
modifications so they can be subject to public consultation. Modifications are a normal part
of the process and any final changes to the plan will need to be included in the Inspector’s
Report before being brought back to the Council for adoption.

Page 38



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

I\/\Idd |esbrough Executive Member Report to Council

moving forward

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Executive Member for Environment and Sustainability
DATE OF MEETING: 10 September 2025

The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity
within my portfolio including performance against strategic priorities.

COUNCIL PLAN PRIORITIES

A healthy place - Protect and improve our environment
Safe and resilient communities - Improved transport and digital connectivity

Update:

e | continue to work on policy proposals for the short, medium and long-term.

e We will continue to work closely with local communities to protect our green
spaces, and make sure that our roads and open spaces are well-designed, clean
and safe.

1. HIGHLIGHTS
Update:

1.1 1 attended a site meeting on Stainton Way with officers and ward Councillors on 15%
July.

1.2 | attended the Pallister Park Clean Up and Refurbishment event with the Mayor and
officers on 18™ July.

1.3 | attended the Green Lane Active Travel Corridor site meeting with officers and ward
Councillors on 25" July.

1.4 | attended the Reuse Shop Launch Event at the Haverton Hill Household Waste and
Recycling Centre on 8" August.

1.5 | attended a Grillo (industrial lawn mower) training session at Fairy Dell Park on 12
August.

2. THE TIME AHEAD
Update:
2.1 Traffic Signals/UTMC

Traffic Signal Junction upgrades 2025/26:
e Awaiting designs for 25/26 schemes.

Pedestrian crossing upgrades 2025/26:
Page 39



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

e Ormesby Road/Southland Centre — Puffin Crossing installation start date 27.07.25.
Ongoing.

2.2 Highways

e Verge replacement and footway improvement work programmes have been
developed, and we are underway with implementation of the programme for 2025/26.

e Verge works complete so far: 2 of the planned 13 schemes.

e Footway Works complete so far: 3 of the planned 22 schemes.

2.3 Bridges and Structures
2.3.1 Emergency Repairs to Ormesby Beck Culvert

Following the development of a significant defect at Ormesby Beck Culvert on Ladgate
Lane, the decision was taken to close the westbound carriageway to reduce the risk of
further damage. We are prioritising the repairs and have engaged with a civil engineering
contractor to undertake the necessary works. A suitable repair may take several months.

2.3.2 Transporter Bridge

Digital monitoring of the movement of the bridge continues and will feed into the
design/repairs going forward. Discussion around options for the future operating model of
the structure are ongoing and funding streams need to be clarified but an announcement
by Mayor Houchen of £30m has been secured through TCR. Preliminary design
programme confirmed with regular meetings scheduled with contractor to discuss updates.
Presentation held at the NEPO civils engagement to encourage early contractor
involvement to help progression of the project. This is ongoing.

2.3.3 Newport Bridge

The additional bearing works to the main bridge span have started and are due to be
completed at the end of the school holidays. The works are led by Stockton on Tees
Borough Council in collaboration with Middlesbrough Council.

2.3.4 Newport Approach Road Bridge & Structures

All the 2024-25 planned works to the Newport Approach Road and Bridges were
completed.

In 2025-26, we will be installing a semi-permanent vehicle restraint safety (VRS) barrier to
both sides of the approach road and main bridges along with a new lane layout — once this
work is undertaken and the 2025-26 bearing works are complete the current cone traffic
management will be removed. The Vehicle Restraint Systems works will be co-ordinated
with the bearing works on the main Newport Bridge span. Ongoing and due for completion
at the end of the school holidays.

Future programme: Works to replace/rebuild the footways on the main part of the approach
structures will be programmed over the next 2-3 years subject to funding.

Temporary netting is required to the underneath of the footways to ensure the safety of the
rail infrastructure — these works will be undertaken in collaboration with Network Rail, and

Page 40



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

we are negotiating rail possession with a works start date to be confirmed. Consultation
with Network Rail has started and is ongoing.

2.3.5 Principal and General Bridge Inspections
We are liaising with the contractor to complete two reports for the 2024-25 inspection work.

The final inspection of Works Road bridge took place, which was awaiting a rail line closure,
and organisation for a confined space inspection on the A66 Station Viaduct are underway.

2.3.6 Longlands Road overbridge

The bridge inspection has taken place, and the report has been submitted - we are
currently reviewing the report. A design, principal designer, AIP, and technical approval
phase will follow in 2025-26. The major works are likely to be programmed for 2026/27
subject to the necessary funding being in place.

2.3.7 A66 Structures

We are currently putting together a specification for a works programme to the bridges at
Cannon Park Interchange (Newport Roundabout), Hartington Interchange, and All Saints
Viaduct. Ongoing.

2.3.8 Borough Road Flyover

Concrete testing works and report due to be undertaken. Works on the design, Approval
in Principle, Principal Designer and technical approval for replacement of the bridge joints,
bearings, and carrying out localised hydro demolition and concrete repairs, will likely take
place in year 2026-27 based on current budget projections. No further update at this stage.

2.3.9 A174 Marton Interchange Overbridge

A174 Marton Interchange Overbridge includes replacing the bridge deck waterproofing and
resurfacing, concrete repairs to the abutments and the installation of suicide prevention
parapets. Work has been delayed due to contractual reasons, a new draft programme is
being reviewed, with works due to start imminently once agreed, and the contracts are
signed. Several meetings have taken place with the contractor and the contract is due for
issue/signature.

2.3.10 Linby & Belle Vue Footbridges

This will involve painting; installation of suicide prevention parapets/cages; structural
repairs to piers and decks; new bearings; concrete repairs; other repairs; and lighting
installation. The design phase is coming to a close and the next stage is to undertake the
works. This work will progress after year 2025/26.

2.3.11 Bridges Small Schemes
Several minor footbridge railing repairs are due to take place within the next two months

at Kader Primary Footbridge (Blue Bell Beck), and the footbridges at Stainton
Way/Newham Way.

Page 41



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

2.4Carriageways

24.1

2.4.2

2.4.3

24.4

2.4.5

The remainder of the 2024-25 resurfacing programme on Hall Drive and Tollesby
Road has been completed. Glendale Road and Gunnergate Lane have been
resurfaced, with traffic calming expected to be completed by mid-September 2025.
The remainder of Glendale Road is programmed to take place as part of the 2025-
26 works.

A surface dressing contract for Stokesley Road, Coulby Newham, and Brass Castle
Lane has been tendered, and we are currently undertaking the necessary
procurement processes and legal contract stage. Works are expected to start at the
beginning of September 2025. Ongoing.

The main 2025-26 resurfacing contract and micro asphalt contract is currently going
through the tender and procurement stage, with works to start late-September/early-
October 2025, and continuing until the end of the financial year. Stand out classified
road schemes involve three eastbound sections of the A66, a further phase on
Marton Road, and a large phase on Longlands Road. The unclassified roads
programme will see eighty-two thousand m? of asphalt laid; covering 12.6km (7.8
miles) of the road network.

A full list of resurfacing schemes is published on the Councils website and is
available via the following link:
https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/media/hh2hn2ch/highway-infrastructure-
maintenance-plan-sept20.pdf

The weekly road works report will regularly update start and duration dates of all the
works, and this can also be viewed on the Council’s website.

2.5 Flood Management

2.5.1

2.5.2

A review of the Gully Cleansing Programmes has been undertaken, and we
continue to work through the Gullies in line with the adopted risk-based approach in
prioritising Gully cleansing. We continue to work proactively on flood risk
management through joint working with EA and NWL and increasing our knowledge
of the network and improving the long-term planning for reducing flood risk.

The new surface water flood maps have been published, and we continue to review
them to identify any new areas affected by flooding and if a flood protection scheme
is required. Work also continues reviewing and updating the Flood Risk Asset
Register and in identifying potential flood risk of Culverts.

2.6 Public Rights of Way

2.6.1 A full survey of the currently recorded Public Rights of Way network continues to be

2.6.2

undertaken.

A small number of furniture improvements and drainage works are due during 2025.

2.7 Highway Licences

Page 42


https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/media/hh2hn2ch/highway-infrastructure-maintenance-plan-sept20.pdf
https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/media/hh2hn2ch/highway-infrastructure-maintenance-plan-sept20.pdf

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

2.7.1 Work continues to make more applications available online along with payments.
The migration of highway licence management to our updated Asset Management
Software System is complete.

2.7.2 The Highway Improvement works licenced on Keith Road, The Vale, Marton Burn
Road, Ashfield Avenue as part of the development continue as advertised.

2.8 Street Lighting

2.8.1 The 2025/26 column replacement programme is underway in various wards
throughout the Town.

2.8.2 Works are ongoing to upgrade the street lighting and subway lighting in TS1 & TS3
with funding from DLUHC.

2.8.3 We are also installing new street lighting on behalf of Esh Construction/Thirteen in
Grove Hill and Union Street.

2.9 Waste Services

We are well underway for the introduction of weekly recycling and food waste collections
that are due to commence in July 2026.

Key milestones to date are as follows:

2.9.1 Food waste vehicles have been procured and scheduled to arrive in January/
February 2026.

2.9.2 We have procured the additional recycling vehicles and currently working through
the legal process with a view of receiving these trucks in spring 2026.

2.9.3 We have recruited 6 additional alley cleansing operatives and have 5 of these
members of staff in post. A new point of contact in Glen Pinnegar is leading on the
alley cleansing programme.

2.9.4 We are about to launch a new campaign internally to upskill staff within the
organisation to and obtain their HGV licence through an apprenticeship programme.
This is to contribute towards mitigating the risk of the skills shortage for when we
recruit new drivers in 2026 for the new collection rounds.

2.9.5 We are in the process of rolling out a complete bin replacement programme for
North Ormesby where all wheeled bins will be replaced for new containers. All bins
will have steel lids and will go some way to reducing some of the pest and
environmental waste issues reported to us regularly. On completion of this work, we
will be moving into the Newport area and Central area to undertake further
replacements with the remaining stock we have.

2.9.6 We have procured a provider to deliver our food waste caddies and new paper
cardboard recycling bins and this work will start in April 2026. A full communications
plan is being developed, and this will be reported on closer to the time to notify
residents of what changes are coming and when to expect delivery of their new
receptacles.

Page 43



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

2.10 Area Care

2.10.1 Area Care are continuing with our Summer Grass Cutting Program with the hire of
the additional 4 front deck ride on rotary cutters. We are also continuing weed
spraying on quad bikes and backpack sprayers.

2.10.2 We are addressing some of the overhanging trees across the Borough and a
planned program of tree removal and pruning is continuing in Pallister Park.

2.10.3 Area Care were involved with clean up and branch removal during and after Storm
Floris. The team were called out 31 times over a 2-day period.

2.10.4 The 16 Neighbourhood Caretakers have now been placed in their allocated areas
across the Borough and are being put to work in a variety of tasks which include,
painting of street furniture, strimming, pruning, litter picking and other duties that
improve the town.

2.11 Transport Planning and Road Safety

2.11.1 Linthorpe Road Cycleway removal
e Pre-start arrangements continue, with anticipated commencement for removal on
August 26th.

2.11.2 Newport Road sustainable transport corridor
e Detailed design nearing conclusion.
e Early contractor engagement.

2.11.3 Travel planning
e We are working with James Cook University Hospital to identify solutions to parking
issues. These include promoting alternate existing modes, identifying demand for
shuttle/supported public transport services and other key information dissemination.

2.11.4 Road Safety
e On-going liaison with Cleveland Casualty Reduction Group.
e Focus on College/University events to engage target audiences at freshers’
week/re-start term.

2.11.5 School Crossing Patrols
e Several casual employees have been recruited who will be able to cover sickness
at short notice, reducing the number of crossings un-patrolled for the coming school
year.
e Refresher training for all colleagues scheduled September in advance of schools
returning.

Page 44



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

I\/\Idd |esbrough Executive Member Report to Council

moving forward

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Executive Member for Finance
DATE OF MEETING: 10 September 2025

The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of
activity within my portfolio including performance against strategic priorities.

COUNCIL PLAN PRIORITIES
Delivering Best Value
1. HIGHLIGHTS

1.1 Members Small Scheme (Capital) and Priorities Fund Ward Allocations

A briefing for all members on these two schemes was provided at my request on 14
July 2025, and | would like to thank officers for delivering this as well as for all their
other work on these schemes.

1.1.1 Members Small Scheme (Capital)

The closing date for applications for the Members Small Scheme (Capital) was 25
August 2025 and | am informed that 15 bids were submitted.

The process now is, as included in guidance for members, that applications are
scored by a panel of officers against criteria.

Also included in the guidance is that a report will then be submitted to the Executive
Sub for Property with details of the various schemes and completed scoring matrix.
The final decision on which schemes are successful and the level of funding provided
rests with the members of the committee. Ward councillors who have submitted bids
will be invited to attend the committee, which is expected to take place in October.

1.1.2 Priorities Fund Ward Allocations

The Priorities Fund Ward Allocations, which is revenue remains open for applications.
Guidance outlined how schemes submitted by ward members will be approved if they
are deliverable, affordable, and have no ongoing revenue implications, and that they
will benefit the ward and have a positive impact on Council Plan ambitions.
Middlesbrough Priority Fund applications will be programmed for delivery on
completion of the Panel stage based on officer recommendations.

| am informed that to date 11 applications have been submitted by councillors. The

first officer panel will meet in September, and councillors will be informed of the
outcome of their applications. From now on the panel will meet on a monthly basis.

Page 45



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

1.2 Welfare Rights

| would like to highlight and commend the exceptional work of our Welfare Rights
team who have continued to provide significant support to residents over the last
financial year. Over £3million of unclaimed benefits has been identified assisting
1,700 residents throughout this period which is a phenomenal achievement. Over the
course of the year, targeted support has been provided to a wide variety of initiatives,
including helping to assist with identifying those who were entitled to Pension Credits
and potentially missing out on a Winter Fuel Payment from Central Government,
whilst also assisting with maximising benefit for those residents recently identified as
being entitled to Free School Meals for their children.

1.3 Pension Credit uptake

In addition to the Welfare Rights team working to identify those missing out on
Pension Credit, the Benefit Service also made contact with a number of people to
encourage Pension Credit take up. The results were again extremely impressive and
brought some much-needed income to pensioners who were missing out. In total,
support was provided to 194 residents who received over £715,000 in annual pension
credit awards. Some of the awards were significant, with one resident receiving over
£83,000 in backdated pensions which were previously unclaimed.

1.4 Housing Benefit Migration

As part of the long-standing policy of managed migration, to move all claimants from
the existing ‘legacy’ benefits, including Housing Benefit, to Universal Credit, the
number of residents migrating onto Universal Credit continues at pace. As at 1 April
2024, the number of working age residents receiving Housing Benefit was 3,734.
Moving forward one year to 1 April 2025, this figure had decreased to 2,068, which is
a reduction of 45% in one year. The Resident and Business Support team are
continuing to offer full support to those moving onto Universal Credit to ensure a
smooth transition and help with enquiries on an individual basis.

1.5 Household Support Fund (HSF) and Pensioners

As | have previously reported to Council, our Household Support Fund (HSF) scheme
was approved by Council on 14 May 2025 and is based on the Council’s previous
successful HSF schemes. In relation to pensioners, my approach, agreed by the
Executive under the existing 2025/26 scheme included an amount for pensioners who
were no longer eligible for the state Winter Fuel Payment under the changed criteria
introduced in 2024. This would have meant that those in receipt of Council Tax
Reduction or Attendance Allowance who were not eligible for the Winter Fuel Payment
from the Government could have received the amount of the Winter Fuel Payment of
£300 or £200 depending on age in full from Middlesbrough Council’'s HSF.

On 9 June 2025 the Government amended the criteria for the Winter Fuel Payment
again, meaning that pensioners with incomes of less than £35,000 will now be eligible
for the Winter Fuel Payment, without HMRC taking it back. This has greatly reduced
the number of pensioners in Middlesbrough who aren’t eligible for the Winter Fuel
Payment and consequently also reduced numbers of those eligible for the £300 or
£200 HSF payment under the previously agreed scheme.

| have therefore been working with officers on a revised scheme to redistribute surplus
funds which will offer additional support to both working age people and pensioners
and include those on low incomes not entitled to benefits as well as those who are,

Page 46



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

and | will provide an update in a future report to Council once a revised scheme has
been considered by the Executive.

1.6 Budget Forecast Year-End Outturn position at Quarter One 2025/26

Quarter One Budget Clinics (Challenge Sessions) took place in July 2025, chaired by
me and attended by the Mayor, relevant executive members for each service area and
senior officers. As is usually the case at Quarter One, there is a projected overspend
at year end. Part of the purpose of these budget clinics is to identify emerging
pressures at an early stage and to put in place actions to reduce them or identify
alternative measures that can be put in place. However, the current pressures are of
concern, particularly within Children’s Services budget, even at this early stage in the
year.

Following the Budget Clinics, the 2025/26 revenue budget forecast year-end outturn
as at Quarter One after proposed use of central contingencies and other budgets is a
forecast overspend of £4.482m (3.1% of the budget). As always this would only be if
no successful action is taken to reduce those overspends by year end, and my aim is
that this figure will be brought down and that we will as we did last year return within
budget.

The biggest area of overspend is within Children’s Services, particularly external
residential budgets. The number of Children Looked After within Middlesbrough has
remained broadly the same. However, there are both increasing numbers of external
residential placements and increased costs due to the complexity of a number of
children and young people who require differing complex care provision which
invariably cannot be provided within the Council’'s own residential homes.

During the last year three projects have been set up with the aim to reduce numbers;
whilst the Reunification Project has delivered reduced numbers, the Modernising
Fostering and Edge of Care projects have not yet seen the effect of reducing numbers.

Due to the volatile nature of Children’s Care external residential budgets, the Executive
Member of Children’s Services and myself have been meeting along with the Director
of Finance and key officers from the service area on a monthly basis, since the start of
the financial year.

Adult Social Care, Environment & Community Services (Bereavement Services, Fleet
Services, and home to school and vulnerable adults transport), Strategic Commercial
Properties income, and Central budgets are also all reporting pressures at Quarter
One.

As part of the actions arising from the budget clinic process, service areas will be
required to develop and submit further recovery plans and mitigations in order to
reduce their forecast overspends and seek to achieve a balanced budget for their
directorate by the end of 2025/26.

2. THE TIME AHEAD
Update:

2.1 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and Budget Timetable

Page 47



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

In my last report to Council | referred to the Government’s Fair Funding Review. A
report which will be presented to the Executive on 3 September 2025 explains that the
proposed approach by the Government in the fundamental reforms to local
government funding aims to make the way funding is provided for local authorities fairer
and simpler and aims to move funding to authorities who have the greatest need, such
as Middlesbrough.

Analysis of the potential effects on the Government’s proposed approach on individual
authorities has been undertaken in conjunction with organisations such as SIGOMA
(Special Interest Group of Municipal Authorities) and Pixel Financial Management. The
Government has also provided some further information and clarification of some parts
of the consultation.

Whilst no detailed information has been provided by the Government as to the effect
on individual local authorities, the analysis undertaken to date indicates that
Middlesbrough will obtain substantial additional funding from the proposed new
approach, due to a recognition of the needs and demands that Middlesbrough faces
in providing services and the fact that Middlesbrough has not received appropriate
funding to meet its needs in previous years. There is still a high level of uncertainty in
some aspects of the proposed approach and therefore at this stage no estimated
figures are included in the report.

The consultation on the Review closed on 15 August 2025, and the Council submitted
a response to the consultation which generally welcomed the Government’s proposed
approach.

After considering all the responses to the consultation the Government will provide
detailed allocations of funding to individual local authorities for the next three years as
part of the provisional Local Government Finance Settlement which is planned to be
published in late November 2025. The Government have indicated that they will also
publish a Local Government Finance Policy Statement by October 2025 and other
information before the Settlement is published. The modelling of funding projections
will be reviewed through the budget process to reflect new information as it becomes
available. The timing of the provisional Settlement will determine how much certainty
can be placed on the figures to be included in the report to Executive in December
2025.

Therefore, as further detailed information is required in order to provide robust figures
for inclusion in an update of the MTFP, at this stage no revised figures are provided in
the Executive report until greater assurance can be obtained. Work will continue as
further information becomes available and an updated MTFP is planned to be
submitted to Executive on 3 December 2025 along with the start of the budget
consultation for 2026/27.

However, although the Fair Funding Review should bring good news for
Middlesbrough, we also need to bear in mind that in common with most other local
authorities, the combination of previous and existing high inflation and the cost of living
crisis and other issues have significantly impacted the local and national economy and
put significant pressure upon demand for Council services and the cost of providing
them. As detailed in the Revenue and Capital Budget — Forecast Year-end Outturn
position at Quarter One 2025/26 report to Executive on 3 September 2025 existing

Page 48



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

financial pressures are continuing, and further financial pressures are emerging in
relation to:

e Adult Social Care — increased demand for services (mainly residential care)

e Children’s Social Care — increased numbers and complexity of external residential
placements

e Potential shortfalls on income from strategic commercial investments.

e Crematorium — reduced demand and associated reduction in income

e Fleet Management — increased staff costs due to recruitment and retention
challenges and a sharp increase in the cost of vehicle parts

¢ Integrated Transport Service - home to school transport for children and transport
for vulnerable adults

There are also a number of other significant potential financial pressures that are
emerging in future years and which may require the MTFP to be amended for, including
waste disposal costs and costs associated with recycling and other factors which need
to be taken into account when updating the MTFP.

2.1.1 Budget Timetable

All elected members have a legal obligation to agree a balanced robust budget. In
order to promote a collaborative and co-ordinated approach with all elected members
and officers in developing the budget, briefings for all elected members will be arranged
at various points of the process to ensure that key issues are understood. The Financial
Resilience Working Group (FRWG) comprising cross party member representation will
be re-established and will have the opportunity to play a key role in the budget setting

process.
2026/27 Budget Setting - Budget Timetable
Date Responsible Action
September - end of Executive Member |Monthly Financial Resilience Warking Group meetings
December 2025 for Finance / 3151
Officer
September 2025 Elected Mayor/ Briefing - All Elected Members
5151 Officer
August 2025 -end of [LMT / Executive Development of budget proposals
October 2025
25 Movember 2026 Elected Mayor/ Briefing - All Elected Members
5151 Officer
rd December 2025  [Executive Executive - budget proposals agreed for consultation. Capital Programme review.
2026/27 Council Tax Base set
4th December 2025 - |Finance Budget Consultation period with public, political groups, OSE, business community
7th January 2026 & other stakeholders
December 20251 Finance Consider Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement (expected to be
Early January 2026 available late Movember 2025)
End January 2026 Finance Final Local Government Finance Settlement to be considered
January 2026 Elected Mayor/ Amend budget proposals in light of consultation, feedbackiupdated officer advice
Executive / LMT and consider any alternative budget proposals
2T January 2026 Elected Mayor/ Briefing - All Elected Members
5151 Officer
4th February 2026 Executive Executive - agree final budget proposals for recommendation to Council
18th February 2026 Council Full Council - to set 2026/27 revenue budget, 2026/27 Council Tax, revised MTFP to
2028/30 and Capital Strategy 2026/27

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

I\/\Idd |esbrough Executive Member Report to Council

moving forward

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Executive Member for Neighbourhoods
DATE OF MEETING: 10 September 2025

The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity
within my portfolio including performance against strategic priorities.

COUNCIL PLAN PRIORITIES

e Neighbourhoods
e Neighbourhood Safety
e Community Cohesion

1. HIGHLIGHTS
Update:

1.1Neighbourhood Action Partnerships (NAP’s) have been introduced across
Middlesbrough in the 4 areas i.e. North, East, South and West. These are multi-agency
partnership forums aimed at giving elected members a voice in how services are
delivered in Middlesbrough. In addition to the NAP’s, we also have 4 locality hubs
based in each of the areas. This is where multi-agency teams work together on a daily
basis to tackle the issue that matter most to local residents and businesses.

Expansion of neighbourhoods

1.2Recruitment has been taking place to employ additional staff within our 4
neighbourhood for the following posts:

16 Neighbourhood Caretakers (4 in each neighbourhood area — all are now in post)

1 Community Safety Coordinator (town wide — will start end of August)

8 Neighbourhood Navigators (2 in each neighbourhood area, in progress)

8 Community Development Officers (2 in each neighbourhood area — appointed)

4 Neighbourhood Link Workers (1 in each neighbourhood area, in progress)

2 additional Neighbourhood Safety Officers (1 in North Ormesby and 1 in North,
appointed)

This report highlights some of the initiatives and success of the past month.
East Middlesbrough

1.3Lots of work has been taking place throughout the neighbourhoods, one example is
the multi agency partnership work taking place as part of Clear Hold Build named
locally as ‘Project Orme’. On Tuesday 1st July Police Officers arrested a man wanted

Page 51



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

in connection with several incidents in the town, as part of Project Orme. This was part
of a multi agency initiative working with the Council and wider partners. The 27-year-
old man has since been charged with driving whilst disqualified, dangerous driving,
driving without insurance, failing to stop for officers and failing to stop following a traffic
collision. He was remanded in custody to appear before court on Wednesday 30th
July.

1.40ur East locality team have collaborated with Police colleagues with the following:

e 3 Males arrested for outstanding warrants

e 1 Male arrested on a prison recall

e 1 Male who was wanted across the force for his involvement in ram raids and other

crimes.

1 Male arrested for breaching a non-molestation order

1 Female arrested for shoplifting

1 High risk missing person located by our team to assist police

3 Juveniles arrested for violent disorder in Netherfields - all interviewed and bailed

pending CPS

e Following community intelligence, vacant house being used for drug misuse emptied
and secured by Police

e 1 Male wanted on Prison Recall arrested, currently in HMP

e 1 Male arrested on Warrant after he failed to appear at Court for attacking emergency
workers

e 1 Male wanted on prison recall located and arrested Penrith Road

Darras Walk

1.5A local resident from Darras Walk in Pallister Park is over the moon after she was given
some 3 tier planters by the Neighbourhood Manager to help improve the green area.
All of the bedding plants have been purchased by local residents and they’'ve even
taken it upon themselves to cut all the edging around the green area.

Page 52



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Pallister Park clean up

1.6 Following concerns regarding the condition of Pallister Park play area, our newly
appointed caretakers quickly got to work and have carried out an amazing
transformation of the play area. Most of the damaged equipment was replaced, the
area has been re-painted, the whole area was cut back and weeded, and the safety
bark was replenished.

Work is still ongoing and we will also be carrying out the following;
e All benches to be either repaired/repainted/replaced
Additional litter bins to be installed
All graffiti to be removed
Further weeding to be carried out around bowling green area
All railings, fencing, light columns to be painted by Caretakers
Repair damaged fencing around 5-a-side courts
Cut back trees where CCTV cameras are in situ
Community Champions to assist caretakers with painting and regular litter picks
Increased Street Warden patrols

South Middlesbrough

1.7 A commercial delivery driver was fined after being caught littering due to the vigilance
of a local resident. Their evidence helped neighbourhood officers prove that rubbish
was thrown from the driver’s side window of a vehicle parked up in Nunthorpe. After
an interview, a £300 fixed penalty notice was issued to the driver. Signs have now
been put up in the area around Brass Castle Lane, which is a littering hotspot, to warn
other drivers that they can and will be fined if they drop litter.

Page 53



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

1.8 A targeted operation cracking down on mindless criminal damage to buses and other
vehicles took place in Hemlington.

1.9This happened after countless complaints have were made about youths throwing
missiles at moving vehicles, especially on Cass House Road and near the Viewley
Shopping Centre. The problems regularly see bus companies re-route services away
from the area. This led to Cleveland Police officers travelling undercover on buses in
the area to identify those responsible leading to the arrest of a ten-year-old boy on
suspicion of criminal damage and causing danger to road users. He was also referred
to the Youth Offending Team. Another boy aged 14 was also identified and dealt with
for separate offences. A week later two more boys, aged 10 and 13, were arrested in
connection with criminal damage and Middlesbrough Council's neighbourhood team
has identified a number of young people involved in poor behaviour. They will carry out
home visits and have made referrals to youth services, with those who fail to change
their behaviour facing the possibility of court appearances and civil injunctions to
protect the wider community. More undercover work will continue while CCTV is being
used to identify more offenders. Please check where your children are and what they
are doing.

North Middlesbrough

1.10 A ‘Week of Action’ took place in Central ward at the end of June where Cleveland
Police, Thirteen, Middlesbrough Council staff all came together to tackle some of the
issues that were of concern. The Neighbourhood Safety officer attended 8 Licenced
premises around the sale of alcohol making sure they were compliant with their
licences. There were minimal issues with the adherence of licences, but they were
able to identify a few locations selling single cans cheaply and talks are intended with
head offices. Cleveland Police hosted a ‘Hate Crime’ stall with council staff in the Hill
Street Centre on the Monday and on the Friday, staff worked with the neighbourhood
enforcement team in seizing untaxed vehicles which proved very successful!

The community development team conducted environment door knocking on the
around Angle Street, Lothian Road and Hazel & Elder Court engaging with 155
residents

1.12 The residents highlighted issues such as anti-social behaviour around certain areas,
fly tipping as the alley gates where not always locked and recycling in the area. A
Community litter-pick took place and 10 community representatives attended.

1.13 Organisations who supported the litter pick were Teesside University and Recovery

Connections. Streets covered included Acton Street, Upton Street, Aubrey Street,
Waterloo Road, Egerton Street.

Page 54



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

West Middlesbrough

1.14 The Neighbourhood Safety Officer along with the Neighbourhood Development
Officer visited addresses on Newbury Avenue after reports of antisocial behaviour in
the Ayresome Ward area. Various equipment has been issued as part of the
Neighbourhood team’s target hardening packs to addresses crime and antisocial
behaviour. This includes ring doorbells, fence spikes and security lights. Residents
were very grateful and said that they feel it will make a huge difference in making
them feel safer.

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



I\/\Idd |esbrough Executive Member Report to Council

moving forward

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Executive Member for Public Health
DATE OF MEETING: 10 September 2025

The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity within
my portfolio including performance against strategic priorities.

COUNCIL PLAN PRIORITIES
A healthy place:

e Improve life chances of our residents by responding to health inequalities
e Promote inclusivity for all
e Reduce poverty

1. HIGHLIGHTS
Healthy Environments
1.1 Development of the Tees Urban Nature Network (TUNN)

e Middlesbrough Council, in partnership with Redcar and Cleveland Council, Stockton
Council, the Tees Valley Wildlife Trust, and other partners, have been successful in
securing the Government’s Nature Towns and Cities revenue grant of £649,000 over
three years ring-fenced for the delivery of the project. The Partnership was one of only
38 successful applicants from 276 bids.

e This investment will nurture collaboration between Local Authorities, communities,
nature organisations, education establishments, businesses, and community groups.
It will unite and empower communities to lead change and work towards unlocking
innovative new finance models to reimagine and sustain green and blue spaces in our
urban areas.

1.2 Managing Undernutrition South Tees (MUST): Elderly Care Homes

e The MUST Team continues to provide dedicated support to all elderly care homes
across South Tees, with a strong focus on raising nutritional standards and improving
resident outcomes. Since the introduction of the Bronze, Silver, and Gold Standards in
Middlesbrough care homes, we have observed a marked improvement in audit
outcomes and overall.

e In the year prior to implementing these new standards, 421 Resident Audit Feedback
items were identified. Following implementation, this number dropped significantly to
261. This reduction highlights the positive impact of the new framework—not only in
terms of audit performance but also improving the experience and wellbeing of
residents.

Page 57



e Importantly, ALL care homes in Middlesbrough are now either working towards or
exceeding national expectations for nutrition in care homes. This achievement
highlights our commitment and the hard work the care homes have delivered to
improve nutritional standards for all residents.

1.3 Managing Undernutrition South Tees (MUST): Disability and Mental Health Care
Homes

The MUST Team are continuing the roll out and implementation of service into disability
and mental health care homes, with 88% of residents in Middlesbrough now receiving
nutritional screening. Full implementation into all care homes across South Tees is
expected to be completed by the end of December 2025. Of those care homes who have
completed their annual audit, 80% are achieving a Gold nutritional stand award. Within
the first year of implementation of the service, the following positive changes in BMI were
seen:

Residents lost on average 4.85% of their bodyweight

No. of residents with a BMI in the healthy weight range increased from 34% to 46%
No. of residents with a BMI in the overweight range decreased from 21% to 10%

No. of residents with a BMI in the obese range decreased from 20% to 14%

No. of residents with a BMI in the overweight range decreased from 12% to 10%

This evidences that the whole care home approach to healthier lifestyles care homes have
implemented with the support of the service has had a positive outcome for residents.

1.4 You’ve Got This (YGT)

e YGT is the Sport England funded programme that aims to support the least active to
become more active. The original funding for the Local Delivery Pilots ceases this
year, however the Team were successful in their “Deepening” proposal to Sport
England, which ensures a further £1.96m funding to March 2028. The new
Middlesbrough Local Plan includes significant input from YGT, acknowledging the
importance of the physical environment in helping people to be more active. The Local
Plan includes a Health and Wellbeing policy and a Health Impact Assessment Toolkit
to ensure all future developments consider their impact on promoting activity.

1.5 Eat Well

e The Eat Well Schools award has recently been reviewed and will launch formally in
September 2025. During a trial period of the new criteria Macmillan Academy achieved
the bronze award.

e The Eat Well Early Years award has also been under review in line with the new
government Early Years Foundation stage nutrition guidance that comes into effect in
September 202. Currently engaging with a number of settings to pilot the new criteria.

2. Vulnerabilities
2.2 Changing Futures

e We have a Changing Futures staff member who is available Monday to Friday based
at Middlesbrough House to provide walk in support. Staff can support people who
present and are seeking help for their current situation. In quarter 1, 219 people
presented at Middlesbrough House, most (196) were not known to the CF team.

Page 58



Reasons for presenting included: housing needs; support with paperwork; Tees Valley
Home Finder drop-in service; financial support; foodbank vouchers and substance use
issues.

2.3 Substance Misuse

There has been a lot of work to review performance against all set targets. The service has
developed improvement plans against the targets with some really successful pathways
implemented, including:

Enhanced reengagement pathway for people who were at risk of dropping out, which
was impacting on the wait for other clients. We have seen at least 30 people who would
have disengaged came back into treatment through this with 12 of those successful
completion.

There is a presence in the Multi-Agency Children’s Hub (MACH) each day screening
referrals for adults and children, to identify people who may need support from the
service.

Established a pathway with Thirteen to support their referring into treatment, now
working to change screening to earlier on in their processes

Worker based in Police custody to identify frequent flyers and engage them in
treatment where needed.

We are supporting the Intense Support Court that can compel engagement with
services through the criminal justice system and have had good feedback from courts
and probation on work being done with people and expertise of workers. We have had
good results in getting people to rehab or successfully completing treatment.

The night clinic that was set up to support vulnerable women and those sex working
has been really successful in supporting people out of hours, and has created a safe
space and a community in the night clinic were the women come together, eat together,
chat and engage with whichever part of the clinic they need in that moment. So far
the clinic has achieved some significant results with some of the most vulnerable
people in Middlesbrough:

20 vulnerable women or sex workers are now in structured treatment

An additional 28 have been supported through the night clinic

8 have been supported into accommodation from being street homeless

4 have gone to detox and rehab with a further 3 on the pathway

2 no longer sex work as they no longer need to buy heroin due to being in treatment
We have administered naloxone four times in the night clinic. These women may have
died if out on the streets when this occurred. One of our women recognised an
overdose in someone else and ran to the clinic to get our help and naloxone and she
stated that was from us talking to her every week about overdose and naloxone.

3. Best Start in Life

3.1 Oral Health

We have secured funding from the NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB) to support the
delivery of a targeted fluoride varnish programme in schools, to improve the oral health
of children. Commissioning is underway with local dental practices across South Tees,
with the aim of awarding contracts in September 2025. We have received free Colgate
resources from central government for the South Tees Supervised Toothbrushing
Programme. The free resources will be utilised by the Supervised Toothbrushing

Page 59



Programme along with other services working with 3- to 5-year-olds in our most
deprived neighbourhoods.

3.2 Healthy Weight

We are working with Middlesbrough 0-19 service (health visiting and school nursing)
to develop the Growing Well, Growing Healthy programme in Middlesbrough, replacing
the previous HENRY programme. This will provide healthy weight programmes and
messages from antenatal, under 5’s and 5-16-year-olds. We are also working with
University College London (UCL) on the SHINE research programme (Studying
Happiness, self-Image, Nutrition and Eating in children) across South Tees. Currently
recruiting schools to participate in this research programme.

3.3 Infant Feeding

The “Mamazing” breastfeeding campaign, a collaborative project involving colleagues
from Public Health, Family Hubs, Marketing and Communications, Maternity Services
and the Middlesbrough 0-19 team was developed, recruiting six local mothers in
Middlesbrough from a competition which was held in January 2025. The six mothers
have featured across the campaign in various promotional materials on billboards, bus
stops, buses, digital screens, video, social media and print materials.

The aim of the campaign is to increase breastfeeding rates, encouraging mothers to
breastfeed for longer, and normalising breastfeeding. The campaign contributes
towards Middlesbrough becoming a Breastfeeding Borough and the Start for Life offer
with the Middlesbrough Family Hubs.

4. |ll Health Prevention

4.1 Stop Smoking Service (SSS)

SSS continues to see increases in referral numbers due to implemented referral
pathways with James Cook University Hospital, educational settings, the Ambulance
Service and primary care providers. In addition to the agreed pathways, we have seen
an increase in self-referrals through the implementation of the 25/26 marketing strategy
for the service all of which includes referral links and QR codes.

Since SSS became the first and only local authority in the northeast to implement
Varenicline as a standard quit aid in addition to Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT)
and vaping products we have seen a predicted shift in preferred quit routes. Varenicline
tablets can only be issued as a sole product, and this has resulted in a reduction of
those requesting either dual NRT or combination NRT/vapes. The next steps are to
continue to increase access points with an emphasis on under-represented groups
identified through the recent Health Equity Audit.

4.2 Healthy Heart Checks

All South Tees GPs have signed up to the new service specification for the next 3-5
years and we are working with ELM GP Federation to develop the community delivery
element with a targeted delivery plan to target the areas with low assessment numbers
in key deciles. Plans are in place to train our substance misuse nurses to deliver
Healthy Heart checks to increase the general health offer alongside current support for
substance misuse issues.

Page 60



5. Health Protection

5.1 Environmental

In June 2025 the South Tees Clean Air Strategy was reviewed and updated with
progress reports from partners.

Middlesbrough Council submitted their annual status report (ASR) for air quality to
DEFRA. The ASR provides a summary of air quality across a local authority area and
provides an opportunity for the local authority to update on the progress with air quality
improvement measures.

5.2 Communicable Disease

The Outbreak Management Plan and Infection Prevention Control Policy have now
been signed off and adopted.

Exercise Pegasus is a national-level exercise involving ministerial participation and
Cabinet Office Briefing Rooms [COBR] activation) scheduled between September and
November 2025. The key purpose is to simulate a realistic pandemic scenario, and is
the first of its kind in nearly a decade.

To support local preparation for Exercise Pegasus, Exercise Solaris took place in April
2025, to exercise multi-agency pandemic response arrangements and plans at a local
and regional level in preparation for Exercise Pegasus. Following this a Tees subgroup
has been developed to test local Council pandemic preparedness plans. A workshop
was held in August to test the plans and make any local amendments prior to Pegasus.

5.3 Mobilisation of new Tees Sexual Health Services

A consortium consisting of University Hospitals Tees (UHT, lead), ELM GP Federation
(south Tees) and H&SH GP Federation (north Tees) are delivering sexual health
services across Tees from August 2025 following successful mobilisation. Teeswide
clinical services will be delivered by the UHT with the two community contraception
contracts delivered by the two GP Federations.

6. Emotional Health and Wellbeing

6.1 Dementia Friendly Care Homes Project

The Dementia Friendly Care Home guide has been highlighted in CQC reports as an
example of best practice for Care Home providers to promote independence and social
interaction as well as improving the experience of residents. However, public health
training and support capacity to support multiple care homes is limited.

6.2 HeadStart

The HeadStart service is now fully funded from the Public Health grant, and that
funding certainty has facilitated a restructure of the team to shift to a South Tees model
and strengthened management capacity. Work is also underway on a new delivery
model which will be implemented from September 2025. The new model will maintain
an element of universal delivery but will shift capacity to a more targeted approach in
secondary settings to better contribute to the Health and Wellbeing Strategy mission
recommendations. Working closely with education colleagues this will focus on
supporting improved attendance.

Page 61



Quarter 1 also sees a shift in school delivery as the team focus on year 6 transition. All
schools receive classroom resources which include pupil workbooks and teacher
resources. 27 primary schools in Middlesbrough received targeted support with 1,074
year 6 pupils supported.

The new parenting model (Investing in Play (liP)) has now completed the first tranche.
liP has been adopted across the Children & Young People mental health system by
Public Health, VCS partners and TEWV. Evaluation has been very positive and
additional staff across the partners will commence training in January to make the
delivery model more resilient.

The army of HeadStarters (mental health champions) across South Tees continues to
grow. Updates to the content of the pathway has seen a focus being placed on skills
for future education, training and employment. Links have been established with ‘Skills
Builder’ and ‘The Key Fund’ to give participating pupils a real opportunity to develop
and deliver projects and access funds to do this. Work is also underway with HDRC to
upskill HeadStarters to become health researchers.

The team are supporting the newly opened Hope provision — a specialist provision for
primary pupils requiring a short-term placement for SEMH difficulties. This includes
participation on the assessment panel and parental support sessions.

6.3 Suicide Prevention

In this Quarter we have developed an improved information sharing agreement with
Cleveland Police so our Tees Preventing Suicide Public Health Practitioner, having
completing vetting and training, now has access to police internal information system
(NICHE) and open access to Middlesbrough police station, improving the early
understanding and action following suspected suicides.

In addition to improved information sharing arrangements with drug and alcohol
recovery services to enhance understanding of drug and alcohol usage in suspected
suicide deaths we also now receive record of inquests directly from the Coroner's
Office, which we have not had access to for many years. This will help us to identify
deaths by suspected suicide that have not been through the real time surveillance and
allow us to have clarity on deaths where there has been uncertainty (such as self-
poisoning [drug-related deaths] or suicide).

6.4 South Tees Wellbeing Network

The Network continues to grow its active membership and in Q1 has grown in multiple
aspects, from content submitted to members joining. The Network has grown steadily
and there are now 985 active members.

The Network has successfully created thousands of actively engaged content pages
on a range of collaborative programmes, including the Wellbeing Pathway Steering
Group with 23 members representing a broad selection of stakeholders from multiple
sectors and areas of wellbeing, including lived experience representations; Loneliness
and Social Isolation Event with network members and books for wellbeing through
library services.

Page 62



SECTION 2 — DECISIONS TAKEN THAT HAVE BEEN THROUGH THE CALL-IN PERIOD

Middlesbrough

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORTS AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

DATE DECISION ISSUE PURPOSE OF REPORT KEY
U MAKER DECISION
QO
(an)
®he Mayor
o
w
16 Jul 2025 Executive Progress against Continuous Improvement | To set out the expanded Continuous Improvement Plan. No
Plan
Executive Member - Development
16 Jul 2025 Executive Nunthorpe Community Centre — Next To seek Executive approval for the proposed terms of the lease Yes
Steps agreement and the commencement of construction of the Community
Centre.
28 Jul 2025 Executive Nunthorpe Grange Design Guide Update | The report sought Executive Member approval for the adoption of the No
Member updated Nunthorpe Grange Design Code that would ensure the

Development

development of Nunthorpe Grange became a positive addition to
Nunthorpe.




DATE DECISION ISSUE PURPOSE OF REPORT KEY
MAKER DECISION
Executive Member for Environment and Sustainability
16 Jul 2025 Executive Simpler Recycling — Legislation changes | The Executive to be made aware of the scheme and the impact the Yes
for Waste Streams legislative changes will have for the town.
Executive Member - Finance
16 Jul 2025 Executive Middlesbrough Priorities Fund For Executive to approve budget allocations for future initiatives from Yes
the Middlesbrough Priorities Fund.
16 Jul 2025 Executive Proposed Changes to the Veritau To seek Executive approval to join a new company, limited by Yes

9 abed

Structure

guarantee, for the provision of internal audit and counter fraud
services, as per the attached business case at Appendix one of the
report.

The report also sought Executive’s approval for the payment of a
dividend by VTV, which would fund Middlesbrough’s subscription to
VPS.




Middlesbrough

SECTION 3 = DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN UP UNTIL THE COUNCIL MEETING

update and 2026/27 budget approach and
timetable

(MTFP), and to seek approval of the budget development approach
and timetable for the 2026/27 budget and MTFP for the four-year
period 2026/27 to 2029/30.

DATE PROPOSED ISSUE PURPOSE OF REPORT KEY
DECISION DECISION
MAKER
;?ne Mayor
©
o 3 Sep 2025 Executive Corporate Performance Quarter One That Executive: No
Ol 2025/2026 * notes the progress and position of the corporate performance
disciplines, including activity within the Transformation Portfolio
* approves proposed changes to the Executive actions, detailed at
Appendix 1
* notes delivery status of the Council Plan 2024-27 supporting
workplan, detailed at Appendix 2
« approves the proposed changes to the Council Plan 2024-27
supporting workplan actions, detailed at Appendix 3
* notes the Strategic Risk Register, at Appendix 4
Executive Member - Finance
3 Sep 2025 Executive Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) To provide an update of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan No




DATE PROPOSED ISSUE PURPOSE OF REPORT KEY
DECISION DECISION
MAKER
3 Sep 2025 Executive Revenue and Capital Budget — Forecast | The report advises the Executive of the Council’s financial position as Yes

Year-end Outturn position at Quarter One
2025/26

at Quarter One 2025/26

99 abed




Middlesbrough

SECTION 4 — DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FOLLOWING THE COUNCIL MEETING

DATE PROPOSED ISSUE PURPOSE OF REPORT KEY
DECISION DECISION
MAKER
;?ne Mayor
©
o 1 Oct 2025 Executive Information Strategy 2025-2029 To approve the information strategy 2025-29 No
~l
Deputy Mayor and Executive Member - Education and Culture
1 Oct 2025 Executive People Scrutiny Panel Report on Children | That Executive notes the background information and contextual Yes
Missing Education (CME) factors contained within this report. This report is presented in support
of the People Scrutiny Panel Report on Children Missing Education
(CME).
Executive Member - Adult Social Care
12 Nov 2025 Executive Domestic Abuse Strategy 2025-2028 For executive approval of Domestic Abuse Strategy developed by Yes
Middlesbrough Domestic Abuse Strategic Partnership to fulfil statutory
duties within Domestic Abuse Act 2021
12 Nov 2025 Executive Levick Court Development of Respite Provision and partnership working with TEWV. Yes




improvements

Longlands Road corridor. The proposals cover a major transport
corridor, covering several wards, at a significant cost

DATE PROPOSED ISSUE PURPOSE OF REPORT KEY
DECISION DECISION
MAKER
Executive Member - Development
1 Oct 2025 Executive Women’s FIFA World Cup 2035 Approval for Middlesbrough to bid to be a host city for the Women’s No
FIFA World Cup 2035 subject to Middlesbrough Football Club being
selected as a host stadium
12 Nov 2025 Executive Development of Middlehaven Proposals to commence preparatory work for the comprehensive Yes
redevelopment of Middlehaven
")
QD12 Nov 2025 Executive Investment in Homelessness Proposals for investment alongside a social investor to purchase Yes
[ properties to reduce the expenditure on temporary accommodation
@
o)
0012 Nov 2025 Executive Capital Investment in Council Buildings Proposals to invest in major reconfiguration and repair of Council Yes
buildings
Executive Member for Environment and Sustainability
1 Oct 2025 Executive Place Scrutiny Report — Home to School | To inform Executive of the scrutiny review in the Home to School Yes
Transport Service Transport Service and to set out the proposed actions of the Integrated
Transport Unit to address the recommendations from the report.
12 Nov 2025 Executive Longlands Road sustainable transport Proposals to improve sustainable transport opportunities along the Yes




house substance misuse service, in response to recent operational
challenges.

DATE PROPOSED ISSUE PURPOSE OF REPORT KEY
DECISION DECISION
MAKER
Executive Member - Finance
1 Oct 2025 Executive Household Support Fund 2025/26 To agree changes required to the original delivery plan Yes
amendment
12 Nov 2025 Executive Treasury Management Mid-Year Review - | The report provides an update to the Executive on performance in No
2025/26 relation to the Council’s borrowing, investments, cash-flow, and
prudential indicators, for the 2025/26 financial year to meet the
requirements of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice
T and the Local Government Act 2003.
m
“8 12 Nov 2025 Executive Service Response to Final Report of the Respond to Panel Recommendations No
Place Scrutiny Panel
o
@
Executive Member - Public Health
1 Oct 2025 Executive Recovery Solutions Delivery Model To set out future site delivery options for Recovery Solutions, our in- Yes




This page is intentionally left blank



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Agenda Item 10

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL I\/\iddlesbi rioi Eugh

moving forward

Report of: Councillor L Young, Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Board and
Charlotte Benjamin, Director of Legal and Governance Services
(Monitoring Officer)

Relevant Executive | The Mayor

Member:
' Submitted to: ' Council
' Date: ' 10 September 2025
\ Title: ' Scrutiny Progress Report
\ Report for: ' Information
' Status: ' Public
Council Plan Delivering Best Value
priority:
Key decision: No
Why: Report is for information only
Subject to call in?: Not applicable
Why: Not Applicable Council Report for information only

Proposed decision(s)

That Council note the report.

Executive summary

To update the position in respect of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Board and
scrutiny panels. The current position regarding progress made by the Board and each
of the panels is set out below.

1. Purpose of this report and its contribution to the achievement of the Council
Plan ambitions

1.1 To update the position in respect of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Board and
scrutiny panels.

Page 71 1




This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

1.2

Our ambitions Summary of how this report will support delivery of these
ambitions and the underpinning aims

A successful and | By responding effectively and efficiently to constitutional
ambitious town requirements the Council will maintain effective and robust
A healthy Place governance arrangements. Robust governance
Safe and resilient | arrangements will allow for effective decisions which inform
communities all the Council’s ambitions.
Delivering best
value

2. Recommendations

2.1  That Council note the report.
3. Rationale for the recommended decision(s)

3.1  The Constitution requires the Council to be provided with an update with regard to
the work of the Overview and Scrutiny function.

4, Background and relevant information:
Overview and Scrutiny Board
4.1  The Overview and Scrutiny Board met on 30 July 2025.
The Board considered the following substantive items as part of its agenda:

Executive Member Update — The Mayor

Delivery again the Continuous Improvement Plan — Progress Update
Overview and Scrutiny Board Work Programme

Scrutiny — Work Planning 2025/26

Pre-Decision Scrutiny Protocol

Executive Forward Plan

Final Report of the People Scrutiny Panel — Children Missing Education
Final Report of the Place Scrutiny Panel — Empty Properties

The Board received several updates from the Mayor relating to his portfolio and wider
Council initiatives. Those updates included progress on the Childhood Enrichment
programme, the removal of the Linthorpe Road Cycle Lane, Area Care Uplift
programmes and the Turner Prize being hosted in Middlesbrough.

Following the end of the Best Value Notice, the Board also received an update on the
Council's progress against the Continuous Improvement Plan. The Plan, approved
by Executive, was for OSB’s comment and noting. The Mayor stated he was confident
all actions would be completed.

As well as approving the work plans of individual scrutiny panels, OSB also agreed
its own work programme for the 2025/26 Municipal Year. It decided to examine issues

Page 72 2



5.

5.1

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

of poverty, specifically how the Council can help alleviate it, and how faith and belief
plays a role in decision making.

The Pre-Decision Scrutiny Protocol was approved which was intended to better
facilitate the working relationship between the Scrutiny and Executive functions.

The Board also considered the Executive Forward Work Programme and, as part of
the pre-decision scrutiny process, requested further information on several entries.

Scrutiny Panel Updates

The updated position in respect of the work of each of the Council’s scrutiny panels
is shown below.

Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Panel

5.2

The Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Panel last met on 22 July 2025 and
considered topics for its 2025-26 Work Programme, via the scrutiny consultation
process. It was agreed that the following be added to the Panel’s Work Programme:

Review Topics:

1. Healthy Placemaking Across the Life Course, with a Focus on Children and Young
People (Childhood Obesity).

2. Violence Against Women and Girls: How to Tackle It.

The regular updates were also noted to be included in the programme as follows:
e Quarterly Monitoring of the Care Quality Commission (CQC) Improvement
Plan
Teeswide Safeguarding Adults Board (TSAB) - Annual Report
Director of Public Health, Annual Report
Updates from the Tees Valley Joint Health Scrutiny Committee
South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust - Draft Quality Account
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust - Draft Quality Account

The next meeting of the Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Panel is scheduled to
take place on 8 September 2025 at 5pm, an overview of the topic Healthy
Placemaking Across the Life Course, with a Focus on Children and Young People
(Childhood Obesity) will be provided. The Panel will also receive a quarterly update
from the Director of Adult Social Care and Health Integration on the CQC
Improvement Plan as well as an introduction to the Health Determinants Research
Collaboration from the Head of Knowledge and Innovation.

Children’s Scrutiny Panel

5.3 The Children’s Scrutiny Panel last met on 15 July 2025 and considered topics that

had been suggested for its 2025-26 Work Programme, via the scrutiny consultation
process. It was subsequently agreed that the following be added to the Work
Programme:-

Page 73 3



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Review Topics

1. Out of Area Specialist Provision

2. Educational Attainment of Children in Care
3. Supporting Children who are being exploited

Updates
1. South Tees Safeguarding Children Partnership — Annual Report
2. Performance Data

In addition, the Panel requested that updates on the following also be received during
the year:-

1. Children’s Services financial information
2. SEND Local Offer

5.4  The Panel's next meeting was scheduled for Monday, 15 September 2025 at 4.30pm
when an introduction to its new scrutiny topic, “Out of Area Specialist Provision”,
would be provided.

Place Scrutiny Panel
5.5 Meetings of the Place Scrutiny Panel took place on 30 June and 17 July 2025.

5.6 At the 30 June meeting the Director for Regeneration and the Director of
Environment and Commercial Services were in attendance to provide Members with
an overview of the services delivered across their directorates, and to highlight the
strategic and departmental priorities for the coming year. The Panel noted the
information provided in preparation for formulating the 2025/2026 work programme,
which would take place at the next meeting on 17 July 2025.

5.7 At the meeting on 17 July 2025 the Panel considered the suggested topics that had
been put forward for the forthcoming municipal year. Topics had been received from
members of the public, officers and Elected Members. The panel agreed to the
following topics for the coming year to be included in their work programme for 25/26.

Barriers to Regeneration (ongoing review)
Commemorating Middlesbrough's Bicentenary in 2030
Development of a Vision for the Town

The Council's Role in Housing

The regular Statutory Updates will also be included in the programme as follows:

Flood Risk Management

RIPA (Regulation of Investigatory Powers) (annual update
Community Safety Partnership (Annual update)

Prevent and Channel (Annual Update)

5.8 The next meeting of the Place Scrutiny Panel is scheduled to take place on Monday
29 September 2025, when the Panel will be receiving a presentation from the Head

Page 74 4



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

of Growth and the Town Centre Manager on how Anti-Social Behaviour is a Barrier
to Regeneration of the Town which is part of the current Barriers to Regeneration

scrutiny review.

Tees Valley Joint Health Scrutiny Committee

5.9

The Tees Valley Joint Health Scrutiny Committee last met on 17 July 2025 to consider

the following items:

e Tees Valley Joint Health Scrutiny Committee Protocol and Terms of

Reference.

¢ North East and North Cumbria (NENC) Integrated Care Board (ICB) - NHS
Dentistry Update.

e Tees Esk & Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust - CAMHS Update.

e Tees Esk & Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust - Tees Respite Care / Adult
Learning Disability Update.

e North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust - Community Diagnostic
Centre Update.

e Work Programme 2025/26.

5.10 The next meeting has been scheduled for 2 October 2025.

Scrutiny Reports Submitted to Executive

5.11 Since the last update to Council, no Final Reports have been submitted to Executive.

6. Ward Member Engagement if relevant and appropriate.

6.1 Not applicable.

7. Other potential alternative(s) and why these have not been recommended

7.1 That an update on the work of the scrutiny function is not provided to full Council.
This would not comply with the requirements for updates on the scrutiny function, to
be reported to full Council.

8. Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s)

Topic Impact

Financial (including
procurement and
Social Value)

There are no financial implications or impact on any budgets
or the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) arising from the
content of this report.

Legal The Constitution requires regular updates on the scrutiny
function, to be submitted to full Council.
Risk Failure to adhere to Local Code of Corporate Governance

and deliver governance improvements outlined in the
Annual Governance Statement.

Page 75 5



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

If updates on the work of the scrutiny function were not
provided to Council, this would not be in accordance with
the requirements of the Constitution.

Human Rights, Public
Sector Equality Duty
and Community
Cohesion

Not applicable as this a report to update Council on the work
of the scrutiny function and does not change any policy.

Climate Change /
Environmental

Not applicable as this a report to update Council on the work
of the scrutiny function and does not change any policy.

Children and Young
People Cared for by
the Authority and
Care Leavers

Not applicable as this a report to update Council on the work
of the scrutiny function and does not change any policy.

Data Protection

Not applicable as this a report to update Council on the work
of the scrutiny function and does not change any policy.

Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s)

Action

Responsible Officer Deadline

Appendices

1

2

3

Background papers

Body

Report title Date

Contact: Charlotte Benjamin
Email: charlotte_benjamin@middlesbrough.gov.uk

Page 76




This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

COUNCIL MEETING - 10 September 2025
NOTICE OF MOTIONS 175, 176, 177 AND 178

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NOS. 4.28 - 4.34

MOTION
NO.

PROPOSER

SECONDER

MOTION

175

/] abed

Councillor
Storey

Councillor
Clynch

We welcome the Governments commitment to halve Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG)
in the next decade. However, this bold ambition cannot be realised by national government alone
— we need action from our local leaders to turn the tide on VAWG in our communities.

An estimated one in four women experience domestic abuse in their lifetime and an average of one
woman per week is killed at the hands of their male partner or ex-partner (ONS, 2023).

Annually, domestic abuse costs the public purse an estimated £78 billion per year (Women’s Aid,
ResPublica, 2023).

Attitudes towards healthy relationships in young people are also showing concerning trends, with
research indicating a direct correlation between exposure to misogynistic social media content and
unhealthy views on relationships (Women'’s Aid, 2023). In addition to this, young people don’t know
where to access support; a worrying 61% of children surveyed who said they would seek support if
they experienced domestic abuse were unsure of where to go for help (Women'’s Aid, 2023). Sexism
and misogyny as the root causes of domestic abuse must be addressed through prevention work
with children and young people.

The importance of preserving specialist services

Specialist domestic abuse services are independent from the state, and specifically designed to
support survivors of domestic abuse, offering holistic and trauma informed wrap- around support.
Often, they have a long history of supporting women within their local community and are embedded
into referral pathways, working closely with other statutory services. '‘By and for' services are run by
and for the women they represent, making them uniquely placed to foster trust and meet the specific
needs of survivors.

Specialist services are not only best placed to support survivors, but they also reduce pressure on
other local services, for every £1 invested in specialist domestic abuse services £9 is saved to the

€T wa)| epuaby



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

public purse (Women’s Aid, 2023). Statutory guidance for the commissioning of domestic abuse
services highlights the importance of commissioning specialist services and encourages flexible
commissioning practices such as grant funding. However, competitive procurement practices,
based on the assumption that domestic abuse services should operate within a competitive market,
are threatening to erode our network of lifesaving specialist services

This council commits to urgently address the epidemic of violence against women and girls. This
council pledges to:

1. Report to Full Council within 12 months on the progress of actions it has undertaken to seek to
fulfil the pledges of this motion.

2. Work with survivors and local specialist and ‘by and for’ services to understand the impact of
VAWG in Middlesbrough and develop a multi-agency strategy to address this.

U 3. Ensure comprehensive education on healthy relationships is available in all schools across

QD Middlesbrough.

®

~ 4. Conduct a review into Middlesbrough’s procurement practices for commissioning VAWG services

o to ensure they align with statutory guidance and meet the needs of all survivors, including the most
marginalised survivors and encourage our strategic partners to do the same.
5. Change the Women’s Champion role to a VAWG champion, to hold the council to account on
these pledges and amplify the voice of survivors.

176 Councillor Councillor  |Debate not hate motion
Storey Clynch

The intimidation and abuse of Councillors, in person or otherwise, undermines democracy;
preventing elected members from representing the communities they serve, deterring individuals
from standing for election, and undermining public life in democratic processes.

This council therefore commits to challenge the normalisation of abuse against councillors and
officers and uphold exemplary standards of public and political debate in all it does. This council
further agrees to sign up to the LGA’s Debate Not Hate campaign. The campaign aims to raise public
awareness of the role of Councillors in local communities, encourage healthy debate and improve
the response to and support those in public life facing abuse and intimidation.




This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

6/ abed

In addition, this council resolves to:

1.

Write to the local Members of Parliament to ask them to support the campaign. Letter to be sent
from Council and to be sent within 28 days of the motion being passed.

. Write to the Government to ask them to work with the LGA to develop and implement a plan to

address abuse and intimidation of politicians. Letter to be sent from Council and to be sent within
28 days of the motion being passed.

. Ensure the council has a clear reporting mechanism which councillors can use to can use to

monitor and record incidents of harassment and abuse of councillors and officers. An email will
be sent to all Councillors from the Monitoring Officer to advise of the process within 28 days of
the motion being passed

Regularly review the support available to councillors in relation to abuse and intimidation and
Councillor safety. This will be reviewed annually.

. Work with the local police to ensure there is a clear and joined-up mechanism for reporting threats

and other concerns about the safety of councillors and their families and discuss the need to take
a preventative approach that accounts for the specific risks that Councillors face, as they do with
other high-risk individuals, like MPs.

. Take a zero-tolerance approach to abuse of Councillors and officers. All incidents should be

recorded in accordance with the process set out at point 3 above.

177

Councillor J
Platt

Councillor
Storey

Motion on the introduction of a Sports Persons Honours Board in Middlesbrough

This Council notes:

Middlesbrough has produced a remarkable number of elite athletes across a wide range of
sports, who have represented England at a senior level, including but not limited to:

- Football: Brian Clough, Don Revie, Alan Peacock, Jonathan Woodgate, Stewart Downing
- Rugby: Alan Old

- Cricket: Chris Old, Bill Athey, Liam Plunkett




This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

08 abed

- Athletics: Chris Tomlinson, Richard Kilty
- Table Tennis: Carol Knight, Paul Drinkhall, Dennis Neale

e That these sportsmen and woman should have their outstanding achievements of representing
England at senior level in their respective sports formally recognised.

e That the Council agrees in principle to commission and fund the creation of a permanent
Honours Board listing the names of these individuals, and any others identified. Costs to be
identified

e That the Honours Board will be installed in a prominent location within Middlesbrough Town
Centre, ensuring visibility and accessibility to residents and visitors alike.

e That the Council consults with local historians, sports organisations, and community groups to
compile a comprehensive and accurate list of qualifying individuals. The lead in liaising with
the bodies and agreeing the initial list for the honours board will be Councillor Jim Platt.

This Council resolves to:

Formally recognise the outstanding achievements of sportsmen and sportswomen born in
Middlesbrough who have represented England at senior level in their respective disciplines since
the end of the Second World War.

This will be by way of the introduction of a Sports Persons Honours Board which will serve as a
public tribute to the town’s sporting heritage, celebrating the talent and dedication of those who
have brought national pride through their representation of England.

These individuals exemplify Middlesbrough’s rich sporting legacy and a dedicated Honours Board
would not only celebrate their achievements but also inspire future generations.

178

Councillor
McTigue

Councillor S
Platt

This Council resolves to:

Write to the government requesting it to carry out an urgent review of home schooling to ensure
that:-




This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

. Any child so educated, receives a minimum level of education comparable with that which the

child could have otherwise received,
had the child been educated at an Ofsted inspected school.

. Adequate child protection procedures are in place to ensure, so far as possible, that the child

is safe and free from potential harm.

. Ofsted has a requirement, to carry out inspections to assess the quality of education, care and

training, to ensure that the parent, or whoever is providing the education, meet the required
standards.

. Public bodies such as the police and social services have a statutory right of access to ensure

the safety and/or protection of the child.

T8 obed




This page is intentionally left blank



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Agenda ltem 15

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL I\/\iddlesbi rioi Eugh

moving forward

Report of: Director of Legal & Governance Services, Charlotte Benjamin on
behalf of the Independent Panel on Members’ Remuneration

Relevant Executive | Not Applicable

Member:
' Submitted to: ' Council
Date: ' 10 September 2025
Title: ' Members’ Scheme of Allowances
' Report for: ' Decision
' Status: ' Public

Council Plan Delivering Best Value
priority:

Key decision: No

Why: Not applicable
Subject to call in? No

Why: Not applicable

Proposed decision(s)

That Council consider the recommendations proposed by the Independent Panel on
Members’ Remuneration outlined in its report at Appendix 1, and agree or reject those
recommendations, namely that:

1. The Basic Allowance be increased from its current level of £7,608 to the Teesside
Average of £8,999.

2. All other allowances, including Special Responsibility Allowances, remain at 2024
levels.

Executive summary

Following its 2025 review of Members’ allowances, the Independent Panel on Members’
Remuneration recommend an increase to the Basic Allowance from £7,608 to £8,999
(the Teesside Average). The Panel also recommend freezing Special Responsibility
Allowances, and all other allowances, at their current levels. Neither Basic nor Special
Responsibility Allowances should reflect Staff Pay Awards.

May 2025 onwards report format Page 83 1



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

The Council is asked to consider the Panel’'s recommendations and either accept or
reject them. If, after having due regard of the Panel’s recommendations, the Council
reject the Panel’s proposals it will need to create its own Scheme of Allowances.

Purpose of this report and its contribution to the achievement of the Council Plan
ambitions

1.1To provide Members with the opportunity to consider the proposals of the Independent
Panel on Members’ Remuneration and adopt the Scheme of Allowances.

Our ambitions Summary of how this report will support delivery of these
ambitions and the underpinning aims

A successful and Allowances offered to elected Members recognise the work

ambitious town they carry out under the well-established principle of

A healthy Place voluntary unpaid public service. The work carried out by

Safe and resilient elected Members, both as community champions and

communities representatives of Middlesbrough, actively contribute to the

Delivering best value Council’s ambitions as detailed in the Council Plan 2024-
2027.

2. Recommendations

That Council consider the recommendations proposed by the Independent Panel on
Members’ Remuneration outlined in its report at Appendix 1, and agree or reject those
recommendations, namely that:

1. The Basic Allowance be increased from its current level of £7,608 to the Teesside
Average of £8,999.

2. All other allowances, including Special Responsibility Allowances, remain at 2024
levels.

3. Rationale for the recommended decision(s)

3.1The Council are required under The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances)
(England) Regulations 2003 to publish a Members Scheme of Allowances on an
annual basis.

3.2The allowances should reflect the level of work, time and commitment of the role of
Councillor and to provide a reasoned approach the impact the recommendations will
have on the Council.

4. Background and relevant information

4.1 The establishment of an Independent Panel on Members Remuneration, and its
resultant recommendations is required under sections 20 and 21 of the Local
Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. The Panel consists of
three members (with two vacancies) and meets on an annual basis to review Members

May 2025 onwards report format Page 84 2



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Remuneration. The membership of the Panel for the 2025 review was Dr. S Green, Mr.
P Thompson and Mr. M White.

4.2 The Panel is keen to stress that in its deliberations it has carefully reviewed all the

relevant quantitative information; is sensitive to wider socioeconomic factors affecting
Middlesbrough and the Council and have acted independently of all other
considerations.

4.3 The Panel wants to convey to Members that when considering allowances, it has

strong regard for the current socioeconomic conditions for local authorities; recent pay
settlements for Middlesbrough Council employees; whether the levels of remuneration
reflect the responsibilities and commitment expected of Members and if they are set at
levels which also recognise the well-established principle of voluntary unpaid public
service.

4.4The Panel was provided with background information which included the Executive

Scheme of Delegation, an overview of all roles currently receiving a Special
Responsibility Allowance (SRA) and comparator information for other local and Mayoral
authorities to assist the Panel with their deliberations. Providing comparator information
against the other Tees, and North East, Councils was not possible on an exact like-for-
like basis, as each authority has a different political structure and committee make-up.
However, data was examined on a best fit basis.

4.5The Panel's 2024 recommendation was to increase the Basic Allowance to meet the

Teesside average and not reflect staff inflationary pay awards. However, this
recommendation was rejected by Council and the Basic Allowance has remained static
since 2022.

4.6 The Panel felt those roles attracting a Special Responsibility Allowance were all still

5.

relevant, recognising the time commitment and responsibilities involved. It was also
recognised that, generally, the rates afforded to Special Responsibility Allowances in
Middlesbrough were comparable to other Teesside Authorities. As the Council had not
undergone any governance changes since the last review the Panel were confident
that the comparators used in their deliberations continued to be relevant.

Ward Member Engagement if relevant and appropriate

5.1 An open consultation for all elected Members ran between 21 March and 18 April 2025

where all Members were invited to put written representations to the Panel. In addition,
Group Leaders were invited to meet with the Panel. As part of the wider consultation,
four individual one group representations were received. One Group Leader attended a
meeting of the Panel and offered their views.

Other potential alternative(s) and why these have not been recommended

May 2025 onwards report format Page 85 3



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

6.1 The Council could reject the Panel's recommendations and propose its own Scheme of
Allowances having had due regard to the recommendations of the Independent Panel
on Members Remuneration.

7. Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s)

Topic Impact

Financial (including Should Council agree the recommendations this would
procurement and increase Basic Allowance spending from £357,576 to
Social Value) £422,953 an increase of £65,377. Importantly, the

Independent Panel act independently from the Council and
neither Council officers nor elected Members have any
influence over its recommendations.

While not directly related to the recommendations in the
report, the spend for SRAs has increased by £27,975
between May 2024 and May 2025 (owing to the
appointment of additional Executive Members and the
creation of an additional Scrutiny Panel). As such if the
recommendations are approved the combined Allowances
spend would be £655,087. The Members Allowance budget
is held within the Legal and Governance Directorate. The
increase will be met from the corporate contingency budget
for this financial year and will be included as growth within
the Medium-Term Financial Plan in future years.

Legal The Council are required under The Local Authorities
(Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 to
publish a Members Scheme of Allowances on an annual
basis and to have due regard to the recommendations of the
Independent Panel on Members Remuneration.

Risk Failure to adhere to Local Code of Corporate Governance
and deliver governance improvements outlined in the
Annual Governance Statement. A potential consequence of
not having a comparable Scheme of Allowances with other
Tees Valley authorities is that it may discourage a wider
demographic for standing for Council.

Human Rights, Public | The subject of this report is not a policy, strategy, function or
Sector Equality Duty | service that is new or being revised. It is considered that an

and Community equality impact assessment is not required.

Cohesion

Reducing Poverty The proposed recommendations in this report do not directly
impact on Reducing Poverty.

Climate Change / The proposed recommendations in this report do not directly

Environmental impact on Climate Change/Environmental issues.

May 2025 onwards report format Page 86 4



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Children and Young
People Cared for by
the Authority and
Care Leavers

The proposed recommendations in this report do not directly
impact on Children and Young People Cared for by the

Authority and Care Leavers.

Data Protection

The proposed recommendations in this report do not directly
impact on Data Protection issues

Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s)

Action

Responsible Officer

Deadline

Any changes to the Scheme
of Allowances will be
communicated to payroll

Head of Legal Services
(People)

Within 28 days of the
decision.

Appendices

1 IRP Report

2 Proposed Scheme of Allowances 2025

3

Background papers

Body

Report title

Date

Legislation

The Local Authorities
(Members' Allowances)
(England) Regulations 2003

Contact: Charlotte Benjamin

Email: charlotte benjamin@middlesbrough.gov.uk

May 2025 onwards report format

Page 87




This page is intentionally left blank



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

MEMBERS’ REMUNERATION - APPENDIX 1

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT PANEL ON MEMBERS’ REMUNERATION

Context and Panel Membership

1. The establishment of an Independent Panel on Members Remuneration, and its

resultant recommendations is required under sections 20 and 21 of the Local
Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. The Panel consists
of three members (with two vacancies) and meets on an annual basis to review
Members Remuneration.

The Panel is keen to stress that in its deliberations it has carefully reviewed all the
relevant quantitative information; is sensitive to wider socioeconomic factors
affecting Middlesbrough and the Council and have acted independently of all other
considerations.

The membership of the Panel for the 2025 review was Dr. S Green, Mr. P
Thompson and Mr. M White.

Annual Review - 2025

4. The Panel was informed that an annual review of the Members’ Scheme of

Allowances was required for the municipal year 2025-2026. The review considers
the level of allowances paid to elected Members.

Methodology

5. The Panel wants to convey to Members that when considering allowances, it has

7.

strong regard for the current socioeconomic conditions for local authorities; recent
pay settlements for Middlesbrough Council employees; whether the levels of
remuneration reflect the responsibilities and commitment expected of Members and
if they are set at levels which also recognise the well-established principle of
voluntary unpaid public service.

The Council has previously utilised a banding scheme index model, based on
multiples of the Basic Allowance. That system was suspended following the 2018
review, initially for a period of four years. However, given that rates of allowances
have remained static for several years, the indexing system has not yet been
reinstated. In conducting the 2025 review, the Panel examined the levels of the
Basic Allowance in line with the 2024 review.

The Panel was provided with background information which included the Executive
Scheme of Delegation, an overview of all roles currently receiving a Special
Responsibility Allowance (SRA) and comparator information for other local and
Mayoral authorities to assist the Panel with their deliberations. Providing
comparator information against the other Tees, and North East, Councils was not
possible on an exact like-for-like basis, as each authority has a different political
structure and committee make-up. However, data was examined on a best fit basis.

8. An open consultation for all elected Members ran between 21 March and 18 April

Page 89 1



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

2025 where all Members were invited to put written representations to the Panel. In
addition, Group Leaders were invited to meet with the Panel. As part of the wider
consultation, four individual one group representations were received. One Group
Leader attended a meeting of the Panel and offered their views.

9. In general terms, responses highlighted the significant amount of work and time
commitments involved in being an elected Member. Such commitment applied to
both Ward and Committee work. It was also highlighted such time commitment was
compounded if Members were in full time employment.

10.Some consultation responses recognised the relatively low levels of
Middlesbrough’s Basic Allowance and the need to bring it in line with neighbouring
authorities, while others stated no increases should be made considering other
challenging economic considerations, such as the cost of living. In terms of SRAS;
respondents felt some SRAs needed to be increased in order to attract the
appropriate skill levels (such as Executive roles) while Chairs of committees should
be afforded the allowance on an attendance basis. The Panel recognised that how
allowances are afforded was not within its remit, only if remuneration levels were
commensurate to the role.

11.All responses to the consultation were carefully considered as part of the Panel’s
deliberations.

Basic Allowance

12.The Panel’s 2024 recommendation was to increase the Basic Allowance to meet
the Teesside average and not reflect staff inflationary pay awards. However, this
recommendation was rejected by Council and the Basic Allowance has remained
static since 2022.

13.The Panel noted that, because of this, Middlesbrough Council’s Basic Allowance
remains below the Teesside average (£8,999 in 2025) and the North East average
(£11,127 in 2025) and continues to drift from its neighbours, as demonstrated in the
table below. Potential consequences of keeping the Basic Allowance at current
levels include discouraging a wider demographic for standing for Council.

Teesside Authorities - Basic Allowances 2025

£12,000

£10,000

£8,999
£8,000

£6,000 £7,608 £10,527

£4,000

£8,330 I Basic Allowance

e Average

£2,000

£0
M'Bro R&C Stockton Darlington  Hartlepool

Page 90 2



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

14.Given the work and time commitment in being an elected Member, and despite the
wider socioeconomic factors facing the Council, the Panel feel the Basic Allowance
is too low compared to other Teesside and North East Councils. The Panel
therefore recommend the Basic Allowance should be increased to meet the 2025
Teesside average of £8,999.

Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA)

Authority Mayoral Allowance

Hackney £95,003
Newham £93,575
Lewisham £85,989
Salford £80,890
Tower Hamlets £80,579
Watford £73,607
North Tyneside £68,499
Leicester £66,938
Bedford £66,480
Doncaster £59,586
Middlesbrough £55,952*
Mansfield £49,377

*Excluding Basic Allowance

15.The Panel were advised that the ‘Guidance on Consolidated Regulations for Local
Authority Allowances” stated that SRAs should only be paid when elected Members
have “significant additional responsibilities” over and above the generally accepted
responsibilities of an elected Member.

16. Previously, the method of determining SRAs was based on a ‘multiplier’, using the
Basic Allowance as a base then multiplying it by a factor ranging from 0.5 to 10,
depending on the role. This system has been suspended since 2018.

17.In their deliberations the Panel could only consider the level of responsibility and
commitment required for the role, they could not consider personal perceptions of a
person appointed to a post.

18.The Panel were keen to express that when considering SRAs they look at a role in
its entirety and that an allowance was not solely based on the number of meetings
held/attended. For example, it took into consideration the depth and range of the
portfolio; the level of responsibility; policy development; work with senior officers;
level of accountability, decision making, and the time commitment required. For
Overview and Scrutiny other commitments were also considered, e.g. researching
topics, site visits, external meetings with contributors to Panels, effective challenge
and the coordination and selection of topics for review and call ins etc.

19.Regarding the elected Mayor, the Panel examined the responsibilities of the Mayor
and considered comparators with other Mayoral authorities. As with the Basic
Allowance, the Panel found the allowance afforded to the Mayor was below the
average of other Mayoral authorities. It was also felt that regardless of the
population or the size of an authority, the time, commitment, and responsibilities of
an elected Mayor are comparable. The Panel was advised the Mayor was carrying
the responsibility of a portfolio (Governance) as well as the role of Mayor. Despite

Page 91 3



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

this, the Panel felt the Mayor's SRA was adequate when supplemented with the
Basic Allowance.

20.The Panel felt those roles attracting an SRA were all still relevant, recognising the
time commitment and responsibilities involved. It was also recognised that,
generally, the rates afforded to Special Responsibility Allowances in Middlesbrough
were comparable to other Teesside Authorities. As the Council had not undergone
any governance changes since the last review the Panel were confident that the
comparators used in their deliberations continued to be relevant.

21.The Panel continue to recommend that during this period any future staff pay
awards should not be applied to SRAs.

22.The Panel recognise the valued work and commitment provided by all elected
Members.

Travel & Subsistence

23.The Panel considered that the legislation allowed for travel and felt no changes
were necessary.

24.The Panel considered the rates for mileage that are currently based on His
Majesty’s Revenues and Customs national rates i.e. 45p per mile; and subsistence
in line with those paid to staff. The Panel recommend no change.

25.The Panel agreed that Co-Opted Members should be allowed to make claims for
allowances based on the fact that they are acting voluntarily and that the current
£10 per meeting rate remained reasonable and that no changes should be made.

Dependent Carer’s Allowance

26.Members can claim an allowance for dependents that they care for (adults or
children). This is to allow their attendance at Council meetings. This rate of
allowance is currently based on the national living wage and limited to seven hours
per week. The Panel recommend no change.

Pensions

27.The ‘Scheme of Allowances’ sets out which Members of the authority are to be
entitled to pensions in accordance with a scheme made under Section 7 of the
Superannuation Act 1972.

28.In making that provision an authority may only include someone who has first been
recommended by the Independent Panel. The current position is that no members
receive a pension. The Panel recommended no change.
The Panel’s Recommendations
29.For the reasons cited above, the Panel recommends that the Basic Allowance
should be increased to £8,999. The Panel also recommends that Special
Responsibility Allowances should remain frozen as agreed by Council in 2024.

Page 92 4



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Why is this being recommended?

30. Notwithstanding the legal requirements for the Panel making its recommendations,
Members’ allowances should reflect the level of work, time and commitment of the role
of Councillor.

31.The recommendations of the Panel have been made following consideration of all

socioeconomic factors affecting Middlesbrough, such as the Council’s financial position
and cost of living pressures facing Middlesbrough’s residents.

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

APPENDIX 2

MEMBERS SCHEMES OF ALLOWANCE 2025/26

Middlesbrough Borough Council, in exercise of the powers conferred by the Local
Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 hereby makes the
following Scheme:

1. This Scheme may be cited as the Middlesbrough Borough Council Members’

Scheme of Allowances’, and shall have effect for the year commencing on 1St April
2025 and subsequent years, unless amended by the Council.

2. In this Scheme:

“Year” means the 12 months ending with 315t March.

Basic Allowance

3.1 All Elected members including the Mayor of Middlesbrough Council receive a basic
allowance to recognise the time devoted to carry out their work as Members. It is
also intended to cover incidental costs such as use of members’ homes, attendance
at meetings with officers, community meetings, and ward activities.

3.2  The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 provide
for the payment of a basic allowance in respect of each year to each member of an
authority, and the amount of such an allowance shall be the same for each such
member. Subject to paragraphs, 10 and 11 the allowance will be paid to each

elected Councillor for the year 1St April 2025 to 31St March 2026.
3.3 For 2025/26 the basic allowance of £8,999 will be paid in equal monthly instalments.

3.4 The Basic Allowance will not be increased in line with staff pay rises.

4. Special Responsibility Allowances

4.1  Special Responsibility Allowances (SRASs) are paid in addition to the basic allowance to
members who hold positions with significant responsibilities over and above the general
duties of a councillor and are also paid in equal monthly instalments.

4.2  Foreach year a special responsibility allowance shall also be paid to those Members
who hold the special responsibilities in relation to the Authority that are specified in
Schedule 1, PROVIDED THAT no Member shall be entitled to receive more than
one Special Responsibility Allowance. SRA allowances will remain static and shall
not be increased in line with any subsequent annual staff pay award.

4.3  Special Responsibility Allowances were originally arrived at by an agreed multiple
of the basic allowance. This process has been suspended since 1 April 2019.

Page 95



4.4

4.5

4.6

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

6.1

7.1

7.2

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Subject to paragraphs 10 & 11.1 the amount of each such allowances shall be the
amount specified against that special responsibility in Schedulel.

A special responsibility allowance relating to the duties of a Political Group
Leader shall be payable to the leader of the overall majority group and to the
leaders of the two largest minority Groups, where each of the minority Groups
comprise at least 10% of the total number of Members of the Council.

Where there is no over-all majority group, the two largest political group leaders will
receive a minority special responsibility allowance. Where only one of the two
largest minority Groups comprise at least 10% of the total number of Members of
the Council, a special responsibility allowance relating to the duties of Political
Group Leader shall be payable to the leader of the next largest minority Group.

Travelling and Subsistence Allowance = Councillors

A Councillor shall be entitled to receive appropriate travel and subsistence
allowances where he/she necessarily incurs expenditure on travel or subsistence in
order to perform an approved duty.

The amount of the allowance payable to a Member in respect of subsistence shall
be the same as that approved by the Authority in respect of officers of the Council
who are paid officer rates.

The subsistence allowance payable shall be increased or decreased to the same
extent as determined by the Authority in respect of officers.

The allowance payable to a Member in respect of travel mileage shall be paid at the
Inland Revenue rate (45p per mile).

For the purposes of this paragraph, approved duties shall include all those duties,
which are specified in Part | of Schedule 2 to this Scheme.

Travelling and Subsistence — Co-opted Members

A Co-opted Member shall be entitled to receive appropriate travel and subsistence
allowances as specified in Part Il of Schedule 2 to this Scheme.

Dependent Carers Allowance

A Councillor or Co-opted Member shall be entitled to receive a dependent carers
allowance to provide for children or adult care, where he/she has necessarily
incurred that expenditure in respect of a dependent who is looked after by a
registered provider whilst the Councillor or Co-opted Member is carrying out an
approved duty.

The dependent carers allowance referred to in paragraph 7.2 above shall be paid

per hour and be in line with the national living wage and limited to 7 hours per
week.

Page 96



7.3

7.4

8.1

9.1

10.

10.1

11.
111

11.2

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

The allowance will not be payable to a member of the claimant’s own household.

For the purposes of this paragraph, an approved duty is any duty listed in Part | of
Schedule 2 to this Scheme.

Telephone / Broadband Allowance

A member is entitled to a communications allowance of a £15 contribution towards
their telephone connections and a £10 contribution towards broadband
connections. One claim per household, subject to annual proof of service.

Pensions

No councillor shall be entitled to pensions in accordance with this scheme
Renunciation

A Member may by giving notice in writing to the Director of Legal and Governance, or
the Head of Legal Services (People) elect to forego all or part of their entitlement to an
allowance under this Scheme. Where such a declaration is made, it remains in force
until a further notice in writing is given to the Director of Legal and Governance or the
Head of Legal Services (People) to withdraw it.

Part-year Entitlements

The provision of this paragraph shall have effect to regulate the entitlements of a
Councillor to basic and special responsibility where, in the course of a year, this
Scheme is amended or that Councillor becomes, or ceases to be, a Councillor, or
accepts or relinquishes a special responsibility in respect of which a special
responsibility allowance is payable.

If an amendment to this Scheme changes the amount to which a Councillor is
entitled by way of a basic allowances or a special responsibility allowance, then in
relation to each of the periods:

a) beginning with the year and ending with the day before that on which the first
amendment in that year takes effect, or

b) beginning with the day on which an amendment takes effect and ending with
the day that on which the next amendment takes effect, or (if none) with the
year,

Page 97



11.3

11.4

11.5

11.6

11.7

11.8

11.9

12

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

The entitlement to such an allowance shall be to the payment of such part of the
amount of the allowance under this Scheme as it has effect during the relevant
period as bears to the whole the same proportion as the number of the days in the
period bears to the number of days in the year.

Where the term of office of a Councillor begins or ends otherwise than at the
beginning or end of a year, the entitlement of that Councillor to a basic allowance
shall be to the payment to such part of the basic allowance as bears to the whole
the same proportion as the number of days during which his/her term of office
subsists bears to the number of days in that year.

Where this Scheme is amended as mentioned in sub-paragraph 11.2, and the term
of office of a Councillor does not subsist throughout the period mentioned in sub-
paragraph 11.2a, the entitlement of any such Councillor to a basic allowance shall
be to the payment of such part of the basic allowance referable to each such period
(ascertained in accordance with that sub-paragraph) as bears to the whole the same
proportion as the number of days during which his term of office as a Councillor
subsists bears to the number of days in that period.

Where a Councillor has during part of, but not throughout, a year such special
responsibilities as entitle him or her to a special responsibility allowance, that
Councillor’s entitlement shall be to payment of such part of that allowance as bears
to the whole the same proportion as the number of days during which he has such
special responsibilities bears to the number of days in that year.

Where a remunerated person has been absent due to exceptional circumstances,
and another Member acts as chair for more than 50% of the meetings in any
Municipal Year or chairperson is absent for more than two consecutive months, then
the person who has acted as chair shall be remunerated in place of the appointed
chairperson (on a pro rata basis).

Where payment of any allowance has already been made to the initially appointed
person, the authority may require that such part of the allowances paid to the
appointed person for any such period to be repaid to the authority (determined by
the Monitoring Officer).

Where this Scheme is amended as mentioned in sub-paragraph 11.2 and a
Councillor has during part, but does not have throughout the whole, of any period
mentioned in sub-paragraph 11.2a of that paragraph any such responsibilities as
entitle him or her to a special responsibility allowance, that Councillor’s entitlement
shall be to payment of such part of the allowance referable to each such period
(ascertained in accordance with that sub-paragraph) as bears to the whole the same
proportion as the number of days in that period during which he or she has such
special responsibilities bears to the number of days in that period.

Where a scheme of allowances is amended, the Council can choose to apply any

amendment retrospectively to the beginning of the financial year in which the
amendment is made.

Claims and Payments

Page 98



12.1

12.2

12.3

12.4

12.5

12.6

12.7

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Payments of allowances shall be made as follows:

a) Basic Allowances: Automatically Paid Monthly

b) Special Responsibility Allowances: Automatically Paid Monthly
C) Travel and Subsistence Allowance: Monthly (Claim)

d) Dependent Carers Allowance: Monthly (Claim)

e) Co-optees Allowance: Monthly (Claim)

All payments shall be made direct to a Bank or Building Society.

A claim for expenses/subsistence under this scheme shall be made within two
months of the date of the meeting in respect of which the claim is made.

Claims for travel and subsistence (other than mileage for approved duties) shall
only be approved where receipts of expenditure have been provided and have
been incurred in relation to an approved duty or with the approval of the Head of
Democratic Services.

For each claim, Members shall submit an electronic claim acknowledging that
they are entitled to claim the expenses and where appropriate that they hold the
appropriate valid driving documentation.

Members should submit their claims by the 7th day of the month

The Director of Legal & Governance Services shall have authority to agree a
different frequency of payment with an individual Member on request.

Page 99



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

SCHEDULE 1

BASIC 2025/26 - £8,999 x 47 Members (including Mayor)
These allowances are not subject to the inflationary increase in line with

staff pay awards.

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILTY ALLOWANCES (SRASs)

The following roles are specified as those designated as receiving a special responsibility
allowances, and the amounts of those allowances. These allowances are not subject to the

inflationary increase in line with staff pay awards.

OFFICE No of | ALLOWANCE Total
Positions

Mayor 1 £55,952 £55,952
Deputy Mayor & Executive Member 1 £19,518 £19,518
Executive Members 7 £11,190 £78,330
Chair of Overview & Scrutiny Board 1 £11.190 £11.190
Chair of Licensing Committee 1 £8.393 £8.393
Chair of Planning & Development Committee L £8.393 £8.393
Chair of the Council 1 £5,595 £5,595
Chair of Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee 1 £5,595 £5,595
Chairs of Scrutiny Panels 3 £5.595 £16,785
Chair of Standards Committee 1 £2.798 £2.798
Chair of Staff Appeals Committee 1 £2.798 £2.798
Chair of Teesside Pension Fund Committee 1 £2.798 £2.798
Political Group Leaders:
Majority Group (currently not claimed) 1 £8,393 £8,393
Largest Minority Groups — maximum x 2 providing

. . 2 £2,798 £5,596
they have 10% of Council membership ’
Total cost of SRA 23 £232,134

Banding Scheme Index — The Council’s “Mulitplier” System of calculating Special
Responsibility Allowances has been suspended since April 2019.

Page 100




Part 1

a)

b)

g)

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

SCHEDULE 2

TRAVEL & SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES

Duties that may qualify for Travelling & Subsistence Allowances

the attendance at a meeting of the Authority or of any Committee or Sub Committee
of the Authority, or of any other body to which a member has been appointed to by
the authority, or of any Committee or Sub Committee of such a body;

the attendance at any other meeting, the holding of which is authorised by the
Authority, or a Committee or Sub Committee of the Authority, or a Joint Committee
of the Authority and one or more Local Authority within the meaning of Section
270(1) of the Local Government Act 1972, or a Sub Committee of such a Joint
Committee provided that:

() where the Authority is divided into two or more political groups it is a
meeting to which Members of at least two such groups have been invited,
or

(i) if the Authority is not so divided, it is a meeting to which at least two

Members of the Authority have been invited;

the attendance at a meeting of any association of Authorities of which the Authority
is a Member providing no other attendance / mileage allowance is paid,;

the attendance at a meeting of the Executive or a meeting of any of its Committees,
where the Authority is operating executive arrangements;

the performance of any duty in connection with the discharge of any function of the
Authority conferred by or under any enactment and empowering or requiring the
Authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises;

the carrying out of any other duty approved by the Authority, or any duty of a class
so approved, for the purposes of, or in connection with, the discharge of the
functions of the Authority or of any of its Committees or Sub Committees. For the
purpose of this Section approved duties shall include the following:

i) travel in connection with Scrutiny site visits or investigations
i) authorised attendance at Seminars or Conferences

In cases of urgency, the Monitoring Officer is authorised to approve duties.

Travelling allowances may not be claimed for political group meetings;

Page 101



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Part 2 - Subsistence

1.

Subsistence allowances for meals and accommodation can be reimbursed to
Middlesbrough Members’ for duties undertaken outside the unitary authority. This
allowance reflects the scheme in place for officers of Middlesbrough Council.

Members are entitled to claim subsistence if their duties mean that they are away
from the authority for at least 5 hours, preventing them from following their normal
meal arrangements AND they have to incur expenditure which is in addition to their
normal outlay.

Any claims for subsistence costs must be for the actual amount paid (up to the
maximum amount claimable) and supporting receipts of this cost must be kept by the
Member. The reimbursement of costs associated with alcohol will not be paid under
any circumstances.

Part 3. Telephone / Broadband Allowance

A member is entitled to a communications allowance of a £15 contribution
towards their telephone connections and a £10 contribution towards
broadband connections. One claim per household, subject to annual proof of
service.

Part 4. Co-opted Members Travelling & Subsistence Allowances

1.

2.

Co-opted Members of the following Council bodies shall be entitled to receive a

combined travel & subsistence allowance as specified in paragraph (b) following
production of a signed declaration that expenses had been incurred:

« Scrutiny Committees (including Overview & Scrutiny Board, Scrutiny
Panels and Scrutiny Working Groups);

 Standards Committee (including Sub Committees and Panels)

* The Independent Panel on Members’ Remuneration,

* Teesside Pension Fund Committee

» School Appeal Panels

The amount of the combined Travel & Subsistence Allowance shall be £10 per
meeting.

Page 102



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Agenda ltem 16

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL I\/\iddlesbi rioi Eugh

moving forward

Report of:

Charlotte Benjamin, Director of Legal and Governance Services
(Monitoring Officer)

Relevant Executive
Member:

Not applicable

' Submitted to: |

Council

Date: ' 10 September 2025

Title: Vacancies on Committees and Outside Bodies 2025-2026
' Report for: ' Decision

' Status: ' Public

Council Plan
priority:

Delivering Best Value

Key decision:

No

Why:

Decision does not reach the threshold to be a key decision

Subject to call in?

No

Why:

Not applicable — Council Decision

Proposed decision(s)

That Council approves:

the places allocated in accordance with the wishes of the political groups and other
Councillors and fills the following vacancies, as listed at paragraph 2.1 of the report:

Executive summary

The report seeks Members’ approval for nominations of appointment to vacant positions
on Committees, Scrutiny Panels and Outside Bodies, due to vacancies that were not filled
at the Annual Council meeting and resignations from Committees.

May 2025 onwards

Page 103 1




This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

1. Purpose of this report and its contribution to the achievement of the Council
Plan ambitions

1.1 To seek Members’ approval for nominations of appointment to vacant positions on
Committees, Scrutiny Panels and Outside Bodies, following resignations and
vacancies that remain, following the Annual Council meeting.

1.2
Our ambitions Summary of how this report will support delivery of these
ambitions and the underpinning aims
A successful and | The Council has a duty to ensure that committees and sub
ambitious town committees are appointed to ensure that all meetings remain
A healthy Place quorate and decisions can be made that contribute to
Safe and resilient | successfully meeting our ambitions.
communities
Delivering  best | This report will contribute towards the Council Plan ambition
value to deliver best value by ensuring robust and effective
corporate governance.
2. Recommendations

2.1  That Council approves:

the places allocated in accordance with the wishes of the political groups and other
Councillors and fills the following vacancies:

Council Committees

You Matter to Us — Corporate Parenting Board

2 vacancies
1 nomination: Councillor S Platt

Working Groups

Corporate Health and Safety Steering Group

3 vacancies
Outside Bodies

Council Appointments:

Hartlepool Power Station Local Liaison Committee

1 vacancy

North East Reqgional Joint Health Scrutiny Committee

1 vacancy

May 2025 onwards Pag e 104 2



3.1

4.1

5.1

6.1

7.

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Executive Appointments:

Staying Put Advisory Committee

1 vacancy
Tennis World

2 vacancies

Rationale for the recommended decision(s)

Council is required to appoint to any vacant places on Committees or Outside
Bodies to ensure that all meetings will be quorate.

Background and relevant information

Following resignations from Committees and places on Committees and Outside
Bodies that were not taken up at the Annual Council meeting, several

vacancies exist.

Council is required to consider and approve nominations for

appointment to the vacancies.

Ward Member Engagement if relevant and appropriate

Not applicable.

Other potential alternative(s) and why these have not been recommended

Do Nothing: This option could result in meetings becoming inquorate and could result
in the decision-making process being delayed.

Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s)

Topic

Impact

Financial (including
procurement and
Social Value)

There are no financial implications or impact on any budgets or
the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) arising from the
content of this report.

Legal The Council is required to agree appointments to committees
in accordance with the requirements of the Constitution.
Risk Failure to adhere to Local Code of Corporate Governance

and deliver governance improvements outlined in the Annual
Governance Statement. By ensuring that meetings are
guorate then the Council is ensuring that good governance is
in place and in line with the requirements of the Council’s
constitution so this would have a positive impact on this risk.

If the Council doesn't respond effectively and efficiently to
legislative changes it could be in breach of statutory duties in
relation to service delivery and fail to make the most of
opportunities. The Council has a duty to ensure that the

May 2025 onwards

Page 105 3




This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

membership of the committees and sub committees are
covered and is required to appoint to any vacant places to
ensure that all meetings remain quorate. This will have a
positive impact on this risk as the Council is fulfilling its duties.

Human Rights, Public
Sector Equality Duty
and Community
Cohesion

The subject of this report is not a policy, strategy, function or
service that is new or being revised. It is considered that an
equality impact assessment is not required.

Reducing Poverty

Not applicable as this is a technical report about committee
places and does not change any policy.

Climate Change /
Environmental

Not applicable as this is a technical report about committee
places and does not change any policy.

Children and Young
People Cared for by
the Authority and
Care Leavers

Not applicable as this is a technical report about committee
places and does not change any policy.

Data Protection

Not applicable as this is a technical report about committee
places and does not change any policy.

Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s)

Action Responsible Officer Deadline
Update Members of Democratic Services 30 September 2025
Committees and Outside Manager
Bodies
Appendices
]
Background papers
Body Report title Date

Contact: Charlotte Benjamin

Email: charlotte _benjamin@middlesbrough.gov.uk

May 2025 onwards

Page 106 4




This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Agenda Item 17

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL I\/\iddlesbi rioi Eugh

moving forward

Report of: Councillor Banks, Chair of the Constitution and Member
Development Committee.

Relevant Executive | Not applicable

Member:
' Submitted to: ' Full Council
Date: ' 10 September 2025
Title: ' Refresh of the Constitution
' Report for: ' Decision
' Status: ' Public
Council Plan Delivering Best Value
priority:
Key decision: No
Why: Decision does not reach the threshold to be a key decision
Subject to call in? No
Why: Decision of full council

Proposed decision(s)

That Council
e APPROVES the proposed constitution

Executive summary

The Council is continuing to deliver its Continuous Improvement Plan, which includes
reviewing its Constitution and scheme of delegations. This work has been led by the
Constitution and Member Development Committee (“CMDC”).

Officers and Members each have a key role to play in this process to ensure the
Constitution and delegations reflect the law and local custom and practice. CMDC set up
a working group to ensure that the refreshed Constitution is presented to Full Council for
adoption.

This report recommends the approval by Full Council of a refreshed Constitution following
extensive engagement with Members in relation to the work undertaken.

Page 107



11

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Purpose of this report and its contribution to the achievement of the Council
Plan ambitions

The Constitution and Member Development Committee (‘CMDC’) has led a review of
the provisions of the Constitution to remove duplication where possible and improve
its usability. The current draft document in its entirety is now presented to Full Council
for approval.

Our ambitions Summary of how this report will support delivery of these

ambitions and the underpinning aims

A successful and
ambitious town A regularly reviewed and up to date constitution is required

to reflect the law, local custom and practice, and to ensure

A healthy Place good governance when making decisions to support the

achievement of the council plan ambitions in all areas.

Safe and resilient
communities

Delivering best value

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

4.1

Recommendations

That the Council

o APPROVES the proposed constitution

Rationale for the recommended decision(s)

The Council is continuing to deliver its Continuous Improvement Plan, which includes
reviewing its Constitution and scheme of delegations. This decision is being

recommended to deliver the action as agreed.

A regularly reviewed and up to date constitution is required to reflect the law, local
custom and practice, and to ensure good governance.

Extensive work has been carried out by the CMDC working group to ensure that the

refreshed Constitution reflects the extensive engagement with Members in relation to
the work undertaken.

Background and relevant information
The Council has recognised that improvements can be made to its governance

processes, as set out in the Continuous Improvement Plan, with particular reference
to the refresh of the Constitution to ensure that it is accurate and current.

Page 108



4.2

4.3

5.1

6.1

7.

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Details of the engagement conducted, the new layout of the Constitution and the
amendments made are set out in Appendix 2 to this report: the Report to Constitution
and Member Development Committee on 20 August 2025.

In addition to noting some technical amendments and typographical changes, the
Constitution and Member Development Committee made the following further
substantive amendments:

Chairs and vice chairs will be appointed by Committees;
The frequency of full council meetings will be 8 weekly (a change from 6 weekly
meetings);

An additional provision is added in to the member code of conduct at (d) below:
8.9.18 As a Member:

(@) 1do not bully any person.

(b) 1do not harass any person.

(c) | promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any person.

(d) I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is involved in any
complaint about any alleged breach of this Code.

Ward Member Engagement if relevant and appropriate

CMDC set up a working group to ensure that the refreshed Constitution is presented
to Full Council for adoption.

Other potential alternative(s) and why these have not been recommended

The Constitution and Member Development Working Group has discussed and
considered a variety of options for the Constitution throughout the evolution of the
refresh. The proposed refreshed Constitution is considered to meet the Council’s
statutory duties and responsibilities, and to be more user friendly. While changes could
be made to any of the content of the draft Constitution following further discussion and
consultation, no alternative document has been prepared.

Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s)

Topic Impact

Financial (including No direct financial impacts are anticipated however it is
procurement and recommended that the Council consider the existing provisions
Social Value) for procurement and authorisation limits to ensure they are

proportionate to the current circumstances of the council.

Legal The proposed changes address the issues identified with

the existing Constitution to make it more robust and fit for
purpose. However, the desired outcome can only be
achieved if the implementation of the new Constitution is
supported by appropriate buy-in from Members and
Officers alike.

The requirement to have a document containing the
“standing orders” of the Council is set out in is set out in

Page 109




This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)
Regulations 2001.

Further, the Council has acknowledged the need to update its
Constitution and scheme of delegation within its recent Annual
Governance Statements. Adopting the proposed Constitution will
ensure that positive progress is made to strengthen the
governance arrangements of the Council.

Risk

Failing to adopt the proposed refreshed Constitution may open
the Council to increased risk of successful challenge to its
decision.

Human Rights, Public
Sector Equality Duty
and Community
Cohesion

None — save for presenting the document in a more streamlined
and accessible format

Reducing Poverty

There is no impact in this area as a result of the decision being
request.

Climate Change /
Environmental

There is no impact in this area as a result of the decision being
request.

Children and Young
People Cared for by
the Authority and Care
Leavers

There is no impact in this area as a result of the decision being
request.

Data Protection

There is no impact in this area as a result of the decision being
request.

Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s)

Action

Responsible Officer Deadline

Updated constitution will be
added to relevant pages on

the intranet/internet

Charlotte Benjamin End of September 25

Appendices

1 Proposed Constitution

2 Report to Constitution and Member Development Committee 20 August 2025

3

Background papers

Body Report title Date

Full Council Review of the Constitution 18 September 2023
Contact: Charlotte Benjamin, Monitoring Officer
Email: charlotte_benjamin@middlesbrough.gov.uk

Page 110




This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL I\/\iddlesbi rioi Eugh

moving forward

Report of: Charlotte Benjamin, Director of Legal & Governance Services
and Monitoring Officer

' Submitted to: ' Constitution and Member Development Committee
' Date: ' 20 August 2025
Title: ' Refresh of the Constitution
' Report for: ' Decision
' Status: ' Public
Cqun_cil Plan Delivering Best Value
priority:

Proposed decision(s)

That the Constitution and Members Development Committee:

e consider and discuss the proposed refreshed Constitution (Appendix 1);

e provide any comments in respect of the refresh of the Constitution at the meeting;

e subject to any updates and amendments to the refreshed Constitution agreed at
Committee, APPROVES the draft Constitution for recommendation to Full
Council.

Executive summary

The Council is continuing to deliver its Continuous Improvement Plan, which includes
reviewing its Constitution and scheme of delegations. This work is being led by the
Constitution and Member Development Committee (“CMDC”).

Officers and Members each have a key role to play in this process to ensure the
Constitution and delegations reflect the law and local custom and practice. CMDC set up
a working group to ensure that the refreshed Constitution is presented to Full Council for
adoption.

This report invites the Constitution and Member Development Committee to consider the
proposed changes to the Constitution and to recommend a refreshed Constitution to Full
Council following extensive engagement with Members in relation to the work
undertaken.

Page 111




This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

1. Purpose

11

The Constitution and Member Development Committee (‘CMDC’) has been reviewing
the provisions of the Constitution to remove duplication where possible and improve its
usability. The current draft document in its entirety is now presented to the Committee
for consideration, being the body responsible for making recommendations to Council
in respect of the Constitution.

2. Recommendations

2.1

That the Constitution and Members Development Committee:

2.1.1 consider and discuss the proposed refreshed Constitution (Appendix 1);

2.1.2 provide any comments in respect of the refresh of the Constitution at the
meeting;

2.1.3 subject to any updates and amendments to the refreshed Constitution agreed
at Committee, APPROVES the draft Constitution for recommendation to Full
Council.

3. Background and relevant information

3.1

The Council has recognised that improvements can be made to its governance
processes, as set out in the Continuous Improvement Plan, with particular reference to
the refresh of the Constitution to ensure that it is accurate and current.

Engagement

3.2

3.3

3.4

The Constitution was last updated in September 2023. It is a living document that
evolves continuously to reflect the ever changing environment in which the Council
operates — nationally, regionally and locally. The Monitoring Officer therefore has
ongoing responsibility to ensure that the Constitution remains accurate and lawful, and
has delegated authority to make some changes, which are then reported to the next
meeting of Council. More fundamental changes are approved by Full Council.

Members are aware that issues of omissions, duplication and inconsistency have been
identified, which is not unusual given the dynamic and complex environment in which
the Council operates. The whole Constitution has therefore been reviewed as one
coherent document with a view to ironing out the issues and ensuring that the
Constitution appropriately reflects the Council’'s governance and operating
arrangements.

Most of the work on the Constitution refresh has been through the Constitution and
Member Development Working Group (the ‘Working Group’). The Working Group has
included members of the CMDC during the previous and current municipal year; the
current membership includes members of the CMDC for both municipal years plus
group leaders. The working group has met 6 times over the course of the Constitution
refresh, to discuss in detail the proposed amendments to the Constitution. Additionally,
the Monitoring Officer has met with the Labour group members and, separately, with
non-Labour group members to engage regarding key questions about the Constitution

Page 112



3.5

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

that required a Member steer. All of those engaged with have had a copy of the
working draft of the Constitution document, to comment on.

Following the engagement sessions the Constitution has been drafted with the
following provisions included:

3.5.1
3.5.2

3.5.3

3.54

3.5.5

3.5.6

3.5.7

3.5.8
3.5.9

3.5.10

3.5.11

3.5.12

3.5.13

3.5.14

3.5.15

3.5.16

3.5.17

3.5.18

3.5.19

3.5.20

The public will be able to attend all meetings of the Executive.

Chairs and vice-chairs of the Committees will be appointed by the
Committees.

Officers will be able to attend meetings remotely in exceptional circumstances
with the consent of the Chair and Monitoring Officer if facilities are available.
Three levels of questions will be retained: On Notice, Without Notice and Prior
Indication.

Supplementary questions will be permitted.

The time for questions will be extended to one hour in total: 45 minutes for
questions from members and 15 minutes for questions from members of the
public. Member questions can extend to the full hour if time permits.

The standard provisions at 4.8.7 (b) will attend to motions as well as to
guestions.

The mover of a motion is able to withdraw it at any point prior to publication.
The mover of a motion is able to withdraw a motion after publication by
notifying the chair of the meeting.

Provision on substitutes will be relaxed to allow Members to give 24 hours
notice of appointment of a substitute.

The prohibition on the Mayor being part of the Audit and Standards
Committees will be maintained.

Provision will be made for questions from Members and from the public at
meetings of the Executive.

There will be a minimum number of six Overview and Scrutiny Board meetings
per year.

The existing scrutiny rules that whipping arrangements must be declared and
minuted will be retained.

A scrutiny report not responded to by Executive within eight weeks, must be
sent to Full Council for consideration.

Decisions taken as a matter of urgency with the approval of the Chair of the
Overview and Scrutiny Board must be reported to the next available meeting
of Full Council with the reasons for urgency.

Members representing a Ward which is particularly impacted by a decision
which has been called in or is being scrutinised will have the right to address
the scrutiny panel even if they are not signatories to a call in.

Additional information is included in the scrutiny procedure rules on what is
expected of a decision maker reconsidering a decision that has been referred
back to them.

Chief Officer Appointment Committee has been renamed as Chief Officer
Committee, with two sub-committees, to undertake the statutory processes in
relation to the appointment and discipline and dismissal of statutory Chief
Officers.

Dispensations will continue to be granted by the Standards Committee. The
Monitoring Officer may grant a dispensation in consultation with the Chair of

Page 513



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Standards Committee. where the matter is urgent and report it to the next
available Standards Committee.

Constitution

3.6

3.7

Since the last meeting of the Committee, the order of the Constitution has been
updated to ensure that relevant sections are grouped together as logically as possible
to make the document easier to navigate. The Constitution is therefore proposed to
have the following arrangement of contents:

(a) Section 1 — Introduction
(b) Section 2 — Constitution
(c) Section 3 — Citizens and the Council
(d) Section 4 — Full Council
- Council Procedure Rules
(e) Section 5 — Members
- Members Scheme of Allowances
- Protocol for Members and Officers on Gifts and
Hospitality
(f) Section 6 — The Mayor and the Executive
- Executive Procedure Rules
(g) Section 7 — Overview & Scrutiny
- Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules
- Councillor Call for Action Procedure and Guidance
(h) Section 8 — Standards
- Member Code of Conduct
(i) Section 9 — Officers
- Officer Employment Procedure Rules
- Protocol for Statutory Chief Officers responsible for
Governance
- Officer Code of Conduct
- Protocol on Member / Officer Relations
- Monitoring Officer Protocol
()) Section 10 — Responsibility for Functions
- Part A — Introduction
- Part B — Non-executive Functions
- Part C — Responsibility for Executive Functions
- Part D — Scheme of Delegation of Functions to Officers
(k) Section 11 — Alternative Service Delivery Vehicles
() Section 12 — Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters
- Financial Procedure Rules
- Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules
(m) Section 13 — Decision-making
(n) Section 14 — Access to Information Procedure Rules
(o) Section 15 — Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.

Members will recall that a “roadmap” of changes has been maintained to show in detail

what changes have been made to the Constitution and why. The completed Roadmap
to the changes is available to Members but is not included with this report given that it

Page 114



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

runs to some 730 pages. However, access to this document can be secured via
Democratic Services if desired.

Summary of changes to the Constitution

Section 1 — Introduction

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

3.12

Section 1 is the introduction to the Council and the Constitution. It contained some
numbering conflicts, which have been resolved. The basic formatting rules for the
entire document to ensure compliance with accessibility standards (font size, spacing,
justification etc) have been set in this section.

Section 1 is expanded to make it easier to understand the document — for example, the
date of the last election is included beside the frequency of election so people can work
out when the next programmed election will take place. Cross references to the
relevant parts of the Constitution are included where appropriate and language and
presentation is harmonised to the style adopted throughout the Constitution.

Once the final document is agreed it is proposed that cross references throughout will,
as far as possible, be hyperlinked to improve usability of the document.

The greatest changes to section 1 are the proposed inclusion of a diagram to depict
how the Council works — see section 1.2 — and a table of common local democracy
timescales for the Council at paragraph 1.10.

The contents page now also includes an index of diagrams (Figures) in the Constitution
as well as an index of Tables for ease of navigation.

Section 2 — The Constitution

3.13

3.14

Section 2 explains what the Constitution is and how it operates. Some parts of this
section have been reordered to improve readability, however it is largely the same
content as the existing Constitution. Cross references have been included where
appropriate.

The biggest change at Section 2 is the expansion of the glossary to include all words
and phrases specific to the Constitution in one place. This reduces duplication
throughout the document and means that future changes need only be made in one
place.

Section 3 = Citizens Rights

3.15

3.16

Section 3 deals with citizens’ rights. References to petitions have been included here
as well as appropriate cross referencing throughout.

Whilst the inclusion of the arrangements for petitions in this section is the biggest
change, new paragraph 3.5.2 has been included to reflect that citizens should treat
Members and Officers, and their property, with respect.

Section 4 — Council

Page 515



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

3.17 Section 4 contains some of the most substantial changes to improve readability and

reduce duplication.

4.1 - sets out what the Full Council is and the types of meetings it holds.
4.2 — sets out who can be Chair and Vice Chair of the Council

4.3 — distinguishes between the role of Chair and Elected Mayor

4.4 — sets out the functions reserved to Full Council

4.5 — sets out the Policy Framework for the Council

4.6 — sets out the budget framework for the Council

4.7 — introduces the budget and policy framework rules

4.8 — sets out the procedure rules by which the Council will operate.

3.18 The Council Procedure Rules (CPR’s) are also reordered to remove duplication and
improve readability. The CPRs have been refocused for general application to all
committees unless otherwise stated. Of particular note are the following paragraphs:

4.8.3

4.8.4

4.8.6

4.8.7

4.8.9

4.8.10

the order of business for the Annual meeting of Council which deals
more explicitly with the matters to be determined at the meeting,
including the vote of thanks and agreement of the non-executive
scheme of delegations;

sets out the order of business for ordinary meetings of Full Council,
distinguishing between announcements and reports, provides for
guestions on notice from the public and members, and includes
provisions for the receipt of petitions. It also includes explicitly that
Council can amend the order of meetings agreed at the annual
meeting, and what the usual time and venue of the meetings will
be. There is also specific recognition that the Chair can amend the
order of business before or during the meeting with consultation of
the MO and group leaders;

The biggest change is the inclusion of a section which relates
solely to the annual Budget meeting of council (paragraph 4.8.4(e)
to (h)). It covers the business of the budget council and the
amended arrangements for reports, questions and motions.
Expands the information re cancelling meetings at (c), requiring the
agreement of the Chair and Vice Chair after consulting the
Monitoring Officer. It confirms notice of cancellation should be
provided to those summonsed to the meeting as quickly as
possible.

Confirms the Monitoring Officer’s remit to provide advice to the
Chair as to whether the business of a meeting is valid and
consolidates previous disparate qualifications into one list of criteria
at 4.8.7(b). The section also reflects that the Chair shall hear from
group leaders / Members when determining whether to include an
item of business on an agenda.

Provides for Chairs and Vice Chairs to be appointed by the
committee instead of at the annual council meeting.

sets the quorum for all meetings and what happens when a
meeting is inquorate.

Page 1165



3.19

Section 5 — Members

4.8.11

4.8.12

4.8.13

4.8.15

4.8.17

4.8.19
4.8.21

4.8.22

4.8.24

4.8.26

4.8.27

4.8.29

4.8.31

4.8.32
4.8.40

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Slight change to remote meeting provisions to reflect
circumstances in which officers can attend remotely at (b);

NEW: explicit confirmation that the persons listed may have up to
10 minutes at the start of a meeting to make announcements and
answer questions from members on the announcement;

NEW: provisions setting out who may present reports to Council
and how they will be handled.

CONSOLIDATED: questions are consolidated into this section,
whether from the public, Members on Notice, Members with Prior
Indication or Members without notice. Clear provisions set out in
terms of where notice of questions are to be given and when.
General provisions in respect of questions are set out from (m)
onwards.

Timings for questions consolidated here, distinguishing public
guestions from Member questions on notice.

improved provisions on withdrawal of questions;

NEW: includes provision for questions sent under 4.8.15 to be
circulated to Members

NEW: defines motions and confirms that recommendations in
reports are motions but that paragraphs 23 — 25 don’t apply to
them.

NEW: provisions around motions are clearly set out here, cross
referencing back to the business criteria at 4.8.7(b), confirming
when a notice of motion will be accepted and how they will be dealt
with

CONSOLIDATED: enhanced detail around the consideration of
motions is provided in this paragraph

NEW Motions can be withdrawn after publication with the consent
of the Chair.

CONSOLIDATED: requires those wishing to amend a motion to
discuss it with the proposer of the original motion to try and agree
any changes first, and, if in relation to the budget, require 3 days
notice to the Chief Finance Officer (c);

CONSOLIDATED: Motions of no confidence are dealt with here,
with clarification as to the impact of the same re executive
members;

Provisions in respect of Petitions are included here;
CONSOLIDATED: Simplification on provisions re substitutes.

The protocol for recording council meetings is moved up to paragraph 4.9 with minimal
changes to language and presentation for consistency and is DELETED from existing
Section 24 (Codes and Protocols).

3.20

Enhanced information is provided in this section to distinguish between executive and
non-executive parts of the Council, with removal of duplication on terms of office etc.
Additional information is included regarding the role of Members (from the role profiles)
and the key objectives for members identified by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation are
included at paragraph 5.7.1. Cross referencing to the Access to Information Procedure

Page T17



3.21

3.22

3.23

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Rules, Members Allowance scheme and the Member Code of Conduct has been
included throughout.

The Members Allowance Scheme has been incorporated into this section for ease of
reference, at paragraph 5.10. Minimal changes have been made to the scheme to
harmonise presentation and language. The figures of Special Responsibility
Allowances have been updated to reflect changes in the numbers of scrutiny panels
and committees at Table 2. Accordingly, Section 22 of the current Constitution is
DELETED

Member Role Profiles have been moved to paragraph 5.11 from the existing
Appendix 2, setting out the expectations and responsibilities on Members in addition to
those included already at Section 5. Appendix 2 of the existing Constitution is therefore
DELETED.

The Protocol for Members and Officers on Gifts and Hospitality is moved to the
section 5 for clarity and prominence with minimal changes.

Section 6 — The Mayor and the Executive

3.24

3.25

3.26

3.27

This builds on the information contained in Section 4 in particular but focuses on the
executive aspect of the Council’s arrangements. The Mayor’s role is distinguished
from that of a councillor and defined, and details regarding the role of Deputy Mayor
are also included.

Paragraph 6.11 onwards set out the details for the Executive, while 6.16 lists the
sections of the Constitution that form the executive arrangements.

The Executive Procedure Rules are found at paragraph 6.17 and govern how the
Executive will operate. As with section 4, the Executive Procedure Rules have been
harmonised with duplication removed. The Mayor’s role is defined and distinguished
from that of a councillor, and further detail is provided in relation to the role of the
Deputy Mayor.

The Executive Procedure Rules are set out at 6.17 and of particular note are the
following provisions:

6.17.1 who can make executive decisions and how the Mayor manages
changes to delegations;

6.17.3 EXPANDED: in respect of conflicts of interest for Executive
Members;

6.17.4 NEW: it is proposed that there be a minimum number of Executive

meetings each municipal year, replacing the existing provisions that
there be ‘regular meetings of the Executive. 10 has been included
(i.e. every 6 weeks) but this will be considered by the Mayor.

6.17.8 CONSOLIDATED: provisions on attendance at Executive meetings
are set out specifically, reflecting the custom and practice that has
existed to date. Section (d) confirms that Statutory Chief Officers
can attend any Executive meeting, public or private.

Page 118



6.17.11

6.17.12

6.17.13

6.17.14

6.17.16

6.7.17

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

NEW: reflecting the provisions included in the Council Procedure
Rules at Section 4 and the Scrutiny Procedure Rules at Section 7,
a list of business to be considered at a meeting of the Executive is
set out in this paragraph.

NEW: this paragraph deals with who can place items on the
agenda for the Executive.

MOVED: the provisions in respect of the content of Executive
reports have been replaced with a reference to Section 13 of the
Constitution (decision-making) to reduce duplication.

NEW: this section provides for questions to be asked at a meeting
of the Executive by members of the public and Members. The
notice provisions and processes reflect those contained within the
Council Procedure Rules at section 4, including the ability for a
supplementary question to be asked.

NEW: general provisions regarding questions are set out in this
section including time limits for asking questions and responding to
them. The section confirms that the answer may be given in a
number of ways.

NEW: this section covers key decisions and the forward work
programme. It cross references the definition of a Key Decision,
which is now defined in Section 13, and the Access to Information
Procedure Rules at Section 14. It confirms the provisions for
challenging Key Decisions is in the Overview and Scrutiny
Procedure Rules.

Section 7 — Overview and Scrutiny

3.28

Section 7 relates to Overview and Scrutiny. Again, duplication has been removed and
the language harmonised across the Constitution, with appropriate cross-referencing.
Reference is included to the statutory guidance (7.1.2) while the role of Overview and
Scrutiny is set out at paragraph 7.2. Of note however are:

7.1.2

7.2.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

Now includes reference to the statutory guidance and principles of
good scrutiny;

NEW: confirms that the Council’'s powers in relation to health
scrutiny, are conferred upon a joint committee

sets out the Overview and Scrutiny functions and which body
discharges them.

confirms how the overview and scrutiny proceedings will be
managed, referencing the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules.
sets out the number and format of scrutiny panels and the
arrangements for joint scrutiny panels, cross referencing as
appropriate to section 10 (responsibility for functions).
CONSOLIDATED: the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules are
set out in this paragraph:

7.6.2 - provides for representation by religious groups at scrutiny
meetings

7.6.3 provides that the Board will meet a minimum of 6 times per
municipal year (rather than regularly);

Page 219



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

7.6.5 provides that Council will appoint the Chairs of Scrutiny
panels, with Vice Chairs being appointed by the Committee for
standing committees.

7.6.8 sets the business to be discharged at a meeting of overview
and scrutiny.

7.6.15 confirms how Overview and Scrutiny reports are to be
considered by the Executive or Council.

7.6.17 contains the first provisions for the Call-in process, which is
elaborated upon in the subsequent paragraphs in respect of which
decisions can and cannot be called in, when it is triggered etc.
7.6.21 sets out the detail as to how a called in decision will be
handled.

7.6.22 provides how urgent decisions will be identified and handled.
7.6.24 confirms what is expected of a decision maker reconsidering
a decision referred back to them.

3.29 The Councillor Call for Action (CCfA) Procedure and Guidance is brought forward
to paragraph 7.7 given its similarities to the Overview and Scrutiny function. The
differences between the CCfA and overview and scrutiny are distinguished while
paragraph 7.7.4 sets out the role of Overview and Scrutiny in relation to CCfA. Figure 2
shows the process by which a Councillor Call for Action is handled while 7.7.5 confirms
what action may be taken in relation to a CCfA.

3.30 Paragraphs 7.7.6 contains the checklist by which CCfA will be assessed or validity.
Accordingly, the content of Appendix 5 of the existing Constitution is DELETED.

Section 8 — Standards

3.31 Section 8 relates to standards of conduct. Broadly, the changes to this section involve
moving the Member Code of Conduct from current Section 24 to this section 8,
transferring the functions of the Standards Committee from Section 8 to section 10
(Responsibility for Functions), where the functions of all committees sit and removing
the standards committee hearing procedures, including them instead by a hyperlink as
they do not need to be part of the Constitution.

3.32 Proposed paragraph 8.2.2. now includes reference to the statutory requirement to have
an independent person who can be consulted in relation to Member Code of Conduct
complaints. Further detail on the role of the independent person is contained within
paragraph 8.8.

3.33 Paragraph 8.4 provides detail as to the role of the Standards Committee in respect of
Parish Councils.

3.34 The Member Code of Conduct is as per the LGA model code of conduct and is
therefore maintained in the first person but with improved presentation to make it
clearer what is the code and what is the guidance on the code. Itis included at
paragraph 8.9 and therefore DELETED from Section 24 (Codes and Protocols) in the
existing Constitution.

Section 9 — Officers

Page 1200



3.35

3.36

3.37

3.38

3.39

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

The new section 9 is at Section 11 in the current Constitution. It is proposed to move
forward so that all major decision makers in the Council are introduced in the
Constitution prior to the Constitution setting out who holds what responsibilities for
functions. The Officer section has been expanded to enable all officer related aspects
of the Constitution to be concentrated in one place, including:

Who officers are
How they should behave
The roles of statutory officers and who they are
The general responsibilities of all chief officers and their specific roles:
i. Chief Executive
ii. Director of Finance
iii. Director of Legal & Governance Services
iv. Executive Director of Adult Social Care & Health Integration
v. Executive Director of Children’s Services
vi. Director of Environment and Commercial Services;
vii. Director of Regeneration.
viii. Director of Public Health
e. The identity of other non-chief officer statutory officers:
I. Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer
ii. Scrutiny Officer
iii. Data Protection Officer
iv. Local Authority Designated Officer
v. Qualified person under the Freedom of Information Act 2000
f. Proper Officers
g. Officer Employment Procedure Rules (para 9.10)
h. Protocol for Statutory Chief Officers responsible for Governance (para 9.11)
i. Officer Code of Conduct (para 9.12)
j.  Protocol on Member / Officer Relations (para 9.13)
k. Monitoring Officer Protocol (para 9.14).

apop

Information regarding the roles of statutory chief officers has been pulled together at
paragraph 9.3, with additional detail in respect of the governance statutory chief
officers at paragraph 9.4. The role of other Chief Officers is included at 9.5 while the
general responsibilities of all chief officers are set out in paragraph 9.6. Individual
responsibilities are included at paragraph 9.7.

Paragraph 9.8 introduces statutory officers who are not chief officers, while paragraph
9.9 identifies other categories of officers. Section 9 now also cross references to
Section 10 (Responsibility for Functions) with reduced duplication.

The Officer Employment Procedure Rules at paragraph 9.10 have been updated to
rename the Chief Officer Appointments Committee as the Chief Officer Committee and
creation of its sub-committees in respect of appointment and disciplining Chief Officers.
The rules also retain the current provisions in respect of the appointment of political
assistants by the Council.

The Protocol for Statutory Chief Officers responsible for Governance at
paragraph 9.11 is NEW and reflects evolving practice in relation to the increased

Page 121



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

frequency with which statutory chief officers must grapple with whether to issue a
statutory report (see paragraphs 9.11.9 — 9.11.18). It also incorporates the Code of
Practice on Good Governance for Local Authority Statutory Officers, developed jointly
by the professional bodies for the three statutory officers, SOLACE (Head of Paid
Service), CIPFA (Chief Finance Officer) and LLG (Monitoring Officer).

3.40 The items at (g) are incorporated into contracts of employment therefore the only
changes are in respect of harmonisation of language and presentational. The three
items are currently contained in Section 24 of the existing Constitution and are
therefore MOVED to the refreshed Section 9.

3.41 The current Constitution Appendix 3 (Statutory Officer Protocols) is in fact the statutory
officer profiles, the contents of which are now specifically included in the proposed
Section 9. They do not therefore need to be retained separately in the proposed
Constitution and are therefore DELETED.

3.42  Similarly, the Proper Officer functions set out at Appendix 4 in the current Constitution
are included within the revised Section 9 provisions for Proper Officers at paragraph
9.9. Appendix 4 is also therefore DELETED.

Section 10 — Responsibility for Functions

3.43 The proposed Section 10 replaces existing Sections 9 (Responsibility for Functions),
15 (Scheme of Delegations) and 21 (Scheme of Delegation) and is greatly expanded.
At present, the Schemes of Delegation referenced in the Constitution at section 15 and
21 do not include any detail. It has been updated to include expanded detail on the
schemes of delegation and reflect the separation of Corporate Affairs and Audit
functions across two committees. It has therefore required the greatest volume of
changes in appearance and content. It is proposed that all of the functions are
captured here — executive, non-executive and local choice — with the information
previously scattered across other sections. The Section is therefore proposed to be

divided into:

Part A: A general introduction to local authority functions and how they are
discharged.

Part B: Responsibility for Non-executive Functions:

o Full Council
Audit Committee
Chief Officer Committee
Constitution & Member Development Committee
Corporate Affairs Committee
Licensing Committee
Overview & Scrutiny Board & Committees
Planning & Development Committee
Staff Appeals Committee
Standards Committee
You Matter to Us — Corporate Parenting Board
Joint arrangements
= Cleveland Fire and Rescue Combined Fire Authority

Page 1222

O O O O O O OO0 0O OO0 oo



Part C:

Part D:

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Cleveland Police and Crime Panel

Durham Darlington Teesside Hambleton Richmondshire
and Whitby STP Joint Overview & Scrutiny Committee;
Live Well South Tees Board

North East Joint Health Scrutiny Committee
Northumbria Regional Flood Defence Committee

River Tees Port Health Authority

South Tees Health Scrutiny Joint Committee

Tees Valley Combined non-executive joint committees in
respect of audit and governance and overview and scrutiny
Teesside Pension Fund Committee

Responsibility for Executive Functions

o

O O O O

Mayor

Executive

Portfolio Holders

Executive Sub-committee for Property
Joint arrangements

Joint Archives Committee
Emergency Planning Joint Committee
Tees Valley Combined Authority — Cabinet

Scheme of Delegation of Functions to Officers

O O O O O

Introduction
General
Statutory Officers
Chief Officers
Proper Officers.

3.44 Generally, duplication has been stripped out where possible throughout (e.g. not
repeating standard provisions re quorum, membership of the committees, procedure

rules etc).

Part A

3.45 NEW Part A sets the scene in relation to local authority functions and how they can be
discharged by:

10.1.3

10.1.4
10.2

10.4

clarifying the difference between express and general functions,
and confirms that authorities have the power to do anything to
facilitate or incidental to the exercise of a function;

cross referencing the decision-making principles at Section 13;
defining the three types of functions discharged by the Council —
Local Choice functions, Non-executive functions and Executive
functions — and cross referencing to the appropriate Part of Section
10. This section also sets out how changes can be made to the
responsibilities for functions.

introduces the arrangements for executive and non-executive joint
committees

Page 123



10.5

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

sets out the different types of committees the council can establish
— Statutory, Regulatory, Advisory and Other — and whether they are
standing or ad hoc committees. It provides detail as to how such
committees are convened and operated, cross referencing the
Council Procedure Rules and the Executive Procedure Rules.

3.46  Observance of Part A will ensure consistency and transparency of approach by the
Council as it discharges the functions particularised in Parts B to D. This new Part A
builds upon the information contained within the document entitled “Part 3 — Officer
Scheme of Delegation” as set out alongside the Constitution on the intranet.

Part B

3.47 NEW Part B sets out all of the non-executive functions of the Council in one place as

follows:
10.6.1

10.6.2

10.6.3

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10.

10.11.

10.12.

Lists all of the non-executive functions which are discharged by Full
Council and have not been delegated, cross referencing the
provisions on decision making (Section 13), the Budget and Policy;
sets out the local choice functions which are reserved to Council,
and whether there is any onward delegation of these functions;
confirms that the council has established non-executive committees
to discharge non-executive functions;

contains the terms of reference for the Audit Committee which
now reflect the CIPFA model terms of reference,;

NEW Chief Officer Committee is the new name for the Chief
Officer Appointment Committee and will fulfil the statutory
requirements for disciplining statutory chief officers. Previously,
reference to arrangements for disciplinary action was only
contained within the Officer Employment Procedure Rules. The
Committee will be able to convene sub-committees from its
membership to deal with appointments and discipline issues,
including suspension. Although a non-executive committee, the
membership of this committee must include at least one Executive
Member;

NEW Constitution and Members Development Committee
incorporates the arrangements for this committee within the
Constitution.

The provisions in relation to the Corporate Affairs Committee are
standardised with those of other non-executive committees;

The provisions of the Licensing Committee are also standardised
with other non-executive committees. The functions of the
Licensing Committee have been translated into tables for ease of
reference.

The requirement to have arrangements in place for Overview and
Scrutiny is noted here with a cross-reference to Section 7
(Overview and Scrutiny). There is also a reminder that the Chair of
the Overview and Scrutiny Board is responsible for a number of
other functions in the Constitution, which are summarised at
paragraph 5.11.7 of the Constitution.

Page 1244



Part C

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

The provisions for the Planning and Development Committee
have been standardised where possible but are largely unaltered;
NEW terms of reference are included in the Constitution for the
Staff Appeals Committee;

The terms of reference for the Standards Committee have been
MOVED from existing section 8 to this Part B for consistency;

The terms of reference for the Teesside Pension Fund
Committee have been MOVED from existing Sections 10 (Joint
Arrangements) and 23 (Teesside Pension Fund Committee) to this
Part B so they sit with the other non-executive committees. The
Committee provisions are standardised with other committees also
— this committee is created and managed by the Council to
administer the Teesside Pension Fund. Although it has members
from other authorities on it, it is not a joint committee;

NEW You Matter to Us — Corporate Parenting Committee is
renamed as a committee rather than a Panel.

NEW section setting out the Non-executive Joint Arrangements
is included here to provide clarity on what the terms of reference
are for these non-executive joint arrangements:

o Durham Darlington Teesside Hambleton
Richmondshire and Whitby STP Joint Overview &
Scrutiny Committee;

Joint Archives Committee;

Live Well South Tees Board;

South Tees Health Scrutiny Joint Committee;

Tees Valley Health Scrutiny Joint Committee;

Tees Valley Combined Authority Scrutiny Committee;

O O O O O

3.48 The Executive Scheme of Delegation referenced in the existing Constitution at Section
21 is moved to proposed Part C and expanded to encompass the delegations of:

3.49

Mayor

Executive

Portfolio Holders

Executive Committees, Sub-committees and Advisory Panels:

o] Property

o] Local Plan Working Group

Joint Arrangements:

o] Joint Archives Committee

0 Emergency Planning Joint Committee

o] Tees Valley Combined Authority — Cabinet.

Part C builds upon the information in Section 6 (Executive) of the proposed
Constitution and includes the local choice functions which are to be discharged by the
Mayor. It also sets out which functions the Mayor has sub-delegated and provides the
framework by which such delegated decisions are to be taken and recorded, cross
referencing Section 13 (Decision Making) of the Constitution. This removes the need

Page 125



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

for the separate document which currently sits alongside the Constitution entitled
“Executive Scheme of Delegation”.

3.50 The sub-delegations are as follows:

Part D

3.51

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

NEW sets out the functions to be determined by the Executive and
references the provisions of the Access to Information Procedure
Rules at Section 14 in respect of call-in and delayed
implementation of decisions;

the distribution of portfolios of responsibility to Executive Members
is CONSOLIDATED within this paragraph, based upon standard
classifications of areas of responsibility which are proposed to be
adopted to ensure consistency of descriptors for Members and
Officers.

the provisions for Executive Committees and Sub-Committees are
included here, specifically the Property Committee. The section
also includes the provisions for the Local Plan Working Group
which is an advisory body to the Executive.

the NEW Executive Joint Arrangements are set out in this
section, confirming the provisions for the Joint Archives
Committee, Emergency Planning Joint Committee and the
Tees Valley Combined Authority Cabinet. Provision is also made
in this section for the committees of the Combined Authority to
which the Mayor is entitled to nominate members.

This new Part D replaces the document entitled “Part 3 — Officer Scheme of
Delegation” which is referenced in the existing Constitution and sits alongside the
Constitution on the intranet, and CONSOLIDATES the existing provisions at Sections 9
(Responsibility for Functions), 15 (Scheme of Delegations) and 21 (Scheme of
Delegation). The revised delegations to officers contained at this Part D are set out as:

10.23

10.23.5
10.23.6
10.23.7
10.23.8

10.24

10.25

NEW introduction to the Scheme of Delegation to Officers, sets out
where in the organisation the decisions are to be made, and what
decisions are delegated. It also specifically deals with what
decisions are not delegated to officers at paragraph 10.23.3.
identifies when decisions are not delegated,;

sets out when further sub-delegation is permitted.

reflects the method of recording the use of sub-delegations;
confirms when the Monitoring Officer can update the Scheme of
Delegation;

sets out specific delegations of functions to individual officers of
the Council to reflect a move towards more generic delegations of
functions by standard category. For each officer this is split into
executive and non-executive functions to ensure that the
appropriate record of delegation is utilised.

contains the general delegations to all Chief Officers. These
delegations allow officers to perform the day-to-day management of

Page 1266



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

their service in accordance with Council policies and procedures.
They are sub-divided into:

(@) Finance;

(b) Staffing;

(c) Regulatory; and

(d) Other.

10.26 sets out the functions delegated to statutory officers who are not
Chief Officers.

10.27 sets out the details of the Proper Officers appointed for the
Council.

Section 11 — Alternative Service Delivery Vehicles

3.52 The existing Section 10 covering Joint Arrangements becomes NEW Section 11,
which is renamed “Alternative Service Delivery Vehicles” to reflect the Council’s
engagement in bodies beyond joint committees. The current Constitution only included
the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Pension Fund committee Content has been
expanded to cover:

a. access to information

b. delegations to and from another local authority
c. contracting out of functions

d. partnerships.

3.53 The list of joint arrangements (executive and non-executive). has been updated, along
with short description of what each body does, with any delegations of functions set out
within the relevant part of Section 10 (Responsibility for Functions):

a. Non-executive arrangements:

i. Cleveland Fire and Rescue Authority;

ii. Durham Darlington Teesside Hambleton Richmondshire and Whitby
Strategic Transformation Partnership Joint Overview & Scrutiny
Committee;

iii. South Tees Health Scrutiny Joint Committee;

iv. Tees Valley Health Scrutiny Joint Committee;

v. Tees Valley Combined Authority — Independent Remuneration Panel

b. The executive joint arrangements of the Council are:

i.  Joint Archives Committee

ii.  Emergency Planning Joint Committee

iii.  Middlesbrough Development Company Limited

iv.  Tees Valley Combined Authority - Cabinet
v. Tees Valley Combined Authority - Education, Employment and Skills
Partnership Board
vi. Tees Valley Combined Authority - Transport Committee
c. The joint arrangements of the Council which are both Executive and Non-
executive in nature are:

i.  Cleveland Police and Crime Panel

ii. Live Well South Tees Board

iii.  Tees Valley Combined Authority

Page 127



3.54

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

iv.  Collaborative Procurement Sub-Committee (Association of North East
Councils).

In addition, paragraph 11.16 captures the areas in which the Council acts as Lead
Authority, another way of providing joint arrangements which require appropriate
oversight. The Council is lead authority in relation to:

(@) Metrology laboratory;

(b) Geotech Laboratory;

(c) Urban Traffic control; and

(d) Tees Community Equipment Service.

3.55 Paragraph 11.17 sets out where other local authorities are the lead authority as follows:

(@) Tees Valley Music Service — Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council.

Section 12 — Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters

3.56

3.57

3.58

3.59

3.60

3.61

The Financial Procedure Rules [Financial Regulations] have been MOVED into this
proposed Section 12 at paragraph 12.6 from Section 18 in the existing Constitution.
They have been updated to harmonise language and presentation and include
appropriate cross referencing. As a result, the existing list of defined terms at Section B
has been DELETED as the terms are now included within the glossary at section 2 of
the Constitution.

Historically the Financial Approval Framework was not part of the Financial
Regulations. The financial thresholds have now been included in a NEW Section H of
the Financial Procedure Rules, set out at Table 11 of the Constitution for ease of
reference. References throughout the Constitution to the Financial Approval
Framework have been updated.

No fundamental changes (other than to common terms and to harmonise numbering)
have been made to the FPRs. However, the Financial Regulations make reference to a
“Financial Limits Annex” which is not in the current Constitution. It is therefore
proposed to add a NEW Section H to the FPR for the Financial Limits Annex, and
Table 11 has been inserted after paragraph 12.6.124 to aid easier identification of
financial limits.

The Contract Procedure Rules are proposed to MOVE from Section 19 of the existing
Constitution to paragraph 12.7 and be re-named the Procurement and Contract
Procedure Rules to avoid there being two CPRs (Council Procedure Rules and
Contract Procedure Rules) and more accurately reflect their purpose.

As a consequence of the Procurement Act 2023, these rules have been updated.

The presentation of the PCCPR has been harmonised with the rest of the Constitution,
with tables updated. As with the Financial Regulations, it is proposed that the list of
defined terms at section B is deleted, with any required terms being defined in the
glossary at Section 2 of the Constitution. It is also proposed that the provisions on
Exemptions becomes part of the main body of the PaCPR at NEW Section L to avoid

Page 128s


https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/media/vmhnrkli/middlesbrough-financial-limits-annexe-mar24.pdf

3.62

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

the need for reference to the “Exemptions Annexe”. A NEW Section M is also
proposed to set out the Procurement Thresholds and authorisation limits. This includes
NEW tables of authorisation levels for Goods and Services, the Light Touch Regime
and Works.

The existing Annex 1 — Roles and Responsibilities of Officers and Members — is
proposed to be DELETED as this is now included within Section B of the PaCPR.
Annex 2 (Letting of School Based Contracts) therefore is re-numbered as Annex 1.

Section 13 — Decision-making

3.63

3.64

3.65

3.66

This section sets out how various decisions will be taken by the Council. The existing
Section 13 has been EXPANDED to include references to the Code of Corporate
Governance and statutory duties such as the requirement to have due regard to the
need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism and fiduciary duties owed to
third parties (such as Teesside Pension Fund). It explains the principles under which
decision-making powers are delegated to different people, and the framework within
which they are expected to make decisions. It also prescribes what information must
be provided to a decision maker before the decision is made, and how decisions are
recorded.

Full details of who makes decisions in relation to specific functions is however set out
in the Responsibility for Functions section of the Constitution — Section 10.

Section 13 also defines Key Decisions and the provisions which relate to them (such
as general exception and special urgency) and cross references to the Access to
Information Procedure Rules at Section 14, which set out how intention to take such
decisions is published and how they are recorded.

It also confirms what the nature of Significant Decisions is — these being the decisions
which are still required to be published — and the nature of Operational Decisions,
which do not need to be formally recorded and published.

Section 14 — Access to Information Procedure Rules

3.67

3.68

This section sets out how and when members of the public may attend Council
meetings, and public rights of access to information relating to the Council. It is
proposed to be MOVED from Section 16 in the current Constitution to Section 14 as a
consequence of other sections being merged together, reducing the number of
headline sections. As with the rest of the Constitution, presentation and language has
been harmonised.

The Access to Information Procedure Rules now cross reference the Forward Work
Programme and other provisions for meetings and access to agendas etc. For
example, at 14.6.1 it now reflects that Members can receive papers electronically only
if they have given consent for the summons to be transmitted electronically.

Page 129



This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

3.69 The proposed rules also provide more detail as to public access to meeting
documentation and also cover Member rights of access to information relating to
Executive Decisions.

3.70 NEW paragraphs 14.15 to 14.16 make provision for private meetings of the Executive
(as opposed to public meetings where confidential information is considered in private)
in accordance with the statutory provisions.

3.71 The contents of decision records cross reference the Decision-Making section of the
Constitution, while call-in is cross referenced to the Scrutiny Procedure Rules.
Distinctions are also drawn between the provisions for executive decisions and for non-
executive decisions. NEW Paragraph 14.21 addresses how decisions will be recorded
in minutes or decision records while additional information is also provided at
paragraph 14.27.1 as to how Members can exercise their “Need to Know” information.

Section 15 — Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules

3.72 The final section of the proposed Constitution is the Budget and Policy Framework
Procedure Rules. These are largely UNCHANGED from the existing Constitution, save
in respect of harmonisation of presentation and language.

4. Other potential alternative(s) and why these have not been recommended

4.1 The CMDWG has discussed and considered a variety of options for the Constitution
throughout the evolution of the refresh. The proposed refreshed Constitution is
considered to meet the Council’s statutory duties and responsibilities, and to be more
user friendly. While changes could be made to any of the content of the draft
Constitution following further discussion and consultation, no alternative document has
been prepared.

5. Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s)

Topic Impact

Financial (including No direct financial impacts are anticipated
procurement and however it is recommended that the Council
Social Value) consider the existing provisions for

procurement and authorisation limits to ensure
they are proportionate to the current
circumstances of the council.

Legal The proposed changes address the issues
identified with the existing Constitution to make
it more robust and fit for purpose. However, the
desired outcome can only be achieved if the
implementation of the new Constitution is
supported by appropriate buy-in from Members
and Officers alike.

The requirement to have a document
containing the “standing orders” of the Council

Page 13@o




This document was classified as: OFFICIAL

Is set out in is set out in the Local Authorities
(Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001.

Further, the Council has acknowledged the
need to update its Constitution and scheme of
delegation within its recent Annual Governance
Statements. Adopting the proposed
Constitution will ensure that positive progress
Is made to strengthen the governance
arrangements of the Council.

Risk

Failing to adopt the proposed refreshed
Constitution may open the Council to
increased risk of successful challenge to its
decision.

Human Rights,
Public Sector
Equality Duty and

None — save for presenting the document in a
more streamlined and accessible format

Community
Cohesion
Climate Change / None
Environmental
Children and Young None
People Cared for by
the Authority and
Care Leavers
Data Protection None
Appendices
|1 ' Proposed Constitution
Background papers
Body Report title Date
Full Council Review of the 18 September
Constitution 2023
Contact: Charlotte Benjamin, Monitoring Officer
Email: charlotte_benjamin@middlesbrough.gov.uk

Page 181




This page is intentionally left blank



Middlesbrough

MIDDLESBROUGH BOROUGH
COUNCIL

CONSTITUTION

Made under the
Local Government Act 2000

September 2025

Page 133



Contents

R 101 o o 18 o3 1 o] o 5
2 The CONSHEULION ...t e e e e e e e aab e e e e e e e eeennes 12
3 Citizens and the COUNCIL........coooeiiiiiiii 32
N U | o 11 o[ | P 34
Council Procedure RUIES ..........coooeiiiiiee 38
I Y/ =T 0 1 o= £ PR 65
Members’ Scheme Of AlIOWANCES .........ooooviiiiiiii 70
Protocol for Members and Officers on Gifts and Hospitality ................ccccccvvuinee 85
6 The Mayor and the EXECULIVE ..........coouvuiiiiii et e e e 91
The Executive Procedure RUIES ............coiiiiiiiiiiiiie et 95
7 OVErVIeW AN SCIULINY ...oovviiiiiei et ree e e e e e s e e e e e eeeeennes 103
Overview And Scrutiny Procedure RUIES...........oooooiiiiiiii 107
Councillor Call For Action Procedure and Guidance............cccccoeeveeeiieeeeeeeeeenn. 120
S TS = Y 0 = 1 0 £ U RURPPPPRRN 127
The Member Code Of CONAUCT...........ccoviviiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 131
S T O 11 0! T URRRPPRPN 144
Officer Employment Procedure RUIES.........cooooeiiiiiiiiiiiiie e, 153
Protocol for Statutory Chief Officers responsible for Governance ................... 156
Officer Code of CONAUCT ........coooieiiiieeee e, 163
Protocol On Member / Officer Relations ...............uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiees 174
Monitoring Officer ProtoCol .............oiiiiiiiiice e 190
10 Responsibility FOr FUNCHIONS..........uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeieieees 196
T N [ o1 o o [ Tox 1 o] o 197
Part B NON-eXECULIVE FUNCHIONS ... 202
U | @ 11 o | 203
0 Lo [0 o 0 0] 11 (= = 208
Chief Officer COMMILLEE .......cooeeieeeeeeeeeee e, 213
Constitution and Member Development Committee ..., 215
Corporate Affairs COMMIEEE .......coovviiiiiiiie e e 216
LiCeNSING COMIMITIEE .....uuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie bbb 217
Overview and Scrutiny Board and COMMIMEES ...........coveevviiiiieiiiiiiieeeiiiieeeeees 222
Planning & Development COMMIIEE ..........uuuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieees 223
Staff Appeals COMMIUIEE .........uuiiiieii e 225
Standards COMMUEEE .........vuueiiiie e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeenenes 226



Teesside Pension FUNA COMMIEEE ... ...ocn i, 227

You Matter to Us — Corporate Parenting Committee .............ccceevveeeiiieeeennnnnnnn. 231
Non-executive joiNt arrangemMENTS .........ccovvvuuuuriiiieeeee e e e e e e ee e 233
Part C:  Responsibility for Executive FUNCHIONS ..............uvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiens 242
Y=Y 0 T PP 243
EXECULIVE ..t e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e ara e e e e e 244
EXECULIVE MEMIDEIS ...uiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii bbb naeanannee 246
Executive Committees and Sub-COMMILIEES .............uuvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie 249
Executive JOINt AITANGEMENTS .......uuiiiii e e e e e e e e e e e 251
Part D:  Scheme of Delegation of Functions to Officers............ccccciiiinnnnnenn. 253
INEFOTUCTION ...t 254
Chief Officer delegations ... 258
Statutory Officer delegations ..........coooiviiiiiiii i e 276
PrOPEI OFfICEIS. .. ittt 278
11 Alternative Service Delivery VEhICIES ..........cociiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e, 288
12 Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters.........ccooveiiviiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 300
12.6  Financial Procedure RUIES..........ccccoviiiii, 301
Procurement and Contract Procedure RUIES .............uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiis 353
13  DECISION-MAKING ....euviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeib bbb 402
14 Access To Information Procedure RUIES...............uuveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiinnns 412
15 Budget and Policy Framework Procedure RuUles..............cccoevvvviiiicinnnnenn. 426
Figures:
Figure 1: Democratic Structure of the COUNCIl..............ccovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee 5
Figure 2: Councillor Call for Action (CCfA) ....covveeiiiie e 122
Figure 3: Statutory REPOIt PrOCESS ......uiiiiieeiieeeeiee et 162
Figure 4: Information Governance framework ............ccccovvvviiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeee e, 327
Figure 5: ProCUremMent PrOCESS.......uiiiiiiiiie ettt e e e e e e e eens 399
Tables:
Table 1: Local Democracy Engagement Timetable..............cccoo, 10
Table 2: Special Responsibility AllowancCes ..., 76
Table 3: Disclosable Pecuniary INtErestsS .........ooooeveeieiiiieee 141
Table 4: Other Registerable INterestS.........coov i 143



Table 5: Statutory Chief OffiCEerS .......ovvvviiiiiii e 145

Table 6: Statutory OffiCerS..... .. 151
Table 7: The differences between Officers and Members............ccccceeeeeiiiiiinnnn. 175
Table 8: Local ChoiCe FUNCHIONS ........ccooeiieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 205
Table 9: Table of Licensing FUNCLIONS...........cooooiiiiiie 218
Table 10: Proper Officer FUNCLIONS..........coooi i 278
Table 11: Financial LIMItS ANNEX .....cccooeiiiieeeeee e 352

Table 12: Authorisation of Exemption from Procurement and Contract Procedure

RUIBS .ttt e e e e e ae e e e 393
Table 13: GOOAS AN SEIVICES .....ccooiiiiiiiiiiie et a e e 395
Table 14: Light TOUCh REQIME ......cooiiieece e e 396
TabIle 15: WOTKS ... 397
Table 16: Categories of Exempt Information ..., 416

Page 136 4



1 Introduction

This section provides a summary of the Constitution and explains how the
Council operates. It summarises the main provisions of this Constitution and
the detailed provisions in relation to a particular Council function should always
be referred to.

Capitalised words used in this section 1 (and throughout the Constitution) are
defined in section 2.2

1.1 What is the Constitution?

1.1.1  The Constitution sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are
made, and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are
efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. Some of these
processes are required by law, while others are a matter for the Council to
determine. The Constitution is generally adopted, and amended, by the Full
Council.

1.1.2  The Constitution is divided into sections which, where possible, group
relevant rules and procedures governing the Council’s business together,
cross referencing as appropriate to reduce duplication.

1.2 How does the Council operate?

Thizdocument was classifisd s OFFICIAL

Overview and Scrutiny Board

Joint Overview & Scrutiny

Children’s Scrutiny Panel Adult Social Care & Health  Place Scrutiny Panel (9) Tees Valley Health Scrutiny
(9) Scrutiny Panel (9)

South Tees Health Scrutiny
DDTHR & W STP Scrutiny

Executive ‘Full’ Non-executive

Council
(46)

Elected Mayor
(1

Joint
Arrangements:
* Health & Well-
being Board
+ Teesside
Pension Fund
Committee
* Joint Archives

Executive

(Mayor plus 2 to 9 Councillors) Committees:
+  Audit(7)

Chief Officer (7)
Constitution & Member

Development (9)
Corporate Affairs (7)

Executive (sub) Executive * Corporate Parenting (10)

Working /
Committees: g  Advisory A i Advisory Groups:

Planning & Development (10)
= Property Panels - Staff Appeals (7)

Standards (9)

¢ Local Plan

Figure 1: Democratic Structure of the Council

Page 137 5



1.1.1.

1.1.2.

1.1.3.

1.1.4.

1.1.5.

11
111

1.1.2

1.1.3

114

The Council is composed of an elected Mayor and 46 Councillors. The Full
Council decides the Council’s overall policies and Budget each year (see
further the Budget and Policy Procedure Rules at Section 15). It also
appoints various Committees to undertake functions it delegates to them. It
operates in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules.

The Mayor is directly elected by the electors of the Borough, normally for
four years. The Mayoral election is held on the same day that Councillors
are elected to represent each of the Wards within the Borough. This usually
takes place on the first Thursday in May every 4 years. The last election
was in 2023.

The Mayor and the Councillors are collectively known as “Members” of the
Council. Members agree to follow a Code of Conduct (see paragraph 8.9) to
ensure high standards in the way they undertake their duties. The Council’s
Standards Committee advises Members on the Code of Conduct (see
Section 8) and ensures that they receive training on its requirements.
Members are required to adhere to the Code of Conduct when fulfilling their
duties.

The Mayor appoints an Executive of up to nine councillors, one of whom will
be appointed by the Mayor as the Deputy Mayor. The Executive works in
accordance with the provisions of Section 6, which includes the Executive
Procedure Rules (see paragraph 6.17).

Council meetings are normally open to the public and operate in accordance
with the Council Procedure Rules (paragraph 4.8) and the Access to
Information Procedure Rules at Section 14.

How are decisions made?

The Council’s Budget and Policy Framework is set by the Full Council in
accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Rules set out in Section
15. The Mayor and Executive may make proposals to Council in relation to
the Budget and other plans and strategies for adoption by Council.

The Mayor is responsible for the Council’s main executive decision-making
powers and the overall delivery of Council services (see Section 6). The
Mayor decides the extent of the Executive’s decision making role and has
delegated to it most of the Council’s day-to-day decisions.

The Executive is held to account by the Council’s scrutiny process (see
Section 7). The Executive should make decisions in line with the Council’s
overall budget and policies and any departure from this needs to be
approved by the Council.

So far as possible, major decisions are published in the Executive’s Forward
Work Programme and made at meetings in accordance with the Access to
Information Procedure Rules at Section 14 of this Constitution.

Page 138 6


https://moderngov.middlesbrough.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=1146&RD=0&bcr=1&$LO$=1
https://moderngov.middlesbrough.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=1146&RD=0&bcr=1&$LO$=1

1.2

1.3
1.3.1

1.3.2

1.3.3

1.4

1.5
151

152

What happens if the Council doesn’t agree with the Executive’s
proposals?

The Full Council has the option to suggest amendments to any Budget, plan
or strategy submitted by the Executive. The Executive can then consider the
Council’s input before re-submitting its proposal. The Executive’s proposal
will be accepted unless the Council votes for further amendments by a two-
thirds majority.

How are Council decisions scrutinised?

The Overview and Scrutiny Board and any sub-committees it appoints,
which are referred to as Scrutiny Panels, scrutinise decisions. The Board’s
reports and recommendations advise the Council and the Executive on
matters relating to policy, service delivery and the Budget.

The Overview and Scrutiny Board can “call-in” a decision made by the
Executive before it is implemented in accordance with the provisions of the
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Section 7. The Overview
and Scrutiny Board can then consider whether the decision is appropriate
and make recommendations to the Executive.

The Executive may also consult the Overview and Scrutiny Board on
forthcoming decisions and policy development.
What is the role of Officers?

Officers give advice, implement decisions, and manage the day-to-day
delivery of the Council’s services — see further Section 9 and Section 10
Part D. Some Officers have a specific duty to ensure that the Council acts
within the law and uses its resources wisely. Protocols relating to the
relationships between Officers, Councillors and the Mayor can also be found
at Section 9.

What are the Nolan Principles and when do they apply?

Everyone in public office, at all levels, who serve the public or deliver public
services, including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority
officers, should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life.

These principles are commonly referred to as the ‘Nolan Principles’. They
are:

1. Selflessness
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.
2. Integrity

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any
obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to

Page 139 !



influence them in their work. They should not act or take decisions in
order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their
family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests
and relationships.

Objectivity

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly
and on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.

Accountability

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions
and actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to
ensure this.

Openness

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and
transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public
unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing.

Honesty
Holders of public office should be truthful.
Leadership

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own
behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the
principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

1.6 What are the rights of citizens in relation to the Council?

1.7.1  Members of the public may:

(@)
(b)

(€)
(d)

(e)

(f)

vote at local elections if they are eligible and registered,;

contact the Mayor or their local Councillor about any matter of concern
to them;

obtain a copy of this Constitution;

in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules (see paragraph 4.8.4)
ask questions to, and attend meetings of the Council and its
Committees except where, for example, personal or confidential
matters are being discussed,;

petition to request a referendum on the form of Executive the Council
should adopt;

find out, from the Executive’s Forward Work Programme, the Key
Decisions that are to be discussed by the Executive, or decided by the
Executive or Officers, and when;

Page 140 &



1.7.2

1.7.3

1.7.4

1.7
1.7.5

1.7.6

1.8

(g) attend meetings of the Executive where Key Decisions are being
discussed or decided, except where, for example, personal or
confidential matters are being discussed,;

(h) in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules
(Section 14), see reports and background papers, and any record of
decisions made by the Council, its Committees and the Executive,
except where they relate to personal or confidential information;

(i) complain to the Council about Council services, or any action or
inaction which concerns them, for the matter to be investigated under
the Council’s complaints processes;

() complain to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman if
they think the Council has not followed its procedures properly. They
should only do this after exhausting the Council’s complaint processes;

(k) complain to the Council’s Monitoring Officer if they have evidence that
a Councillor has not followed the Council’s Code of Conduct; and

()  inspect the Council’'s accounts and make their views on those
accounts known to the Council’s external auditor.

The rights listed above do not include additional rights members of the
public might have in relation to specific Services, for example, as a parent of
a school pupil or as a Council tenant.

The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work. For further
information on your rights as a citizen, please contact either Democratic
Services at The Town Hall, Middlesbrough, TS1 9FX or by email to
councilguestions@middlesbrough.gov.uk and refer to the refer to the
Access to Information Procedure Rules at Section 14.

Section 3 of the Constitution sets out citizens’ rights in more detail.

Reasonable Adjustments

The Council is mindful that some individuals need additional support to
engage with democratic processes, which can be complex. It will therefore
accommodate, as far as reasonably possible, adjustments in respect of the
application and interpretation of the Constitution.

Individuals can discuss potential reasonable adjustments by contacting the
Democratic Services team.
What are the timescales for involvement with local democracy?

Table 1 below summarises the most common timescales for democratic
processes to aid engagement. However, in the event of conflict, the
timescales provided within the relevant procedure rules of this Constitution
shall prevail.

Page 141 9


mailto:councilquestions@middlesbrough.gov.uk

Table 1: Local Democracy Engagement Timetable

Process

Timescale

Source

Notice of meeting

5 clear days before the
meeting

Access to Information
Procedure Rules: 14.5

In respect of Council meetings

Substitution

meeting

Member Questions on | 7 clear days before the CPR: 4.8.15(f)

notice meeting

Member Questions None CPR: 4.8.15(i)

without notice

Member Question with | By 5.00 pm the day CPR: 4.8.15(h)

Prior Indication before the meeting

Public Questions 7 clear days before the CPR: 4.8.15(b)
meeting

Petition 7 clear days before the CPR: 4.8.32
meeting

Motions on Notice 9 clear days before the CPR: 4.8.23(a)
meeting

Amendment to Motion | 3 clear days before the CPR: 4.8.29(c)

on Notice with financial | meeting

impact

Amendments to a 2 clear days before the CPR: 4.8.29(b)

Motion on Notice meeting

Notification of 24 hours before the CPR: 4.8.40

In respect of Executive meetings

Member Questions on
notice

By 5.00 pm 3 clear days
before the meeting

EPR: 6.17.15(a)

Public Questions on
notice

By 5.00 pm 3 clear days
before the meeting

EPR: 6.17.14(a)

Page 142

10




Request for call in

By 4.00 pm 5 clear days
after the publication of
the decision

O&SPR: 7.6.21(a)

Page 143

11




2 The Constitution

This section explains what the Constitution is for and how it is to be interpreted. It
also sets out the rules for how the Constitution is to be monitored and reviewed, how
it can be amended, how certain parts of it can be suspended, and how it is

published.

1.9 What is the purpose of the Constitution?

2.1.1 The Constitution sets out the rules and procedures under which the Council
operates and helps members of the public and other stakeholders
understand how the Council makes its decisions. It also acts as a guide for
the Mayor, Councillors and Officers in performing their roles. The
Constitution is adopted and amended by Full Council.

2.1.2  The Chair of the Council, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, will
decide how this Constitution, and in particular the Council Procedure Rules,
shall be applied. The ruling of the Chair of the Council is final and shall not
be challenged at any meeting of the Council.

2.2 Meanings of key terms used in the Constitution

Where capitalised terms are used in this Constitution, they will have the

meanings set out below:

“Address / Principal
Office”

“Annual Governance
Statement / AGS”

the Council’s address for correspondence is:

PO Box 500,

Middlesbrough

TS19FT
Council meetings will usually take place at
its ‘principal office’:

Town Hall,

Middlesbrough

TS1 9FX

A key document supporting the governance
framework of the Council that is produced
each year following a review of the
governance arrangements. It is required to
be published as part of the Annual Accounts
each year.

Page 144 12



1

“‘Annual Meeting”

“Award Criteria”

“Award Procedure”

H

“Background papers’

“Ballot”

“Best Value”

“Bidder”

“Bond”

Local Government Act 1999

the annual meeting of the Council that takes
place in March, April or May (or otherwise
within 21 days of the retirement of outgoing
Councillors following an election) and makes
decisions in relation to the running of the
Council for the Municipal Year.

The criteria by which a successful Quotation
or Tender is to be selected.

The procedure for awarding a contract or a
one-off purchase.

the papers used by a report author in
compiling a report for decision, which must
be available for 4 years to anyone wishing to
inspect them.

a secret vote requested by half the Members
present at a meeting.

the duty placed on the Council to obtain a
competitive price for goods, services and
works of appropriate quality, in line with
statutory duties?.

any person who asks or is invited to submit
a quotation or tender and / or a successful
supplier with whom the Council has or
intends to enter into a contract.

an insurance policy. If the Bidder does not
do what is has promised under contract with
the Council, the Council can claim from the
insurer the sum of money specified in the
Bond (often 10% of the contract value). A
Bond is intended to protect the Council
against a level of cost arising from the
Contractor’s failure.

Page 145 13



2

“Borough”

“‘Budget”

“Budget Holder”

“Budget Meeting”

“Byelaws”

“Call-in”

“Capital Programme”

the borough of Middlesbrough.

the overall annual revenue budget and
periodic capital budget approved by Full
Council.

The Budget includes the allocation of
financial resources to different Services and
projects, proposed contingency funds, the
Council Tax base, setting the Council Tax
and decisions relating to the control of the
Council’s borrowing requirement, its capital
expenditure and the setting of virement
limits.

The Budget is the first year of the Medium
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS’).

an Officer who has delegated responsibility
for an allocated budget, at either directorate,
sub-division of service, or cost centre level
in line with the Council’s chart of accounts.

an ordinary meeting of the Council with a
limited agenda to consider the budget and
ancillary matters, usually taking place in
February.

local laws made by the Council under an
enabling power contained in a public general
act or a local act requiring something to be
done — or not done — in a specified area?.

A mechanism which allows Overview and
Scrutiny to examine and challenge an
Executive decision before it is implemented.

Identifies agreed capital projects and their
cost over time; linked to the Capital
Strategy.

The Byelaws (Alternative Procedure) (England) Regulations 2016

Page 146

14



3

“Capital Strategy”

“Chair of the Council”

“Chief Financial Officer
/ Section 151 Officer”

“Chief Officer”

strategy required by CIPFA’s Prudential
Code to demonstrate how the Council’s
capital expenditure, capital financing and
treasury management activity contribute to
the provision of desired outcomes and take
account of stewardship, value for money,
prudence, sustainability and affordability.

the Councillor elected by the Full Council as
the Chair of the Council in accordance with
the Council Procedure Rules at Section 4.

the Officer responsible for the administration
of the Council’s financial affairs3.

The duties of the Chief Financial Officer, a
Statutory Chief Officer role, are set out at
Section 9.

The Director of Finance and Transformation
has been designated as the Council’s Chief
Financial Officer.

Senior officers of the Council including the
Statutory Chief Officers and the following
non-statutory Chief Officers:

(a) a person for whom the Head of
Paid Service is directly responsible;

(b) a person who is required to report
directly, or is directly accountable,
to the Head of Paid Service for the
majority of their role; and

(c) any person who, as respects all or
most of the duties of his post, is
required to report directly or is
directly accountable to the local
authority themselves or any
committee or sub-committee of the
authority.

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972

Page 147 15



“CIPFA”

“Clear / working days”

“Committee”

“Complainant”

“Confidential

information”

“Contracting Decision”

“Constitution”

the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accounting — the professional accountancy
body which regulates public financial
management to improve public services and
ensure the responsible use of public funds.

full normal working days, excluding
weekends, public holidays, the date on
which notice of a meeting or decision is
given and the day of the meeting or decision
itself.

any committee of the Council, including
where relevant any sub-committee.

For the avoidance of doubt, reference to an
“Executive Committee” shall mean a
committee or sub-committee (as
appropriate) of the Executive.

A person who complains that a Member of
the Council has breached the Member Code
of Conduct (see section 8).

Information either given to the Council by
the Government on terms which forbid its
public disclosure, or which cannot be
publicly disclosed by Court Order. See also
‘Exempt Information’ below.

Any of the following decisions:

- composition of Approved Lists;
- withdrawal of Invitation to Tender;

- whom to invite to submit a Quotation or
Tender;

- shortlisting;

- Contract Award;

- Termination of a contract

The document setting out how the Council

operates, how decisions are made and the
procedures that have to be followed.

Page 148 16



“Co-Opted Member”

“Corporate Landlord”

“Council”

“Councillor”

“Council Procedure
Rules”

“Council Tax”

“Delegation”

“Deputy Chief Officer”

“Directorate”

“Directorate Budget”

a person who is not a Councillor but who sits
on any Committee.

the Officer designated to act as the
Council’s landlord and fulfil its property
management functions in relation to Council-
owned land and buildings.

Middlesbrough Borough Council.

a person elected to the Council to represent
a Ward within the Borough, who is also a
Member.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Mayor is not
a Councillor but is a Member.

the procedural rules for running the non-
executive functions of Council as set out in
Section 4, apart from where alternative rules

apply.

a tax on domestic properties collected by
local authorities in Britain, based on the
estimated value of a property by value-
based bandings set by the Valuation Office
Agency (‘VOA’).

Formal authorisation for a committee,
executive portfolio holder, joint committee or
officer to take an action which is the ultimate
responsibility of the Council or the Mayor.

a person who, as respects all or most of the
duties of their post, is required to report
directly, or is directly accountable, to one or
more of the statutory or non-statutory chief
officers.

the group of services managed by a Director
/ Chief Officer.

the budget of a particular Directorate, which
forms part of the Revenue Budget and
Capital Programme, and may comprise one

Page 149 17



4

“E-tendering Portal”

“Executive”

“Executive Decision”

“Executive Function”

“Executive Member”

“Executive Portfolio”

Local Government Act 2000

Page 150

or more subdivisions of service and cost
centres.

the Council’s electronic tendering system
used for publishing Invitations to Tender and
Invitations to Quote and for submission of
bids by bidders.

a group of at least two, but not more than
nine, Members selected by the Mayor to
exercise Executive* Functions and take the
most strategic decisions that are not made
by Full Council.

any decision made by the Executive to
exercise or refrain from exercising an
Executive Function, including any decision
made by an individual or Member Body to
which Executive Decision-making powers
have been delegated.

any function of the Council which is either
discharged by the Mayor or delegated by the
Mayor to the Executive, an Executive
Committee, an individual of the Executive,
an officer or another local authority.

For the avoidance of doubt:

- regulatory functions (including planning,
licensing and building control) are not
Executive Functions;

- Executive functions cannot be
undertaken by the Council.

a Councillor appointed by the Mayor as a
member of the Executive.

the particular area for which an Executive
Member is responsible, as designated by
the Mayor from time to time. See further

18



“Executive Procedure
Rules”

“‘Exempt information”

“External Audit”

“Financial Limits
Annex”

“Fixed Asset Register

“Forward Work
Programme”

“Framework”

“Full Council”

“Functions”

Section 6 (Executive) and Section 10, Part C
(Executive Scheme of Delegation).

the rules of procedure governing the
activities of the Executive, set out at Section
6, apart from where alternative rules apply.

Information falling into one of 7 categories
set out in Schedule 12A to the Local
Government Act 1972 (as amended) which
usually cannot be publicly disclosed. See
the Access to Information Procedure Rules
in Section 14.

independent evaluation of the Council’s
financial statements and Value for Money
(‘VfM’) arrangements by a third party
“External Auditor”.

the document setting out the limits that apply
to certain financial decisions made by or on
behalf of the Council at Section 12.

the register of fixed assets maintained by
the Council in accordance with paragraph
12.6.51 and which forms the basis of the

Council’'s accounting for capital purposes.

the document setting out the Executive Key
Decisions to be taken by during the period of
the forward work programme (Key Decisions
are set out in more detail in Section 6).

an agreement under which a long-term
relationship is established between local
authorities (or other public sector bodies)
and approved bidders.

the body where all Councillors and the
Mayor act to exercise the non-executive
functions of the Council.

The activities carried out by a local authority
pursuant to their powers and duties, which
includes the power to do anything which is

Page 151 19



“Governance Statutory
Chief Officer”

“Government
Procurement
Agreement”

“Group / Political
Group”

“Group Leader”

“Group Whip”

“Head of Paid Service”

calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or
incidental to, the exercise of a function.

The three senior officers designated by the
Council who together form a governance
golden triangle ensuring that the Council
operates lawfully and effectively. These
officers have additional statutory
employment protections as a result of the
vital nature of their responsibilities. They
are:

- Head of Paid Service;
- Monitoring Officer;
- Chief Finance Officer;

but see also Chief Officers and Statutory
Chief Officers.

the successor agreement to the General
Agreement on Trade and Tariffs. The main
signatories other than those in the European
Economic Area are: USA, Canada, Japan,
Israel, South Korea, Switzerland, Norway,
Aruba, Hong Kong, China, Liechtenstein and
Singapore.

a group of two or more Councillors, usually
but not necessarily from the same political
party, or who have some other common
interest, who form a group®.

the leader of any formally constituted Group
within the Council.

a Councillor appointed by a political group to
ensure discipline amongst other members of
the same political group.

the most senior Officer, appointed by law,
who is responsible for the management and

5 Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990

Page 152 20


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1990/1553/made

“Head of Service”

“Housing Land
Transfer”

“Independent Person
(Audit)”

“Independent Person
(Standards)”

“In-house Preferred
Test”

“Internal Audit”

operation of the Council. The duties of the
Head of Paid Service, a Statutory Chief
Officer Role, are set out at Section 9.

The Chief Executive has been designated
as the Council’s Head of Paid Service.

the head of a Service area within the
Council, usually a Deputy Chief Officer who
reports to a Director.

the approval or adoption of applications to
the Secretary of State for approval of a
programme of disposal of property or land in
certain circumstances.

a person, independent of the Council,
appointed to the Audit Committee. The
independent member does not carry voting
rights.

a person independent of the Council
appointed to advise the Council on
standards and conduct issues before it
makes a decision to dismiss a statutory

officer (see section 8).

the Council’s internal measure for
determining if the Council’s requirement
would be best delivered by an internal
mechanism, e.g., internal Service area or
Council owned company, rather than
through a competitive process.

independent assurance in relation to the
Council’s risk management, governance and
internal controls; The Council’s internal audit
function is provided by Veritau Public Sector
Limited.

Page 153 21



7

“Joint Arrangements /
Committee”

“Key Decision”

“Key Decision
Threshold”

“Leadership
Management Team” or
“LMT”

“Local Choice
Functions”

“Low Value Contracts
Threshold”

“Mayor”

“‘Medium-Term
Financial Strategy /
Plan” or “MTFS/P”

an arrangement entered into by the Council
with another local authority® or other public
or private sector body.

an executive decision which:

(@  will incur expenditure or savings in
excess of the financial threshold set
out in the Financial Limits Annex or
more; or

(b)  will have a significant impact on two
or more Wards.

as defined in the Financial Limits Annex.

the senior management body for Officers,
which includes those Officers designated by
the Head of Paid Service as members of
LMT from time to time.

functions where the Council has the
authority to decide whether they are
Executive Functions or reserved to Full
Council as non-executive functions’.

the below threshold specified in Part 6 of the
Procurement Act 2023.

the person directly elected by the public to
lead the Council.

the strategic financial framework, which sets
out the financial position and financial
sustainability of the Council over the
medium term, and which supports the
Council’s policy and decision-making.

The MTFS is a rolling 3 to 5-year plan,
which considers the financial climate at both

Under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972
The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000

Page 154 22


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/contents

“‘Member Body”

“Minimum Revenue
Position” or “MRP”

“Most Advantageous

Tender (M.AA.T.)

“Motion”

“NEPRO Solution”

“Non-commercial
Considerations”

the local and national level together with
available resources and budgetary
pressures to set a medium-term financial
strategy focusing on both revenue
expenditure and capital expenditure.

any of the following:
- Full Council;
- the Executive;
- Overview and Scrutiny Board;
- Standards Committee;
- Corporate Affairs Committee
- Audit Committee; and
- Any other Committee of the Council.

For the avoidance of doubt, any reference to
a Committee shall include its sub-
committees.

The minimum annual revenue charge the
Council must set aside to repay the principal
of the debt.

Award criteria defined in the Procurement
Act 2023.

A formal proposal put forward for debate or
decision which must be seconded by an
individual other than the proposer prior to
being considered.

a managed service solution from the North
East Procurement Organisation (‘NEPQO’)
that provides a cost-effective and compliant
route for the procurement of professional
services by the public sector.

These are:

1. The terms and conditions of employment
of a Bidder’s workers or the composition
of, arrangements for the promaotion,

Page 155 23



“Non-Executive
Functions”

transfer or training of, or other
opportunities afforded to, their workforce;

2. Whether the terms on which Bidders
contract with their Sub-contractors
constitute, in the case of contracts with
individuals, contracts for the provision by
them as self employed persons of their
services only;

3. Any involvement of the business
activities or interests of Bidders with
irrelevant fields of Government policy;

4. The conduct of Bidders or their workers
in industrial disputes between them or
any involvement of the business
activities of Bidders in industrial disputes
between other persons;

5. The country or territory of origin of
supplies to, or the location in any country
or territory of the business activities or
interests of, Bidders;

6. Any political, industrial or sectarian
affiliations or interests of Bidders or their
directors, partners or employees

7. Financial support or lack of financial
support by Bidders for any institution to
or from which the Council gives or
withholds support;

8. Use or non-use by Bidders of technical
or professional services provided by the
authority under the Building Act 1984 or
the Building (Scotland) Act 1959.

any function which may only be exercised by
Full Council or by a Member Body (other
than the Executive), individual Member or
Officer. Some matters, such as approving
the budget and policy framework, can only
be decided by the Full Council.

Page 156 24



8

“Officer / employee”

“Officer Scheme of
Delegation”

“Open and Competitive
Flexible Procedure”

“Opposition”

“Outside body”

“Overview and Scrutiny
Committee”

“Parent Company
Guarantee”

“Parish Council”

a person appointed to or holding a paid
office of the council, or employed by the
Council.

the document which sets out the delegation
of powers to officers, including powers to
make decisions and spend money.

The Mayor decides the delegation of
executive functions to officers.

Full Council decides the delegation of non-
executive functions to officers.

a procurement process where any Bidder
may submit a Tender.

Councillors who are not members of the
largest political group.

the statutory bodies, charities, voluntary
organisations, partnership bodies, local
government associations, companies and
other external organisations to which the
Council appoints representatives.

scrutiny?® is a role carried out by councillors
who are not Executive members. Their role
includes developing policy, carrying out
reviews of Council and other local services
and holding the Executive to account for
their actions and decisions.

a contract which binds the parent company
of a subsidiary company as follows: If the
subsidiary company fails to do what it has
promised under a contract with the Council,
it can require the parent company to do so
instead.

a local council representing a local
community. The Parish Councils in the

Part 1, Chapter 2 of the Local Government Act 2000

Page 157

25



“Policy Framework”

“Political balance”

“Politically restricted
post”

“Procurement and

Contract Rules”

“Proper Officer”

“Prudential Indicators”

“Public Sector Audit
Appointments / PSAA”

Borough are Stainton and Thornton, and
Nunthorpe.

The plans and strategies which have to be
adopted by the Full Council, and in
accordance with which the Mayor, Executive
and committees have to operate.

the statutory provisions® determining how
seats on committees are allocated to
political groups. These rules do not apply to
the Executive or Executive Committees.

employees in politically restricted posts are
prevented?!® from having any active political
role, either in or outside of work.

The rules the Council must follow when
buying goods and services and undertaking
work (formerly the Contract and
Procurement Rules).

an Officer appointed by the Council to carry
out certain administrative functions as
required by statute (see paras 9.9 and
10.25).

mandatory indicators that local authorities
are required to take into account when
making capital expenditure plans, including
for example, capital financing requirement
and total external debt.

The PSAA is an independent organisation
permitted to appoint auditors for principal
local government and police bodies. As well
as appointing an external auditor, it sets the
scales of audit fees for councils opting in to
its national scheme.

9 Sections 15 — 17 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989
10 Section 2 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Page 158 26



“Quality Assurance and
Improvement
Programme / QAIP”

“Quorum”

“‘Regulatory

Committees”

“Relevant Contract”

“Reports”

“Responsible Officer”

“Restricted Procedure”

“Revenue Budget”

“Service”

“Shortlisting”

A comprehensive framework designed to
evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of
the internal audit function and ensure it
meets required standards and expectations.
It includes internal and external
assessments and promotes continuous
improvement within internal audit.

the minimum number of Members that need
to be present for a meeting to go ahead.

Regulatory Committees are responsible for
registration and licensing functions such as
planning, licensing, street trading, and
hackney carriage and taxi licensing.

Contracts to which the Procurement and
Contract Procedure Rules apply (see
section 12.7).

written accounts prepared by officers of the
Council for consideration by Members or to
record decisions taken under delegated
authority.

the Officer designated by the relevant Chief
Officer or Deputy Chief Officer to deal with a
particular procurement and contract and / or
spend.

a procurement process where any Bidder
that meets the pre-qualification criteria may
submit a Tender.

the Council’s budget for revenue spending in
any financial year.

any of the services provided by the Council.

where Bidders are selected:
- to submit a Quotation or Tender; or

- to proceed to final evaluation.

Page 159 27



“Social Value”

“Standing List”

“Statement of
Accounts”

“Statutory Chief
Officer”

“Sub-contractor’

“Summons’

“Tender”

“Total Value”

the duty on the Council to consider
economic, social and environmental well-
being when commissioning a public service.

a list of approved suppliers able to perform
contracts to supply goods or services of
particular types.

an annual statement of the Council’s
accounts setting out its financial position for
the financial year.

senior officers that the Council is required,
by law, to appoint to ensure the lawful and
effective operation of the council. They are:

- Head of Paid Service;

- Monitoring Officer;

- Chief Finance Officer;

- Director of Adult Services;

- Director of Children’s Services
- Director of Public Health.

but see also Chief Officers and Governance
Statutory Chief Officers.

a person engaged by a bidder to discharge
any part of a contract with the Council.

formal notice of a Full Council or Committee
meeting, setting out the agenda of proposed
business at the meeting.

a written offer made by any person
(following an invitation from the Council)
which can be accepted by the Council to
form a binding contract.

The whole of the value or estimated value
(in money or equivalent value) for a single
purchase or disposal, whether or not it
comprises several lots or stages, to be paid
or received by the Council or a Service

Page 160 28



2.3
2.3.1

2.3.2

“Treasury Management
Strategy”

“Value for Money”

“Vice Chair”

“Vire” or “Virement”

“Ward”

within the Council. The Total Value shall be
calculated as follows:

where the contract is for a fixed period, by
taking the total price to be paid or which might
be paid during the whole of the period

where the purchase involves recurrent
transactions for the same type of item, by
aggregating the value of those transactions in
the coming 12 months

for feasibility studies: the value of the scheme
or contracts which may be awarded as a result;

for Sub-contractors: the Total Value shall be the
value of that part of the main contract to be
fulfilled by the Sub- contractor.

sets out how the Council manages its
money and any financial risks to ensure that
the Council has sufficient money available to
manage its day-to-day business; it also
supports the development of the Council’s
longer-term financial strategies.

the optimal use of resources to achieve the
intended outcomes based on economy,
efficiency and effectiveness.

the Councillor that deputises for the Chair.

moving funds from one area of spend to
another.

an administrative division of the Borough
served by one or more Councillors.

How and when is the Constitution monitored and reviewed?

It is the Monitoring Officer’s responsibility to monitor, review and update the
Constitution in accordance with the requirements of this Section 2 and any
authority delegated to them. The Monitoring Officer should undertake an
annual review of the Constitution, which shall be reported to Council.

Revisions to the Constitution will have regard to:

(d) the effectiveness of the Council’s decision-making processes and its

operation;

Page 161 29



2.4

2.5

(e) issues raised by the Mayor, Councillors, Officers, the public and other
relevant stakeholders;

(f) changes in legislation or statutory guidance;
(g) best practice across the public sector, and / or

(h) any other relevant information.

When can the Constitution be changed and by whom?

Full Council delegates authority to the Monitoring Officer to amend the
constitution if the change is:

(@) minor or required to remove an inconsistency, ambiguity or
typographical error;

(b) required to put into effect any decision of the Council or its
Committees; or
(c) required to comply with a legislative provision,

provided that the change is reported to the next meeting of Full Council. The
change will take effect on the date decided by the Monitoring Officer or,
where appropriate, the date set out in the relevant legislation.

When is the approval of the Mayor required to change the Constitution?

Full Council shall only approve a change to Section 6 (the Executive) and
Section 7 (overview and scrutiny) of the Constitution with the prior written
consent of the Mayor, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. This does
not apply if the change only relates to the operation of the Overview and
Scrutiny Board.

2.6 What is the process for changing from a Mayoral form of Executive?

2.7

11

If the Council consults with local electors and other interested persons in the
Borough, holds a referendum of local electors in respect of changing its form
of governance (see paragraph 10.6(d)(i)) and resolves to change its
governance arrangements?!, the Constitution will be changed to reflect the
newly adopted governance arrangements. The change in governance, and
the updated constitution, will not take effect until the end of the Mayor’s term
of office.

When can the Constitution be suspended?

Section 9KC of the Local Government Act 2000

Page 162 30



2.4.1

24.2

The core provisions of the Constitution may not be suspended. However,
the rules relating to Council and Committee procedures can be changed in
certain circumstances (See Section 4).

Any of the Council Procedure Rules may be suspended for the duration of a
meeting as set out at paragraph 4.8.1(e) of this Constitution.

2.8 Where is the Constitution published?

2.8.1

2.8.2

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that the Constitution is published on the
Council’'s website and a copy of it is available for inspection at the Principal
Office during normal business hours. A copy of the Constitution may be
purchased upon payment of a reasonable fee.

The Monitoring Officer will provide a link to a copy of this Constitution to
each newly elected Member upon receiving their declaration of acceptance
of office.

Page 163 31



3 Citizens and the Council

This section sets out the rights of citizens in relation to the Council. Citizens’ rights to
information are explained in more detail in the Access to Information Procedure
Rules in section 14 of this Constitution.

3.1
3.1.1

3.1.2

3.1.3

3.2
3.21

3.2.2

Who has aright to vote and sign petitions?

Citizens on the electoral roll for the Borough have the right to vote and sign
a petition to request a referendum to change the structure of Member
governance.

Citizens are also entitled to submit a petition to the Council provided that it
relates to:

(@) Council business; or
(b) a matter over which the Council has responsibility; or
(c) a matter which affects the Borough.

Petitions will be processed in accordance with the provisions of the Council
Procedure Rules set out at paragraph 4.8.

To what information can citizens have access?
Citizens can:

(a) attend meetings of the Council and its Committees except where
confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed (see further
the Access to Information Procedure Rules at Section 14, and Table
16);

(b) attend meetings of the Executive except where confidential or exempt
information is likely to be disclosed;

(c) find out from the Forward Work Programme what Key Decisions are
planned to be taken by the Executive and when they are planned to be
taken;

(d) see reports and background papers (except where they relate to
confidential or exempt information) and any resulting records of
decisions made by the Council, its Committees, the Executive and
Officers;

(e) inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views on them known to
the external auditor.

Further information in respect of the above rights is contained within the
Access to Information Procedure Rules at Section 14.

Page 164 32


exempt#_What_is_
exempt#_What_is_

3.3 How can citizens participate in Council functions?
Citizens can:

(a) ask questions at Council and Committee meetings as set out in the
Council Procedure Rules at paragraph 4.8;

(b) speak and ask questions of the Executive and its Committees as set
out in the Executive Procedure Rules at paragraph 6.17;

(c) contribute to Overview and Scrutiny as set out in the Scrutiny
Procedure Rules at Section 7.
3.4 How can a citizen make a complaint?
Citizens can complain to:
(@) the Council under its Corporate Complaints Policy;

(b) the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman after exhausting
the Council’s own complaints scheme; and

(c) the Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Members’ Code of
Conduct.

3.5 What are citizens’ responsibilities in relation to the Council?

3.5.1 The Council invites citizens to engage positively with the democratic
process and to participate in municipal life in the ways set out in this
Constitution. The Council expects citizens to respect its policies, processes
and rules.

3.5.2  Citizens should treat the Mayor, Councillors and Officers with respect and
must not be violent, abusive or threatening to councillors or officers and
must not wilfully harm things owned by the Council, Members or officers.

Page 165 33


https://middlesbrough.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/about-the-council/feedback-and-complaints/make-a-general-complaint/
https://www.lgo.org.uk/
https://middlesbrough.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/about-the-council/feedback-and-complaints/make-a-general-complaint/
https://middlesbrough.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillors/councillor-code-of-conduct/
https://middlesbrough.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillors/councillor-code-of-conduct/

4 Full Council

This section of the Constitution provides information about Full Council. This
includes how it operates and exercises the non-executive functions of the Council.

4.1

4.2

4.3

431

4.3.2

4.3.3

4.4

12

What is Full Council?

Full Council is a formal meeting of all 46 Councillors and the directly elected
Mayor. It meets regularly as set out in the Council Procedure Rules (see
paragraph 4.8. of this section) and is chaired by the Chair of the Council.
There are three types of meeting of Full Council:

(&) the Annual meeting;
(b) ordinary meetings;

(c) extraordinary meetings.

Who can be the Chair of the Council?

The Chair and the Vice-Chair of the Council are chosen from among the
Councillors, usually at the annual meeting of Council. Neither the Mayor nor
an Executive Member can be appointed to the role of Chair of the Council.
Further detail on the role of the Chair of the Council is set out in the Member
role profiles at paragraph 5.7.

What is the difference between the role of the Chair of the Council and
the Mayor?

The Mayor is the First Citizen of the town and will promote the town as a
whole and act as a focal point for the community. The Mayor therefore takes
precedence in any civic duties.

The Mayor leads the Executive but may delegate civic functions to the Chair
/ Vice-Chair of the Council'?. Further detail as to the Role of the Mayor is
contained in Section 5 with the other Member role profiles.

Together with the Mayor, the Chair will promote the Council and act as a
focal point for the community.

What functions does Full Council have?

Local Government Act 1972, section 3

Page 166 34



4.5

13

The functions reserved to Full Council, and how they are discharged, are set
out in detail at Section 10 (Responsibility for Functions) but include:

(a) regulatory functions (such as planning, licensing and health and safety
at work);

(b) certain constitutional and quasi-legislative functions (such as the
conduct of elections and making of by-laws);

(c) the local choice functions which the Council has not determined to be
the responsibility of the Executive;

(d) setting the policy framework;

(e) setting the Council’s budget.

What does the Policy Framework include?

The Policy Framework?!? is made up of the following mandatory plans and
strategies:

(&) Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy;

(b) Local Transport Plan;

(c) Plans and Strategies which comprise the Development Plan;
(d) Statement of Principles (Gambling Act 2005);

(e) Youth Justice Plan;

plus the following plans and strategies that Full Council has determined it
should adopt or approve:

(f) ~ Corporate Parenting Strategy;
(g) Adult Social Care Strategy;

(h) the Council Plan / Mayor’s vision;

The list of documents required (by Regulation 4 or Schedule 3) or reserved by Council
(pursuant to Regulation 5(1) and Paragraph 1 of Schedule 4) of the Local Authorities
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended) to be determined
by Full Council, usually on the recommendation of the Executive. However, some documents
listed in the Regulations are no longer required to be produced and are therefore excluded from
the Council’s policy framework:

0]

(ii)
(i)
(iv)

Annual Library Plan (unless required by section 1(2) Public Libraries and Museums Act
1964)

Best Value Performance Plan (abolished by s139 of the Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007)

Adult Social Care Strategy and Education Development Plan (removed by 2006
amendment regulations)

Sustainable Community Strategy (repealed by the Deregulation Act 2015, s100(1))

Page 167 35



(i)
()]
(k)
()
(m)
(n)
(0)
(p)

Children and Young People strategy;

Health and Wellbeing Strategy;

Housing / Homelessness Strategy;

Flood risk management plan;

Climate Change Action Plan;

Licensing Authority Policy Statement (Licensing Act 2003);
Pay policy statement;

Minerals and Waste Development Framework.

4.6 What does the budget framework include?

4.6.1 The Council is required to set a balanced budget each year in accordance
with strict financial controls. To do this the Council:

(@)
(b)
(c)
(d)

(e)
(f)
(9)
(h)

calculates the annual council tax requirement;
determines the minimum revenue provision;
identifies proposed contingency funds;
considers the financial reserves needed to meet:

(i) expected expenditure; and

(i)  deficits for earlier financial years not already provided for; and

(i) potential emergencies;
determines the controls for its borrowing requirements;
sets out the treasury management functions;
determines its capital expenditure; and

sets virement limits.

4.6.2 Todischarge the prudent financial management measures set out above,
the Council will adopt a:

(@)
(b)
(€)

Medium-Term Financial Strategy;
Capital Strategy;
Budget Strategy reflecting the:

() Council Tax Base;

(i) Revenue Budget;

(i)  Council Tax; and

(iv) Prudential Indicators.

4.7 Where is information about the budget and policy framework?

Page 168

36



The Council has adopted Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules,
see Section 15, governing the adoption and amendment of the Policy and
Budget Framework. The Budget Framework is also informed by the
Financial Procedure Rules set out at paragraph 12.6.

Page 169 37



Council Procedure Rules

4.3.1 What are the Council Procedure Rules?

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

These Council Procedure Rules apply to all meetings of Council. They
set out how meetings will be organised and conducted.

The Council Procedure Rules apply to committees and sub-
committees except for the following:

() 4.8.31to4.8.5inclusive;
(i)  4.8.6 (d) (in respect of regulatory committee meetings only);
(i) 4.8.12;
(iv) 4.8.14;
(v) 4.8.15(a)to ());
(vi) 4.8.16to 4.8.21 inclusive;
(vii) 4.8.23;
(viii) 4.8.32 10 4.8.33;
(ix) 4.8.37.
which are identified with a * * * for ease of reference.

Any reference to the Chair (of the Council) shall apply to the Chair of a
Committee (unless the context dictates otherwise). For the avoidance
of doubt, the Council Procedure Rules do not apply to Executive
meetings and proceedings. The procedure rules relating to Executive
meetings and functions (the Executive Procedure Rules) are set out at
paragraph 6.17.

All Council Procedure Rules may be suspended by motion on notice or
without notice if at least one half of the whole number of Members are
present and vote. Suspension can only be for the duration of the
meeting.

4.3.2 Who decides how the Council Procedure Rules apply in Council
meetings?

(@)

(b)

The Chair of the Council, with advice from the Monitoring Officer,
decides how the CPR are applied.

If circumstances arise that are not covered by the CPR the Chair, in
consultation with the Monitoring Officer, decides how to proceed.

Page 170 38



(€)

If anything arises outside a Full Council meeting that the Monitoring
Officer considers may require action from the Chair, the Chair is
authorised to take any action they consider appropriate.

Council Meetings

4.3.3 How is the Annual Meeting of the Full Council conducted? *

(@)

(b)

In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the Annual
Meeting will take place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing
Councillors. In any other year, the Annual Meeting will take place in
March, April or May.

The order of business at the Annual Meeting of Council will be as

follows:
0]
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
V)
(vi)

(vii)

elect the Chair and the Vice Chair of the Council for the
ensuing municipal year, unless either has been elected for the
time being;

receive any apologies and declarations of interests from
Members;

approve the minutes of the last meeting;
receive a vote of thanks to the outgoing Chair;

receive any announcements from the Chair, the Mayor and /
or the Head of Paid Service;

be informed by the Mayor of the number and identity of
Councillors to be appointed to the Executive;

decide:

a. which Non-executive Committees to establish for the
municipal year including the following, required by law:

I at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee;
and

il a Standards Committee; and
iii. an Audit Committee; and

iv.  such other Non-executive Committees as the
Council considers appropriate to deal with
matters which are neither reserved to the
Council nor are Executive Functions (as set out
in the Scheme of Delegations).

b. the size and terms of reference of the Non-executive
Committees;

Page 171 39



(Vi)

(ix)

)

(xi)

c. the allocation of seats on Non-executive Committees to
political groups in accordance with the political balance
rules;

d. receive nominations of Councillors to serve on each
Non-executive Committee and / or any outside body;

e. appoint:
i. Councillors to Non-executive Committees;

ii. Councillors to outside bodies (unless such
appointments have been delegated or are
reserved to the Executive);

iii. Chairs and Vice Chairs of Non-executive
Committees.

at an Annual Meeting after an election, or where there has
been a change in the composition of the Executive or the
person holding the office of Deputy Mayor:

a. be informed by the Mayor of the Councillors who will
form the Executive; and

b. be advised who the Deputy Mayor is; and
c. receive the Executive Scheme of Delegations.

receive the Monitoring Officer’'s annual review of the
constitution and agree the Non-executive Scheme of
Delegations;

approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council and
its Non-executive Committees for the ensuing municipal year;

consider any business set out in the notice convening the
meeting.

4.3.4 How are ordinary meetings of the Full Council conducted? *

(@)

In addition to the Annual Council meeting, the Full Council will hold at
least 6 ordinary meetings during the municipal year in accordance with
a programme decided at the Council’s Annual Meeting. One of the
ordinary meetings will be the budget setting meeting in accordance
with paragraphs (e) to (h) below. If the budget setting ordinary meeting
takes place before 8 February, a further ordinary meeting will be
scheduled before 11 March in accordance with the provisions of Part |
of Schedule 2 of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)

Page 172 40



14

(b)

(€)

Regulations 20014, Full Council may, at an ordinary meeting, amend
the programme of ordinary meetings agreed at the Annual Meeting.

The usual venue for meetings of Full Council will be the Principal
Office at 7.00 pm, unless otherwise agreed by Full Council.

The order of business at ordinary meetings of Full Council will be as

follows:

(i)

(if)
(iif)
(iv)
(v)
(Vi)
(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
)

(xi)

elect a person to preside if the Chair of the Council and Vice
Chair are not present;

receive any apologies for absence;

receive any declarations of interest from Members;
approve the minutes of the last meeting;

receive any announcements from the Chair of the Council;
receive any announcement from the Head of Paid Service;

receive written updates from Executive Members, and deal with
guestions and answers arising therefrom from Members in
accordance with CPR 4.8.15(h) to (j);

receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public in
accordance with the provisions of CPR 4.8.15 (a) to (d);

receive petitions in accordance with CPR 4.8.32 to 4.8.33;

receive reports, questions from Members (in accordance with
CPR 4.8.15 (h) to (j)) and answers arising therefrom, from:

a. the Executive;

b.  Non-executive Committees;

c.  Overview and Scrutiny Board;

d. Governance Statutory Chief Officers

receive any reports about, or minutes from, and receive
guestions and answers arising therefrom (in accordance with
CPR 4.8.15 (h) to (j)) on the business of joint arrangements
and external organisations;

Section 31A(11) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 imposes a duty on the Council to

set a budget before 11 March for the following municipal year. In the event that the meeting at
which the budget is to be set occurs before 8 February, and Full Council objects to the budget
proposed by the Mayor, there shall be a further ordinary budget setting meeting of Full Council
to consider the Mayor’s response to the objections and set the budget.

Page 173 41



(xi) consider any other business specified in the summons to the
meeting;

(xiii) deal with questions on notice from Members in accordance with
CPR 4.8.15 (e) to (g); and

(xiv) consider any motions submitted in accordance with CPR 4.8.22
to 4.8.31.

(d) The Chair may, following consultation with the Monitoring Officer and
Group Leaders, amend the order of business before or during the
meeting.

Meeting of Council at which the Budget is set

(e) An ordinary meeting of Full Council will be held in February® or March
each year to discharge the Council’s budget setting duties?®.

()  The business to be considered at the Budget Meeting shall be limited
to the budget reports?’, subject to the Chair having discretion to accept
additional items other than those relating to the budget in exceptional
or urgent circumstances. Accordingly the following items shall be
excluded from the Council Budget Meeting agenda set out at 4.8.4(c)
unless the Chair agrees otherwise for the efficient discharge of Council

business:
@) (v);
(i)  (vii) to (x);
(i) (xi b-d);

(iv)  (xii) to (xv).

(@) The following Council Procedure Rules do not apply to the Budget
Meeting:

(i) 4.8.15to0 4.8.21 (questions);
(i)  4.8.23 to 4.8.24 (notice and scope of motions);
(i) 4.8.26(a) to (f) and (p) to (u) (motions process);

15 Where the Mayor submits budget proposals to Council for consideration prior to 8 February, the
provisions of paragraph 8 to 13 of Part | of Schedule 2 to the Local Authorities (Standing
Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 will apply:

16 The Council must set a budget by 11 March for the financial year commencing on 1 April
1 Including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Pay Policy Statement

Page 174 42



(iv)

4.8.27 to 4.8.29 (withdrawal, alteration and amendment of
motions).

(h) The following provisions shall apply in relation to the consideration of
budget reports at the Budget Meeting:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Members proposing and seconding recommendations in a
budget report may speak for up to 10 minutes each;

One member from each opposition group shall have up to 10
minutes to respond to the budget recommendations, in order of
the size of the political group. Independent members who are
not affiliated to any political group shall be entitled to speak in
the general debate of the budget report;

Where notice of an amendment to the budget reports has been
provided in accordance with paragraph 4.8.29(c), the
amendments will be moved and seconded once all of the
introductory speeches have been made;

Members proposing or seconding amendments to a budget
report (which will take place only once all introductory
responses to the budget have been received) may speak for up
to 10 minutes;

All motions proposing amendments at a Budget Meeting will be
proposed and seconded before the Chair opens the debate on
the budget reports;

4.8.30(e) (named vote) and (g) (Council Tax arrears) apply to
the Budget Meeting.

4.3.5 How are extraordinary meetings of the Full Council convened? *

(@) Extraordinary meetings of the Full Council may be called:

0]
(i)
(iii)

(iv)

at the request of the Chair of the Council;
by the Council by resolution;

at the request of the Monitoring Officer, the Head of Paid
Service or the Chief Financial Officer; or

by any five Members of the Council (which may include the
Mayor) who have:

a. signed a requisition; and
b. presented it to the Chair of the Council; and
C. the Chair has refused to call a meeting or has failed to

call a meeting within seven days of the presentation of
the requisition.

Page 175 43



(b) The business to be conducted at an extraordinary meeting shall be

(€)

restricted to the business specified in the summons to the
extraordinary meeting. There shall be no consideration of previous
minutes or reports from Committees etc. unless the Chair exercises
their discretion in accordance with CPR 4.8.7.

Save as otherwise set out in this CPR 4.8.5, the conduct of
extraordinary meetings will be the same as an ordinary meeting of the
Full Council.

4.3.6 What is the timing, location and duration of Council meetings?

(f)

(9)

(h)

(),

(k)

The date and time of meetings will be in accordance with the
programme of meetings agreed by Council.

The Proper Officer will issue the summons to the meeting in
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules (Section
14).

Once the Proper Officer has given notice and summons of a meeting it
may be postponed or cancelled if there is insufficient business for the
meeting to consider. Any postponement or cancellation must be
agreed with the Chair and Vice Chair following consultation with the
Monitoring Officer. Notice of the cancellation should be given to
members summonsed to the meeting as promptly as possible. If the
meeting is cancelled for reasons other than an absence of business a
new date to hold the meeting will be arranged.

Except when paragraph 15.2.10(b) applies, a meeting of the Council
that has lasted for three hours will be adjourned immediately unless
extended. Any remaining business will be considered at a time and
date fixed by the Chair. If they do not fix a date, the remaining
business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting. *

Notwithstanding 4.8.6(d) above, where a meeting includes the
presentation of awards or presentations by outside bodies, the
permitted duration of the meeting is extended to 3 hours 30 minutes.

The Chair may extend any of the time limits set out within these
Council Procedure Rules where they reasonably decide that such an
extension is appropriate in the circumstances.

4.3.7 How is the business of a Council meeting determined?

(@) The Monitoring Officer shall, when preparing an agenda for a meeting

of the Council, consider whether all relevant procedural requirements
have been met and whether any item of business (including motions,
amendments or questions) may properly be put before the meeting.

Page 176 44



(b) The Chair, having taken advice from the Monitoring Officer and, where

practicable, having afforded the Member or their Group Leader the
opportunity to make representations in the matter, may determine that
an item of business shall not be placed on the agenda or otherwise put
to the meeting if one or more of the following apply:

(i) itis not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility
or which affects the Borough;

(i) itis defamatory, frivolous, vexatious, unlawful, offensive or
otherwise improper;

(i) it requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information;

(iv) it names or identifies individual service users, members of staff
or members of staff of partner agencies;

(v) itis more appropriate for another meeting;
(vi) it contains expressions of opinion, is lengthy or a speech;

(vii) it does not relate to questions of fact.

4.3.8 How is notice of a Council meeting given?

(@)

(b)

Notice of the time and place of any Council meeting will be given in
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Section
14.

The agenda and reports for each Council meeting will be made
available in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure
Rules (Section 14).

4.3.9 Who chairs Council meetings?

(@)
(b)

(©)

The appointed Chair, if in attendance, will preside at a meeting.

If the Chair and the Vice Chair are absent from a meeting, the
Members of the Committee will appoint a Chair for the meeting.

A person elected or appointed to preside at a meeting may exercise
any power or duty of the Chair.

4.3.10 What is the quorum for Council meetings?

(@)

(b)

The quorum of a meeting of Council will be the greater of three or one
quarter of the whole number of Members (including the Mayor) for that
meeting unless otherwise stated. For the avoidance of doubt, the
whole number of Members does not include vacancies.

If a quorum is not present within five minutes of the start of a Council
meeting, the meeting will be abandoned. The business of the meeting

Page 177 45



will be considered at the next ordinary meeting or at an extraordinary
meeting convened for that purpose.

4.3.11 What are the rules on remote attendance at meetings?

(@)
(b)

()

Members may not attend Council or Committee meetings remotely.

Officers may, as a result of exceptional circumstances, only attend
Council or Committee meetings remotely with the prior agreement of
the Chair provided that appropriate facilities are available at the
meeting location.

A person called to a meeting who is not a Member or an Officer, may
attend a meeting remotely provided that this is agreed in advance of
the meeting with the Chair and appropriate facilities are available at the
meeting location.

4.3.12 What are the arrangements for Announcements and Updates? *

Each of the following shall be permitted ten minutes at a meeting of the full
Council to provide their announcement or update and respond to any
guestions given with prior notification in accordance with 4.8.15(h):

(@)
(b)
(©)
(d)

the Chair;
Head of Paid Service;
the Mayor; or

Executive Members.

Reports and Recommendations

4.3.13 Who may present reports or make recommendations to Council and
how are they handled?

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

Recommendations may be made to Full Council by the Executive,
Committees and Statutory Chief Officers.

Recommendations may be made to Committees and Sub-Committees
by the appropriate Officer.

A report to Council containing a recommendation will be moved by the
appropriate Member as a motion but no seconder shall be required
unless the provisions of paragraph 4.8.4 in relation to the Budget
Meeting apply.

Any of the Statutory Chief Officers may make reports and / or
recommendations to the Council as necessary, or as required in the
exercise of their statutory functions.

Reports will be prepared in accordance with the provisions set out at
Decision-Making section (see Section 13).

Page 178 46



4.3.14 When are Executive matters considered by the Council? *

(a) Executive business can be considered at every ordinary meeting of
Council, except:

(i) the Annual Meeting; and

(i) the meeting at which the Budget is set (other than budget
related matters).

(b) Executive business includes:
() Reports from the Mayor and Executive Members;

(i)  Decisions made by the Executive (including “single member”
decisions”); and

(i) forthcoming business of the Executive.

(c) Inrelation to forthcoming business, the Executive will present reports
to the Council on decisions:

(i) that have been taken since the last Council meeting and
subject to the Call-in period described in section 7,

(i)  to be taken up until the date of the Council meeting; and
(ii) that are planned to be made after the Council meeting.

(d) The Council may not take any decision in relation to Executive
Functions.

Questions

4.3.15 Process for asking and answering questions at a Meeting
Public: *

(&) Members of the public may ask questions on notice of the Mayor,
Executive Members or the Chair of a Committee at ordinary meetings
of the Council, other than the meeting designated for setting the
Budget.

(b) A question from the public may only be asked if notice of it has been
given to the Proper Officer it in writing or by electronic mail to
councilquestions@middlesbrough.gov.uk no later than 5.00 pm seven
clear days before the date of the meeting.

(c) Each question must give the name and address of the questioner.

(d) Atime limit of 15 minutes will apply to questions from the public.

Members - On Notice: *

(e) A Member of the Council may ask the Mayor, an Executive Member or
the Chair of any Committee a question on notice (including about the

Page 179 a7


mailto:councilquestions@middlesbrough.gov.uk

(f)
(9)

business of joint committees, joint authorities and outside bodies) at a
Council meeting (apart from the Budget Meeting) provided that notice

of the question is given to the Proper Officer in writing or by electronic

mail to councilguestions@middlesbrough.gov.uk no later than 5.00 pm
seven clear days before the date of the meeting.

Any questions received will be printed on the agenda for the meeting.

A time limit of 30 minutes will apply to questions from Members on
notice.

Members — With Prior Indication: *

(h)

(i)

()

A Member of the Council may ask the Mayor or an Executive Member
a question on any update provided under paragraph 4.8.4(c)(vii) or
4.8.4.(c)(viii) provided that prior notification of the topic of the question
is given to the Monitoring Officer in writing or by electronic mail to
councilquestions@middlesbrough.gov.uk no later than 5.00 pm the
day before the meeting.

No question will be permitted on any matter for which the prior
indication was not received.

There shall be no time limit on questions from Members with prior
indication.

Members - Without Notice

(k)

()

Time
(m)
()

(0)

(P)

Generally

(@)

A Member may, without giving notice, ask a question or make a
comment in a meeting when reports are being received or considered
by the Council.

There shall be no time limit on questions from Members asked without
notice.

Questioners will be allowed two minutes to ask their question.

The responding Member will be allowed three minutes to respond to
the question.

A questioner will be allowed two minutes to ask a supplementary
guestion arising from the answer.

The responding Member will be allowed three minutes to respond to
the supplementary question.

Questions will not be accepted as valid if CPR 4.8.7(b) applies.

Page 180 48


mailto:councilquestions@middlesbrough.gov.uk
mailto:councilquestions@middlesbrough.gov.uk

()

(s)

(t)

(u)

The questioner should specify to whom the question is addressed. Any
guestions not identifying a responder will be answered by the most
appropriate Member, determined by the Chair.

Questions will be asked in the order they were received, except that
the Chair may group together similar questions.

The Chair will invite the questioner to put the question. An absent
guestioner may ask the Chair to put the question on their behalf. The
Chair may either:

(i) ask the question on the questioner’s behalf;
(i)  indicate that a written reply will be given; or

(i) decide, in the absence of the questioner, that the question will
not be dealt with.

An answer may take the form of:
(i) adirect oral answer at the meeting;

(i)  where the desired information is in a publication of the Council
or other published work, a reference to that publication; or

(i)  where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written
answer to the questioner within 10 clear days, published by the
Council.

4.3.16 How many questions can be asked by an individual or organisation? *

(@)

(b)

()

At any meeting no person or organisation may submit more than one
accepted question.

No more than one accepted question may be asked on behalf of an
organisation.

No person or organisation may submit more than five accepted
guestions on notice in any municipal year without the Chair’s consent.

4.3.17 How much time is allowed for questions at a Council meeting? *

(@)

(b)

The total time permitted for questions on notice from Members (apart
from at the Budget Meeting) is 45 minutes, which may be extended by
the Chair at their discretion for a further 15 minutes.

The total time permitted for public questions at any Council meeting
(apart from at the Budget Meeting) is 15 minutes.

4.3.18 What happens if a question is not dealt with? *

Any question which cannot be dealt with during the meeting will be dealt
with in accordance with paragraph 4.18.15(u)(iii).

Page 181 49



4.3.19 Can a question be withdrawn? *

(@) A questioner can withdraw a question before the agenda papers for a
Council meeting have been circulated without consent.

(a) If the agenda papers have been published, a question may only be
withdrawn with the consent of either the person to whom it was put, or
the Chair if no responder was identified by the questioner.

4.3.20 When will a question be referred to the Executive or a Committee? *

Any Member may move that a matter raised by a question be referred to the
Executive or the appropriate Committee. Once seconded, such a motion will
be voted on without discussion.

4.3.21 How are questions recorded? *

(@) The Proper Officer will maintain a record of questions submitted on
notice to the Council which is open to public inspection. Rejected
guestions will include a statement of reasons for rejection.

(b) Notice of accepted questions to be posed at a meeting will be
circulated to all Members after the closure of the notice period set out
in paragraph 4.8.15(f) and made available to the public attending the
meeting.

Motions

4.3.22 What is a motion?
(&) Motions can be submitted by Members and are either:
(i) a procedural matter affecting the course of a meeting, not
requiring notice to be given; or

(i) arequest on notice for a matter, which affects the Borough or
for which the Council has a responsibility, to be discussed at a
meeting.

(b) A motion can be to adopt a certain course of action, to do an act or to
declare a particular attitude.

(c) Recommendations contained within a report are also treated as
motions but paragraphs 4.8.23 to 4.8.25 do not apply.

4.3.23 What are the notice requirements for motions? *

(&) Except for procedural motions, which can be moved without notice
under paragraph 4.8.25(a), and in cases of urgency, notice of a motion
must be delivered in writing or by electronic mail to the Monitoring
Officer at least nine clear days before the Council meeting at which it is
to be considered. Motions received will be open to public inspection.

Page 182 50



(b)

A Member may move an urgent motion by giving at least three clear
days’ written notice to the Monitoring Officer and the Chair. The notice
(which may be via email) must be accompanied by a written
explanation of the urgent matter to which it relates.

4.3.24 What is the scope of motions?

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(¢);

Motions on notice must relate to matters for which the Council has a
responsibility, or which affect the wellbeing of the administrative area
of the Council. Motions on notice will not be accepted as valid if CPR
4.8.7(b) applies.

Motions on notice relating to Executive Functions shall be referred to
the Executive for consideration.

Whether a motion is accepted as urgent is at the sole discretion of the
Chair. Urgent matters will generally have arisen after the normal
deadline for submitting motions on notice, and will concern matters
which, in the opinion of the Chair, should not be delayed until the next
ordinary meeting of the Council.

Notice of a motion will not be accepted without a seconder being
identified (other than where the motion is a recommendation in a
report).

A motion or amendment to rescind a motion agreed by the Council
within the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of
motion is signed by at least one quarter of all Members.

A motion or amendment on notice in similar terms to one that has been
rejected at a meeting of the Council in the past six months cannot be
moved unless the notice of motion or amendment is signed by at least
half of all Members. Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no-
one can propose a similar motion or amendment for six months.

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda of
the next available meeting (excluding the Budget Meeting) in the order
they are received. The Member submitting the motion may propose
that it is moved to a later meeting (excluding the Budget Meeting).

4.3.25 Which motions can be moved without notice?

(@)

The following motions may be moved by a Member without notice at a
meeting:

() appointing a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is
moved,;

(i)  in relation to the accuracy of the minutes of a meeting;

(i) changing the order of business in the agenda of a meeting;

Page 183 51



(b)

(iv) referring something to an appropriate body or individual,

(v) appointing a Committee or Member arising from an item on the
summons for the meeting;

(vi) receiving reports or adopting recommendations of Committees
or Officers and any resolutions following from them;

(vii) that the question be now put or proceeding to the next
business;

(vii) adjourning a debate or a meeting;
(ix) extending the duration of the meeting beyond three hours;
(x) suspending a Council Procedure Rule;

(xi) excluding the public and press from a meeting in accordance
with the Access to Information Procedure Rules;

(xii) to not hear further a Member named under section 4.8.37(c) or
to exclude them from the meeting under section 4.8.37(d); and

(xiii) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required
by this Constitution.

The Chair may, at their absolute discretion, require any without notice
motion or amendment to be written down before it is discussed.

4.3.26 What is the process for considering motions?

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

Speeches

(f)

Accepted motions will be published in the agenda for the meeting at
which they are to be considered in accordance with paragraph
4.8.4(c)(xv). Recommendations in reports will be published in
accordance with paragraphs 4.8.4(c)(xi) to (xiii).

The Chair will invite the proposer of a motion to propose the motion,
and have it seconded.

Recommendations within reports will be proposed by the appropriate
Member but no seconder shall be required.

Once a motion has been moved and seconded, before moving on to
speeches in respect of the motion, the Chair will ask Members if they
have any questions of factual clarification on the Motion. Questions
which do not comply with paragraph 4.8.7(b) will not be permitted.

Members who ask or answer factual questions on the motion will retain
the right to make a speech on the motion.

No speeches may be made until the motion has been seconded,
unless it is recommendations in a report.

Page 184 52



() When seconding a motion or amendment, a Member may reserve their
speech until later in the debate.

(h) Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a
personal explanation or point of order.
Speak again

(i) A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it
is the subject of debate, except:

(i) to speak once on an amendment moved by another Member;

(i)  to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended
since they last spoke;

(i) if their first speech was on an amendment moved by another
Member, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the
amendment on which they spoke was carried);

(iv) in exercise of a right of reply;

(v) ona point of order;

(vi) by way of personal explanation; and

(vii) to answer a question directed at them by another Member.

() If an amendment is moved, the proposer of the original motion has the
right of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment but may not
otherwise speak on it.

(k) The mover of an amendment has no right of reply to the debate on
their amendment.
Closure motions

() A Member who has not previously spoken on a motion may move,
without comment, one of the following motions at the end of a speech
of another Member:

0] to proceed to the next business;
(i) that the question be now put;
(iii) to adjourn a debate; or

(iv) to adjourn a meeting.

(m) If a motion to proceed to the next business is seconded and the Chair
thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, the proposer of the
original motion will have a right of reply and then the without notice
procedural motion will be put to the vote.

Page 185 53



Time

(n)

(0)

(P)

(@)

()

(t)

(u)

If a motion that the question be now put is seconded, and the Chair
thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, they will put the without
notice procedural motion to the vote. If the procedural motion is
carried, the proposer of the original motion will have a right of reply
before the motion is put to the vote.

If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is
seconded, and the Chair thinks the item has not been sufficiently
discussed and cannot reasonably be so discussed on that occasion,
they will put the without notice procedural motion to the vote without
giving the proposer of the original motion a right of reply.

The time allowed for consideration of motions submitted on notice shall
not, without the consent of the Council, exceed 30 minutes.

Proposers and seconders of motions on notice shall each be permitted
5 minutes to move or second the motion.

A Member asking a question of clarification to a proposer prior to the
motion being debated shall have up to two minutes to ask their
guestion. The proposer of the motion will have up to three minutes to
respond to the clarification question.

Speeches by Members debating the motion shall not exceed 3
minutes.

At the conclusion of the speech being delivered at the expiry of 30
minutes (or such longer period to which the Council has consented)
from the commencement of the Council’s consideration of the first such
motion, the Chair shall put to the vote, without further discussion, all
the questions necessary to dispose of the motion then under debate
provided that:

(i) if the speech to be concluded is a speech proposing a motion,
the Chair shall allow the motion to be formally seconded
(without comment);

(i) if the speech to be concluded is a speech moving an
amendment, the Chair shall allow the amendment to be
formally seconded (without comment);

(i) otherwise, the Chair shall allow the mover of the motion to
exercise their right of reply.

Any remaining motions on notice shall be deferred to the next ordinary
meeting of the Council and shall be dealt with at that meeting in the
same order and before any other motions of which notice is given.

Page 186 54



4.3.27 How are motions withdrawn?

(@)

(b)

(€)

The proposer of a motion may withdraw it at any time prior to the
agenda for the meeting at which it is to be considered being published.

Once the agenda has been published, a motion may only be withdrawn
with the consent of the Chair.

Once a motion has been moved and seconded in a meeting, it can
only be withdrawn with the consent of the seconder and the meeting.
The meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion.

4.3.28 How are motions altered by the proposer?

(@)

(b)

(©)

A Member may amend an on notice motion they have proposed at any
time prior to the agenda for the meeting at which it is to be considered
being published.

Once the motion has been published on the agenda for a meeting, and
before the start of the meeting at which the motion is to be considered,
the motion can only be amended by the proposer with the consent of
the Chair.

During debate of a moved and seconded on notice motion, the
proposer may alter the motion, without notice, only with the consent of
the seconder of the motion and the meeting. The meeting’s consent
will be signified without discussion.

4.3.29 How are motions amended?

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Before submitting an amendment to a motion, Members are advised to
discuss their suggested amendment with the proposer and seconder of
the motion to determine whether agreement can be reached.

If agreement cannot be reached, notice of intention to propose an
amendment to a motion published on an agenda must be given in
writing to the Monitoring Officer not less than two clear days prior to
the meeting at which it will be considered.

If the amendment has financial implications for the Council, notice of it
must also be served, in writing, on the Chief Finance Officer at least
three clear days before the meeting. The amendment will not be
accepted as valid, and will therefore be disregarded, if the Chief
Finance Officer, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, does not
consider it to be deliverable and in accordance with the Council’s
statutory obligations.

Substantive amendments proposed without notice during a meeting
should be submitted in writing to the Chair, who may, after consulting

Page 187 55



(e)

(f)

@

(h)

()

the Monitoring Officer, briefly adjourn the meeting to allow the
amendment to be processed.

Amendments of a minor or typographical nature may be submitted
verbally during a meeting. The Chair, in consultation with the
Monitoring Officer, will determine whether an amendment is minor.

An amendment must be relevant to the motion, not negate the effect of
the motion and will either be to:

(i) leave out words;
(i) leave out words and insert or add others; or
(ii) insert or add words.

Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time
and no further amendment may be moved until the amendment under
discussion has been decided.

When an amendment is moved, the Chair will ask the proposer of the
original motion if they are willing to alter their motion in accordance
with the amendment. If they accept, the amendment becomes the
substantive motion and is debated. If the proposer of the original
motion is unwilling to alter their motion, the Chair will ask if there is a
seconder for the amendment. If there is a seconder, the amendment
will then be debated and voted upon.

If an amendment to the original motion is not carried, other
amendments to it may be moved.

If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of
the original motion and becomes the substantive motion to which any
further amendments are moved. The Chair will read out the amended
motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there is none,
put it to the vote.

4.3.30 How are motions voted on?

)

(b)

(€)

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided
by a simple majority of those Members present in the room and voting
at the time the question was put.

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chair will have
a second or casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the Chair
chooses to exercise a casting vote.

Unless a ballot or recorded vote is demanded the Chair will take the
vote by show of hands or, if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of
the meeting.

Page 188 56



(d)

(€)

(f)

(9)

(h)

The vote will take place by ballot if half of the Members present at the
meeting demand it. The Chair will announce the numerical result of the
ballot immediately the result is known.

If 25% of the Members present at the meeting demand it, or if the
motion relates to the Budget, Council Tax or the issuing of the
precept!®, the names for and against the motion or amendment or
abstaining from voting will be recorded and entered into the minutes. A
demand for a recorded vote will override a demand for a ballot.

Where any Member requests it immediately after the vote is taken,
their vote will be recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted
for or against the motion or abstained from voting.

Any Member who has at least two months’ unpaid Council Tax may not
vote on the Budget. If a Member who is in such Council Tax arrears is
present at a meeting where Council Tax or precepts are discussed,
they must disclose this to the meeting and not vote on question relating
to Council Tax or precepts.*®

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be
filled and there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person,
then the name of the person with the least number of votes will be
taken off the list and a new vote taken. The process will continue until
there is a majority of votes for one person.

4.3.31 How are motions of no confidence handled?

(@)

(b)

A motion of no confidence is a statement or vote about whether a
person who holds a position of responsibility within the Council is fit to
hold that position.

A motion of no confidence may be submitted in respect of:
() the Mayor,
(i) an Executive Member,
(i) a Councillor;
(iv) the Chair of the Council; or
(v) the Chair of any Committee

but may not have a practical effect.

18 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, section 2
19 Local Government Finance Act 1992, section 106

Page 189 57



(©)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(¢);

(h)

Petitions *

Votes of no confidence therefore only show the intent of the Council
as:

(i) only the Mayor may remove an Executive Member from the
Executive;

(i)  Members remain in office until their resignation, disqualification,
or the election of a successor.

Only one motion of no confidence in respect of an individual may be
considered in any 12 month period.

A motion of no confidence can be brought in respect of a Committee
chair if notice of it is submitted at least nine clear days before the date
of the Committee meeting, unless the Monitoring Officer agrees that it
may be submitted as an urgent item. Failure by the Chair of the
Committee to admit the motion of confidence may be submitted as a
notice of motion to Council. During consideration of the motion of no
confidence:

(i) the Committee chair shall stand down and the Monitoring
Officer, or their representative, will chair the meeting.

(i)  the motion of no confidence shall be debated in accordance
with these Council Procedure Rules.

If the motion is passed by a vote of at least two thirds of the Members
present at the meeting, the Committee chair shall stand down
immediately. The remainder of the meeting will be chaired by the vice
chair of the Committee, or another Member elected for that purpose in
the vice chair’s absence.

Any vote of no confidence in a Committee chair must be approved by
Full Council. If Full Council gives its approval, the Committee chair
shall cease to hold that position. The Council shall appoint a new chair
for the relevant Committee in accordance with these Council
Procedure Rules.

A motion of no confidence in a Committee chair may be brought by a
Member who is not a member of the Committee as a notice of motion
to the Council.

4.3.32 When will a petition be considered by the Council? *

Any petition to be considered by the Council must have at least 500
signatures. It should be submitted to the Monitoring Officer at least seven
clear days before the date of the Council meeting at which it is to be
considered.

Page 190 58



4.3.33 How are petitions dealt with by the Council? *

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

A petitioner will be given up to two minutes to present a petition to the
Council meeting at which it is tabled. Only one person may speak to
present a petition.

The Mayor or Executive Member who has responsibility for the subject
matter of the petition may speak, but the presentation of, and response
to each petition received, is limited to no more than 5 minutes.

The Council cannot take any decisions, or pass any motion, in respect
of any petition received that relates to Executive Functions.

No petitioner or organisation may present more than one petition to a
meeting.

Minutes Of Meetings

4.3.34 How are the minutes of Council meetings recorded?

(@)

(b)
(©)

(d)

(€)

The Chair will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed
as a correct record.

The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy.

Upon receiving the assent of the meeting, the Chair will sign the
minutes.

Minutes of previous meetings will not be signed at an extraordinary
meeting.

Where, in relation to any meeting, the next meeting is an extraordinary
meeting, the next ordinary meeting will be treated as a suitable
meeting for the purpose of signing those minutes.

Attendance and Conduct of Meetings

4.3.35 What happens if a Member is disqualified?

If a Member is disqualified from holding office, they are automatically
removed from office with immediate effect, including from any position they
hold within the Council or on any Committee.

4.3.36 How will member attendance at a meeting be recorded?

(@)

(b)

The Monitoring Officer will maintain and publish the record of
attendance of Members.

Any apologies received from a Member before the meeting will be
noted in the record of attendance.

4.3.37 How should Members conduct themselves at Council meetings? *

Page 191 59



(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

Members speaking at a Council meeting should stand (if able) and
address the meeting through the Chair. If more than one Member
signifies their intention to speak, the Chair will ask one to speak. Other
Members must remain silent whilst a Member is speaking unless they
wish to make a point of order or a point of personal explanation.

When the Chair speaks during a debate, any Member speaking at the
time must stop and sit down. The meeting must be silent.

If a Member persistently disregards the ruling of the Chair, behaves
improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Chair
may move that the Member be not heard further. If seconded, the
motion will be voted on without discussion.

If the Member continues to behave improperly following the passing of
a motion as set out at 4.8.37 (c), the Chair may move that either the
Member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned for a
specified period. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without
discussion.

4.3.38 What are points of order and when do they arise?

(@)

(b)

A point of order is a request from a Member to the Chair to rule on an
alleged irregularity in the procedure of the meeting. A Member may
raise a point of order at any time and it will be heard immediately. The
Chair will consult with the Monitoring Officer before ruling on the
matter.

A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these CPRs or
the law. The Member must indicate the rule or law that they consider
has been broken, and the way in which it has been broken. The ruling
of the Chair on the matter will be final.

4.3.39 What is a personal explanation and when is it used?

A Member may make a personal explanation (i.e. a point of clarification
relating specifically to an individual Member) at any time. A personal
explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by
the Member which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present
debate. The ruling of the Chair on the admissibility of a personal explanation
will be final.

4.3.40 Can a councillor nominate a substitute to attend a meeting on their
behalf?

(@)

A Councillor may nominate a substitute to attend a Committee meeting
on their behalf provided that the substitute:

Page 192 60



(b)

(€)

(d)

(€)

(f)

0] has undertaken any mandatory training required for the
meeting they are to substitute at; and

(i) does not change the political balance of the committee.

Notice of the substitution must be provided in writing or via email to the
Proper Officer and the Chair of the relevant Committee at least 24
hours before the commencement of the meeting.

The designation of a substitute shall apply to the specific meeting or for
such longer period as the Councillor specifies. A Councillor may
designate a different substitute for each Committee on which they sit.

A Councillor may terminate the designation of a substitute with
immediate effect by written notice to the Proper Officer.

Substitute Members have the same powers and duties as the Member
for whom they are substituting, save that they may not exercise any
special powers or duties.

At the start of the meeting a substitute Member shall identify the
Councillor for whom they are substituting, and that Councillor will be
excluded from the meeting.

4.3.41 When will members of the public and press be excluded from a Council
meeting?

Members of the public and press may only be excluded from a Council
meeting either in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure
Rules in Section 14 or Council Procedure Rule 4.8.42(c).

4.3.42 What happens if a Council meeting is disturbed?

(@)

(b)

()

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible,
the Chair may adjourn the meeting for as long as they think necessary.

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chair will warn
the person concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Chair will order
their removal from the meeting room. A member of the public so
removed will not be entitled to return to the meeting and may be
subject to restrictions on their attendance at future meetings.

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open
to the public, the Chair may call for that part to be cleared. All
members of the public involved in the general disturbance will not be
entitled to return to the meeting and may be subject to restrictions on
their attendance at future meetings.

4.3.43 Is filming and the use of social media permitted during Council
meetings?

Page 193 61



(@)

(b)

Unless the press and the public are excluded from the meeting in
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules at section
14, filming and use of social media in accordance with the Protocol for
Recording Council Meetings (see paragraph 4.9) is permitted during

meetings so long as there is no disturbance to the conduct of the
meeting.

Electronic devices should be switched to silent with no vibration during
Council meetings.

4.3.44 How can Member appointments be terminated?

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

A Chair or Vice Chair may resign from their post by written notice to the
Monitoring Officer. Their resignation will take effect when the
Monitoring Officer receives the notice.

The Council may at any time, by resolution, remove a Member from a
role to which they have been appointed.

Chairs and Vice Chairs of sub-committees shall be appointed and
removed by their parent Committee.

An Executive Member may not chair any meeting of the Council, the
Overview and Scrutiny Board, a Scrutiny Panel, the Standards
Committee, the Corporate Affairs Committee or the Audit Committee.

Page 194 62



4.9 Protocol for Recording Council Meetings

This section sets out the Council’'s expectations in relation to the filming,
photographing and / or making of audio recordings of the proceedings of Council
meetings, meetings of the Executive and Committee meetings. In the event of any
conflict between this protocol and the Council Procedure Rules or the Executive
Procedure Rules, the relevant Procedure Rules will take precedence.

4.3.45 What right is there to record Council meetings?

4.3.46

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The Council is committed to being open and transparent particularly in
relation to the way it conducts business at meetings which are open to
the public.

To assist with this, the Council will film and / or broadcast the
proceedings of Council meetings and, where it is feasible and practical
to do so, other meetings which are open to the public.

It is intended that the footage will be made available for public viewing
via the Council website.

The law requires that members of the public and the media are to be
allowed to film, photograph and / or make audio recordings at public
meetings held by the Council?®. The Government provides guidance
for members of the public and the press on attending and reporting
meetings of local government.

How should members of the public conduct themselves when
recording Council meetings?

(a) To assist members of the public with accessing its meetings, the

Council has adopted the following guidelines:

(i) subject to (ii) below, all members of the public remain seated
during the proceedings of the meeting;

(i) any members of the public who prefer not to be filmed should
sit or stand to the rear of the public area;

20 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)
(England) Regulations 2012

Page 195 63


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/open-and-accountable-local-government-plain-english-guide

(i) those wishing to film a meeting must show appropriate respect
for the wishes of the public who do not wish to be filmed;

(iv) thatin seeking to film, photograph or make an audio recording
of a meeting, the conduct of the meeting is not disturbed;

(v) ifitis agreed at the meeting to pass a motion to exclude the
press and public because confidential and / or exempt
information?! is likely to be disclosed, members of the public
will be asked to leave the meeting and no filming, photography
and / or audio recordings can then take place;

(vi) that without the express consent of their parents / guardians,
the filming of any children who might be in attendance is strictly
prohibited;

(vii) whilst not a requirement, it would be helpful for anyone
intending to film, or wishing to discuss any special
requirements, to contact the Members’ Office in advance of a
meeting to seek advice, guidance and help.

(b) There are some limited circumstances, related to items containing either
confidential or exempt information, when the filming of public meetings
is prohibited. Whilst it is considered that such items will be infrequent,
when such matters do arise, the chair of the relevant meeting will be
responsible for providing guidance and advice. If for whatever reason
someone refuses to stop recording, taking photographs or making an
audio recording when requested to do so, the chair will ask the person
to leave the meeting. If they refuse to do so, then the chair may
adjourn the meeting or make other appropriate arrangements for the
meeting to continue without disruption. Any such arrangements will be
in accordance with the disorderly conduct procedures set out in the
relevant procedure rules in this Constitution.

4.3.47 What else should members of the public bear in mind when recording
Council meetings?

(@) There is a presumption that Members and Officers give their consent to
be filmed and for their images to be webcast, unless a specific request
is made to the Monitoring Officer for an exception to be made in
advance of a meeting. The Monitoring Officer will take a view on a
case-by-case basis on whether there is sufficient justification for
making such an exemption.

21 Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, see further Table 11 in the Access to
Information Procedure Rules at Section 14 of the constitution

Page 196 64



(b) Meeting agendas, and signs displayed inside and outside the meeting
room, will confirm that the meeting may be filmed and / or broadcast
via the Council’s internet site.

5 Members

This section explains the role of Members.

5.1 What elected representatives does the Council have?

5.1.1  The Council comprises:
(@) 46 Councillors elected to represent 20 wards; and
(b) A Mayor directly elected to lead the Council.

5.1.2  Collectively, the Mayor and Councillors are referred to as Members of the
Council.

5.2 Who can stand for election as a Member?

Anyone who is a registered voter in the Borough, or who lives or works in
the Borough, is eligible to stand for election as a Member if they are over the
age of 18.

5.3 How are Members elected?

5.3.1 Councillors are elected by the voters of each ward in accordance with a
scheme drawn up by the Local Government Boundary Commission and
approved by the Secretary of State.

5.3.2 The Mayor is elected to serve the whole Borough.

5.3.3 Elections are held every four years in May, usually on the first Thursday.
The last election took place in 2023.

5.4 How long does a Member’s term of office last?

5.4.1 A Member’s term of office starts four days after they are elected and ends
four days after the date of the next election.

Page 197 65



5.4.2 If a Councillor ceases to be a Councillor before the end of their term of
office, a by-election may be triggered?®?.

5.4.3 If the Mayor ceases to be a Member before the end of their term of office,
the provisions of paragraph 6.6 will apply.

5.5 What is the role of a Member?

5.5.1  Councillors will:

(a) collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of
strategic and civic functions for the Council,

(b) contribute to the good governance of the area and actively encourage
community participation and citizen involvement in decision-making;

(c) effectively represent the interests of their ward and of constituents;

(d) respond to constituents’ enquiries and representations, fairly and
impartially;

(e) participate in the governance and management of the Council; and

() maintain the standards of conduct and ethics, as set out in the Member
Code of Conduct at paragraph 8.9.

5.5.2  The Mayor holds additional responsibilities, which are set out in Section 6.

5.6 What other roles can Councillors hold?

5.6.1 In addition to their general role as an elected representative of the Council,
Councillors may be appointed to the following roles:

(&) Non-executive roles — such as on a committee or overview and
scrutiny panel;

(b) Executive roles;

(c) Committee Chairs;

(d) Group Leader;

(e) Representing the Council on outside bodies.

5.6.2 The Mayor appoints Councillors to the role of Executive Member, including
Deputy Mayor, as set out in Section 6.

22 Local Government Act 1972, Part V

Page 198 66



5.6.3 Political groups are entitled to elect and replace a group leader.
5.7 What are the distinct responsibilities of the separate Member roles?

Members

5.7.1  All Members represent local people and are expected to fulfil the following
key objectives?3:

(a) Political representative: the ability to connect with all parts of the
community, to represent everyone fairly and to balance local
concerns with the demands of their political group manifesto. This
requires teamwork, close liaison, joint working and the sharing of
responsibilities with fellow councillors within multi-area wards,
regardless of political affiliation.

(b) Community advocate: be a skilled advocate for people from
different backgrounds, cultures, and values. Members will have the
confidence to speak freely and challenge the Executive and
demonstrate a good working knowledge and understanding of, and
commitment to, equalities and diversity issues.

(c) Community leader: exercise community development skills by
supporting local projects and initiatives, educating people about local
participation and involving them in policy development, service
planning and decision-making. This requires being a good
communicator, able to explain what political decisions and structures
mean to constituents and community organisations, with knowledge
and skills to engage people in a variety of ways (not just meetings).
Members will be sensitive to difference and issues of diversity and
equality and work with all groups in the locality to build community
cohesion, acting as a conflict broker if necessary.

(d) Service transformer: understand the complex business of local
government and services provided both by the council and others,
and have the confidence and ability to hold service providers to
account for performance / delivery. This will require working in
partnership with a range of agencies and interests (including town
and parish councils) and the ability to understand local problems and
use this knowledge locally and strategically in local action planning.
It will include setting and monitoring service standards and working

23 “Ward Councillors and Community Leadership” (2007) — a report by the Joseph Rowntree
Foundation

Page 199 67



5.7.2

closely with the voluntary sector and / or lead community groups
linked to specific projects.

(e) Place shaper: be a local figurehead / role-model that people feel
they can turn to, able to shape the very local environment by
providing direction, identifying priorities and working with officers and
service providers to address public realm problems. This also
involves promoting the Council’s vision for the Borough.

() Knowledge champion: be the primary source of local intelligence
flowing between the community and the Council through local
surgeries and meetings, letters / e-mails and phone calls. This will
require engagement with local stakeholders and the skills to collect
and analyse local information to use it to benefit the community.

In addition to the above responsibilities, some roles carry additional
responsibilities. These are summarised below, with full role profiles included
at paragraph 5.11.

Non-executive roles

5.7.3

5.7.4

Committee members participate and make decisions about a wide variety of
issues such as planning, licensing and registration, and corporate
governance. Appropriate training will be provided before decisions are taken
and Members will need to follow any additional codes and guidance
identified. The work of committees contributes to policy development and
service development, thus providing oversight of the performance of the
Council. It is therefore a vital role to undertake.

Equally important is the role of scrutinising and challenging the Executive
and service delivery against the corporate plan via the overview and scrutiny
function.

Executive roles

5.7.5

5.7.6

Being appointed to the Executive brings with it a significant workload and
specific responsibility for an area (or areas) of service provision and policy
formulation and development. It requires a considerable commitment to
collectively take key decisions and exercise specific responsibility for
delegated matters. The responsibility of an Executive role results in a higher
local profile and additional media exposure due to the need to make tough
decisions on competing priorities.

Executive Members have an enhanced responsibility to provide leadership
and direction to the Council while championing the Borough regionally and
nationally and ensuring support for other Members and the local issues they
champion.

Committee Chairs

Page 200 68



5.7.7  The key objective of those chairing committees and panels is to ensure the
effective, efficient and fair chairing of meetings of the Council in addition to
their role as a Member.

5.7.8  The objective will be achieved by Chairs presiding over meetings in
accordance with the constitution, ensuring that meetings provide a forum for
the debate of matters of concern.

Overview and Scrutiny Board Chair

5.7.9 The Overview and Scrutiny Board Chair must discharge the roles of a
Member, a Non-executive Member and a Committee Chair while also
leading the Overview and Scrutiny function for the Council. They will monitor
and evaluate the Scrutiny Work Programme and Forward Work Programme,
contributing to the continuous improvement in Services and implementation
of best practice by making recommendations to the Executive and the
Council to improve policy, performance and service delivery.

Group Leaders

5.7.10 The Council recognises that each political group represented on the Council
has a group leader. Collectively, the group leaders have a key leadership
role, particularly in relation to cross-party working. Group Leaders are
expected to provide strong, fair leadership and clear political guidance to
their group members and be the principal political spokesperson for the
political group. They will promote (not undermine) the best interests of the
Council, ensuring that members of their political group act in a similar
manner.

Representing the Council on outside bodies

5.7.11 The Council nominates Members to represent it on a wide variety of outside
bodies. Members accepting such appointments must bear in mind the
different duties owed to the Council and the outside body, and seek advice
from officers in the event of any conflict or uncertainty in those roles.

5.8 What rights and duties do Members have?
5.8.1 Members will:

(&) have access to the documents, information, land and buildings of the
Council they need to carry out their roles (in accordance with the law),
except for any documents judged by the Monitoring Officer not to be
appropriate to be shared as set out in the Access to Information
Procedure Rules at Section 14;

(b) keep confidential and exempt information (as defined in the Access to
Information Procedure Rules in section 14) out of the public domain
(unless the Council has given its explicit consent to disclosure) and not

Page 201 69



divulge confidential information to anyone other than a Member or
Officer who needs to know it;

(c) be entitled to claim allowances in accordance with the Members
Allowance Scheme set out at paragraph 5.10.
5.9 How should Members behave?

Members will at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct
(paragraph 8.9) and the Protocol on Member / Officer Relations (paragraph
9.13).

Members’ Scheme Of Allowances

The Members’ Scheme of Allowances?* sets out what the Council pays to
Councillors and Co-Opted Members by way of basic and special responsibilities
allowances, pensions, carers’ allowances, and travelling and subsistence
allowances. It was adopted by Council on 25 May 2022.

5.10.1 Basic Allowance

(@) All Members of Middlesbrough Council receive a basic allowance to
recognise the time devoted to carry out their work as Members. It is
also intended to cover incidental costs such as use of members’
homes, attendance at meetings with officers, community meetings, and
ward activities.

(b) The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations
2003 provide for the payment of a basic allowance in respect of each
year to each member of an authority, and the amount of such an
allowance shall be the same for each such member.

(c) Subject to paragraph 5.10.10 the basic allowance will be paid to each
elected Member for the year 1 April to 31 March in equal monthly
instalments.

24 The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003

Page 202 70



(d)
(e)

The Basic Allowance shall be £7,608 per year.

The Basic Allowance will not be increased in line with staff pay rises or
inflation.

5.10.2 Special Responsibility Allowances

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

(€)

(f)

Special Responsibility Allowances (SRAS) are paid in addition to the
basic allowance to members who hold positions with significant
responsibilities over and above the general duties of a councillor and
are also paid in equal monthly instalments.

For each year a special responsibility allowance shall also be paid to
those Members who hold the special responsibilities in relation to the
Council that are specified in Table 2. No Member shall be entitled to
receive more than one Special Responsibility Allowance. SRA
allowances will remain static and shall not be increased in line with any
subsequent annual staff pay award.

Special Responsibility Allowances were originally arrived at by an
agreed multiple of the basic allowance. This process has been
suspended from 1 April 2019.

Subject to paragraph 5.10.10 the amount of each such allowance shall
be the amount specified against that special responsibility in Table 2.

A special responsibility allowance relating to the duties of a Political
Group Leader shall be payable to the leader of the overall majority
group and to the leaders of the two largest minority Groups, where
each of the minority Groups comprise at least 10% of the total number
of Members of the Council.

Where there is no over-all majority group, the two largest political group
leaders will receive a minority special responsibility allowance. Where
only one of the two largest minority Groups comprise at least 10% of
the total number of Members of the Council, a special responsibility
allowance relating to the duties of Political Group Leader shall be
payable to the leader of the next largest minority Group.

5.10.3 Travelling and Subsistence Allowance — Members

(@)

(b)

A Member shall be entitled to receive appropriate travel and
subsistence allowances where they necessarily incur expenditure on
travel or subsistence in order to perform an approved duty.

The amount of the allowance payable to a Member in respect of
subsistence shall be the same as that approved by the Council in
respect of officers of the Council who are paid officer rates.

Page 203 1



(c) The subsistence allowance payable shall be increased or decreased to
the same extent as determined by the Council in respect of officers.

(d) The allowance payable to a Member in respect of travel mileage shall
be paid at the Inland Revenue approved rate®.

(e) For the purposes of this paragraph, approved duties shall include all
those duties specified in Part 1 of Schedule 2 to this Scheme.
5.10.4 Travelling and Subsistence — Co-opted Members
A Co-opted Member shall be entitled to receive a combined Travel and
Subsistence Allowance of £10 per meeting.
5.10.5 Dependent Carers Allowance

(@) A Member or Co-opted Member shall be entitled to receive a
dependent carers allowance to provide for children or adult care,
where they have necessarily incurred that expenditure in respect of a
dependent who is looked after by a registered provider whilst the
Member or Co-opted Member is carrying out an approved duty.

(b) The dependent carers allowance referred to in paragraph 5.10.5(a)
shall be paid per hour and be in line with the national living wage and
limited to 7 hours per week.

(c) The allowance will not be payable to a member of the claimant’s own
household.

(d) For the purposes of this paragraph, an approved duty is any duty listed
in Part | of Schedule 2 to this Scheme.

5.10.6 Telephone / Broadband Allowance

A Member is entitled to an annual communications allowance of £15
towards telephone services and £10 towards broadband services. There
shall however be only one claim per household with Members required to
evidence the service annually.

5.10.7 Pensions

No Member shall be entitled to pensions in accordance with this scheme.

5.10.8 Renunciation

A Member may, by giving notice in writing to the Monitoring Officer, elect to
forego all or part of their entitlement to an allowance under this Scheme.

25 £0.45 per mile as of 31 July 2025

Page 204 2



Where such a declaration is made, it remains in force until a further notice in
writing is given to the Monitoring Officer to withdraw it.

5.10.9 Part-year Entitlements

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

The provision of this paragraph shall have effect to regulate the
entitlements of a Member to basic and special responsibility where, in
the course of a year, this Scheme is amended or that Member
becomes, or ceases to be, a Member, or accepts or relinquishes a
special responsibility in respect of which a special responsibility
allowance is payable.

If an amendment to this Scheme changes the amount to which a
Member is entitled by way of a basic allowances or a special
responsibility allowance, then in relation to each of the periods:

(i) beginning with the year and ending with the day before that on
which the first amendment in that year takes effect, or

(i)  beginning with the day on which an amendment takes effect
and ending with the day that on which the next amendment
takes effect, or (if none) with the year the entitlement to such
an allowance shall be to the payment of such part of the
amount of the allowance under this Scheme as it has effect
during the relevant period as bears to the whole the same
proportion as the number of the days in the period bears to the
number of days in the year.

Where the term of office of a Member begins or ends otherwise than at
the beginning or end of a year, the entitlement of that Member to a
basic allowance shall be to the payment to such part of the basic
allowance as bears to the whole the same proportion as the number of
days during which their term of office subsists bears to the number of
days in that year.

Where this Scheme is amended as mentioned in sub-paragraph
5.10.9(b), and the term of office of a Member does not subsist
throughout the period mentioned in subparagraph 5.10.9(a), the
entitlement of any such Member to a basic allowance shall be to the
payment of such part of the basic allowance referable to each such
period (ascertained in accordance with that sub-paragraph) as bears to
the whole the same proportion as the number of days during which
their term of office as a Member subsists bears to the number of days
in that period.

Where a Member has during part of, but not throughout, a year such
special responsibilities as entitle them to a special responsibility
allowance, that Member’s entitlement shall be to payment of such part

Page 205 73



(f)

@

(h)

of that allowance as bears to the whole the same proportion as the
number of days during which they have such special responsibilities
bears to the number of days in that year.

Where a remunerated person has been absent due to exceptional
circumstances, and another Member acts as Chair for more than 50%
of the meetings in any Municipal Year or the Chair is absent for more
than two consecutive months, then the person who has acted as Chair
shall be remunerated in place of the appointed Chair (on a pro rata
basis).

Where payment of any allowance has already been made to the
initially appointed person, the authority may require that such part of
the allowances paid to the appointed person for any such period to be
repaid to the authority (determined by the Monitoring Officer).

Where this Scheme is amended as mentioned in sub-paragraph 5.10.9
and a Member has during part, but does not have throughout the
whole, of any period mentioned in sub-paragraph 5.10.9(a) of that
paragraph any such responsibilities as entitle him or her to a special
responsibility allowance, that Councillor’s entitlement shall be to
payment of such part of the allowance referable to each such period
(ascertained in accordance with that sub-paragraph) as bears to the
whole the same proportion as the number of days in that period during
which they have such special responsibilities bears to the number of
days in that period.

Where a scheme of allowances is amended, the Council can choose to
apply any amendment retrospectively to the beginning of the financial
year in which the amendment is made.

5.10.10 Claims and Payments

(@)

(b)
(€)

Payments of allowances shall be made as follows:
(i) Basic Allowances: Automatically Paid Monthly
(i)  Special Responsibility Allowances: Automatically Paid Monthly
(i) Travel and Subsistence Allowance: Monthly (Claim)
(iv) Dependent Carers Allowance: Monthly (Claim)
(v) Co-optee Allowance: Monthly (Claim)
All payments shall be made direct to a Bank or Building Society.

A claim for expenses/subsistence under this scheme shall be made
within two months of the date of the meeting in respect of which the
claim is made.

Page 206 &



(d)

(€)

(f)
@

Claims for travel and subsistence (other than mileage for approved
duties) shall only be approved where receipts of expenditure have
been provided and have been incurred in relation to an approved duty
or with the approval of the Chief Officer responsible for Democratic
Services.

For each claim, Members shall submit an electronic claim
acknowledging that they are entitled to claim the expenses and where
appropriate that they hold the appropriate valid driving documentation.

Members should submit their claims by the 7th day of the month.

The Monitoring Officer shall have authority to agree a different
frequency of payment with an individual Member on request.

Page 207 75



Schedule 1 - Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA)

The following roles are specified as those designated as receiving a special
responsibility allowances, and the amounts of those allowances. These allowances
are not subject to the inflationary increase in line with staff pay awards.

Table 2: Special Responsibility Allowances

Page 208

Office Number | Allowance | Total
Mayor 1 £55,952 £55,952
Deputy Mayor and Executive Member 1 £19,518 £19,518
Executive Members 8 £11,190 £89,520
Chair of Overview & Scrutiny Board 1 £11,190 £11,190
Chair of Licensing Committee 1 £8,393 £8,393
Chair of Planning & Development Committee 1 £8,393 £8,393
Chair of the Council 1 £5,595 £5,595
Chair of Corporate Affairs Committee 1 £5,595 £5,595
Chair of Audit Committee 1 £5,595 £5,595
Chair of Scrutiny Panels 3 £5,595 £16,785
Chair of Standards Committee 1 £2,798 £2,798
Chair of Staff Appeals Committee 1 £2,798 £2,798
Chair of Teesside Pension Fund Committee 1 £2,798 £2,798
Political Group Leaders:
Majority Group (currently not claimed) 1 £8,393 £8,393
Largest Minority Groups — maximum X 2 2 £2,798 £2,798
providing they have 10% of Council
membership
Total SRA (if all claimed) 25 £246,121
76



Schedule 2 - Travel & Subsistence Allowances

Part 1

Duties that may qualify for Travelling & Subsistence Allowances

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(€)

(f)

9
(h)

attendance at a meeting of the Council or of any Committee or Sub Committee
of the Authority, or of any other body to which a member has been appointed to
by the Council, or of any Committee or Sub Committee of such a body;

attendance at any other meeting, the holding of which is authorised by the
Council, or a Committee or Sub Committee of the Council, or a Joint Committee
of the Council and one or more Local Authority within the meaning of Section
270(1) of the Local Government Act 1972, or a Sub Committee of such a Joint
Committee provided that:

(i) where the Council is divided into two or more political groups it is a
meeting to which embers of at least two such groups have been invited; or

(i) if the Council is not so divided, it is a meeting to which at least two
Members of the Council have been invited.

attendance at a meeting of any association of authorities of which the Council is
a member providing no other attendance / mileage allowance is paid;

attendance at a meeting of the Executive or a meeting of any of its Committees,
where the Council is operating executive arrangements;

performance of any duty in connection with the discharge of any function of the
Council conferred by or under any enactment and empowering or requiring the
Council to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises;

carrying out of any other duty approved by the Council or any duty of a class so
approved, for the purposes of, or in connection with, the discharge of the
functions of the Council or of any of its Committees or Sub Committees. For the
purpose of this section approved duties shall include the following:

(i) travel in connection with scrutiny site visits or investigations;
(i) authorised attendance at seminars or conferences.
In cases of urgency, the Monitoring Officer is authorised to approve duties.

Travelling allowances may not be claimed for political group meetings.

Part 2 - Subsistence

(@)

(b)

Subsistence allowances for meals and accommodation can be reimbursed to
Members’ for duties undertaken outside of the Borough. This allowance reflects
the scheme in place for officers of the Council.

Members are entitled to claim subsistence if their duties mean that they are
away from the Council for at least 5 hours, preventing them from following their

Page 209 77



(c)

normal meal arrangements AND they have to incur expenditure which is in
addition to their normal outlay.

Any claims for subsistence costs must be for the actual amount paid (up to the
maximum amount claimable) and supporting receipts of this cost must be kept
by the Member. The reimbursement of costs associated with alcohol will not be
paid under any circumstances.

Part 3 - Co-opted Members Travelling & Subsistence Allowances

Co-opted Members of the following Council bodies shall be entitled to receive a
combined travel & subsistence allowance following production of a signed
declaration that expenses had been incurred:

)

(b)
(€)
(d)
(e)

Scrutiny Committees (including Overview & Scrutiny Board, Scrutiny Panels
and Scrutiny Working Groups);

Standards Committee (including Sub Committees and Panels);
The Independent Panel on Members’ Remuneration;
Teesside Pension Fund Committee;

School Appeal Panels.

Page 210 78



5.11 Member Role Profiles

In addition to the expectations and responsibilities set out above in this Section 5,
members are expected to discharge the following tasks:

5.11.1 Member

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

()

(k)

attend and actively contribute to meetings of Full Council and any
Council body as required;

fulfil the statutory and locally determined requirements of a Member of
the Council, including compliance with all relevant codes of conduct;

develop and maintain a working knowledge of the Council’s policies,
and of the community’s needs and aspirations in respect of the
Council’s roles and functions;

participate in the activities, and attend all meetings, of any outside
body to which they are appointed by the Council, providing two-way
communication between the body and the Council;

develop and maintain a working knowledge of service management
arrangements, powers and duties, and constraints, in particular as they
affect the area and communities the Member represents;

develop good working relationships with relevant Members and
Officers of the Council;

actively participate in casework and Member surgeries, in order to
address constituents’ problems;

act as a champion for, and represent the interests of, their local area
and communities to the Council;

promote open government and democratic renewal through
encouraging their local community to participate in the governance of
the area;

act as champions for children looked after by the Council and ensure
that all Committees (including Executive Committees) on which they
serve fulfil their corporate parenting responsibilities;

represent the Council’s corporate parenting responsibilities in their
involvement with outside bodies, in particular in relation to duties as a
school governor.

5.11.2 Mayor

(@)

(b)

provide strong and visible leadership to citizens, stakeholders and
partners of the Council;

lead on partnerships and strategic matters of significance to
Middlesbrough on a local, sub-regional, regional and national basis;

Page 211 9



(©)

(d)
(€)
(f)
(9)
(h)
(i)
()
(k)

()

(m)

promote, wherever possible, public engagement in the work of the
Council;

lead the promotion of the core values and objectives of the Council;
lead on the delivery of continuous improvement in Council services;
promote high standards of conduct and ethics within the Council;
be responsible for the Armed Forces Covenant;

represent the Council and such external bodies as they decide;
promote local strategic partnerships;

report to Full Council on their activities;

provide strong, fair leadership and clear guidance to Members and
Officers;

ensure that appropriate consultation is and involve local people and
communities as fully as possible in Council decision-making;

respond within agreed timescales to the recommendations of the
Overview and Scrutiny Board, setting out what action is proposed, if
any, and giving full reasons for decisions taken;

5.11.3 Deputy Mayor

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

(€)

(f)

promote and co-ordinate liaison between the Mayor, the Executive and
non-Executive Members;

lead on corporate strategic issues, particularly in relation to Council
performance and the Strategic Plan;

promote and develop Member accountability, especially in relation to
Members’ performance, both in terms of the general framework and
the one specific to Executive Members;

lead on scrutiny especially where the scrutiny issues do not relate to
individual Executive Portfolios;

promote and develop Members’ early and meaningful involvement in
developing Council policy;

lead on town twinning activities.

5.11.4 Executive Members

(@)

(b)

provide strong, fair leadership and clear political guidance to Members,
Officers and the community;

develop and maintain a clear understanding of their Executive
Portfolio, the scope and range of the areas for which they are
responsible, and the Council’s policies in respect of those areas;

Page 212 80



(©)

(d)
(e)

(f)

@

(h)

(i)

()

(k)

ensure the delivery of continuous improvement in Services within their
portfolio, and the implementation of best practice in the Council;

respect collective responsibility for decisions taken by the Executive;

take decisions in accordance with the law and with procedures agreed
by the Council and / or by the Mayor;

attend regular meetings with Chief Officers responsible for Services
which fall within the remit of their Executive Portfolio;

attend meetings of the Executive and inform in advance if they are
unable to attend;

commission the Overview and Scrutiny Board to undertake work
relevant to their portfolio on behalf of the Executive;

respond within an agreed timescale to the recommendations of
relevant Scrutiny Panels, setting out what action is proposed, if any,
and giving full reasons for decisions taken;

involve and consult non-Executive Members on matters within their
portfolio, particularly Members of relevant Scrutiny Panel(s);

be accountable to the Council in respect of matters relating to their
Executive Portfolios.

5.11.5 Chair Of The Council

(@)

(b)

(€)
(d)
(e)

(f)

preside over Council meetings and ensure business is carried out
efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the Mayor
and the interests of the community;

ensure that Council meetings are a forum for the debate of matters of
concern to the local community;

promote public involvement in Council activities;
promote the Council and act as a focal point for the community;

be the “Member Development Champion”, chairing the Constitution
and Member Development Committee and being responsible for the
development, monitoring and review of the Member Development
Policy and the annual Member Development Programme;

encourage Members to undertake appropriate levels of training and
development activities so they have the necessary skills and
knowledge to fulfil their roles as Members of the Council.

5.11.6 Group Leader

(@)

provide strong, fair leadership and clear political guidance to group
members;

Page 213 81



(b)
(c)

(d)

(€)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

()

(k)

act as the principal political spokesperson for the political group;

act in a manner which is likely to promote rather than undermine the
best interests of the Council and ensure that members of their political
group act in a similar manner,

encourage the high standards of conduct by members of the group and
promote compliance with the Members’ Code of Conduct;

encourage a culture of learning and development among members of
the group, including the active participation of group members in
briefings, seminars and other learning and development processes;

establish and maintain effective working relationships with the
Leadership Management Team and other Chief Officers, and to meet
regularly in order to keep fully apprised of relevant Service issues;

build effective relationships with other Councillors, stakeholders,
Officers, communities and partners;

enable the group to engage in constructive criticism and challenge,
promoting alternatives or amendments offered by members of the
group on proposed decisions of the Executive, where appropriate;

ensure adequate liaison takes place with other political groups to
further the interests of the Council;

work with their group to formulate overall policy and priorities for the
group;

represent the Council on local, regional and national bodies, as
appropriate.

5.11.7 Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

be consulted when less than 28 days, but more than 5 days, notice of
intention to take a Key Decision is given on the Forward Work
Programme (see paragraph 13.12.1(a)(i)a);

agree that a Key Decision is urgent and should be taken with notice of
5 days or less being given on the Forward Work Programme of the
intention to make the Key Decision (see paragraph 13.12.1(a)(ii)a);

agree that a decision is urgent and should be exempt from call-in
provisions (see paragraphs 7.6.19 and 7.6.22) and report this to full
Council;

agree that an urgent decision can be taken which is contrary to the
Policy Framework or contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the
Budget (see paragraph 15.4.2(b));

Page 214 82



(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

()

(k)

()

(m)

(n)

(0)

(P)

(@
(n

agree that a private meeting of the Executive, without the 28 days
notice required by paragraph 14.15(a), should be permitted to consider
an urgent decision in accordance with paragraph 14.15.(b)(i);

agree with the Chair of the Council, in exceptional circumstances, that
a scrutiny report should bypass consideration at Overview and Scrutiny
Board (see paragraph 7.6.15(a));

receive notification from the Executive as to why it has not considered
an overview and scrutiny report within 8 weeks of it being added to the
agenda (see paragraph 7.6.15(c)(iii));

be consulted by the Monitoring Officer in relation to the validity of a
call-in request (see paragraph 7.6.21(b));

determine the dates and venues for meetings of the Overview and
Scrutiny Board (see further paragraphs 7.6.3 and 7.6.21(d)), including
extraordinary meetings;

discuss with Chief Officers any concerns about the identity of officers
requested to attend an Overview and Scrutiny meeting;

be a member of the Constitution and Member Development Committee
(see paragraph 10.9.1(d));

provide strong, fair leadership and clear guidance to Members and
Officers in relation to scrutiny functions;

have overall responsibility for the direction of scrutiny in the Council,
and for ensuring that an appropriate annual scrutiny work programme
is set;

continuously monitor and evaluate the relevance of the annual Scrutiny
Work Programme, meeting Members and Democratic Service Officers
as appropriate;

meet with chairs of Scrutiny Panels on a regular basis to give advice
and guidance on the working of their Panels;

ensure that the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Board contributes to
the delivery of continuous improvement in Services and
implementation of best practice;

monitor the Forward Work Programme;

represent the views of Overview and Scrutiny at meetings of the
Executive;

5.11.8 Scrutiny Panel Chairs

(@)

provide strong, fair leadership and clear guidance to Members and
Officers in relation to Scrutiny functions;

Page 215 83



(b)

(€)

(d)

(e)

(f)

develop a clear understanding of the terms of reference of their
Scrutiny Panel, the scope and range of the areas for which it is
responsible, and the Council’s policies in respect of those areas;

ensure the work of their Scrutiny Panel contributes to the delivery of
continuous improvement in Services and implementation of best
practice;

agree agendas for Scrutiny Panel meetings, to take a lead in
developing a forward agenda, and ensuring it is adhered to;

meet with other Scrutiny chairs on a regular basis to discuss progress
in the work of their Scrutiny Panel, discuss issues arising from the
Scrutiny process, and note action being taken by the relevant
Executive Members to address the concerns of their Scrutiny Panel,

prepare and present their Scrutiny Panel’s final report to the Overview
and Scrutiny Board and the Executive.

Page 216 84



Protocol for Members and Officers on Gifts and Hospitality

Members and Officers should avoid putting themselves in a position where their
integrity is called into question because of any financial or other impropriety. As well
as avoiding actual impropriety it is also essential to avoid giving the impression or
appearance of impropriety, and this Protocol provides guidance on how Members
and Officers can avoid doing so.

5.11.9 What is the legal position in relation to gifts and hospitality?

(@) The Bribery Act 2010 creates a number of criminal offences in relation
to giving or offering someone a financial or other advantage to
encourage them to carry out their functions or activities improperly or
to reward them for having done so. Requesting, agreeing to receive or
accepting the advantage offered is also bribery?®.

(b) The law also provides that an officer of a local authority shall not,
under colour of their office, accept any reward or fee other than their
proper remuneration?’.

5.11.10 What is a gift or hospitality?

(a) Offers of gifts and / or hospitality made to the Council may take many
forms, including but not limited to:

(i) the provision of land, goods or services, either to keep or to test
with a view to future acquisition,

(i) an offer to carry out works;

(i) sponsorship of a function which is organised or supported by
the Council;

(iv) free gift of any goods or services;

(v) an opportunity to acquire any goods or services at a discount or
on terms which are more advantageous than those that are
available to the general public;

(vi) an opportunity to obtain any goods or services which are not
available to the general public; and

26 Bribery carries a maximum sentence of 10 years imprisonment and a fine.

27 Local Government Act 1972, section 117

Page 217 85



(vii) an offer of food, drink, accommodation or entertainment, or the

opportunity to attend any cultural, sporting or entertainment
event.

(b) References to the “value” or “cost” of any gift or hospitality are
references to the higher of:

(i) the Member, Officer or Council’s (as appropriate), estimate of
the cost to the Offeror of providing the gift or consideration; and

(i) the open market price a member of the public would pay for the
gift or hospitality (if made available commercially to the public),
less the cash sum of any contribution which the Member,
Officer or the Council (as appropriate) would be required to
make toward that price to the Offeror.

General Principles

5.11.11 What does this Protocol cover?
(@) The purpose of this Protocol is to:

(i) outline the principles which a Member or an Officer should

apply when deciding whether it would be proper to accept any
gift and / or hospitality;

(i) establish a procedure for Members and Officers to declare any
offer of a gift and / or hospitality; and

(i) establish a procedure by which the Council will consider any
offer of gift and / or hospitality;

(b) This Protocol does not apply to any offer of hospitality that may be
provided by the Council.

(c) Members and Officers must never solicit or invite an offer of a gift or
hospitality in connection with their position and should not give any
indication that they might be open to such an improper offer.

(d) Members and Officers should not solicit any such gift or hospitality on
behalf of the Council except where the Council has formally identified
the opportunity for participation by an external party and how that
participation is to be secured in accordance with this constitution.

(e) Inthe event of conflict between the provisions of this Protocol and the
Member or Officer Code of Conduct, the Code of Conduct will prevail.

5.11.12 In what circumstances should gifts and hospitality not be accepted?

Members and Officers should:

Page 218 86



(@) never accept a gift or hospitality as an inducement or reward for
anything they do as a Member or an Officer;

(b) always act in the public interest and not be swayed in the discharge of
their duties by the offer, prospect of an offer, or the non-offer of any

inducement or reward for discharging those duties in a particular
manner;

(c) comply with the obligations of their respective Code of Conduct:

(i)

(ii)

the Members’ Code of Conduct (paragraph 8.9.42) provides
that a Member must act in the public interest, serving the
Council and the whole community, rather than acting in the
interests of any particular individual or section of the
community, and that it is a breach of the Code improperly to

confer any advantage or disadvantage of any person, including
themselves;

the Officers’ Code of Conduct (paragraph 9.13) specifically
requires Officers to comply with this Protocol.

(d) never accept a gift or hospitality if acceptance might be open to
misinterpretation as:

(i)

(ii)

the appearance of impropriety can be as damaging to the
Council, a Member or an Officer as actual impropriety. The
Council’s ability to govern rests upon its reputation for acting
fairly and in the public interest. Members and Officers must,
therefore, consider whether the acceptance of the gift or

hospitality is capable of being interpreted as a sign that they or
the Council:

a. favour any particular person, company or section of the
community; or

b. are under any improper obligation to any person or
organisation.

If there is any possibility that the offer might be so interpreted, it
must be handled as set out in paragraph 5.12.6.

certain occasions are particularly sensitive and require the

avoidance of any opportunity for such misunderstanding. These
include:

a. occasions when the Council is going through a
competitive procurement process, in respect of any
indication of favour for a particular tenderer;

b.  determination of licensing applications, planning
applications or planning policy, in respect of any person

Page 219 87



or organisation which stands to gain or lose from the
determination; and

c.  funding decisions, when the Council is determining a
grant application by any person or organisation.

(e) never accept a gift or hospitality which puts them under an improper
obligation.

(f) recognise that some commercial organisations and private individuals
see the provision of gifts and hospitality as a means of buying
influence. Accepting a gift or hospitality improperly may open Officers
and Members to the risk of being persuaded to determine an issue in
favour of the organisation or individual providing that offer. Equally, if
others note that a Member or Officer has accepted a gift or hospitality
improperly, they may feel that they will no longer be able to secure
impartial consideration from the Council.

5.11.13 When may gifts and hospitality be accepted?

(@) The Council has agreed that, provided the general principles set out in
paragraph 5.12.3 are not breached, Members and Officers may accept
offers of gifts and / or hospitality in the following circumstances:

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

civic hospitality provided by another public authority;

modest refreshment in connection with any meeting in the
ordinary course of a Member or Officer's work, such as tea,
coffee, soft drinks and biscuits;

tickets for sporting, cultural and entertainment events which are
sponsored by the Council;

small gifts of low intrinsic value below £25, branded with the
name of the company or organisation making the gift, such as
pens, pencils, mouse pads, calendars and diaries. Such items
should not be displayed if this might be taken as an indication
of favour to a particular supplier or contractor, for example in
the course of a procurement exercise;

a modest working lunch in the course of a business meeting in
the offices of a third party where this is required in order to
facilitate the conduct of that business;

modest souvenir gifts with a value below £25 from another
public authority given on the occasion of a visit by or to that
authority;

(vii) hospitality received in the course of an external visit or meeting

which has been duly authorised by the Council; and

Page 220 88



(viii) other unsolicited gifts, where it is impracticable to return them to

the person or organisation making the gift.

(b) Gifts and / or hospitality accepted in accordance with the above
general consents need not be recorded further.

(c) Any offer of a gift or hospitality which does not fall within any of the
general consents set out in paragraph 5.12.5(a) above, must be
handled in accordance with paragraph 5.12.6.

5.11.14 How should offers of gifts and hospitality be reported and recorded?

(a) If a Member or an Officer receives an offer on behalf of the Council

which falls outside the general consents set out in paragraph 5.12.5,
regardless of value, they must:

(i)

(ii)

consider whether it is appropriate for the Council to accept the
offer (in terms of whether the acceptance or the gift might be
seen as putting the Council under any improper obligation,
whether there is a real benefit to the Council which would
outweigh any disbenefits); and

consult the Monitoring Officer directly about the offer, providing
a view as to whether the gift or hospitality should be accepted.

(b) Offers of gifts or hospitality with an estimated market value of £25 or
greater must, as soon as possible after receipt of the offer, be notified
to the Monitoring Officer via the relevant form on the intranet as to:

(i)

(if)
(iif)

(iv)

v)

the nature of the gift or hospitality and their estimate of its
market value;

who the invitation or offer has been made by or on behalf of;

the connection which they have with the person or organisation
making the offer or invitation (“the Offeror”), such as any work
that person or organisation has undertaken for the Council in
which the Member or Officer has been involved,;

any work, permission, concession or facility the Offeror may
seek from the Council; and

any special circumstances, which lead the Member or Officer to
believe that acceptance of the gift or hospitality may or may not
be improper.

Declared information will be retained for audit purposes.

() Where an Officer or Member is concerned that, even though the value
of the gift or hospitality is less than £25, its acceptance might be
misinterpreted, and particularly where it comes from a contractor or

Page 221 89



(d)

(€)

(f)

tenderer, they may make a voluntary declaration in the same manner
as set out in section 5.12(6)(b) to promote transparency.

The Monitoring Officer will determine, in consultation with the Head of
Paid Service if appropriate, whether to accept or reject the offer and
ensure that the Offeror is contacted to thank them for the gift and
inform them that it has been either:

(i) donated to the Elected Mayor’s Charity Fund, on whose behalf
it will be raffled or otherwise disposed of in due course, the

proceeds being devoted to a charitable cause chosen by the
Mayor; or

(i) retained by the relevant Member or Officer; or

(i) rejected and seek confirmation as to how the gift or hospitality
can be returned.

The Monitoring Officer will retain the details of all declarations in
relation to offers of gifts and hospitality in a register which will be
available for public inspection.

It is the responsibility of the individual Member or Officer making the
declaration to the Monitoring Officer to provide all relevant information
and ensure that the declaration is recorded in the register.

Page 222 90



6 The Mayor and the Executive

This section explains the function of the Executive, which includes the Mayor as its
leader. It also sets out the role of the Deputy Mayor and the Executive Procedure
Rules (EPR).

6.1 What is the role of the Executive?

The Executive is appointed to carry out all the Council’s functions which are
not the responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by law or
under this Constitution.

6.2 What form does the Executive take?
The Executive consists of the Mayor and at least two, but not more than
nine, Councillors.

The Mayor

6.3 Is the Mayor elected in the same way as Councillors?

The Mayor is not elected to represent a ward like councillors are, rather they
are elected by the whole Borough to lead the Council in the position of
Mayor of the Council — see further paragraph 5.3 .

6.4 Is the Mayor a Councillor?

6.4.1 The directly elected Mayor is not a Councillor but the same rules apply to
the Mayor and councillors unless the law or context requires otherwise?. In
particular, the Mayor:

(c) is subject to the same rules about qualification and disqualification as
Councillors;

(d) may be a member of, attend and speak at any meeting of the Council,
its Committees and sub-committees, except the Overview and Scrutiny
Board and its sub-committees. The Mayor may only speak at an
Overview and Scrutiny Board or sub-committee when invited to do so
and may not vote at those meetings; and

(e) is subject to the same rules about casual vacancies as apply to all
Councillors.

28 The Local Authorities (Elected Mayor and Mayor’s Assistant) (England) Regulations 2002,
paragraph 2.

Page 223 91



6.4.2

6.4.3

6.5

6.6

6.7

All relevant provisions of this Constitution apply to the Mayor in the same
way as to Councillors except as otherwise stated.

The Mayor is the only person entitled to use the title of “Mayor”.

Can the Mayor stand for election as a Councillor well as standing for
election to the role of directly elected Mayor?

An individual can stand for election to the office of Councillor and that of
directly elected Mayor when elections take place at the same time?°,

What happens if the Mayor ceases to hold office?

If the Mayor ceases to be Mayor before the end of their term of office, the
Deputy Mayor will act as Mayor until an election is held. The election must
be held within 35 days of notification of the vacancy.

What is the Mayor’s role?

In addition to the role of a Member, the Mayor’s role includes:

(@)
(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)
(f)

(9)

(h)
()

acting as the Council’s principal public spokesperson;
providing overall strategic direction to the Council;

appointing the Executive and the Deputy Mayor;

deciding on the scheme of delegation for Executive functions;
chairing meetings of the Executive;

representing the Council on external bodies and / or appointing to
outside bodies for Executive Functions;

proposing the Budget and Policy Framework and any amendments
to those documents;

promoting local strategic partnerships; and

acting as the Council’s representative on the Tees Valley Combined
Authority.

The Deputy Mayor

6.8

How is the Deputy Mayor appointed?

6.8.1 At the first Annual Meeting of the Council after their election, the Mayor will
confirm which Executive Member shall be Deputy Mayor.

29

Subject to Section 9HA of the Local Government Act 2000

Page 224 92



6.8.2

6.8.3

6.8.4

6.9
6.9.1

6.9.2

6.9.3

6.10

The Deputy Mayor will hold office until the end of the Mayor’s term of office
unless they:

(@) are nolonger a Member of the Council or the Executive;
(b) resign as Deputy Mayor; or
(c) are removed from the position by the Mayor.

If the position of Deputy Mayor is vacant, the Mayor shall appoint another
Deputy Mayor to fill the position.

The Deputy Mayor is the only person entitled to use the title of “Deputy
Mayor”.

What is the Deputy Mayor’s role?

The Deputy Mayor will step into the role of Mayor if the Mayor is for any
reason unable to act, or if the office of Mayor is vacant. The Deputy Mayor
will act as Mayor until the Mayor is able to act, or the office of Mayor is filled.

If the Deputy Mayor is unable to act as described above, the Executive will
act as Mayor, or appoint a member of the Executive to do so.

The Deputy Mayor is also the Mayor’s deputy as representative on the Tees
Valley Combined Authority.

How is the Deputy Mayor removed from office?

Only the Mayor may remove the Deputy Mayor from office. The Mayor
should report any removal of the Deputy Mayor to the Proper Officer and
inform the next ordinary meeting of the Council.

The Executive

6.11
6.11.1

6.11.2
6.11.3
6.11.4

6.12
6.12.1

6.12.2

Who can be appointed to the Executive?

The Mayor will appoint their Executive from among the Councillors, subject
to paragraph 6.2.

No Member may be co-opted to the Executive.
Executive Members may not have deputies or substitutes.

The Chair and the Vice Chair of the Council may not sit on the Executive.

How are Executive Members appointed?

Subject to section 6.2, the Mayor will decide the size and composition of the
Executive. Executive Members do not need to belong to a political group
and the Executive need not reflect the political balance of the Council.

Executive Members will hold office until:

(a) their appointment is terminated by the Mayor;

Page 225 93



6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

(b) they resign from the Executive; or

(c) they are no longer a Councillor.

What happens if the Executive is unable to act?
If all the Executive Members are unable to act for any reason, the Council
will appoint an interim Executive to discharge the Executive Functions.

How will the proceedings of the Executive be conducted?
Proceedings of the Executive will take place in accordance with the
Executive Procedure Rules set out at paragraph 6.17.

Who is responsible for the discharge of Executive Functions?

The Mayor will maintain a list setting out who is responsible for discharging
Executive Functions (individual Executive Members, Executive Committees,
Officers or Joint Arrangements) known as the Executive Scheme of
Delegation, which is set out at Part C of Section 10.

Which parts of the Constitution are Executive arrangements?

The following sections of this Constitution are the Executive arrangements:

(@) Section 6 — The Mayor and the Executive (including the Executive
Procedure Rules);

(b) Section 7 — Overview and Scrutiny (including the Overview and
Scrutiny Procedure Rules);

(c) Section 10 — Responsibility for Functions — Part C and D (executive
delegations);

(d) Section 11 — Alternative Service Delivery Vehicles;
(e) Section 13 — Decision-Making;

()  Section 14 — Access to Information Procedure Rules.

Page 226 94



6.17 The Executive Procedure Rules

The arrangements for the discharge of executive functions are determined by the
Mayor and noted by Full Council. The Mayor has adopted these Executive
Procedure Rules (‘EPR’) to provide clarity and structure to the discharge of the
executive functions. Accordingly, the EPR apply to the operation of Executive
Committees in the same way as they apply to the Executive, and references to the
Mayor shall be understood as references to the Chair of the relevant executive
committee.

Exercise of Executive Functions
6.17.1 Who can make Executive decisions and how will the arrangements be
publicised?

(i) Executive Functions may be exercised by the Mayor personally or they
may delegate authority to exercise Executive Functions on their behalf
(to the extent they determine) to one or more of the following:

(i) the Executive as a whole;

(i) an Executive Committee;

(i) an Executive Member,

(iv) an Officer;

(v) an Executive Joint Arrangement; or

(vi) the Executive of another local authority.

() The Mayor will present the Full Council with a record of the Executive
delegations they have made for inclusion in the Scheme of
Delegations. The record presented to the Council must contain the
following information:

(i)  the names, contact details and Wards of the people appointed
to the Executive by the Mayor;

(i)  the extent of any authority delegated to each of those
Executive Members individually, including the limit on that
authority;

(i) the terms of reference and constitution of any Executive
Committees appointed by the Mayor and the names of the
Executive Members who have been appointed to those
Committees;

(iv) the nature and extent of any delegation of Executive Functions
to any other local authority or joint arrangement, and the names
of any Executive Member appointed to a joint committee; and

Page 227 95



(k)

()

(m)

(n)

(v) the nature and extent of any delegation of Executive Functions
to Officers, including any limit on that delegation, and the title of
the Officer to whom the delegation is made.

The Mayor may amend the delegation of Executive Functions at any
time by written notice setting out the change to be made to:

(i) the Proper Officer; and
(i) the person, body or committee concerned.

The notice must set out the extent of the amendment to the scheme of
delegation including any withdrawal of delegation from any person,
body or committee.

Where the Mayor withdraws or changes a delegation to an Executive
Committee, notice of this change to the Chair of the Executive
Committee will be deemed to be notice to that Executive Committee.

The Proper Officer shall inform all Councillors of any change to the
Executive Scheme of Delegation within five days and report it at the
next ordinary meeting of the Council.

Any change to the Executive Scheme of Delegation takes effect on the
date nominated by the Mayor.

6.17.2 Can the Executive sub-delegate authority delegated to it?

(@)

(b)

()

The Executive may sub-delegate a delegated authority to an Executive
Committee, an Officer, any Joint Arrangement, or another local
authority, unless the Mayor directs otherwise.

An Executive Committee may sub-delegate a delegated authority to an
Officer, unless the Mayor directs otherwise.

The delegation of an Executive Function does not prevent the
delegator from exercising the Executive Function.

Conflicts Of Interest

6.17.3 What happens if the Mayor or Executive Member(s) have a conflict of
Interest?

(@)

(b)

(€)

If the Mayor has a conflict of interest in relation to an Executive matter,
this should be dealt with in accordance with the Member Code of
Conduct at paragraph 8.9.

If every Executive Member has a conflict of interest in relation to an
Executive matter this should be dealt with as set out in the Member
Code of Conduct in paragraph 8.9.

If a conflict of interest arises in relation to the exercise of an Executive
Function delegated to a committee of the Executive, an individual

Page 228 96



member or an officer, the function will be exercised in the first instance
by the delegator and otherwise as set out in the Member Code of
Conduct in paragraph 8.9.

Meetings Of The Executive

6.17.4 When and where are Executive meetings held?

(&) The Executive shall meet at least 10 times a year on the dates and
times determined by the Mayor. The meeting shall take place at the
Council’'s main offices or another location determined by the Mayor.

(b) Meetings of the Executive shall be convened in accordance with the
Access to Information Procedure Rules in Section 14.
6.17.5 What are the notice requirements for meetings of the Executive?
(&) The Mayor will notify the Proper Officer of the meeting arrangements.

(b) The Proper Officer will issue the summons to the meetings in
accordance with the provisions of the Access to Information Procedure
Rules at Section 14.

(c) The Access to Information Procedure Rules set out the arrangements
for access to the agenda and reports for each meeting.
6.17.6 What is the quorum for an Executive meeting?
The quorum at any meeting of the Executive, or any Committee of the
Executive, is three.
6.17.7 Who Chairs a meeting of the Executive?

If the Mayor is present at a meeting of the Executive, they will act as the
chair. In the Mayor’s absence, the Deputy Mayor will preside. In the
absence of both, the Executive shall elect a chair for the meeting.

6.17.8 Who may attend Executive meetings?

(@) Members of the public are entitled to attend public Executive
meetings2 in accordance with the provisions of the Access to
Information Procedure Rules set out at Section 14.

(b) Members of the public may be excluded from a private meeting or part
of a public meeting for reasons set out in the Access to Information
Procedure Rules at paragraph 14.11.

30 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)
(England) Regulations 2012, Part 2

Page 229 97


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/part/2/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/part/2/made

(©)

(d)

Other Councillors, Officers and external stakeholders may be invited to
meetings of the Executive at the Mayor’s discretion. For Executive
Committees, such invitations are at the discretion of the chair of the
relevant Committee.

Statutory Chief Officers are entitled to attend any Executive meeting,
whether public or private.

6.17.9 Who decides if a meeting will be held in public or in private?

The Executive will decide whether meetings relating to matters which are
not Key Decisions will be held in public or private.

6.17.10 How

are private meetings of the Executive convened?

Private Executive meetings are convened in accordance with the provisions
of the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out at paragraph 14.15.

6.17.11 What business is transacted at Executive meetings?

At each meeting of the Executive, the following business will be conducted:

(@)
(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)
(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)
6.17.12 Who
(@)

(b)

consideration of the minutes of the last meeting;
declarations of interest, if any;

announcements from the Mayor;

guestions on notice from members of the public;
guestions on notice from Councillors;

matters referred to the Executive (whether by the Overview and
Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny Panel, or by Full Council) for
reconsideration in accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny
Procedure Rules set out in Section 7 or the Budget and Policy
Framework Procedure Rules set out in Section 15;

consideration of reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a
Scrutiny Panel;

reports from Member bodies which are the responsibility of the
Executive; and

matters set out in the agenda for the meeting.

can put items on the Executive agenda?

The Mayor can put any matter on the agenda of any Executive meeting
whether or not authority has been delegated to the Executive, a
committee of it or any member or officer in respect of that matter.

Any member of the Executive may require the Proper Officer to make
sure that an item is placed on the agenda of the next available meeting
of the Executive for consideration.

Page 230 98



(c) The Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and / or the Chief
Finance Officer may include an item for consideration on the agenda of
an Executive meeting and may require that such a meeting be
convened in pursuance of their statutory duties.

Executive Reports

6.17.13 What information should Executive reports contain?

All reports to the Executive requiring a decision should comply with the
provisions of paragraph 13.9.

Questions
6.17.14 Questions from the public

(@) Members of the public may ask questions of the Mayor and Executive
Members about any matter listed on the agenda for a meeting of the
Executive. Notice of the question must be given by delivering it in
writing or by electronic mail to the Proper Officer no later than 5.00 pm
three clear days before the date of the meeting.

(b) Questions on notice from the public will be asked at the time that the
agenda item concerned is being considered.

(c) Each question must give the name and address of the questioner.

()  One supplemental question may be asked arising from the answer to
the question.

6.17.15 Questions from Councillors

(&) A Councillor may ask questions of the Mayor or Executive Members at
a meeting of the Executive provided that:

(1) notice of the question has been given in writing or by
electronic mail to the Proper Officer no later than 5.00 pm
three clear days before the date of the meeting;

(i) the Councillor identifies the capacity in which the question is
being asked (i.e. Ward Councillor, Committee Member etc);

(@) The Councillor may ask one supplementary question arising from the
answer.

6.17.16 Questions Generally

(@) Questions should specify to whom the question is addressed. Any
guestions not identifying a responder will be answered by the most
appropriate Executive Member, determined by the Mayor.

(b) The Mayor shall decide if a question (from a Member or the public) is
appropriate to be raised at an Executive meeting.

Page 231 99



(©)

(d)

(€)

()
(9)

(h)

()

()

(k)

The Mayor, on the advice of the Monitoring Officer, may reject a
guestion if any of the criteria set out at paragraph 4.8.7(b) of the
Council Procedure Rules apply.

Accepted questions will immmediately be sent to the Executive Member
it has been put to.

Rejected questions will have the reason for rejection provided to the
guestioner.

Questioners will be allowed two minutes to ask their question.

The Mayor will invite the questioner to put the question. An absent
guestioner may ask the Mayor to put the question on their behalf. The
Mayor may ask the question on the questioner’s behalf, indicate that
a written reply will be given or decide, in the absence of the
guestioner, that the question will not be dealt with.

The responding Executive Member will be allowed three minutes to
respond to the question put to them.

Unless the Mayor decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on
any question.

An answer may take the form of:
(i) adirect oral answer at the meeting;

(i)  where the desired information is in a publication of the Council
or other published work, a reference to that publication; or

(i)  where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written
answer to the questioner, published by the Council.

The questions asked at the meeting, and the responses, will be
referred to in the minutes of the meeting.

Key Decisions and the Forward Work Programme

6.17.17 Where are the provisions for taking Key Decisions set out?

(@)

(b)

The definition of a Key Decision is contained within the Decision
Making Section at Section 13.

Details on the processes and information around Key Decisions are set
out in the Decision Making Section (Section 13) and the Access to
Information Procedure Rules (Section 14).

Page 232 100



(c) Details on challenging Key Decisions are contained within the
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules®.

(@) All Key Decisions are Executive Functions.
6.17.18 How will the intention to take a Key Decision be publicised?

The intention to take a Key Decision will be published in accordance with
the provisions set out at paragraph 13.12.

6.17.19 What does the Forward Work Programme contain?

(@) The Forward Work Programme will contain the following details, in so
far as the information is available or might reasonably be obtained:

(i) the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made;

(i) where the decision taker is an individual, their name and title (if
any), and where the decision taker is a body, its name and
details of its membership;

(i) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will
be taken;

(iv) the identity of the principal groups whom the decision taker
proposes to consult before taking the decision;

(v) the means by which any such consultation is proposed to be
undertaken;

(vi) the steps any person might take who wishes to make
representations to the Executive or the decision taker about the
matter in respect of which the decision is to be made, and the
date by which those steps must be taken; and

(vii) a list of the documents submitted to the decision taker for
consideration in relation to the matter.

(b) The Forward Work Programme will also contain matters which are
non-Key Decisions but are considered to be of significance to the
Council however non-Key Decisions are not subject to any notification
timescale.

6.17.20 How and when can Key Decisions be challenged?

sl Commonly referred to as “call-in”

Page 233 101



The provisions for calling-in Key Decisions are set out within the Overview
and Scrutiny Procedure Rules commencing at paragraph 7.6.17.

Page 234 102



7 Overview And Scrutiny

Overview and Scrutiny? is a statutory function which counterbalances the power
given to councils operating executive models of governance. This section provides
information as to how this obligation will be discharged by the Council.

4.1
7.1.1

7.1.2

7.1.3

4.2
7.2.1

32

33

What is Overview and Scrutiny?

The Council is required by law to discharge overview and scrutiny functions,
which it does by appointing powerful Overview and Scrutiny committees
(called Scrutiny Panels). The scrutiny panels report to an Overview and
Scrutiny Board. Together, they contribute to the development of Council
policies and hold the Executive to account for its decisions. These functions
are an essential component of local democracy.

In discharging its overview and scrutiny function, the Council must have
regard to statutory guidance3?® and the four principles of good scrutiny:

(@) Provide constructive “critical friend” challenge;

(b) Amplify the voices and concerns of the public;

(c) Be led by independent people who take responsibility for their role;
(d) Drive improvement in public services.

Scrutiny should therefore be carried out in a constructive way and contribute
to the delivery of efficient and effective Council services that meet the needs
and aspirations of local citizens, fulfilling the Council Plan. Scrutiny panels
should not shy away from challenging and questioning decisions and
making constructive criticism. The overview and scrutiny process should not
be political.

What is the role of Overview and Scrutiny?

The Council has appointed an Overview and Scrutiny Board (see paragraph
10.12) which is responsible for:

(@) reporting annually to Council on the workings of the overview and
scrutiny process;

Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-

councils-combined-authorities-and-combined-county-authorities

Page 235 103


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-combined-authorities-and-combined-county-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-combined-authorities-and-combined-county-authorities

(b) reviewing and scrutinising decisions made, or actions taken, in
connection with the discharge of any of the Council’s functions whether
by the Executive or another part of the Council,

(c) making reports or recommendations to the Council or the Executive in
connection with the discharge of any Executive Function;

(d) considering any matter which affects the Borough or its citizens;

(e) exercising the right to call-in for reconsideration of decisions made but
not yet implemented by the Executive and Officers;

(f) assisting in conducting reviews of the budget and policy framework
and its implementation; and

(g) responding to Executive consultation requests.

7.2.2  The Council confers its powers of overview and scrutiny, including the
power of referral to the Secretary of State for Health, to the health scrutiny
joint committees for the region®*, which will:

(@) advise the Council on arrangements for undertaking health
scrutiny jointly with other authorities, particularly in respect of
regional and specialist services, or where NHS bodies do not have
coterminous boundaries with the Council;

(b) advise the Council on protocols for how any joint health scrutiny
arrangements might operate;

(c) require an officer of a local NHS body to attend to answer
guestions about matters under review; and

(d) make reports and / or recommendations to local NHS bodies and
to the local authority.

4.3 What are the overview and scrutiny functions?

Policy Development and Review

7.3.1  The Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny panels may, within their
terms of reference:

(a) assist the Council and the Executive in the development of the budget
and policy framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues;

(b) conduct research, including community and other consultation in the
analysis of policy issues, impacts and possible options;

34 The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny)
Regulations 2013, section 21

Page 236 104



(©)

(d)

(€)

Scrutiny

consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance
community participation in the development of policy options;

guestion Executive Members, Committees and appropriate Officers
about issues or proposals affecting the Borough, including budget
proposals;

liaise with organisations operating in the area, whether national,
regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are
enhanced by collaborative working.

7.3.2  The Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny panels may, within their
terms of reference:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

(f)

review and scrutinise decisions made by, and performance of, the
Executive, Committees and Officers, both in relation to individual
decisions and over time;

review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its
policy objectives, performance targets and / or particular Services;

guestion Executive Members, Committees and appropriate Officers
about their decisions and performance, whether generally in
comparison with service plans and targets over a period of time, or in
relation to particular decisions, initiatives or projects;

make recommendations to the Executive and / or the Council arising
from the outcome of the scrutiny process;

review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the
Borough that have responsibilities for services to, and the health and
well-being of, the community, and invite reports from them by
requesting them to address the Overview and Scrutiny Board or
scrutiny panels and local people about their activities and performance;
and

in furtherance of any of the above, question and gather evidence from
any person (with their consent).

Finance and Resources

7.3.3  The Overview and Scrutiny Board will contribute to the oversight of the
budget allocated to the scrutiny function.

7.3.4  The Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny panels may exercise their
powers, utilising the resourcing support model the Council has put in place.

Annual report

Page 237 105



7.3.5 The Overview and Scrutiny Board must report annually to Full Council on
their workings with recommendations for their future work programme and
amended working methods, if appropriate.

4.4 How are the proceedings of the Overview and Scrutiny Board
managed?

Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny committees will conduct their
proceedings in accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
set out in this section 7. In doing so they will champion:

(@) Accountability — an environment where responsibility for services and
decisions is clear and where those holding responsibility can and are
answerable for success and failure;

(b) Transparency — the publication, proactively, of information relating to
services and decisions to allow local people, and others, to hold
policymakers and decision-makers to account;

(c) Involvement — rules, principles and processes whereby a wide range of
stakeholders (including elected representatives) can play active roles
in holding to account, and influencing and directing the development of

policy.
4.5 What are Scrutiny Panels and how are they managed?

7.5.1  The Overview and Scrutiny Board will determine the number and format of
its sub-committees, known as Scrutiny Panels, to be appointed and their
terms of reference. Scrutiny Panels must:

(&) be politically balanced;
(b) not include the Chair or any Executive Member;
and can co-opt individuals as appropriate.

7.5.2  The Council also participates in regional health scrutiny joint committees as
follows:

(@) Durham, Darlington, Teesside, Hambleton, Richmondshire and
Whitby Sustainability and Transformation Plan Joint Overview and
Scrutiny Committee;

(b) North East Joint Health Scrutiny Committee;
(c) South Tees Health Scrutiny Joint Committee;
(d) Tees Valley Health Scrutiny Joint Committee.

7.5.3 The terms of reference for each of the overview and scrutiny arrangements
set out above are contained within the Responsibility for Functions at Part B
of Section 10.

Page 238 106



Overview And Scrutiny Procedure Rules

These Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out the rules of procedure and
debate that apply to the Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny panels appointed
by the Council.

7.6.1 What are the arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny?

(@) The Council will have an Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny
panels as set out in this Section 7.

(b)  The Full Council will appoint the members of any “standing” scrutiny
panels at Annual Council and thereafter as appropriate from time to
time. The Overview and Scrutiny Board may appoint sub-committees
on an ad hoc basis.

(c)  The Council or the Overview and Scrutiny Board may also appoint
additional scrutiny panels to undertake specific time-limited reviews.
These scrutiny panels may be appointed for a fixed period on the
expiry of which they shall cease to exist.

7.6.2 Who can be a member of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a scrutiny
panel?

(&) Any Member, apart from Executive Members and the Chair, can be
appointed to the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a scrutiny panel.

(b) No Member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which they
have been directly involved.

(c) Where the relevant chair considers it appropriate, religious group
representatives and parent governor representatives will be appointed
to the Overview and Scrutiny Board and to any scrutiny panel whose
remit includes responsibility for the scrutiny of education. They may
also be invited to attend any other scrutiny panel considering education
and related matters if the chair deems it necessary or appropriate.
Such representatives, when appointed, will have the right to participate
in any meeting that considers education and related matters and shall
be entitled to vote on any question:

(i)  which relates to any education functions which are the
responsibility of the Executive; and

(i)  which falls to be considered at the meeting.

7.6.3 What are the arrangements for meetings?

Page 239 107



(@) The Overview and Scrutiny Board will, as a minimum, meet on six
occasions in each municipal year, on dates, and at venues, determined
by the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board.

(b) Additional meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Board may be called
as and when considered appropriate by:

(i) the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or the relevant
scrutiny panel;

(i) any five Members (including voting Co-Opted Members, where
they have been appointed) of the Overview and Scrutiny Board
or the relevant scrutiny panel; or

(i) the Proper Officer.

(c) The standing scrutiny panels will each meet at least six times in a
municipal year, on dates and at venues to be determined by the
relevant chair in consultation with the Proper Officer.

(d) Ad hoc scrutiny panels will meet on dates, and at venues, to be
determined by the relevant chair in consultation with the Proper Officer.

7.6.4 What is the quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny
Panel meetings?

The quorum for Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny panel meetings is
the greater of three or one quarter of the whole membership (including, in
respect of education matters, Co-Opted Members).

7.6.5 Who chairs Overview and Scrutiny meetings?

(a) Chairs and Vice Chairs of committees are appointed by Annual
Council.

(b) The Overview and Scrutiny Board will nominate a Chair and Vice Chair
for any ad hoc committee it appoints.

(c) Inthe absence of a Chair the Vice-Chair can exercise the powers of
the Chair.

Management of the Overview and Scrutiny process

7.6.6 How is the Overview and Scrutiny Board work programme set?

(&) The Overview and Scrutiny Board is responsible for setting its own
work programme, and that of the scrutiny panels. In setting the work
programme, the Overview and Scrutiny Board shall take into account
the:

() wishes of members of all political parties represented in its
membership;

Page 240 108



(i)  decisions, timetable for decisions and intentions for
consultation published by the Executive.

(b) The Overview and Scrutiny Board will:

()  where matters fall within the remit of more than one scrutiny
panel, decide which scrutiny panel will assume responsibility,
or undertake the scrutiny itself;

(i) ensure that referrals to the Executive, either by way of report or
for reconsideration, are managed efficiently and do not exceed
the limits set out in this Constitution;

(ii) at the request of the Executive, prioritise referrals if reports to
the Executive exceed the limits in this Constitution, or if the
volume of such reports creates difficulty for the management of
Executive business, or jeopardises the efficient running of
Council business.

7.6.7 How are items added to the Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny
panel meeting agendas?

(@) Any member of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a scrutiny panel
shall be entitled to submit relevant items3® to the Proper Officer for
inclusion on the agenda for the next available meeting. Seven clear
days notice of the item should be given together with sufficient
information to enable the Proper Officer to advise about the nature and
purpose of the item.

(b) Reports and findings from scrutiny panels will be considered by the
next Overview and Scrutiny Board, unless this is within seven clear
days of the next meeting, in which case it may be deferred to the next
available meeting.

(c) The Overview and Scrutiny Board will respond, as soon as the work
programme permits, to requests from the Council and / or the
Executive to review particular areas of Council activity. They will report
their findings and any recommendations back to the Executive and / or
Council. The Council and / or the Executive shall consider such a
report within one month of receiving it.

7.6.8 What business will a scrutiny meeting consider?

35 Section 9F(2) and 9FC of the Local Government Act 2000 in conjunction with the Overview and
scrutiny: statutory guidance for councils, combined authorities and combined county authorities
published on 22 April 2024

Page 241 109


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-combined-authorities-and-combined-county-authorities/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-combined-authorities-and-combined-county-authorities#chapter6
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-combined-authorities-and-combined-county-authorities/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-combined-authorities-and-combined-county-authorities#chapter6
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-combined-authorities-and-combined-county-authorities/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-combined-authorities-and-combined-county-authorities#chapter6

The Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny panels shall consider the
following business:

(@)
(b)
(€)

(d)

(e)

minutes of the last meeting;
declarations of interest;

consideration of any matter referred to the Board or Committee for a
decision in relation to call in of a decision;

responses of the Executive to reports of the Overview and Scrutiny
Board;

the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting.

7.6.9 What is the role of Overview and Scrutiny in policy review and
development?

(@)

(b)

()

The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Board in relation to the
development of the Council’'s Budget and Policy Framework is set out
in detail in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules at
Section 15.

In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other
matters not forming part of its Budget and Policy Framework, the
Overview and Scrutiny Board may make proposals to the Executive
for developments in so far as they relate to matters within their terms
of reference.

The Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny panels may hold
inquiries and investigate the available options for future direction in
policy development and may appoint advisers and assessors to assist
them in this process. They may go on site visits, conduct public
surveys, hold public meetings, commission research and do all other
things that they reasonably consider necessary to inform their
deliberations. They may ask witnesses to attend to address them on
any matter under consideration and may pay to any advisers,
assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee and expenses for doing
So.

7.6.10 To what documents do members of the Overview and Scrutiny Board
and Scrutiny Panels have access?

(@)

(b)

In addition to their rights as Councillors, members of the Overview and
Scrutiny Board and scrutiny panels have additional rights to
documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in the Access to
Information Procedure Rules at Section 14.

Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the
Executive and the Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny panels,

Page 242 110



as appropriate, depending on the particular matter under
consideration.

7.6.11 When and how can Members and Officers be called to give account?

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

The Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny panels may scrutinise
and review decisions made or actions taken in connection with the
discharge of any Council function. As well as reviewing documentation,
in fulfilling the Overview and Scrutiny role, they may require the Mayor,
any Executive Member, the Head of Paid Service, any Chief Officer or
Deputy Chief Officer to attend in relation to matters within their remit,
and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required.

Other officers may be requested to attend a meeting of the Overview
and Scrutiny Board or a scrutiny panel after consultation with the
relevant Chief Officer. Where there are concerns about the
appropriateness of the Officer who should attend, the relevant Chief
Officer shall discuss this with the chair or the vice chair of the Overview
and Scrutiny Board or the relevant Scrutiny Panel with a view to
achieving consensus. In the absence of consensus, the Head of Paid
Service shall determine who is the most appropriate Officer to attend.

Where any Member or Officer is required to attend any Overview and
Scrutiny Board or scrutiny panel meeting under this provision, the
Chair of that meeting will inform the Proper Officer. The Proper Officer
shall inform the Member or Officer in writing, giving at least five clear
days’ notice of the meeting at which they are required to attend. Any
notice will state the nature of the item on which they are required to
attend to give account and whether any papers are required to be
produced for the meeting.

Where the account to be given to the Overview and Scrutiny Board or
a scrutiny panel will require the production of a report, the Member or
Officer concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation
of that documentation.

Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or Officer is unable
to attend on the required date, the Overview and Scrutiny Board or
scrutiny panel shall, in consultation with the Member or Officer,
arrange an alternative date for attendance.

7.6.12 Who else can attend Overview and Scrutiny meetings?

(@)

The Overview and Scrutiny Board or a scrutiny panel may invite people
other than Members and Officers to address them, discuss issues of
local concern and / or answer questions, such as residents,
stakeholders and members and officers in other parts of the public
sector.

Page 243 111



(b)

(€)

(d)

The Chair and the Vice-Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board shall
be entitled to attend each scrutiny panel as an ex-officio member.

The Overview and Scrutiny Board or a scrutiny panel can request an
officer or representative of an outside body to attend to answer
questions about any scrutiny matter that is under review?36.

Any scrutiny panel set up to review and scrutinise health services may
require information to be provided by certain NHS bodies about the
planning, provision and operation of health services that is reasonably
needed to carry out health scrutiny and / or require employees
including non-executive directors of certain NHS bodies to attend
before them to answer questions.

7.6.13 What happens if a member of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a
Scrutiny Panel is subject to a party whip?

When considering any matter in respect of which a member of the Overview
and Scrutiny Board, or a scrutiny panel, is subject to a party whip, the
Member must declare the existence of the whip, and the nature of it before
the commencement of the deliberations on the matter. The declaration and
the detail of the whipping arrangements shall be recorded in the minutes of
the meeting.

7.6.14 What information will Overview and Scrutiny reports contain?

The reports and or recommendations prepared at the conclusion of an
overview and scrutiny process will:

(@)
(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)

explain the matters reviewed or scrutinised;
summarise the evidence received;

set out how relevant information has been considered,;
list the participants involved in the process;

identify any recommendations on the matter reviewed or scrutinised.

7.6.15 How will Overview and Scrutiny reports be considered?

36

(@)

Scrutiny panels will submit formal reports to the Overview and Scrutiny
Board for consideration before submission to the Executive, an
Executive Member or Full Council. In exceptional circumstances the
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board and the Chair of the Council

Health and Social Care Act 2001 and Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act

2007

Page 244 112



(b)

(€)

may agree that a report bypass consideration at the Overview and
Scrutiny Board.

The Overview and Scrutiny Board will submit reports with
recommendations to the Proper Officer for inclusion on the agenda of
the next available meeting of:

(i)  the Executive (if the proposals are consistent with the existing
Budget and Policy Framework); or

(i) Full Council (e.qg. if the recommendation would require a
departure from or a change to the agreed Budget and Policy
Framework).

The Council or the Executive shall consider the overview and scrutiny
report at their next available meeting — usually within eight weeks of it
being added to the agenda.

(i)  If the Executive fails to consider the overview and scrutiny
report within that time (unless it has considered the issues
during deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda), the
Executive shall notify the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny
Board of the reasons and the Proper Officer will call a meeting
of the Council to consider the overview and scrutiny report and
make recommendations to the Executive.

(iv) Where an overview and scrutiny report relates to a matter
delegated to an individual Executive Member, they shall have
four weeks to consider and respond in writing to the report
before attending a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Board
to present their response.

7.6.16 What are the arrangements for scrutiny of health matters?

Any Scrutiny Panel established to review and scrutinise health services shall
in addition to the above Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules:

(@)

(b)
()

have regard to regulations and guidance on health scrutiny matters
issued by the Secretary of State;

invite interested parties to comment on matters under review; and

take account of any relevant information available, including any
relevant information provided by a patients' forum.

Call-in procedure

7.6.17 What is call-in?

(@)

Executive decisions which have been made but not yet implemented
may be “called in” for consideration by a local authority’s scrutiny

Page 245 113



function®’. This includes decisions made by the Executive (collective,
individual or under joint arrangements) and Key Decisions which have
been delegated to Chief Officers.

(b) The Overview and Scrutiny Board has responsibility for managing the
call-in process as set out in these Overview and Scrutiny Procedure
Rules.

(c) The power to call-in a decision should be used in exceptional
circumstances only and not in respect of day-to-day management and
operational decisions.

7.6.18 Which decisions can be called-in?
The following decisions may be called-in:
(a) adecision taken collectively by the Executive;

(b) adecision taken by the Mayor or an individual Executive Member;
and

(c) aKey Decision taken by an Officer under delegated powers.
7.6.19 Which decisions cannot be called-in?
The following decisions may not be called-in:
(@) adecision to which section 7.6.18 does not apply;
(b) adecision that has been Called-in previously;

(c) adecision relating to a policy or budget matter which requires the
approval of Full Council;

(d) adecision that has been implemented following a recommendation
from the Overview and Scrutiny Board and / or a scrutiny panel;

(e) operational decisions taken by an officer (see paragraphs 13.10 to
13.15);

(f) urgent decisions where the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Board
has agreed the grounds for urgency (see paragraph 13.12.)

7.6.20 When can call-in be triggered?

(@) Decisions in relation to Executive Functions must be published within
two clear days of the decision being made. All Members will be sent an
electronic notice of all such decisions. A record of these decisions will
also be published on the Council’s website.

37 Local Government Act 2000, section 9F and Localism Act 2011, Schedule 2

Page 246 114



(b)

(€)

(d)

(€)

The notice of executive decision will specify the date of publication of
the decision and that, if not called in, the decision will come into force
(and may be implemented) on the expiry of five clear days from the
date of publication.

During the five working day call-in period, any five Members (including
voting Co-opted Members in respect of education matters) may
request that the decision be called in for scrutiny by the Overview and
Scrutiny Board.

Decisions may be implemented from the sixth working day following
their publication unless a valid call-in has been received by Democratic
Services.

Call-in should only be used in exceptional circumstances when
Members believe that it is a proportionate step to benefit the delivery of
Services under the Budget and Policy Framework or will improve the
decision-making process.

7.6.21 What is the process for calling-in a decision?

(@)

(b)

()

A completed “Scrutiny Call-in Request Form” must be submitted to
Democratic Services by 4.00 pm on the fifth clear day after publication
of the relevant executive decision. The notice must contain the names
of the five non-Executive Members calling-in the decision along with
the reasons for the call-in (having regard to the principles of decision
making set out in Section 13. Members who have a prejudicial interest
in the decision may not sign a Call-in Form.

The Monitoring Officer will, in consultation with the chair of the
Overview and Scrutiny Board, determine the validity of the call-in as
soon as possible following receipt of the completed Scrutiny Call-in
Request Form.

The Monitoring Officer may reject a call-in request if, in their opinion,
the request does not demonstrate prima facie evidence of:

() inadequate consultation with stakeholders prior to the decision
being made;

(i) inadequate or inaccurate evidence being relied upon and / or
not all relevant matters being fully taken into account by the
decision-maker;

(i) a departure from the budget and policy framework;
(iv) the decision being disproportionate to the desired outcome;

(v) afailure to take into account the provisions of the Human
Rights Act 1998 and or the public sector equality duty;

Page 247 115



(vi) failure to consult with, take professional advice from, and have
regard to the advice of, relevant officers including the
Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer, or

(vii) the decision exceeds the powers or terms of reference of the
decision-maker responsible for the decision

or is vexatious, frivolous, or otherwise inappropriate.

(d) Democratic Services will notify the decision-maker and all Members of
the call-in and arrange a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny where
possible in consultation with the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny
Board, and in any event no later than 10 clear days from the date of
the Scrutiny Call-in Request Form.

(e) The signatories to the Scrutiny Call-in Request Form should attend the
Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting to explain the reasons for the
call-in.

7.6.22 Does call-in apply to urgent decisions?

(@) In exceptional circumstances there may be urgent decisions that must
be implemented immediately upon the decision being taken and a call-
in is therefore not possible. Such decisions must be identified by the
decision-maker at the time the decision is taken and the reasons
behind their urgency should be explained and reported in the record of
decision. The decision will be exempt from call-in if the decision-maker
has the agreement of:

(i)  the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board; or

(i) in the absence of the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny
Board, the Chair of the Council; or

(i) in the absence of the Chair, the Vice Chair of the Council.

(b)  Urgency will only be agreed if any delay in implementation likely to be
caused by the call-in process would seriously prejudice the interests of
the Council or the public.

(c) Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the next
available meeting of Full Council by the Chair of the Overview and
Scrutiny Board, together with the reasons for urgency.

7.6.23 How is a called in decision scrutinised?

(a) At a meeting to consider the call-in of a decision, the Overview and
Scrutiny Board will exercise its powers to scrutinise the decision that
has been called-in as follows:

Page 248 116



(b)

()

(d)

(e)

(i) after the Chair opens the meeting the members who asked for
the decision to be called in will be asked to explain their
reasons for the request and what they feel should be reviewed;

(i) on matters of relevance to a particular ward, ward members
who are not signatories to the call-in may address the meeting,
such speeches not to exceed five minutes each. They will take
no further part in the discussion or vote. Ward members must
register their desire to speak by contacting Democratic
Services by 12 noon one working day prior to the call-in
meeting;

(i) the relevant Executive Member(s) will then be invited to make
any comments;

(iv) the relevant Chief Officer or their representative will advise the
Board on the background and context of the decision and its
importance to achieving Service priorities;

(v) Board members will ask questions of members and officers in
attendance;

(vi) the Executive Members will be invited to make any final
comments on the matter.

Every effort will be made to deal with the call-in at the first meeting.
However, in exceptional circumstances, the meeting may be adjourned
to a fixed future date and time so that additional information can be
obtained and / or (with the consent of the chair of the meeting or the
relevant Executive Member) additional Members or Officers can be
required to attend.

If the meeting is adjourned as set out in section 7.6.23(b), the called-in
decision will be held in abeyance until the meeting is reconvened. If the
reconvened meeting is not held on the date set at the time of the
adjournment, the decision will take immediate effect on that date.

If the Overview and Scrutiny Board is of the opinion that an Executive
decision is, or if made would be, contrary to the Policy Framework, or
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget, then it shall
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer and / or the Chief Finance
Officer. The Monitoring Officer and / or the Chief Finance Officer will
prepare a report in respect of the issue, which will be presented to the
Executive with a copy to every member of the Council. Regardless of
whether the decision is delegated or not, the Executive must meet to
decide what action to take in respect of the report.

After considering the information provided, the Overview and Scrutiny
Board will make one of the following decisions:

Page 249 117



(f)

@

(h)

(i) take no further action, in which case the decision will take effect
immediately;

(i)  refer the decision back to the decision-maker for
reconsideration, setting out the nature of the Board’s concerns;
the decision-maker must then re-consider the matter with a
further ten clear days, taking into account the concerns of the
Overview and Scrutiny Board, before making a final decision;

(ii) refer the matter to full Council, in which case paragraph (f)
below will apply; or

(iv) refer the matter to a scrutiny panel for further consideration and
report back to the Board within a specified period not
exceeding 14 days, in which case the Board will, at its
reconvened meeting take one of the decisions set out above; if
the Board does not reconvene within 14 days or does
reconvene but does not refer the matter back to the decision
maker or to the full Council, the decision will take effect on the
date of the reconvened Board meeting or the expiry of that
further 14 day period, whichever is the earlier

If the matter is referred to Full Council and not objected to, no further
action is necessary and the decision will be effective in accordance
with the provision at paragraph (g) below. However, if the Council does
object, it has no locus to make decisions in respect of an Executive
decision unless it is contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to, or
not wholly consistent with, the budget (in which case the provisions of
paragraph (h) will apply. The Council will therefore refer any decision
to which it objects back to the decision maker, together with the
Council’s views on the decision. The decision-maker shall choose
whether to amend the decision or not before reaching a final decision
and implementing it. Where the decision was taken by the Executive, a
meeting will be convened to reconsider within ten clear days of the
Council request. Where the decision was made by an individual, the
individual will reconsider within ten clear days of the Council request.

If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the
decision back to the decision maker, the decision will become effective
on the date of the Council meeting or expiry of the period in which the
Council meeting should have been held, whichever is the earlier.

Where the called-in decision is determined by Full Council to be
contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in
accordance with the Budget, Council shall either:

() amend the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules or any relevant
policy to reflect the decision or proposal of the body or

Page 250 118



individual responsible for that Executive Function and agree to
the decision with immediate effect. In this case, no further
action is required save that the decision of the Council be
minuted and circulated to all Councillors in the normal way; or

(i) where the Full Council accepts that the decision or proposal is
contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in
accordance with the Budget, and does not amend the existing
Policy Framework to accommodate the decision, it may require
the Executive to reconsider the matter in accordance with the
advice of the Monitoring Officer and / or the Chief Finance
Officer.

7.6.24 What is expected of a decision maker reconsidering a decision referred
back to them?

(a) If adecision-maker does not accept the concerns of the body that
referred the decision back to it, it must provide full written reasons for
the rejection of the concerns to the next available meeting of the body
that referred the decision back to it.

(b) Whatever is determined by the decision-maker on reconsideration, the
subsequent decision will not be open to further call-in.

(c) If the decision-maker decides to withdraw the decision and place it
back on the Forward Work Programme for consideration at a later
date, the decision may then be subject to call-in when it is made.

Page 251 119



Councillor Call For Action Procedure and Guidance

Councillor Calls for Action (‘CCfA’) are one of a number of measures aimed at
empowering local people and communities, improving local democracy and
accountability and strengthening the role of Councillors as community leaders and
advocates.

7.6.25 What is a Councillor Call for Action (‘CCfA”)?

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

A CCfA gives powers38 to Councillors to help them tackle local
problems on behalf of their constituents by calling for consideration of
any issue of concern affecting their Ward by a Scrutiny Committee.

The CCfA gives Councillors a central role in holding Council services
and other agencies to account at a local level. It allows Councillors to
escalate issues where they cannot be resolved through discussions
with service providers and / or agencies, or otherwise at a local level.
The CCfA process involves asking the Overview and Scrutiny to
consider an issue in order to assist a Councillor in finding a resolution.

A CCfA may relate to any local government matter relating to any
Council function affecting a Councillor's Ward and / or constituents.
This includes matters relating to crime and disorder.

A CCfA should only be requested as a last resort. It should not be used
to address vexatious, persistent, unreasonable or discriminatory
matters, or to achieve actions for political reasons®°.

7.6.26 How is a CCfA different from a normal Overview and Scrutiny request?

38

39

(@)

CCfA requests are different from the Council’s normal Overview and
Scrutiny function in that:

(i) they are initiated by a Councillor in relation to issues of local
concern in their Ward;

(i)  they focus on neighbourhood and locality issues, specifically
the quality of service provision at a local level;

(i) they should relate to a genuine local community concern (as
judged by the Councillor); and

Section 119 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
Overview and Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 2012

Page 252 120


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1022/made

(b)

(iv) they should only be referred to the Overview and Scrutiny
Board as a last resort when the Councillor has been unable to
resolve the issue by other means.

Further information as to whether an issue is appropriate for a CCfA is
set out in the Annex at paragraph 7.7.6.

7.6.27 What is the process for submitting a CCfA

(@)

Democratic Services can advise on the CCfA process. It is preferable
for Councillors to seek out this advice before starting the process.

(b) The CCfA process is set out at Figure 2.

(€)

The CCfA Request Form can be provided by Democratic Services or
accessed via the Council’s website.

7.6.28 What is the role of Overview and Scrutiny in relation to a CCfA?

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

Legislation requires that matters requested under the CCfA process,
and in respect of which all required steps have been taken, are added
to the Overview and Scrutiny Board agenda and discussed. Once a
CCfA Request Form is submitted, and Democratic Services are
satisfied that they can complete the checklist appended to the CCfA
Request Form, the CCfA will be placed on the agenda of the next
available Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting.

There is no requirement for issues raised under a CCfA to be
scrutinised or for any action to be taken in relation to them?°,

While Councillors may request that matters are considered by
Overview and Scrutiny under a CCfA, Overview and Scrutiny will
ultimately decide if an issue will be addressed.

If a Scrutiny Panel decides not to exercise its powers in relation to a
CCfA, it must notify the Councillor who proposed the CCfA of its
decision and provide reasons for it. There is no right of appeal in
respect of a Scrutiny Panel’s decision not to exercise its powers, and
constituents may not appeal to the Executive.

The Scrutiny Panel considering a CCfA will provide the requesting
Councillor with a copy of any report and / or recommendations made to
the Council or the Executive.

40 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007

Page 253 121



Councillor resolves the
Local issue identified by: ——_— —¥| issue locally
sIndividual(s) —_——
*Partners or community groups =~ -
«Councillor S ~
~ - Councillor rejects Advice given on other
= .| consideration ofthe | _ _ __ __ »| available procedures
issue, and gives reasons e.g., complaints
v
Councillor determines that the wider
community interest may justify a CCfA
Counciller initiates CCfA and 3"’“""?’ Panel deadles to
submits request to Democratic Initiation resolves issue — take action and submits
Services by completing a CCfA = — — — —* CCfA closed report and/or i
“Glequ est Form recommendations to
Q) Council or Executive
«
D Council or Executive (as
N 1 appropriate) decides
- - - Councillor contacts Scrutiny whether to take action
ounc_lllor raises matter WIth relevant Support Team to add CCfA to
Executive Member and writes to Overview and Scrutiny Board Overview and Scrutiny
releyant Service Director fo explain .| agenda and provides report Board considers CCfA | Matter is considered by
the issue and set out desired outcome > *| and decides whether to v Scrutiny Panel
Democratic Services completes refer to Scrutiny Panel ~
checklist to confirm all steps have | \\
been completed Il “~ N
- - Scrutiny Panel decides
Overview and Scrutiny ~ -
Board decides not to refer ™ goélﬁjsféa'dls%ﬁ%%i!gﬂt;fc CIA
CCfA for scrutiny — CCfA appeal)
is closed (no right of
appeal)

Figure 2: Councillor Call for Action (CCfA)

122



7.6.29 What actions may the Overview and Scrutiny Board take in respect of a
CCfA?

(@) The Overview and Scrutiny Board may accept a CCfA as valid, in
which case it may:

(i) decide to take no action (giving reasons for doing so);
(i) refer the CCfA to the Ad Hoc Scrutiny Panel for consideration;

(iii) in the case of an issue relating to crime and disorder!, refer the
CCfA to the Scrutiny Panel that deals with such matters; or

(iv) In exceptional circumstances, refer the issue to another
Scrutiny Panel (for example, where a Scrutiny Panel is already
considering a similar issue).

(b) The Overview and Scrutiny Board will reject a CCfA if:

(i) theissue is currently being considered under the Council’s
complaints procedure;

(i)  Ward Councillor(s) have not explored the issue fully and
exhausted all avenues for resolution;

(i) the Overview and Scrutiny process will not add any value to the
work undertaken by Ward Councillor(s);

(iv) the matter has already been subject to Call-in; or

(v) the matter has been considered by the Overview and Scrutiny
Board (or a Scrutiny Panel), or the Executive within the
previous six months and there has been no change in
circumstances that warrants fresh consideration.

(c) If a CCfA is referred for scrutiny, the relevant Scrutiny Panel will, on
the advice of the Overview and Scrutiny Board, determine the
duration of any scrutiny investigation into a CCfA.

(d) The Overview and Scrutiny Board and / or a Scrutiny Panel’s only
power in relation to a CCfA is to refer the matter, if appropriate, to
the Council or the Executive, to consider its recommendations.

41 An issue will fall into this category where it relates to:

0] crime and disorder (including anti-social behaviour or other behaviour adversely
affecting the local environment;) or

(i)  the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances that affects the electoral area
represented by the Councillor, or the people who live and work in that area.

Page 255 123



(e) If the Council or the Executive, as appropriate, decides not to take any
action, the CCfA will be closed. The Overview and Scrutiny Board
cannot take any further action.

7.7.6 ANNEX

(&) Exhaustion of other avenues: Have all other possible avenues for resolving
the issue been exhausted?

Councillors should look to resolve issues by other means where possible
and remember that the CCfA process is only to be used as a last resort.
Councillors should consider appropriate means of resolution including:

(i) submitting a formal enquiry;

(i) advising residents to use the Council’s complaints procedure (and
assisting them to do so, where required);

(i) advising on the petition process; and
(iv) Call-in of Executive decisions (where appropriate).

(b) Initial issues: Are the concerns to do with the quality of public service
provision at a local level?

CCfAs are intended to address issues of broad concern in the community
relating to Council services. They can also address broader issues relating
to other public services. These might include matters such as:

()  anti-social behaviour;

(i)  community safety;

(i) health services;

(iv) issues relating to local schools.
(c) Aretheconcerns individual complaints?

CCfAs are not appropriate for dealing with individual complaints. If the
matter relates to a complaint, advice can be given about how this may be
best brought to the Council’s attention and dealt with.

(d) Do the concerns relate to individual ‘quasi-judicial’ decisions (e.g.
Planning or Licensing) or to Council Tax or Non-Domestic Rates?

CCfAs are not appropriate for dealing with these matters as they are subject
to other appeals processes. However, patterns of issues may be appropriate
to consider as a concern under a CCfA; for example, community concerns
about the proliferation of licensed premises in a local neighbourhood.

(e) Local Community Concern: Is the focus of concern on a neighbourhood
or locality issue?

Page 256 124



(f)

@

(h)

(i)

()

(k)

CCfAs focus on neighbourhood or locality issues. They provide a
mechanism for Ward Councillors to help resolve issues of concern in their
Wards. If the concern is of a more general nature, for example, about policy
or town-wide issues, a request for Overview and Scrutiny can still be made
in the usual way.

Is the issue a genuine local concern?

Councillors should ensure that concerns raised in their Ward are genuine
and widely held, and not just an individual constituent’s point of view or
‘hobby horse’. Establishing the views of other members of the community
will be essential in clarifying this.

Championing a Request: Is a CCfA the most appropriate way of resolving the
issue?

The core purpose of a CCfA is to assist in the resolution of local problems
and concerns. Before Councillors agree to champion a CCfA, they should
consider other appropriate courses of action such as complaints
procedures, Members’ enquiries or petitions.

Would an apology, explanation or an assurance about a particular
problem be enough to satisfy a community concern?

Where a Councillor raises an issue, an apology, an explanation, or an
assurance that an action will not be repeated might be given. If that
addresses the concerns identified, and further actions such as changes to
service provision are not required, then referral to Overview and Scrutiny
would not be appropriate.

What happens if the above are not appropriate or have not succeeded?

If other actions such as complaints, member enquiries or petitions are not
appropriate, have been tried without success, then Councillors might wish to
consider a CCfA. Pursuing a CCfA requires Councillors to:

()  raise the issue with any local interest groups;

(i)  facilitate an informal discussion meeting to consider residents’ views —
ensuring that ALL points of view are recorded and reported,;

(ii) raise the issue at Community Council, cluster group etc.;
(iv) discuss the issue with the appropriate Executive Member; and

(v) contact the Head of Service for the appropriate Service area.

Before starting down the CCfA route, Councillors should first register
with the Scrutiny Support Team their intent to action a CCfA.

The Reality: Is the use of the CCfA process being applied selectively?

(vi) Councillors should only agree to take on issues that have wide
support. It should be borne in mind that for every group of residents

Page 257 125



(vii)

that supports a particular scheme, there will probably be another group
that opposes it. Councillors should avoid setting themselves impossible
objectives.

CCfAs are not a pathway to additional funding. If the Council has
already decided not to take a particular course of action it might well be
that the funding is not available. Councillors should seek relevant
information BEFORE committing themselves to a particular course of
action.

Page 258 126



8 Standards

This section explains the Standards regime all Councillors, the Mayor and Co-opted
Members (collectively referred to as Members for the purpose of this section of the
Constitution) are required to comply with and how they are held to account in respect
of their conduct and behaviour.

1.1. What is the Standards regime?

The Council has adopted a Members’ Code of Conduct to which all
Members are required to adhere — see paragraph 8.9. The development of,
and compliance with, the Standards regime is monitored by the Standards
Committee.

1.2. Who sits on the Standards Committee?

8.2.1 The Standards Committee comprises nine councillors and is politically
balanced. The Mayor may not be a member of the Standards Committee.

8.2.2  Where the Standards Committee is considering a complaint against a
member of a Parish Council, and / or an agenda item concerning or
affecting a Parish Council, one member from each Parish Council in the
Borough will be entitled to sit on the Standards Committee as Co-opted
Members.

8.2.3  The chair of the Standards Committee is appointed at the Annual Meeting of
Full Council and may not be an Executive Member. If the position of chair of
the Standards Committee is vacant, a new chair will be elected at the next
Council meeting. The Vice Chair will be elected by the committee.

8.2.4 The Council is also required to appoint an Independent Person*?> who must
be consulted by the Standards Committee in relation to complaints that the
Member Code of Conduct has been breached (see further paragraph 8.8).
The Independent Person is not part of the Standards Committee and has no
voting rights when attending a Standards Committee hearing.

8.3 What is the role and function of the Standards Committee?

8.3.1 The Standards Committee oversees key issues that relate to ethics in Local
Government.

42 Section 28(7) Localism Act 2011

Page 259 127



8.3.2 The functions of the Standards Committee are set out in Section 10 —
Responsibility for Functions.

8.4 What is the role of the Standards Committee in relation to Parish
Councils?

8.4.1 The Council is the principal council for the Borough“3. Its arrangements for
the investigation and hearing of a complaint that a Member has breached
the Code of Conduct also apply when a member of a Parish Council in the
Borough is alleged to have breached the Parish Council’s Code of Conduct.

8.4.2 The Code of Conduct for councillors adopted by each Parish Council in the
Borough may be the same as the Council’s. Any Code of Conduct adopted
must be compliant with the statutory provisions.

8.5 When does the Standards Committee meet?

8.5.1 The Standards Committee meets every three months to consider issues of
ethics and to monitor the handling of complaints against Members.

8.5.2  Additional meetings of the Standards Committee will be convened to
conduct standards hearings.

8.5.3  All meetings of the Standards Committee (including Hearings) are subject to
the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out at Section 14.

8.5.4  Standards Hearings will be held no earlier than 14 clear days and no later
than 28 clear days after the Monitoring Officer has provided the
Investigating Officer’s final report to the Complainant and the subject
Member.

8.6 What are the rules of procedure for the Standards Committee?

8.6.1 The Standards Committee is subject to the Council Procedure Rules set out
at paragraph 4.8., as they relate to Committees.

8.6.2  Complaints that a Member has breached the Code of Conduct will be
addressed as set out in the Arrangements for Member Code of Conduct
Complaints, as required by the Localism Act 201144

8.7 What are the possible sanctions the Standards Committee can
determine following a Standards Hearing?

8.7.1  Where the Standards Committee determines that a Member has failed to
comply with the relevant Members’ Code of Conduct, any one or more of the

43 Section 27(6) of the Localism Act 2011
44 Section 28(6) of the Localism Act 2011.

Page 260 128



8.7.2

sanctions below, or any further sanctions deemed appropriate by the
Standards Committee, may be applied / recommended, within the powers of
the Committee (this list is not exhaustive):

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

)

()

(k)

a recommendation to the Council or Parish Council (as appropriate)
that the subject Member be issued with a formal censure (i.e., the
issue of an unfavourable opinion or judgement or reprimand) by
motion;

the issue of an instruction that the subject Member is removed from
specified Committee(s) of the Council;

a recommendation to the Mayor that the subject Member be removed
from the Executive or removed from particular Executive Portfolio
responsibilities;

an instruction to the Monitoring Officer, or the Parish Council (as
appropriate), to arrange training for the subject Member;

a recommendation to the Council, or Parish Council (as appropriate),
that the subject Member is removed from outside appointments to
which they have been appointed or nominated by the Council,
Executive or Parish Council;

an instruction to the Monitoring Officer, or Parish Council (as
appropriate), to withdraw facilities provided to the subject Member by
the Council, or Parish Council, such as a computer, website and / or
email and internet access;

an instruction to the Monitoring Officer or Parish Council (as
appropriate), to prepare and implement a communication plan for the
subject Member;

an instruction to the Monitoring Officer, or Parish Council (as
appropriate), to exclude the Subject Member from the Council or
Parish Council’s offices or other premises, except for meeting rooms
as necessary for Council or Parish Council Committee meetings;

an instruction to the Monitoring Officer, or Parish Council (as
appropriate), to apply the informal resolution process;

an instruction to the Monitoring Officer, or Parish Council (as
appropriate), to issue a press release or other form of publicity; or

an instruction to the Monitoring Officer, or Parish Council (as
appropriate), to restrict the Subject Member’s access to confidential or
exempt information.

The Standards Committee has no power to suspend or disqualify the
subject Member or to withdraw basic allowances. The Subject Member will

Page 261 129



however lose the entitlement to a Special Responsibility Allowance if
removed from a role that attracts such a payment.

8.8 What is the role of the independent person?

8.8.1 The Council must appoint at least one independent person whose views
must be sought, and taken into account, by the Council before it makes a
decision on an allegation that it has investigated.

8.8.2 Members who have had an allegation made against them may, if they wish,
also seek the views of the independent person.

Page 262 130



8.9 The Member Code of Conduct

Introduction

8.9.1

8.9.2

8.9.3

8.9.4

8.9.5

The role of elected member across all tiers of local government is a vital part

of democracy. It is important that Members can be held accountable and all
adopt the behaviours and responsibilities associated with the role. The
conduct of individual Members affects the reputation of all Members. The
role of councillor should be one that people from a range of backgrounds
and circumstances aspire to.

Members represent local residents, work to develop better services and
deliver local change. The public have high expectations of Members,
entrusting them to represent their local area, taking decisions fairly, openly,
and transparently. Members have both an individual and collective
responsibility to meet these expectations by maintaining high standards and
demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging behaviour which falls
below expectations.

Importantly, Members should be able to undertake their role without being
intimidated, abused, bullied, or threatened by anyone, including the general
public.

The Code of Conduct has been designed to protect the democratic role,
encourage good conduct and safeguard the public’s trust in local
government. All councils are required to have a local Member Code of
Conduct.

The purpose of the Code of Conduct is to assist Members to model the
behaviour expected of them, to provide a personal check and balance, and
to set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against
them. It is also to protect Members, the public, fellow councillors, local
authority officers and the reputation of local government. It sets out general
principles of conduct expected of all Members and specific obligations in
relation to standards of conduct. The fundamental aim of the Code is to
create and maintain public confidence in the role of Members and local
government.

General principles of Member conduct

8.9.6

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver
public services, including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local
authority officers; should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also
known as the Nolan Principles (see paragraph 1.7.2.).

Page 263 131



8.9.7  Building on these principles, the following general principles have been
developed* specifically for the role of a Member:

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:

(@)
(b)
(c)
(d)

| act with integrity and honesty;
| act lawfully;
| treat all persons fairly and with respect; and

| lead by example and act in a way that secures public
confidence in the role of councillor.

In undertaking my role:

(e)

(f)

(9)
(h)

| impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of
the local community;

| do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or
disadvantage, on any person;

| avoid conflicts of interest;
| exercise reasonable care and diligence; and

| ensure that public resources are used prudently in
accordance with my local authority’s requirements and in
the public interest.

Application of the Code of Conduct

8.9.8 The Code of Conduct applies to Members as soon as they sign the
declaration of acceptance of the office of councillor or Mayor, or attend their
first meeting as a Co-opted Member. It continues to apply until the
Member’s term of office, or Co-opted Member role, ends.

8.9.9  The Code of Conduct applies when Members act in their capacity as a
Member. This may include when Members:

(@) misuse their position as a Member; or

(b) their actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the
public, with knowledge of all the facts, that they are acting as a
Member or Co-opted Member.

8.9.10 The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:

45 A model Code of Conduct was published by the Local Government Association (LGA) in May
2021. The Council adopted this model Code without alteration, which explains the use of the
first person and narrative guidance. The obligations on Members are distinguished by being
indented and in bold. Any type not indented and in bold is guidance on the application of the

obligations.

Page 264 132



8.9.11

8.9.12

8.9.13

(a) atface-to-face meetings;

(b) at online or telephone meetings;
(c) in written communication;

(d) in verbal communication;

(e) in non-verbal communication; and

(f)  in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and
comments.

Members are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show
leadership at all times when acting as a Member.

The Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of
the Code of Conduct, and Members of the Council are encouraged to seek
advice from the Monitoring Officer on any matters that may relate to the
Code of Conduct.

Town and parish councillors are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk,
who may refer matters to the Monitoring Officer.

Standards of Member conduct

8.9.14

This section sets out the obligations and minimum standards of conduct
required of Members. Conduct falling short of these standards may result in
a complaint of a breach of the Code of Conduct. Complaints found proved
may result in action being taken. Guidance is included to help explain the
reasons for the obligations and how they should be followed.

Respect
8.9.15 As a Member:

8.9.16

(@) |treat other Members and members of the public with
respect.

(b) |treat local authority employees, employees and
representatives of partner organisations and those
volunteering for the local authority with respect and respect
the role they play.

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the
written word. Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy
democracy. Members can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with
views, ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. Members
should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or organisations
to personal attack. The public should be treated politely and courteously.
Rude and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and
confidence in Members.

Page 265 133



8.9.17

In return, Members have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the
public. If members of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or
threatening Members are entitled to stop any conversation or interaction in
person or online and report them to the local authority, the relevant social
media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow Members, where
action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, and local
authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the
Protocol for Member / Officer Relations at paragraph 9.13.

Bullying, harassment and discrimination

8.9.18 As a Member:

8.9.19

8.9.20

8.9.21

8.9.22

(@) 1do not bully any person.
(b) 1do not harass any person.

(c) | promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully
against any person.

(d) ldo notintimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is
involved in any complaint about any alleged breach of this
Code.

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises
bullying as offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse
or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or
injure the recipient. Bullying might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a
one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on social media, in emails or phone
calls, happen in the workplace or at work social events and may not always
be obvious or noticed by others.

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct
that causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must
involve such conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated
attempts to impose unwanted communications and contact upon a person in
a manner that could be expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable
person.

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a
protected characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a
person's identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Members
have a central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the
Council's performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision
and public commitment to equality across public services.

Page 266 134



Impartiality of officers of the council
8.9.23 As a Member:

| do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality
of anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority.

8.9.24 Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically
neutral (unless they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or
persuaded to act in a way that would undermine their neutrality. Members
can question officers in order to understand, for example, their reasons for
proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that they have
written. However, Members must not try and force officers to act differently,
change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would
prejudice their professional integrity.

Confidentiality and access to information
8.9.25 As a Member:
(@) ldo notdisclose information:
(i) givento mein confidence by anyone;

(i) acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to
be aware, is of a confidential nature, unless:

1. Ihavereceived the consent of a person
authorised to give it;

2. lamrequired by law to do so;

3. thedisclosure is made to athird party for the
purpose of obtaining professional legal advice
provided that the third party agrees not to
disclose the information to any other person; or

4. thedisclosureis:
a. reasonable and in the public interest; and

b. made in good faith and in compliance with
the reasonable requirements of the local
authority; and

c. | have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior
to its release.

(b) 1do notimproperly use knowledge gained solely as a result
of my role as a councillor for the advancement of myself,
my friends, my family members, my employer or my
business interests.

Page 267 135



(c) ldo not prevent anyone from getting information that they
are entitled to by law.

8.9.26 Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings
and printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined
circumstances. Members should work on this basis, but there will be times
when it is required by law that discussions, documents and other information
relating to or held by the local authority must be treated in a confidential
manner. Examples include personal data relating to individuals or
information relating to ongoing negotiations.

Disrepute
8.9.27 As a Member:
| do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.

8.9.28 Members are trusted to make decisions on behalf of their community.
Members actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of
ordinary members of the public. Members should be aware that their actions
might have an adverse impact on them, other Members and / or the Council
and may lower the public’s confidence in them or the Council’s ability to
discharge functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest
and / or deceitful can bring the Council into disrepute.

8.9.29 Members are able to hold the local authority and fellow Members to account
and are able to constructively challenge and express concern about
decisions and processes undertaken by the council whilst continuing to
adhere to other aspects of this Code of Conduct.

Use of position

8.9.30 As a Member:

| do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the
advantage or disadvantage of myself or anyone else.

8.9.31 A Member of the Council has certain opportunities, responsibilities, and
privileges, and Members make choices all the time that will impact others.
However, Members should not take advantage of these opportunities to
further their own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone
unfairly.

Use of local authority resources and facilities
8.9.32 As a Member:
(@) 1do not misuse council resources.

(b) 1will, when using the resources of the local authority or
authorising their use by others:

Page 268 136



(i) actin accordance with the local authority's
requirements; and

(i) ensure that such resources are not used for political
purposes unless that use could reasonably be
regarded as likely to facilitate, or be conducive to, the
discharge of the functions of the local authority or of
the office to which | have been elected or appointed.

8.9.33 Members may be provided with resources and facilities by the Council to
assist in carrying out their duties as a councillor. Examples include:

(a) office support;

(b) stationery;

(c) equipment such as phones, and computers;

(d) transport; and

(e) access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.

8.9.34 These are provided to help Members carry out their role as a councillor
more effectively and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They
should be used in accordance with the purpose for which they have been
provided and the Council’s policies regarding their use.

Complying with the Code of Conduct
8.9.35 As a Member:

(@) lundertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local
authority.

(b) I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and / or
determination.

(c) Ido notintimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who
is likely to be involved with the administration of any
investigation or proceedings.

(d) I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a
finding that | have breached the Code of Conduct.

8.9.36 It is extremely important for Members to demonstrate high standards, have
their actions scrutinised and not undermine public trust in the Council or its
governance. Members who do not understand or are concerned about the
Council’s processes in handling a complaint should raise this with the
Monitoring Officer.

Interests

8.9.37 As a Member:

Page 269 137



8.9.38

8.9.39

8.9.40

8.9.41

| register and disclose my interests.

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to
establish and maintain a register of interests of members of the authority.

Members need to register their interests so that the public, Council
employees and fellow Members know which interests might give rise to a
conflict of interest. The register is a public document that can be consulted
when (or before) an issue arises. The register also protects Members by
allowing them to demonstrate openness and a willingness to be held
accountable. Members are personally responsible for deciding whether or
not to disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for them to
know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also
important that the public know about any interest that might have to be
disclosed by Members when making or taking part in decisions, so that
decision making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to
ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is
maintained.

Failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set out
in Table 3 is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011.

Appendix A sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing
interests. If in doubt, Members should always seek advice from the
Monitoring Officer.

Gifts and hospitality

8.9.42

8.9.43

As a Member:

(@) Ido not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated
value, which could give rise to real or substantive personal
gain or areasonable suspicion of influence on my part to
show favour from persons seeking to acquire, develop or
do business with the local authority or from persons who
may apply to the local authority for any permission, licence
or other significant advantage.

(b) Iregister with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality
with an estimated value of at least £25 within 28 days of its
receipt.

(c) Iregister with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or
hospitality that | have been offered but have refused to
accept.

In order to protect their position and the reputation of the Council, Members
should exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or are
reasonably believed to be) offered to them because they are a Member. The

Page 270 138



presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality.
However, there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is
seen as rudeness in which case it could be accepted and publicly
registered. However, Members do not need to register gifts and hospitality
which are not related to their role as a Member, such as Christmas gifts
from friends and family. It is also important to note that it is appropriate to
accept normal expenses and hospitality associated with the duties of a
Member. The Monitoring Officer’s guidance should be sought in the event of
any uncertainty.

Appendix A — Registering Interests

8.9.44

8.9.45

8.9.46

8.9.47

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment
to office you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall
within the categories set out in Table 3 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests)
which are as described in The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary
Interests) Regulations 20124,

You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall
within the categories set out in Table 4 (Other Registerable Interests).

“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of
your partner if you are aware of your
partner's interest, within the
descriptions set out in Table 3 below.

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a
person with whom you are living as
husband or wife, or a person with
whom you are living as if you are civil
partners.

You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within
28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a
registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.

A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the
councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to
violence or intimidation.

46 Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012

Page 271 139



8.9.48 Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer
with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring
Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest

8.9.49 Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 3, you must disclose the
interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not
remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a
‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just
that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited
circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which
you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

8.9.50 Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be
considered or is being considered by you as an Executive member in
exercise of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of
the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart
from arranging for someone else to deal with it.

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests

8.9.51 Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial
interest or wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable Interests (as set out
in Table 4), you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but
otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and
must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation.
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the
interest.

Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests

8.9.52 Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial
interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in
Table 3) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate,
you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if
members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise
you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not
remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a
‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.

(@) Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects —
(i) your own financial interest or well-being;

(i) afinancial interest or well-being of a relative or close
associate; or

Page 272 140



8.9.53

(iii) afinancial interest or wellbeing of a body included under
Other Registrable Interests as set out in Table 4,

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can
remain in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test
should be applied

(b) Where a matter (referred to in paragraph 10 above) affects the
financial interest or well-being:

(i) to agreater extent than it affects the financial interests of
the majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the
decision; and

(i) areasonable member of the public knowing all the facts
would believe that it would affect your view of the wider
public interest,

you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also
allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in
any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room
unless you have been granted a dispensation.

(c) [Ifitis a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature
of the interest.

(d) Where you have an Other Registerable Interest or Non-
Registerable Interest on a matter to be considered or is being
considered by you as an Executive member in exercise of your
executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the
interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter
apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it.

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set
out in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations

2012,

Table 3: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

Subject Description

Employment, | Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation
office, trade, | carried on for profit or gain.

profession or

vocation

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit
(other than from the council) made to the councillor during
the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by

Page 273 141



him/her in carrying out his/her duties as a councillor, or
towards his/her election expenses.

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts

Any contract made between the councillor or his/her spouse
or civil partner or the person with whom the councillor is
living as if they were spouses/civil partners (or a firm in
which such person is a partner, or an incorporated body of
which such person is a director* or a body that such person
has a beneficial interest in the securities of*) and the council

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or
works are to be executed; and

(b) which has not been fully discharged

Land and
Property

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the
council.

‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in
or over land which does not give the councillor or his/her
spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners
(alone or jointly with another) a right to occupy or to receive
income

Licences

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in
the area of the council for a month or longer

Corporate
tenancies

Any tenancy where (to the councillor's knowledge):
(a) the landlord is the council; and

(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or his/her spouse
or civil partner or the person with whom the councillor is
living as if they were spouses/ civil partners is a partner of
or a director* of or has a beneficial interest in the securities*
of.

Securities

Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where:

(a) that body (to the councillor's knowledge) has a place of
business or land in the area of the council; and

(b) either:

Page 274 142



() the total nominal value of the securities* exceeds
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital
of that body; or

(i) if the share capital of that body is of more than one
class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class
in which the councillor, or his / her spouse or civil partner or
the person with whom the councillor is living as if they were
spouses/civil partners has a beneficial interest exceeds one
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an
industrial and provident society.

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds,
units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other
than money deposited with a building society.

Table 4: Other Registerable Interests
You must register as an Other Registerable Interest:

(@)
(b)

(c)

any unpaid directorships

any body of which you are a member or are in a position of
general control or management and to which you are nominated
or appointed by your authority

any body:

exercising functions of a public nature
directed to charitable purposes or

one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of
public opinion or policy (including any political party or
trade union)

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or
management.

Page 275 143



9 Officers

This section sets out the role of Officers, and their management and employment
arrangements. It also explains the roles of statutory officers and proper officers.

9.1
9.11

9.1.2

9.1.3

9.2
9.21

9.2.2

9.3
9.3.1

9.3.2

Who are the Council’s Officers?

The Council may engage such staff (referred to as Officers) as it considers
necessary to carry out the functions of the Council. The current senior
officer structure can be accessed on the Council’s website. It is determined
by the Head of Paid Service.

Officers give professional advice to Members, implement decisions and
manage the day-to-day delivery of the Council’s services.

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the
Officer Employment Procedure Rules set out at paragraph 9.10.

How should Officers behave?

All Officers must ensure that they act within the law and in accordance with
this constitution when carrying out the Council’s work.

Officers will comply with:

(@) the Officers’ Code of Conduct (paragraph 9.12); and

(b) the Protocol on Member / Officer Relations (paragraph 9.13); and

(c) any policies or procedures adopted by the Council.

Who are the Statutory Chief Officers?

The Council is required by law to appoint senior officers to certain posts.
These Statutory Chief Officers discharge statutory duties as part of their
employment. The officer must exercise the duties personally or, where
lawful, through deputy statutory officers they appoint.

The Council will engage persons for the following posts, who will be
designated Statutory Chief Officers and will have the functions and
responsibilities set out in the Officer Delegation Scheme at Section 10 (Part
D).

Page 276 144


https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/about-the-council/council-management-structure/
https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/about-the-council/council-management-structure/

9.3.3

9.3.4

9.3.5

47
48
49
50
51

52

Table 5: Statutory Chief Officers

Statutory post

Designated Officer

Deputy

Head of Paid Service*’

Chief Executive

none

Monitoring Officer48

Director of Legal &
Governance Services

Head of Legal
Services (People)

Head of Policy,
Governance and
Information

Chief Finance Officer#®

Director of Finance &
Transformation

Head of Finance and
Investment

Director of Children’s
Services®

Executive Director of
Children’s Services

Director of Adult Social
Services®?!

Director of Adult Social
Care & Health
Integration

Director of Public
Health>2

Joint Director of Public
Health

The Monitoring Officer may not be the Head of Paid Service or the Chief

Finance Officer.

The Chief Finance Officer must be a suitably qualified accountant and may
not be the Monitoring Officer.

The Head of Paid Service may be the Chief Finance Officer if a qualified

accountant but may not be the Monitoring Officer.

Section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989
Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972

Section 18 of the Children Act 2004

Section 6 of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970
Section 73A of the National Health Services Act 2006

Page 277 145



9.3.6

9.3.7

The Director of Public Health must be a registered Public Health

professional and is appointed jointly with the Secretary of State for Health
and Social Care.

The duties of the Statutory Chief Officers in relation to all of the Council's
services and areas of responsibility are summarised as follows, and the
matters delegated to each are particularised in detail in the Officer
Delegation Scheme at Part D of Section 10:

(@) Head of Paid Service

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Overall corporate management and operational responsibility
(including overall management responsibility for all staff);

Provision of professional advice to all parties in the decision-

making process (the Executive, scrutiny, full Council and other
committees);

Together with the Monitoring Officer, responsibility for a system
for record keeping for all the local authority's decisions
(executive or otherwise);

Representing the Council on partnership and external bodies
(as required by statute or the Council);

Where they consider it appropriate to do so, to prepare a report
to the Council setting out their proposals on the following
matters:

a. the manner in which the discharge by the Council of its
different functions is co-ordinated;

b. the number and grades of staff required by the Council
for the discharge of its functions;

c. the organisation of the Council’s staff; and

d. the appointment and proper management of the
Council’s staff.

A copy of the report should be sent to each Member of the
Council.

(b)  Monitoring Officer

(i)

(ii)

Reviewing and maintaining the Constitution as set out at
Section 2;

Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision-making (see
Section 13) and reporting to Full Council if they consider that a
proposal, decision or omission of the Council or the Executive
would give rise to unlawfulness or maladministration, having
consulted with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief Finance

Page 278 146



(iif)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Officer in accordance with the Protocol for Statutory Chief
Offices responsible for Governance set out at paragraph 9.11;

Supporting the Standards Committee, contributing to the
promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct;

Conducting or securing investigations into complaints made
under the Members’ Code of Conduct, making reports and / or
recommendations in respect of them to the Standards
Committee;

Proper Officer for access to information, ensuring that
Executive decisions, together with the reasons for those
decisions and relevant Officer reports and background papers,
are made publicly available as soon as possible;

Advising whether Executive decisions are within the Budget and
Policy Framework in conjunction with the Chief Finance Officer;

Advising Members on the scope of their powers and authority to
take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity
and Budget and Policy Framework issues;

Responsible for corporate complaints, Ombudsman cases and
whistleblowing. The Monitoring Officer may delegate these
responsibilities to other Officers.

(c)  Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer)

(i)

(if)
(iii)

(iv)

Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making,
reporting to Full Council or the Executive (as appropriate,
depending on the nature of the function to which it relates) if
they consider that a proposal, decision or course of action will
involve incurring unlawful expenditure or is unlawful and is
likely to cause a loss or deficiency, or if the Council is about to
enter an item of account unlawfully. They will consult with the
Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer before making
such a report in accordance with the Protocol for Statutory
Chief Officers with responsibility for Governance set out at
paragraph 9.11;

Administering the Council’s financial affairs;

Contributing to the corporate management of the Council, in
particular through the provision of professional financial advice;

Advising Members on the scope of their powers and authority to
take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity
and Budget and Policy Framework and generally advising
Members and Officers in their respective roles;

Page 279 147



(v)  Providing appropriate financial information to the media,
members of the public and the community.

(d) Director of Children’s Services
(i) Statutory functions in respect of Children’s Services;
(i)  Education of children and young people;
(i) Children’s Early Help;

(iv) Social and Welfare Services for children and vulnerable young
people.

(e) Director of Adult Social Services

(i) Statutory functions in respect of Adult Social Services;

(i) Integrated Health and Social Care;

(i)  Advising Members and Officers on all Adult Social Care issues.
U] Director of Public Health

(i) Statutory functions in respect of Public Health;

(i)  Writing the annual report on the health of the local population;

(i) Advising Members and Officers on all public health matters;

(iv) Taking steps to improve public health;

(v) Planning for and responding to emergencies which present a
risk to public health;

(vi) Carrying out such public health functions or health protection
functions as the Secretary of State may delegate or specify in
regulations;

9.4 Who are the Governance Statutory Chief Officers?

9.4.1  The three officers of the Council with statutory responsibility for the
governance of the Council have additional statutory protection in respect of
disciplinary action and dismissal as set out in the Officer Employment
Procedure Rules at paragraph 9.10:

(a) Head of Paid Service;
(b) Chief Finance Officer;
(c) Monitoring Officer.

9.4.2  The Council is required to provide the Governance Statutory Chief Officers
with the resources and Officers they deem sufficient to support them in
performing their duties.

9.4.3  The Protocol for Statutory Chief Officers responsible for Governance at
paragraph 9.11 has been adopted to set out how these officers will work

Page 280 148



with each other, Members and other Officers to discharge their statutory
duties in relation to governance.

9.4.4  To avoid confusion, throughout this constitution, the Statutory Chief Officer
title will be used rather than the substantive post title for the Governance
Statutory Chief Officers — this does not mean that all functions delegated to
those officers are statutory chief officer functions. The statutory functions of
each statutory officer are summarised at paragraph 9.4.7 while the functions
discharged by Chief Officers are summarised at paragraph 9.7 and provided
in detail in Part D Section 10 to this Constitution.

9.5 Who are the Chief Officers of the Council?

9.5.1 In addition to the Statutory Chief Officers set out in Table 5, the following
posts are non-statutory Chief Officers®? of the Council:

(a) Director of Environment & Community Services;
(b) Director of Regeneration.
9.5.2  The functions and responsibilities of all Chief Officers are set out in Part D of
Section 10.
9.6 What are the general responsibilities of all Chief Officers?
The Council’'s Chief Officers will:

(@) support and advise the Council, Executive, Scrutiny Committees and
other Committees on policy and service delivery in order that
Members' decisions are well informed;

(b) ensure that the policies and decisions of the Council and Executive
are formulated and delivered effectively and efficiently;

(c) provide strong managerial leadership and direction, foster cross-
departmental working and implement organisational improvement;

(d) set high standards and drive up the performance, effectiveness and
reputation of the Council,

(e) work with outside bodies and access additional funds and resources
in order to support the Council's programmes of work;

(f)  recruit, develop, motivate and inspire staff.

9.7 What are the main roles of individual Chief Officers?

53 Section 2 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Page 281 149



The functions and delegations to each Chief Officer are set out in detail in
Part D of Section 10, but the specific role of Chief Officers can be
summarised as:

- Head of Paid Service;

- Overall corporate management and
operational responsibility;

- Provision of professional advice and
support to Members of the council;

- Representing the council on external and
partnership bodies.

(@) Chief Executive

- Chief Finance Officer;

- Budgeting and Financial Management;

- Pensions, Investment and Treasury
Management;

- Risk & Insurance;

- Audit;

- Procurement and Transactional Services;

- Transformation

(b) Director of Finance &
Transformation

- Monitoring Officer;

- Returning Officer and Electoral
Registration Officer®, Elections

- Human Resources;

- Democratic Services;

- Qualified person under the Freedom of
Information Act 2000%°

- Registrars and Coroners;

- Governance, Policy and Information

(c) Director of Legal &
Governance Services

- Statutory functions in respect of Adult
Social Services,

- Adult Social Work;

- Integrated Health and Social Care;

- Commissioning;

- Public Health

- Leisure.

(d) Director of Adult Social
Care & Health
Integration

- Statutory functions in respect of

(e) Executive Director of . _
Children’s Services;

Children’s Services

54 Sections 8, 28 and 35 Representation of the People Act 1983
55 Section 36 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000

Page 282 150



- Education of children and young people;
Children’s Early Help;

- Social and Welfare Services for Children
and vulnerable young people.

- Environment;

()  Director of - Planning;
Environment & - Waste:
Community Services; . Highways infrastructure and

Transportation;
- Regulatory services

- Growth and Investment;

(9) Director of - Digital;
- Culture;
- Housing;

- Marketing and Communications

- Statutory functions in respect of Public
(h) Director of Public Health:

Health

9.8 Are there statutory officers who are not Chief Officers?

9.8.1  Some officers are not statutory Chief Officers, but are statutory officers,
discharging statutory duties as part of their employment as set out at Table
6.

Table 6: Statutory Officers

Statutory post Designated Officer

Scrutiny Officer>® Head of Legal Services (People)

56 Section 9FB Local Government Act 2000 as amended

Page 283 151



Data Protection Officer®’ Data Protection Officer

Local Authority Designated Officer®® | Local Authority Designated
Officer

9.8.2  The responsibilities of statutory officers are set out in Part D of Section 10.

9.8.3  The Scrutiny Officer cannot be one of the Governance Statutory Chief
Officers.

9.9 What other categories of officer are there?

9.9.1 A Proper Officer is an Officer appointed by the Council to carry out certain
administrative functions as required by statute. The list of Proper Officers
appointed by the Council is set out at paragraph 10.25.

9.9.2  Once a Proper Officer is appointed by Council, no further consent of Council
is required if a Proper Officer chooses to delegate the duties to other
Officers.

9.9.3 Inthe absence of the appointment of a proper officer the Monitoring Officer
will be the Council’s Proper Officer until an appointment is made by Full
Council.

9.9.4  The Monitoring Officer is delegated authority to amend the list of Proper
Officers to remove and replace redundant provision or to change
appointments.

57 Article 37-39 General Data Protection Regulation 2018, s.69 Data Protection Act 2018

58 Appointed under statutory guidance "Working Together to Safeguard Children 2006" per
section 7 Local Authority Social Services Act 1970

Page 284 152



Officer Employment Procedure Rules

9.10.1 What are the employment arrangements for Officers?

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of Officers will comply with these
Officer Employment Procedure Rules.

9.10.2 Who can be appointed as an Officer?

(@) Any candidate for appointment as an Officer, must state in writing
whether they are the husband, wife, parent, grandparent, partner,
child, stepchild, adopted child, grandchild, sibling, uncle, aunt, nephew,
niece or close personal friend of a Member, an Officer, or of the
partner of such persons.

(b) No candidate so related to a Member or an Officer will be appointed
without the authority of the relevant Chief Officer or an Officer
nominated by them.

(c) The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly seeks
the support of a Member or any Officer or the Head of Governors of
any educational establishment for any appointment with the Council.
The content of this paragraph will be included in any recruitment
information.

(d) No Member will seek support for any person for any appointment with
the Council or give a reference for any person for any appointment with
the Council.

9.10.3 How are Chief Officers recruited?

Where the Council proposes to appoint a statutory or non-statutory Chief
Officer and it is not proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from
among their existing officers, the Council will:

(@) draw up a statement specifying:

0] the duties of the Officer concerned; and
(i) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be
appointed;

(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is
likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply
for it;

(c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in (a)
above to be brought to the attention of potential applicants.

9.10.4 How are Chief Officers appointed?

Page 285 153



(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

(€)

(f)

An Appointments Sub-committee of the Chief Officer Committee will be
convened to progress the appointment of a Chief Officer.

The Chief Officer Appointments Sub-committee will appoint Chief
Officers, including the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer,
unless such appointment is on an interim basis (six months or less).

Interim appointments of Chief Officers for a term of less than six
months are to be made by the Head of Paid Service.

An offer of permanent employment can be made in respect of a Chief
Officer post save where an Executive Member provides a well-founded
objection to the appointment within three days of notification of the
Chief Officer Appointments Sub-committee’s recommendation.

The Chief Officer Appointments Sub-Committee will recommend the
appointment of the Head of Paid Service to Full Council;

Full Council shall appoint the Head of Paid Service provided that no
well-founded objection has been received from an Executive Member
within three days of notification of the Chief Officer Appointments Sub-
committee’s recommendation.

9.10.5 How are other Officers appointed?

Officers who are not Chief Officers will be appointed by an appropriately
authorised Officer in accordance with these Officer Employment Procedure
Rules and the Council’s Recruitment and Selection Procedure.

9.10.6 How are Political Assistants appointed?

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

Political Assistants may be appointed to assist members of a political
group within the Council in discharging their functions.

A Political Assistant may be appointed by any Group which qualifies for
one®® and to which such a post has been allocated by the Council.

Each Group which qualifies for a Political Assistant may only appoint
one. The Council will only allocate a maximum of three posts of
Political Assistant and these shall be allocated to the three largest
Groups who qualify.

Political Assistants will be appointed by the Head of Paid Service in
consultation with the relevant Group Leader or their nominee. The

59 Section 9 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Page 286 154



Group Leader or their nominee shall be entitled to attend any interview
for the relevant Political Assistant.

9.10.7 Can the Mayor appoint an assistant?

9.10.8

The Mayor may appoint an assistant to assist them in the discharge of their
functions. Any such assistant will be appointed as an employee of the
Council®®,

What happens when the Council is responsible for appointing
someone but not for employing them?

Where the Council is responsible for appointing someone but not for
employing them, the appointment will be the responsibility of the relevant
Chief Officer in line with relevant guidance and / or the Council’s
Recruitment and Selection Procedure.

Disciplinary Procedures

9.10.9 What are the Council’s disciplinary procedures for Officers?

(a) Statutory Officers - Disciplinary action in respect of Statutory Chief
Officers shall be conducted in accordance with the relevant statutory
procedure®?l,

(b) Other Chief Officers - Disciplinary action in respect of Chief Officers
who are not Statutory Officers shall be conducted in accordance with
Part Three of the Conditions of Service of the Joint Negotiating
Committee of Chief Officers of Local Authorities and the Council’s
disciplinary policy.

(c) Other Officers — Disciplinary action for all other officers shall be
conducted in accordance with Part Two of the National Joint Council
for Local Government Services’ National Agreement on Pay and
Conditions of Service and the Council’s disciplinary policy.

9.10.10 When will Members be involved?

Members will not be involved in any disciplinary action relating to Officers
who are not Chief Officers except:

(d) where their involvement is necessary for any investigation or inquiry
into alleged misconduct; or

60 Section 3 of the Local Authorities (Elected Mayor and Mayor’s Assistant) (England) Regulations
2002

61 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001, Schedule 3

Page 287 155



(b) as a member of the Council’s Staff Appeals Committee (the body with
delegated powers to hear relevant staff appeals against grievances,
dismissal etc.) for the purpose of hearing appeals.

Protocol for Statutory Chief Officers responsible for Governance

9.10.11 The Governance Statutory Chief Officers of the Council are required to work
closely together to discharge their various statutory duties as set out in this
Constitution and in the Code of Practice on Good Governance for Local
Authority Statutory Officers®?.

9.10.12 This protocol provides a framework for the positive discharge of these
statutory duties. A summary list of the statutory responsibilities of each
appears at paragraph 9.4.

Working Arrangements

9.10.13 Excellent working relationships between Members and Officers will assist in
the discharge of the statutory responsibilities of the Chief Officers
responsible for governance. They should expect to be informed of relevant
information and have access to debate (particularly at the early stages of
any decision making by the Council) to fulfil their responsibilities.

9.10.14 Members and Officers should support the Chief Officers responsible for
governance to discharge the Council’s statutory and discretionary
responsibilities by:

(a) alerting the Chief Officers responsible for governance of any issue(s)
that may become of concern to the Council, including:

0] the manner in which the discharge of functions is co-
ordinated, the number and grades of Officers required for the
discharge of its functions, the organisation of the Council’s
Officers and the appointment and proper management of the
Council’s Officers (Head of Paid Service);

(i) issues around legal powers to do something or not, ethical
standards, probity, propriety, procedural or other
constitutional issues that are likely to arise (Monitoring
Officer);

62 Produced jointly by SOLACE, CIPFA and LLG as the professional bodies of the officers
comprising the local authority governance Golden Triangle https://solace.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2024/07/Code-of-Practice-on-Good-Governance-for-Statutory-Officers-June-
2024.pdf

Page 288 156



(iii) issues around financial management, accounts and audit
regulations, proposed expenditure or proposed actions which
might lead to a loss of deficit (Chief Financial Officer);

(b)  giving them advance notice (including receiving agendas, minutes,
reports and related papers) of all relevant meetings of the Council at
which a decision may be made (including a failure to take a decision
where one should have been taken) at or before the Council,
Executive, Committee meetings and Sub-Committee meetings (or
equivalent arrangements);

(c) respecting their right to attend any meeting of the Council (including
the right to be heard) before any decision is taken (including a failure
to take a decision where one should have been taken) at or before the
Council, Executive, Committee meetings and Sub-Committee
meetings (or equivalent arrangements);

(d)  ensuring unqualified access to any information held by the Council
relevant to any investigation(s) by the Governance Statutory Chief
Officers.

Furthering good governance

9.10.15 The Governance Statutory Chief Officers will further the good governance of
the Council by:

(@) having a direct relationship of respect and trust with the Mayor, Deputy
Mayor, Chair of the Council and Chairs of the committees of the
Council with a view to ensuring the effective and efficient discharge of
Council business;

(b) developing and maintaining an effective working liaison and
relationship with the External Auditor and the Local Government and
Social Care Ombudsman including having the authority, on behalf of
the Council to:

0) complain to the same;
(i) refer any breaches to the same; or
(iii) give and receive any relevant information

whether confidential or otherwise, through appropriate protocols, if
necessary;

(c) ensuring all Chief Officers are kept up to date with relevant information
regarding their statutory duties;

(d) meeting regularly to consider and recommend action in connection
with Corporate Governance issues and other matter of concern;

Page 289 157



(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

reporting to the Council when necessary on the corporate approach of
the Council, the Constitution and any necessary or desirable changes
following consultation with other Chief Officers;

reporting to the Council, as necessary on the staff, accommodation
and resources required to discharge their statutory functions;

in consultation with the Mayor, the Chairman of the Council, the Audit
Committee and the External Auditor as appropriate:

(i)  deferring the making of a formal report under Section 4 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 where another
investigative body is involved (Head of Paid Service);

(i)  deferring the making of a formal report under Section 5 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 where another
investigative body is involved (Monitoring Officer);

(i) deferring the making of a formal report under Section 114, 115
and 116 of the Local Government and Finance Act 1988 where
another investigative body is involved (Chief Finance Officer);

having sufficient resources to address any matters concerning their
statutory functions;

in the case of the Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
appointing a suitably qualified deputy and keeping the deputy briefed
on any relevant issues that the deputy may be required to deal with in
the absence of the Monitoring Officer / Chief Financial Officer.

Duty to report

9.10.16 To ensure the effective and efficient discharge of the arrangements set out
above, Members and Officers will report any breaches of statutory duty or
Council policy and procedures and other legal, constitutional or financial
concerns to the Governance Statutory Chief Officers as soon as practicable.

9.10.17 The Statutory Chief Officers responsible for governance are available for
Members and Officers to consult on any issues relating to their statutory
remit and will record details of any advice given.

9.10.18 The Governance Statutory Chief Officers have the following joint statutory
and constitutional responsibilities:

(@)

(b)

The Head of Paid Service, in consultation with the Chief Finance
Officer, shall produce and circulate to all relevant Officers a set of
guidance notes for the production of the Capital Programme;

The Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer will:

(i) give advice to the Executive, Committees of the Executive,
individual executive Members and any Officers or joint

Page 290 158



arrangements discharging Executive Functions on making
decisions outside the Budget or the Policy Framework;

(i)  provide advice to the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a
Scrutiny Panel on the process of Call-in of decisions, which if
made, would be contrary to the Policy Framework or not in
accordance with the Budget; and

(i) be responsible for advising the Executive or Full Council
whether a decision is likely to be considered contrary to or not
wholly in accordance with the Budget.

() The Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer will be
responsible for the system of record keeping in relation to all Full
Council decisions.

Issuing a Statutory Report

9.10.19 This section of the protocol®® applies when either the Chief Finance Officer
or the Monitoring Officer consider they may need to issue a statutory report
under the following provisions:

(a) Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 which
requires a report to all Members to be made by the Chief Finance
Officer if there is, or is likely to be, unlawful expenditure or an
unbalanced budget.

(b) Section 114A of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 which
requires a report to Executive Members to be made by the Chief
Finance Officer if there is, or is likely to be:

(i) adecision made which involves or would involve the authority
incurring expenditure which is unlawful;

(i)  a course of action taken or about to be taken which, if pursued
to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or
deficiency on the part of the authority; or

(i) the entry of an item of account which is unlawful.

(c) Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 which
requires a report to Members in respect of any proposal, decision or
omission which has given rise to, or is likely to or would give rise to:

() a contravention by:

63 The duty is personal to the officer appointed to these posts, who may nominate a deputy to
exercise the responsibility in their absence.

Page 291 159



a. the authority;
any committee or sub-committee;

c. any person holding any office or employment under the
authority; or

d. any such joint committee
of any enactment or rule of law; or

(i) any such maladministration®* or failure as is mentioned in Part 3
of the Local Government Act 1974 (Local Commissioners);

(d) Section 5A of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 which
requires a report to Executive Members in respect of any proposal,
decision or omission which has given rise to, or is likely to or would
give rise to:

a. acontravention, by the relevant authority's executive or any
person on behalf of the executive, of any enactment or rule of
law; or

b. any such maladministration or [failure]6 as is mentioned in Part
[l of the Local Government Act 1974 (Local commissioners)

9.10.20 The decision to issue a statutory report is not one that is taken lightly and is

likely to have serious implications for the Council and possibly even the
officer issuing the report. This protocol therefore identifies the process and
controls which will be adopted prior to such a report being made. It should
be noted that the Council’s constitution and effective management and
reporting procedures are designed to minimize the prospect of a statutory
report being issued. Issuing a statutory report should be avoided if at all
possible.

9.10.21 Information leading to the possibility of the preparation of a statutory report

64

may come from a variety of sources such as:

(a) a council officer (including a member of the Financial or Legal Services
department);

(b) a Member of the council;
(c) the public;
(d) the authority’s auditors.

Maladministration is not defined in section 26(1) of the Local Government Act 1974 but the
courts have determined that it can be where a public body has taken, or failed to take, action
causing personal injustice. It can include “bias, neglect, inattention, delay, incompetence,
ineptitude, perversity, turpitude, arbitrariness...” according to (HC Deb, Vol 754, col 51 (1966)).

Page 292 160



9.10.22

The statutory officer has a duty to investigate possible issues which might
lead to a formal report to satisfy themselves as to the position of the
Council. However, the duty to make a report rests with the statutory officer.

Exceptions and other considerations

9.10.23

9.10.24

9.10.25

A report may not be required in the following circumstances:

(@) Emerging matters or a developing situation — such as where a view
is requested on a proposal which may be under consideration but
which if pursued could result in a reportable matter. A simple
preliminary request would not give rise to a need to report, although
any further developments would need to be monitored;

(b) Items of trivial expenditure or loss of income.

(c) Cases of discovered fraud (which may in any case lead to criminal
prosecution), which will usually be dealt with under the Council’s
existing Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy, as referenced elsewhere
within the Financial Procedure Rules (Section 12);

(d) A service overspend except where the Council’s total resources are
likely to fall short of expenditure and the Chief Finance Officer judges
that there is no reasonable prospect of the position being resolved or
mitigated.

In the case of a developing situation, careful consideration must be given to
the timing of any report, in particular to distinguish between an emerging
situation and an actual one. Every reasonable action should be taken to
avoid the need for a statutory report to ultimately be required.

A report made under section 114 (2) requires the Chief Finance Officer
Director of Strategic Finance to make a judgement that a decision or course
of action is unlawful. Such a decision will only be made after
consultation with the Monitoring Officer. However, a report made under
section 114 (3) relates to a financial judgement which may be reached by
the Chief Finance Officer alone, although consultation with the Head of Paid
Service and Monitoring Officer is still required in case other corporate and
legal issues arise as a result of the report.

Statutory Report Process

9.10.26 In the event that the statutory officer considers that a report must be issued,

the process to be followed is as set out in Figure 3 below.

9.10.27 Once the report is issued and considered by Members, the duties of the

statutory officer are discharged. If Members (in Full Council or Cabinet, as
appropriate) do not agree with a report issued under section 114, further
formal action may be taken by the External Auditor through the issue of an
advisory notice under section 29 (Schedule 8) of the Local Audit and

Page 293 161



Accountability Act 2014 or by applying to the court for a declaration under
section 31 of that Act.

[ Issue of concern is identified by the Statutory Officer ]

Finance

[ Unlawful expenditure ]

of administrative functions

[ Maladministration in respect]

[ Unlawful item of account ]

A proposal, decision or omission
which contravenes the law

[ Unbalanced budget ]

provide a statutorv service

Cause loss or a deficiency
on the nart of the Council

[Alleged or apparent failure to ]

Consult with the Statutory Chief Officers responsible for Governance to determine if
action is or would be unlawful. In the event of non-agreement or uncertainty, the
Monitoring Officer will seek the opinion of counsel.

If capital or revenue expenditure exceeds likely resources (either for current or
future year) corrective action shall be determined for each year. The Chief Finance
Officer shall decide whether to consult internal and or external audit on the issue(s)

If the act has happened or cannot be I Halt proposed unlawful

stopped / corrected, the Statutory Officer act / corrective action is
drafts a report in accordance with successful. No further
appropriate statutory requirements. action reauired.

Draft report is sent to the other Statutory Chief Officers responsible for
governance for agreement. In the event of dispute, the Monitoring
Officer mav seek the oninion of counsel

v
[ Report issued to all members of Council and the external auditor ]
4

Prohibition period commences, during which the action may not be progressed — if a notice
under section 114(3), all budget holders must be informed of the restriction on expenditure.

v

[ Members meet within 21 calendar days to consider the report. ]

)
—

The auditor is notified of the date, time and place of the meeting

Members agree the report and Members disagree with the
decide what remedial action to take. report and take no action.

[ The prohibition period ends the next day and the auditor is notified of the outcome. ]

Figure 3: Statutory Report Process

Page 294 162



Officer Code of Conduct

This Code of Conduct applies to Council employees and any other person working
on behalf of the Council (for example, agency staff) and sets out the standards of
conduct that are expected of them. For the avoidance of doubt, every Officer is an
employee of the Council and is subject to this Code of Conduct.

The attention of all Council employees, whether permanent or temporary is drawn to
the following provisions relating to private work undertaken by employees and other
matters of conduct.

9.12.1 What standards apply to Council employees?

(&) Local government employees are expected to provide the highest
possible standard of service to the public, and where it is part of their
duties, to provide appropriate advice to Councillors and fellow
employees with impartiality. Employees will be expected, through
agreed procedures, and without fear of recrimination, to bring to the
attention of the appropriate level of management any deficiency in the
provision of service, and any impropriety or breach of procedure.

(b) Employees should always remember their responsibilities to the
community they serve and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial
service delivery to all groups and individuals within that community as
defined by the policies of the Council.

(c) The Council expects good standards of behaviour from all of its
employees towards fellow employees, Councillors, service users and
members of the public. The Council recognises the importance of
treating everyone with equal dignity and respect and will not tolerate
harassment, discrimination or bullying.

(d) This policy has been reviewed against the Bribery Act 2010°.

9.12.2 What are the general standards of conduct for employees?

(&) Subject to its rights under the conditions of appointment of employees
not being prejudiced, the Council does not wish to limit unduly the
activities of employees in their leisure time.

(b) The Council does, however, require that efficiency and due
performance of official duties shall not be impaired by private work in

65 Bribery Act 2010

Page 295 163



leisure time, and it requires at all times to be satisfied that its interests
are not being detrimentally affected in this respect.

(c) The Council must be in a position to rebut with confidence any
allegation that the integrity of its administration is being impaired
because of the leisure time activities of any of its employees. Implicit in
this is the requirement that there must be no question of employees
undertaking activities in circumstances which might lead to suspicion of
undue or improper favour being granted to anyone, including Members
or undue or improper influence being exercised, in relation to contracts
of any kind, or in relation to any consent, permission, licence, etc.,
which members of the public seek from the Council. Conduct outside
of working hours which gives rise to criminal prosecution will be
considered in accordance with the Council’s disciplinary policy and
may in exceptional cases lead to dismissal.

9.12.3 What are the Nolan Principles and how do they apply to employees?

(@) The Seven Principles of Public Life (also known as the Nolan
Principles®®) apply to anyone who works as a public office-holder,
including those who are appointed to work in local government. They
are set out at paragraph 1.7.2.

(b) Council employees should take the Nolan Principles into account when
performing all of their duties for the Council.

9.12.4 What are the rules for employees in relation to disclosure of
Information?

(&) Employees should not use any information obtained in the course of
their employment for personal gain or benefit, nor should they pass it
on to others who might use it in such a way.

(b) Any particular information received by an employee from a Councillor
which is personal to that Councillor and does not belong to the Council
should not be divulged by the employee without the prior approval of
that Councillor, except where such disclosure is required or sanctioned
by law.

Other Employment And Declarations Of Interest

9.12.5 In what circumstances may employees undertake private paid work?

66 The Nolan Principles

Page 296 164


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2

The following conditions must be strictly observed by any employee who
proposes to undertake, or who undertakes, private work for any person, firm
or company:

(a) Employees graded above spinal column point 30 shall devote their
whole-time service to the work of the, after consultation with the
Monitoring Officer.

(b) Private work must not be undertaken during working hours, and it must
not be undertaken on official premises, even after working hours.

(c) In addition to there being no impairment of the proper execution of the
employee’s official duties, there must not be any interference with any
requirement to work overtime on such duties.

(d) Private work that may be subject to the Council’s statutory supervision
or consent must not be undertaken.

(e) Private work must not be undertaken for any person, firm or company
who is known by the employee to be currently or periodically, an
applicant to the Council for a statutory consent or permission, for a
discretionary licence (excluding licences which are issued
automatically subject to the application being in order), or for any other
purpose, where the application is or would be dealt with by the
department in which the employee is serving. Employees proposing to
undertake private work for any person, firm or company are
responsible for ascertaining from them whether they are an applicant
to the Council for such a statutory consent or permission.

(f)  Private work must not be undertaken for any person, firm or company
in a contractual relationship with, or commissioned by, the Council, or
concerned in any property transaction with the Council, or for any
person known or believed by the employee to be connected with such
a firm or company, where the employee undertaking the private work is
serving in a department materially concerned with such a contractual
relationship, commission or property transaction. Employees proposing
to undertake private work for any person, firm or company are
responsible for ascertaining from them whether any contractual or
commission relationship with the Council exists, or whether they are
concerned in any property transaction with the Council.

(g) Private work must not be undertaken by an employee for another
employee responsible for supervising that employee or whom the
employee supervises.

(h) Private work must not be undertaken for any person, firm or company
with whom an employee deals in the course of their official duty.

Page 297 165



9.12.6

9.12.7

(i)

(),

(k)

Council equipment, vehicles or goods must not be used to undertake
private work.

An employee may undertake secondary employment in their own time
where it does not create any conflict of interest. Employees proposing
to undertake any such secondary employment are responsible for
ensuring that the commitments of the job stayed below the level at
which efficiency in their work for the Council could be impaired.

Teaching and lecturing may be acceptable but special safeguards
need to be put in place. Where such activity would involve the use of
special knowledge gained in the Council’s employment, permission
must be sought from the relevant Chief Officer; where any fee is
received for such work it must be paid over to the Council unless prior
arrangements have been agreed otherwise. Similarly, where the
activity could have a significant public impact in relation to the Council
or its functions, prior approval must be obtained from the relevant Chief
Officer.

In what circumstances may employees undertake unpaid private
work?

If an employee wishes to undertake private work for which no payment or
other reward is made, but which would otherwise be prohibited under
section 9.12.15 above, the employee must inform the relevant Chief Officer
who may relax some of the conditions in section 9.12.5 above, as may be
considered appropriate.

When must an employee declare an interest in a contract®’?

(@)

(b)

The Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules set out when
employees must make a declaration of an interest in a contract.

Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972 refers to the need for
employees to declare their interest and the interest of spouses in
contracts negotiated between the Council and third parties. An
employee shall be treated as having indirectly a pecuniary interest in a
contract or proposed contract, if:

(i)  they, or any nominee of theirs, is a member of a company or
other body with which the contract was made or is proposed to
be made or which has a direct pecuniary interest in the other
matter under consideration; or

67 Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972

Page 298 166



(€)

(i)  they are a partner, or are in the employment, of a person with
whom the contract was made or is proposed to be made or who
has a direct pecuniary interest in the other matter under
consideration.

In the case of married persons living together the interest of one
spouse shall, if known to the other, also be deemed an interest of the
other.

9.12.8 In what circumstances may employees write and publish books and
articles?

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The writing of books or articles for payment on subjects relating to an
employee’s work for the Council requires the permission of the
Council.

No person employed by the Council in any capacity shall publish, or
authorise the publication of, any book or article written by that person
either wholly or in collaboration with any other person or persons, in
which the title page, preface, or any other part thereof appears to be
any indication that the writer is an employee of or is otherwise
connected with the Council, unless a statement appears in a prominent
position in such book or article to the effect that the opinions are those
of the author and do not necessarily represent the opinions of the
Council and that the Council accepts no responsibility for the author’s
opinions or conclusions.

No such persons shall, without permission from the relevant Chief
Officer make available to a newspaper, solely or jointly with any other
person or persons, any communication in which there is an indication
that the person is an employee of, or otherwise connected with, the
Council.

Sections (a) and (b) above shall not apply to books and articles on
purely technical or scientific subjects, and persons employed by the
Council shall be at liberty to write and publish books and articles on
these subjects and, if they so wish, to indicate therein that they are
Officers of, or otherwise connected with the Council, provided that it is
clearly stated that the opinions are those of the author and do not
necessarily represent the opinions of the Council.

9.12.9 In what circumstances may employees broadcast on a subject
connected with the Council?

Any employee broadcasting on a subject connected with the work of the
Council shall be required to obtain beforehand the permission of the
appropriate Chief Officer.

Page 299 167



Relationships And Neutrality

9.12.10 Are there any restrictions on relationships which may exist between
employees?

The relationship of landlord and tenant shall neither directly nor indirectly be
created or allowed between employees of the Council who are in any way
responsible for each other’s appointment, pay, promotion, discharge or
dismissal.

9.12.11 What are the rules for employees in relation to appointments and
other employment matters?

(a) Employees involved in appointments should ensure that these are
made based on merit. It would be unlawful for an employee to make an
appointment based on anything other than the ability of the candidate
to undertake the work. In order to avoid any possible accusation of
bias, employees should not be involved in an appointment where they
are related to an applicant or have a personal relationship outside work
with them.

(b) Similarly, employees should not be involved in decisions relating to
discipline, promotion or pay adjustments for any other employee who is
a relative, partner or close friend.

(c) Employees who are subject to disciplinary proceedings, or who are the
subject of review proposals or consultations, shall not canvass or
otherwise seek the support of any Member. Contravention of this
section 9.12 shall be subject to the Council’s disciplinary policy and
may lead to the employee’s dismissal.

9.12.12 What is the policy for employees in relation to prevention of
corruption?

(a) The Council’s Protocol for Members and Officers on Gifts and
Hospitality (see paragraph 5.12) provides guidance to employees on
receiving gifts, invitations and hospitality as well as the provision of
gifts and hospitality to those outside the Council.

(b) The Protocol for Members and Officers on Gifts and Hospitality applies
to all Council employees and failure to adhere to it may be dealt with
under the Council’s disciplinary procedure.

9.12.13 What are the rules for employees in relation to sponsorship?

(@) Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor, or is sought to
sponsor, a Council activity, whether by invitation, tender, negotiation or
voluntarily, the basic conventions concerning acceptance of gifts or

Page 300 168



(b)

hospitality apply. Particular care must be taken when dealing with
contractors or potential contractors.

Where the Council wishes to sponsor an event or Service, neither an
employee nor any partner, spouse or relative of an employee may
benefit from such sponsorship in a direct way without there being full
disclosure to an appropriate manager of any such interest. Similarly,
where the Council, through sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other
means gives support in the community, employees should ensure that
they give impartial advice and that they have no conflict of interest.

9.12.14 Should employees be politically neutral?

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

(€)

Employees serve the Council as a whole. It follows that they must
serve all Councillors and not just those of the Majority Group and must
ensure that the individual rights of all Councillors are respected.

Subject to the Council’s conventions, employees may also be required
to advise political groups. They must do so in ways that do not
compromise their political neutrality.

Employees, whether or not politically restricted, must follow every
lawful expressed policy of the Council and must not allow their own
personal or political opinions to interfere with their work.

Political Assistants appointed on fixed term contractses are exempt from
the standards set in this paragraph.

Employees must at all times have regard to, and act in accordance
with, the provisions of the Protocol on Member / Officer Relations at
paragraph 9.14 and the Protocol for Statutory Chief Officers
responsible for Governance at paragraph 9.11.

9.12.15 How should employees separate their client and contractor roles in
the tendering process?

(@)

Employees involved in the tendering process and dealing with
contractors should be clear on the separation of client and contractor
roles within the Council. Senior employees who have both a client and
contractor responsibility must be aware of the need for accountability
and openness.

68 Section 9 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Page 301 169



(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

General

Employees in contractor or client units must exercise fairness and
impartiality when dealing with all customers, suppliers, other
contractors, and sub-contractors.

Employees who are privy to confidential information on tenders or
costs for either internal or external contractors should not disclose that
information to any unauthorised party or organisation.

Employees contemplating a management buy-out should, as soon as
they have formed a definite intent, inform the appropriate manager and
withdraw from the contract awarding processes.

Employees should ensure that no special favour is shown to current or
recent former employees or their partners, close relatives, or
associates in awarding contracts to businesses run by them or
employing them in a senior or relevant managerial capacity.

9.12.16 What are the rules for employees’ use of technology platforms,
websites and online tools?

(@)

(b)

The Council’s Social Media Policy covers the use of social networking
applications, by Council employees, Members and partners or other
third parties (including contractors) on behalf of the Council.

The requirements of the Social Media Policy apply to all uses of social
networking applications for Council related purposes, regardless of
whether the applications are hosted corporately or not. Consideration
is also given in the Social Media Policy to Council representatives who
are contributing in an official capacity to social networking applications
provided by external organisations.

9.12.17 Who owns the inventions of employees devised in the course of their
employment?

Any employee who, in the course of their employment with the Council,
produces an invention or design shall, at the request of the Council, assign
the patent to the Council or, if the invention or design has not been
patented, assist the Council in obtaining a patent in the name of the Council.
It is not appropriate that patents should be taken out for the personal benefit
of employees of the Council whose duty it is to devise improvements or to
examine and report on the suggestions or inventions of others.

9.12.18 What should employees do with lost property?

Any employee who either finds or has handed to them property which
appears to be lost or abandoned on Council premises, must give that
property to their manager. Thereafter the property should be dealt with in

Page 302 170



accordance with the procedures specified by audit. An Officer shall not,
under colour of their office or employment, accept any fee or reward
whatsoever other than their proper remuneration, which would include
handing in any lost property®°.

9.12.19 What is the Council’s position of equality?

This Code of Conduct applies fairly and equally to all employees irrespective
of age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, marriage and civil partnership.

9.12.20 How should employees treat exempt information?

For a document that contains exempt information, any breach of
confidentiality of its contents, or of any Committee discussions thereof, or
unauthorised disclosure to a third party, by any means, may be a
disciplinary offence for any employee involved.

9.12.21 How should an employee who is subject to a review behave?

Employees who are within the scope of any review must not canvass or
otherwise seek the support of any Councillor in relation to that review, or
their personal circumstances, or those of their colleagues. Employees who
canvass Councillors may be subject to disciplinary proceedings under the
Council’s Disciplinary Policy.

9.12.22 What is the role of Officers?

(a) Officers are employed by and serve the whole Council. They advise the
Council, the Executive, Council Committees and other Council bodies.
They are responsible for ensuring that decisions are taken within the
law and in accordance with the Constitution, and that decisions are
properly recorded and effectively implemented.

(b) The Head of Paid Service is responsible for ensuring that Officers fully
and effectively support Members. Officers are responsible to the Head
of Paid Service and not to individual Members of the Council; no
matter what office they hold.

(c) All Officers are required by law to be politically neutral, and for Senior
Officers this is enforced by law?.

69 Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972
70 Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Page 303 171



(d)

(€)

(f)

9

There are statutory requirements in relation to the Head of Paid
Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. These
responsibilities are detailed in Part D of Section 10.

The Monitoring Officer will provide legal advice to the Council and to
the Executive.

The Deputy Chief Officer with responsibility for Democratic Services
will ensure that meetings of the Executive are properly planned,
serviced, and reported in accordance with legislative requirements and
the Executive Procedure Rules, see paragraph 6.17.

The Deputy Chief Officer with responsibility for Democratic Services
will ensure that all other meetings of the Council, its Committees and
all other Council bodies are properly planned, serviced, and reported in
accordance with legislative requirements and the Council Procedure
Rules.

9.12.23 How should Officers conduct themselves?

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Officers should always treat Members with respect and courtesy.
Whenever conflict or disagreements arise between Officers and
Members, the Officer’s line manager must deal with these
professionally.

It is not enough for Officers to avoid actual impropriety. They must at all
times avoid any occasion for suspicion, and any appearance, of
improper conduct. Officers must declare to the Head of Paid Service or
the Monitoring Officer any relationship with a Member. This includes
any relationship, which might be seen as influencing their work as an
Officer or influencing the work of the Member. In this context,
‘relationship’ includes any family business or close personal
relationships. It is not possible to define the exact range of
relationships that would be considered as close or personal. Examples
include a family or sexual relationship and regular social mixing, such
as holidays or evenings out together.

Close personal relationships between Officers and Members can
damage the principles of mutual respect and professionalism. They
can also, intentionally or accidentally, lead to the passing of
confidential information. Such relationships can cause embarrassment
to other Members and Officers and can give rise to suspicion of
favouritism. For these reasons, personal relationships must be
avoided, especially between Members and Officers who regularly, as
part of their normal working role, offer advice or support to Members.

In their working relationships with Members, Officers will:

() behave at all times in a professional manner;

Page 304 172



(i)  strive to develop mutual levels of trust with all Members;

(i)  perform their duties efficiently and effectively with impartiality;
and

(iv) maintain the highest standards of confidentiality.

Page 305 173



Protocol On Member / Officer Relations

9.12.24 What is the Protocol on Member / Officer Relations?

(@) The purpose of this protocol is to guide Members and Officers of the
Council in their relationships with one another. It is not intended to be
prescriptive or comprehensive and seeks simply to offer guidance on
the issues which most commonly arise.

(b) Together, Members and Officers make up ‘the Council’. They are
indispensable to one another and mutual respect and communication
between both is essential for good local government. By working
together, they bring the critical skills, experience and knowledge
required to manage an effective council. Members provide a
democratic mandate to the Council, whereas Officers contribute the
professional and managerial expertise needed to deliver the Policy
Framework. The roles are very different but need to work in a
complementary way.

(c) This Protocol seeks to reflect the shared corporate values of the
organisation and the principles underlying the respective Codes of
Conduct, which apply to Members and Officers (the “Codes of
Conduct”) and should be read in association with those Codes of
Conduct. The shared objective of the Values and the Codes of
Conduct is to enhance and maintain the integrity of local government.

(d) This Protocol will be relevant in judging compliance with the Codes of
Conduct. A breach of the provisions of this Protocol may also
constitute a breach of the relevant Code of Conduct.

(e) Members and Officers share the following corporate values:
(i) Joint leadership and Collaboration

a. Members and Officers have vital roles to play in providing
joint leadership which is based on shared knowledge skills
and experience.

b. They should demonstrate visible leadership and act as
ambassadors for Middlesbrough Council, with both being
committed to public service and making decisions in the
public interest.

c. They should work together to face challenges and
constraints i.e., with limited time and budget, difficult targets
and deadlines etc., and with everyone working in a spirit of

Page 306 174



partnership, to turn the Council’s core values and priorities
into practical policies for implementation.

(i) Integrity and respect
Members and Officers should;
a. champion mutual dignity, respect and inclusion;

b. promote open, honest communications allowing for two-
way feedback and for issues to be addressed
appropriately;

c. maintain Informal and collaborative two-way contact
between with each other; and

d. ensure that their conduct is such as to instil mutual
support, confidence, and trust. This should be reflected in
the behaviour and attitude of each to the other, both
publicly and privately, and respecting the roles and duties
of each other in all their dealings by observing reasonable
standards of courtesy.

(iii) Focus on what matters

a. Members and Officers should work towards the vision and
priorities of the Council in delivering quality services to local
people, and actively collaborate to deliver shared goals.

b.  Officers should provide clear professional advice and should
be in touch, well informed and focused on outcomes.

c. Members and Officers should work to eliminate poor
behaviour and conduct that undermines focus,
achievements, and efficiency.

(iv) Creativity

Members and Officers are encouraged to support new thinking
by creating a safe environment for people to share opinions
and ideas, using information and data effectively to make
balanced decisions.

9.12.25 What are the key differences between Members and Officers?

The key differences between Members and Officers are set out in Table 7:

Table 7: The differences between Officers and Members

Members Officers

Page 307 175



Democratically elected and
receive an allowance

Employed by the Council and paid a
salary

Community Leaders with a focus
on their Ward

May have specialist role with a
specific focus

Make decisions on behalf of the
Borough and the Council

Work for the Borough and the
Council

Can bring a political dimension to
the role

Impartial — must give unbiased
advice and information to all
Members equally

Abide by a Members’ Code of
Conduct

Bound by their employment contract
and the Officers’ Code of Conduct

Set policy and oversee service
delivery

Implement policies and ensure
delivery of Services

Only involved in senior officer
appointments

Day-to-day management of Officers
and Services

9.12.26 What are the principles of Member /

(@)

Officer relationships?

Both Members and Officers are servants of the public and are

indispensable to one another, but their responsibilities are distinct.
Members are responsible to the electorate and serve only as long as
their term of office lasts. Officers are responsible to the Council as a
whole; their job is to give advice and to carry out the Council’s work

under the direction and control of

(b)

the Council and its Committees.

The importance of mutual respect, trust and confidence between

Members and Officers of the Council is fundamental to this Protocol.
This is essential to good local government and will generate an
efficient and unified working organisation.

Page 308

176




(€)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(),

(k)

Dealings between Members and Officers should observe reasonable
standards of courtesy. Neither party should seek to take unfair
advantage of their position or exert undue influence on the other.

Whilst the duties and responsibilities of Members and Officers are
different, both are bound by the same framework of statutory powers
and duties. It is fundamental to the efficient and effective operation of
the Council that both understand the boundaries of their respective
roles and that neither asks the other to step beyond those limits.

It is not the role of Members to control the day-to-day management of
the Council and they should not seek to give instructions to Officers
other than in accordance with the terms of reference of their
Committee.

Members are not authorised to initiate or certify financial transactions
or to enter into a contract on behalf of the Council.

Members and Officers must avoid taking actions which are unlawful,
financially improper or likely to amount to maladministration. Members
have an obligation under their Code of Conduct, when reaching
decisions, to have regard to advice given by the Chief Finance Officer
or Monitoring Officer when they are discharging their statutory duties.

Members must respect the impartiality of Officers and do nothing to
compromise it, e.g., by insisting that an Officer change their
professional advice.

Members are not prevented from discussing issues with Officers or
promoting a particular point of view. Whilst Officers will consider the
views / advice of members they are not, in any way, compelled to
provide advice which coincides with the Member’s view or preferred
position. Any unreasonable requests by a Member to an Officer to
change their professional recommendation will constitute unacceptable
undue pressure which is not permissible.

All Members and Officers have certain basic responsibilities and
obligations. There are, however, some Members and Officers who,
either because of statute, tradition or decisions of the Council, have
extended roles and additional responsibilities. Some Members hold
positions of responsibility such as the Mayor and Group Leaders, the
Chair and Vice Chair of the Council, chairs and vice chairs of
Committees/ working groups. The Statutory Officers are the Head of
Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer.
Their roles are defined by statute and within the Council’s Constitution.

As a matter of general principle, Members and Officers will:

() deal with one another without discrimination;

Page 309 177



()

(m)

(n)

(0)

(P)

(i)  observe normal standards of courtesy in their dealings with one
another;

(i)  not take unfair advantage of their position;
(iv) promote a culture of mutual respect;

(v) communicate clearly and openly, avoiding ambiguity and
opportunities for misunderstandings;

(viy  work together to convert the Councils core values and priorities
into practical policies for implementation for the benefit of the
Borough;

(vii) observe any advice relating to publicity during the pre-election
period; and

(viii) refer any observed instances of inappropriate behaviour as
necessary.

Members must not be personally abusive to, or derogatory of Officers
in any correspondence, on social media or during any meeting or
discussion, in particular when this takes place in public, whether or not
that individual is in attendance. Officers will likewise treat members
with respect at all times.

Members should not criticise or raise matters relating to the alleged
conduct or capability of an Officer at meetings of the Council, any
Committee or any other public forum (including on Social Media). This
is a long-standing tradition in public service as an Officer has no
means of responding to criticism in public.

Officers should not raise with a Member matters relating to the conduct
or capability of another Officer or to the internal management of a
department in a manner which is incompatible with the overall
objectives of this Protocol.

Nothing in this Protocol shall prevent an Officer from making a
protected disclosure under the Whistleblowing Policy which is
published on the Council’'s website.

If an Officer feels that they have been treated improperly or
disrespectfully by a Member they should raise the matter with the
relevant Chief Officer or the Head of Paid Service as appropriate. In
these circumstances, the Head of Paid Service or Chief Officer will
take appropriate action, including approaching the Member concerned,
and raise the issue with the Group Leader (if applicable) or refer the
matter to the Monitoring Officer where there is a potential breach of a
Code of Conduct.

Page 310 178



(@)

When a Member feels that they have been treated improperly by an
Officer, they should speak to the Officer’s line manager in the first
instance. If the matter is not addressed, then it can be escalated
upwards to the relevant Chief Officer and / or the Head of Paid
Service.

9.12.27 How should Members and Officers conduct personal relationships
with each other?

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

(€)

Guidance on personal relationships is contained within the Codes of
Conduct.

Provided these guidelines are observed there is no reason why there
should not be an informal atmosphere between Members and Officers
outside formal meetings and events.

It is clearly important that there should be a close working relationship
between Executive Portfolio Holders, Group Leaders and
representatives, Committee chairs and the Chief Officers. However,
such relationships should never be allowed to become so close, or
appear to be so close, as to bring into question the individual's ability
to deal impartially with others.

Both Members and Officers must be aware of the potential for conflicts
of interest and take steps to either avoid or mitigate any conflict
situation. The Monitoring Officer should be consulted in these
circumstances.

Group Leaders should promote a positive atmosphere of trust, respect
and understanding between Members and Officers and must be
prepared to deal with and resolve any reported incidents of breaches
of this Protocol by their Group members. In the event of a complaint
being made to them under this Protocol, a Group Leader will seek to
actively consider the complaint and achieve a satisfactory outcome.
The outcome must be reported to the Officer who notified them of the
complaint.

9.12.28 What is the role of Members in the Council?

(@)

Collectively, Members are the ultimate policy makers, providing
strategic direction, determining the core values of the Council and
approving the Policy Framework, strategic plans and Budget. Their role
is complex, requiring them to act simultaneously in the following
capacities:

(i) As Council / Committee members — Members will provide
leadership and take responsibility for the Council’s decisions
and activities. Members have responsibility for the performance,

Page 311 179



development, continuity and overall wellbeing of the
organisation as well as for overseeing governance.

(i) As representatives — Members are community leaders who
interpret and express the wishes of the electorate and are
accountable to the electorate for service priorities, allocation of
resources and ultimate performance. The Member represents
the interests of their Ward and is an advocate for their
constituents.

(iii) As politicians — Members may belong to a Group represented
on the Council and, if so, may express political values and
support the policies of the Group to which they belong.

(b) Officers can expect Members to:
(i) provide political leadership and direction;

(i)  initiate and develop policy to be put before the Council or its
Committees;

(i)  work in partnership, understanding and supporting their
respective roles, workloads and pressures;

(iv) take corporate responsibility for policies and other decisions
made by the Council;

(v)  prepare for formal meetings by considering all written material
provided in advance of the meeting;

(viy leave day-to-day managerial and operational issues to Officers;

(vii) adopt a reasonable approach to awaiting Officers’ timely
responses to calls and / or correspondence;

(viii) not send emails to multiple Officers regarding the same issue,
instead utilising one point of contact where possible;

(ix)  use their position with Officers appropriately and not seek to
advance their personal interests or those of others to influence
decisions improperly;

(x)  respect the dignity of Officers and not engage in behaviour
which could be reasonably regarded as bullying or harassing in
nature; and

(xi)  have regard to the seniority and experience of Officers and,
equally, have regard to the potential vulnerability of Officers at
junior levels.

(c) Itis permissible and sensible for Members to seek straightforward
factual information from Officers, and to seek the views of appropriately
qualified Officers on technical or professional matters. However, if

Page 312 180



there is anything contentious or which relates to a matter requiring a
complex opinion or value judgement, this should be directed to the
relevant Chief Officer or the Head of Paid Service.

(d)  When serving on the Council’s Planning and Development Committee
or the Licensing Committee, Members must also observe the protocols
applicable to those Committees.

(e)  Whilst Members should always act in the public interest, there is
nothing preventing them, as politicians, from expressing the values and
aspirations of the Group to which they belong.

()  As a matter of courtesy, it is expected that Members involved in an
issue in another Member’s Ward will speak with the relevant Ward
Member(s) to inform them of their involvement and have regard to any
agreed Ward protocol.

9.12.29 What is the role of Officers in the Council?

(@) In broad terms Officers have the following main roles:

0) Setting and implementing strategies to deliver Council policy
and further the Council’s priorities.

(i) Day-to-day operational management of the organisation.

(iii) Implementing decisions of the Council which are lawful and

which have been properly approved.

(iv) Giving Members advice on issues and the business of the
Council to enable them to fulfil their roles. In doing so, Officers
will take into account all relevant factors and demonstrate
political sensitivity.

(v) Managing the Services for which they have been given
responsibility within the framework of responsibilities given to
them under the Scheme of Delegation.

(vi) Being accountable for the efficiency and effectiveness of the
Services in which they work and demonstrating proper /
professional practice in discharging their responsibilities.

(vii) Providing advice on changes in government policy for which the
Council is responsible.

(vii)  Providing professional advice on industry innovation and / or
scientific development which may assist the Council in
delivering Services.

(ix) Providing professional advice on innovations by other councils
which may be adopted by the Council to improve service
delivery.

Page 313 181



(b)

(c)

(d)

(X) Being professional advisers to the Council, its political
structures and Members in respect of their Service. As such,
their professionalism should be respected by Members and
other Officers.

(xi) Initiating policy proposals in line with national government
requirements or Council agreed priorities, as well as
implementing the agreed policies of the Council.

(xii) Ensuring that the Council always acts in a lawful manner and
does not engage in maladministration.

(xiii)  Supporting members in their role within the Council, save that
Officers must not engage in actions incompatible with this
Protocol. In particular, there is a statutory limitation on some
Officers’ involvement in political activities.

Members can expect Officers to:

(i) undertake their role in line with their contractual and legal duty
to be impartial,

(i)  exercise their professional judgement in giving advice and not
be influenced by their own personal views;

(i)  have an appreciation of the political environment in which they
work and demonstrate political sensitivity;

(iv) assist and advise all parts of the Council; Officers must always
act to the best of their abilities in the best interests of the
Council and the residents of the Borough;

(v)  be alert to issues which are, or are likely to be, contentious or
politically sensitive and to be aware of the implications for
Members, the media or other sections of the public;

(vi)  maintain due confidentiality;

(viiy behave in a professional manner and comply with the Officers’
Code of Conduct;

(viii) be helpful and respectful to Members; and

(ix) respond in a timely manner to telephone calls, email
correspondence etc.

In their dealings with the public, Officers should be courteous and act
with efficiency and timeliness.

In advising Members, Officers should be able to give honest and
impartial advice without fear or favour from Members. Officers must
serve all Members, not just those of any majority Group, and must
ensure that the individual rights of all Members are respected.

Page 314 182



(e) Subject to the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure, Officers
should respect a Member’s request for confidentiality when dealing
with any legitimately delicate matter and Members should respect an
Officer’s request that a matter be kept confidential. Where
confidentiality is requested, any written reply to a Member should not
be copied to any other Member without the original Member’s
permission, except to comply with an unavoidable legal or professional
obligation.

9.12.30 What is the role of Members in appointing Officers?

(a) Officers are employed by the Council. Members may be involved in the
appointment of specified senior posts as a member of the Chief Officer
Appointments Sub-committee in accordance with the Officer
Employment Procedure Rules but have no role in appointments
outside otherwise.

(b) If participating in the appointment of Officers, Members should:
() remember that the sole criterion is merit;
(i)  never canvass support for a particular candidate;
(i)  not take part where the candidate is a close friend or relative;
(iv)  not be influenced by personal knowledge of candidates; and

(v)  not favour a candidate by providing them with information not
available to other candidates.

9.12.31 How can an Officer seek assistance from a Member as a constituent?

A Member may be asked for advice and support by an employee who is one
of their constituents. Employees are entitled to seek such assistance in the
same way as any other member of the public. However, Members should be
careful not to prejudice the Council’s position in relation to disciplinary
procedures or employment matters in respect of an employee. A Member
approached for help in such circumstances should seek to direct employees
to other sources of help, such as Human Resources, and not become
directly involved. If a Member is unsure, the Democratic Services Team can
offer advice on who to speak to.

9.12.32 What support services are available to Members?

(@) Members are provided with ICT (information and communication
technology) equipment and support services (e.g. printing,
photocopying etc.) to enable them to better perform their policy and
constituency role as Councillors.

Page 315 183


https://moderngov.middlesbrough.gov.uk/documents/s1602/Appendix%201.pdf

(b)

(c)

Members should not use — and Officers should not provide — such
equipment and support services in connection with party political or
campaigning activity or for purposes not related to Council business.

Paragraph (b) above does not apply to:

(i) limited private photocopying, which may be undertaken by
Members, provided it is at no cost to the Council; and

(i) the use by Members of ICT equipment for non-commercial /
non-political purposes, provided it does not cause a conflict
with, or risk to, Council systems, nor increase the support
required from Officers.

9.12.33 What considerations should Members and Officers have when making
decisions?

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Before any formal decisions are taken, Members will have regard to
professional advice from officers. They are not obliged to follow that
advice, simply to consider it before reaching a decision (see Section
13).

Officers taking decisions (see Section 13) under delegated powers
(see Section 10, part A) must consider whether the relevant Committee
chair or Ward Member should be consulted based on the issue and
taking into account political or corporate sensitivities where:

(i)  the matter falls under the responsibility of the relevant chair’s
Committee; or

(i)  the matter relates to the relevant Ward.

Officers must be prepared to justify how decisions taken under
delegated powers contribute to the delivery of Council policy and
priorities when reasonably required to do so.

Where Officers have delegated authority to take certain actions by a
Committee in consultation with a Member, it is the Officer who takes
the action and is responsible for it. A Group Leader or Committee chair
has no legal power to take decisions on behalf of the Council or a
Committee neither should they apply inappropriate pressure on the
Officer.

9.12.34 What is an Officer’s obligation in respect of political neutrality?

Officers are required at all times to serve the whole Council and provide
support regardless of political affiliation and will need to exercise judgement
in fulfilling this obligation, whilst maintaining the distinction between
executive and scrutiny. Members must recognise this Officer obligation.

9.12.35 How do Officers work with Executive Portfolio holders?

Page 316 184



(@)

(b)

(€)

Any decision by an individual Executive Portfolio holder (or collective
decision by the Executive Committee) should, except in an emergency,
be supported by written advice from the appropriate Officer(s). An
Officer’s obligation to the whole Council requires that such advice is
independent and Members must not seek to suppress or amend any
aspect of such professional advice.

Reports to Committees will normally be produced by Officers but there
may be occasions when an Executive Portfolio holder or other Member
prepares a report. In either situation, the appropriate Officer shall place
on record their professional advice to the Committee and ensure that
their advice is considered when a decision is taken.

Officers may be representing the decisions (internally and externally) of
a single party Executive or an individual Executive Portfolio holder.
Other Members will need to recognise that, in so doing, the Officer is
representing an executive decision of the Council.

9.12.36 How should Officers deal with Groups?

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

(e)

There is statutory recognition for Groups and it is common practice for
such groups to give preliminary consideration to matters of Council
business in advance of consideration by the relevant Council body.

On the invitation of a Group Leader, a Chief Officer or their nominee
may attend a Group meeting to give factual information about an issue
which is currently being or will shortly be debated by a Council body,
provided that:

(i)  the meeting is held on Council premises;

(i)  notice of attendance is given to the appropriate Chief Officer
and made available on request to the other Group Leaders.

Officer support in these circumstances must not extend beyond
providing information in relation to matters of Council business.
Officers must not be involved in advising on matters of party business.
The observance of this distinction will be assisted if Officers are not
expected to be present when matters of party business are discussed.

Group meetings, while they form part of the preliminaries to Council
decision making, are not empowered to make decisions on behalf of
the Council. Conclusions reached at such meetings are not Council
decisions and it is essential that they are not interpreted or acted upon
as such.

Similarly, where Officers provide information and advice to a Group in
relation to a matter of Council business, this is not a substitute for the

Page 317 185



(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

Officer providing all necessary information and advice to the relevant
Council body when the matter is considered.

Officers will not normally attend and provide information to any Group
meeting which includes non-Council members. Exceptions to this may
be approved by the Head of Paid Service in writing, copying the
correspondence to all the Group Leaders.

In all dealings with Members, in particular when giving advice to
Groups, Officers must demonstrate political impartiality and must not
suppress their professional advice in the face of political views.

Officers must respect the confidentiality of any Group meeting at which
they are present. They must not relay the content of any such
discussion to another Group.

Any difficulties or areas of uncertainty relating to an Officer giving
advice to a Group should be raised with the Head of Paid Service who
will discuss them with the relevant Group Leader(s).

9.12.37 How should individual Members engage with Officers?

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Any Group Leader, Executive Portfolio holder, Group spokesperson or
Committee chair may request a private and confidential briefing from a
Chief Officer on matters of policy which have already been or may be
discussed by the Council or within its decision-making or advisory
process. All requests should be made to the appropriate Chief or
Deputy Chief Officer, who should invite the Monitoring Officer or their
nominee(s) to attend if this is thought appropriate. Briefings shall
remain strictly confidential and are not to be shared with other
Members unless so permitted by the relevant Member.

Except for the confidential policy advice referred to above, where
possible, information will be shared among Group representatives. In
particular, overview and scrutiny is a cross-party process involving all
Groups represented on the Council. Information supplied to chairs of
the Overview and Scrutiny Board and any Scrutiny Panel will,
therefore, be shared as a matter of course with each Group.

Individual Members may request factual information from the Head of
Paid Service (or the relevant Chief Officer). Such requests must be
reasonable and must recognise the need for Officers to maintain the
distinction between the Executive and scrutiny processes. Relevant
Executive Members, Committee chairs and Group Leaders will, unless
it is of a minor nature, be advised that the information has been given
and, on request, will be supplied with a copy.

If a Chief Officer considers the cost of providing the information
requested, or the nature of the request, to be unreasonable, they shall

Page 318 186



(€)

(f)

seek guidance from the Monitoring Officer as to whether the
information should be provided. Where necessary, the Mayor in
consultation with the Group Leaders, will determine whether the
information should be provided.

Confidential information relating to, for instance, casework should not
normally be sought. If in exceptional circumstances Members wish to
discuss confidential aspects of an individual case, then they shall first
seek advice from the Head of Service and follow appropriate guidance.

Finally, any Council information provided to a Member must only be
used by the Member for the purpose for which it was provided (i.e., in
connection with the proper performance of the Member's duties as a
Member). This point is emphasised in the Members’ Code of Conduct.

9.12.38 What are Officers’ obligations in relation to councillors and / or elected
representatives from other council?

(@)

(b)

Officers may be requested to meet with councillors or elected
representatives from other councils or organisations to provide
briefings and / or policy advice.

Any Officer requested to attend a meeting of this nature which is not
held on a cross—political party basis must obtain the prior authorisation
of the Head of Paid Service who shall inform all Group Leaders of the
arrangements.

9.12.39 What support and advice is available to Members in relation to media
relations?

(@)

(b)

(€)

A primary intention of the Government in introducing executive
arrangements was to raise the public and media profile of Executive
Portfolio holders and to make the Executive directly accountable for
decisions taken. It follows tha